# The Effect of High Phytase Inclusion in Laying Hen Diets

Steven Colin Pace

Submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> The University of Leeds Faculty of Biological Sciences School of Biology

> > September 2014

The candidate confirms that the work submitted is his own and that appropriate credit has been given where reference has been made to the work of others.

This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement.

The right of Steven Colin Pace to be identified as Author of this work has been asserted by Steven Colin Pace in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

© 2014 The University of Leeds and Steven Colin Pace

#### Acknowledgements

To begin I have to thank Prof. Helen Miller, firstly for agreeing to take a risk with this chicken farmer's son and secondly for her ongoing advice and support. I would also like to express my gratitude to all those at the University of Leeds Farm for all their help; Kevin, Jo, Ruth, Georgia, Sarah, Ryan, Malcolm, Ian and Will. Fiona and Amy, thank you for your continued support and constant smiles from both near and far. To the rest of the gang, I feel like no other research group pulls together quite like ours and so I thank Leon, Anna, Noraini, Steve, Lu, Mojtaba, Andy, Sam and Katrina. A special thanks goes to those at Leeds who didn't have to help but did anyway; Henry, Graham, Val and Ruth. Another farm is of particular importance to both me and this PhD. There would be no research facility and very few chickens without the help I received from the staff both past and present at Medhurst Green Farm. I would like to thank my industrial partners within AB Agri for their continued support and advice throughout this study; with special thanks to Mike Bedford, John Round, Carrie Walk and Helen Masey O'Neill. I would also like to thank those who set me on my way into science, Jo and John for getting me to read, Judith and Georgia for lighting a spark, and both Dr John Grahame and Prof. William Hughes for their encouragement. Help with studies is important but support in times of rest should never be forgotten and so I thank the Leeds contingency Liz, Rachel, John, Charlotte, Laura and Molly in addition to the folks from the shire, Mike, Nick, Dave, Robyn and Claire. I deeply appreciate the pillar of support my family provide me. Without each and every one of the Paces, Jacksons, Turners, Bakers, Chesters and Turnocks, I would not be where I am today. In particular I thank Claire and Becci for keeping me grounded and helping me laugh in times of need. No thanks can express the gratitude I have for Jilly, the most qualified person in our family as well as the most wonderful and caring mother. To my dad, I hope one day I will know more about chickens than you but I accept that it is still not true today. Thank you for teaching a reluctant teenager about farming and letting me continual abuse your kind generosity. My last and greatest thanks has to go to Leanne. No longer a PhD-widow, you accepted my literal and mental absence for too long, provided constant support, endless encouragement and limitless love as no one else could, thank you.

#### Abstract

Supplemental phytase is routinely added to monogastric diets to increase the availability of phytate phosphours. Higher phytase inclusion levels (>2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>) are attracting interest as extra-phosphoric benefits are seen with increasing phytic acid hydrolysis. Phytic acid hydrolysis has been shown to increase protein, mineral and energy utilisation, reduce endogenous losses and increase the availability of myo-inositol. It is through these improvements that phytase has been shown to benefit broilers and pigs, but not layers. Four experiments were conducted to assess the effect of high phytase inclusion in the laying hen. In the first experiment, phytase was shown to increase the solubility of the diet within the gastrointestinal tract, and in particular the solubility of numerous minerals. Notably, calcium and phosphorus solubility were increased from 4 and 7.4 to 12.3 and 15.9 g soluble 100 g<sup>-1</sup> total respectively within the duodenum. Phytase also increased the concentration of calcium, magnesium, zinc and manganese but not phosphorus within the blood plasma of laying hens. In the second experiment, phytase significantly improved the FCR of laying hens from 2.08 to 2.02 and had an additive effect with glucanase in terms of weight gained. The third experiment showed that higher phytase inclusion could increase egg mass in comparison to a positive control, negative control and standard phytase inclusion diet. Chickens fed a diet containing 4,000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> produced 61.07g/d egg mass whereas birds fed a 250 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> produced just 58.62g/d. In the final experiment, phytase reduced laying hen FCR from 2.11 to 2.03 in the absence of betaine, but with betaine included in the diet phytase had a negative effect increasing FCR from 1.99 to 2.07. Throughout the four experiments phytase was shown to inconsistently benefit shell quality, which may be due to elevated dietary calcium levels in the second and third experiments. Finally, in the third and fourth experiments phytase was shown to increase the concentration of hepatic and circulating myoinositol respectively. Birds fed diets containing 16,000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> had hepatic concentration of myo-inositol greater than double those fed a diet with 250 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>. This thesis has shown that high phytase inclusion can benefit laying hen performance which may allow dietary nutrient dilutions.

# **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgements	iii
Abstract	iv
Table of Contents	v
List of Tables	xii
List of Figures	xv
Chapter 1 Review of the Literature on Phytic Acid and Phytase	1
1.1 Phosphorus	1
1.2 Sources of Phosphorus in Laying Hen Diets	1
1.2.1 Animal Phosphorus Sources	2
1.2.2 Rock Phosphorus Sources	2
1.2.3 Plant Phosphorus Sources	4
1.3 Phytic Acid	5
1.3.1 Phytic Acid Definitions	5
1.3.2 Chemical Structure of Phytic Acid	5
1.3.3 Occurrence of Phytic Acid	6
1.3.3.1 Concentration of Phytic Acid in Common Ingredients	7
1.3.3.2 Form of Phytic Acid in Dietary Ingredients	8
1.3.4 Factors Effecting Phytate-P Hydrolysis	9
1.3.4.1 Effect of Bird on Phytate-P Hydrolysis	9
1.3.4.2 Effect of NPP on Phytate-P Hydrolysis	9
1.3.4.3 Effect of Calcium on Phytate-P Hydrolysis	10
1.4.4.4 Effect of Other Minerals on Phytate-P Hydrolysis	12
1.4.4.5 Effect of Vitamin D on Phytate-P Hydrolysis	13
1.4.4.6 Effect of Ingredients on Phytate-P Hydrolysis	14
1.3.5 Phytic acid as an Anti-Nutrient	15
1.3.5.1 Effect of Phytic acid on Minerals	16
1.3.5.1.1 Effect of Phytic acid on Calcium	16
1.3.5.1.2 Effect of Phytic acid on Other Minerals	17
1.3.5.1.3 Mechanism of Phytic Acid Restricting Mineral Availability	18
1.3.5.2 Effect of Phytic acid on Protein	21
1.3.5.3 Effect of Phytic acid on Energy	23

1.3.5.4 Conclusion on the Anti-nutritional Effects of Phytic Acid	26
1 4 Phytase	20
1 4 1 Introduction to phytase	27
1 4 2 Classification of Phytase	27
1 4 3 Phytase Discovery and Development	30
1 4 4 Defining phytase activity	00
1 4 5 Sources of Phytase	31
1 4 5 1 Intrinsic Plant phytase	
1.4.5.2 Endogenous and Microfloral Phytase	32
1.4.5.3 Exogenous Supplemental Phytase	33
1.4.6 Sites of Phytase Activity	
1.4.7 Factors Affecting the Efficacy of phytase	34
1.4.8 Benefits of Dietary Phytase Inclusion	36
1.4.8.1 Effect of Phytase on Phosphorus	36
1.4.8.2 Effect of Phytase on Minerals	37
1.4.8.3 Effect of Phytase on Protein	38
1.4.8.4 Effect of Phytase on Energy	39
1.4.9 High Phytase inclusion	40
1.5 Concluding Remarks	41
1.6 Study Aims	42
Chapter 2 Materials and Methods	43
2.1 Introduction to General Methods	43
2.2 Animal Husbandry	43
2.2.1 Individual housing	43
2.2.2 Group Housing	44
2.2.3 Birds	44
2.2.3 Lighting Temperature and Health	45
2.2.4 Feed and Water	45
2.3 Animal Performance Measurements	46
2.3.1 Feed Intake	46
2.3.2 Bird Weight	46
2.3.3 Egg Production and Weight	46
2.3.4 Feed Conversion Ratio	47
2.3.5 Egg Quality Analysis	47
2.4 Laboratory analysis	48

2.4.1 Mineral Analysis of Feed and Digesta	48
2.4.1.1 Cleaning of Glassware	48
2.4.1.2 Dry Matter and Ash Weight	48
2.4.1.3 Dissolution of Minerals	49
2.4.1.4 Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectroscopy	49
2.4.2 Egg Yolk Analysis	50
2.4.2.1 Egg Yolk Fatty Acid Analysis	50
2.4.2.1.1 Solubilising the lipid fraction of the yolk	50
2.4.2.1.2 Methylation and extraction of fatty acids	50
2.4.2.1.3 Gas Chromatography	51
2.4.2.2 Colorimetric Cholesterol Analysis	51
2.4.3 Blood Analysis	52
2.4.3.1 Collection	52
2.4.3.2 Mineral	52
2.4.3.3 Blood Urea Nitrogen	52
2.4.3.4 Myo-inositol	53
2.4.4 Phytate-P Analysis	54
2.4.4.1 Sample Extraction	54
2.4.4.2 Enzymatic Dephosphorylating Reaction	54
2.4.4.3 Colorimetric Determination of Phosphorus	55
Chapter 3 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal Inclusion on	56
3.1 Abstract	56
3.2 Introduction	57
3.2.1 Objectives	62
3.2.2 Hypotheses	62
3.3 Materials and Methods	63
3.3.1 Experimental Design and Treatments	63
3.3.2 Animal Housing	63
3.3.3 Feeding Regime and Performance Recording	65
	65
3.3.4 Dissections and Digesta Solubility	
3.3.4 Dissections and Digesta Solubility 3.3.5 Statistical Analysis	66
3.3.4 Dissections and Digesta Solubility 3.3.5 Statistical Analysis 3.4 Results	66 67
<ul> <li>3.3.4 Dissections and Digesta Solubility</li> <li>3.3.5 Statistical Analysis</li> <li>3.4 Results</li> <li>3.4.1 Diet Analysis</li> </ul>	66 67 67
<ul> <li>3.3.4 Dissections and Digesta Solubility</li> <li>3.3.5 Statistical Analysis</li> <li>3.4 Results</li></ul>	66 67 67 68

3.4.3 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Gastrointestinal Tract Weight in the Laying Hen
3.4.4 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Digesta pH and Weight within the Gastrointestinal Tract of the Laying Hen71
3.4.5 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Solubility of the Digesta within the Gastrointestinal Tract of the Laying Hen
3.4.6 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Solubility of Minerals within the Gastrointestinal Tract of the Laying Hen76
3.4.6.1The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Solubility of Minerals within the Crop
3.4.6.2 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Solubility of Minerals within the Proventriculus and Gizzard77
3.4.6.3 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Solubility of Minerals within the Duodenum
3.4.6.4 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Solubility of Minerals within the Jejunum
3.4.6.5 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Solubility of Minerals within the Ileum
3.4.7 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Concentration of Minerals in Blood Plasma
3.5 Discussion
3.5.1 Comparison to Breeder Expected Performance
3.5.2 The Effect of Rapeseed Meal on Laying Hen Performance
3.5.3 The Effect of Phytase Dose on Laying Hen Performance87
3.5.4 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Gastrointestinal Tract
3.5.5 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on Diet Solubility
3.5.6 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on Minerals 90
3.5.7 Conclusions93
Chapter 4 The Effect of Glucanase and Phytase Inclusion on
Laying Hens
4.1 Abstract
4.2 Introduction
4.2.1 Objectives

4.3 Materials and Methods	100
4.3.1 Experimental Design and Treatments	100
4.3.2 Animal Housing	102
4.3.3 Feeding Regime and Performance Recording	102
4.3.4 Egg Fatty Acid Profile	102
4.3.5 Excreta Phytate-P Analysis	102
4.3.6 Statistical Analysis	102
4.4 Results	103
4.4.1 Diet Analysis	103
4.4.2 The Effect of Glucanase and Phytase Inclusion on Laying Hen Performance	103
4.4.3 The Effect of Glucanase and Phytase Inclusion on Egg Quality	104
4.4.4 The Effect of Glucanase and Phytase Inclusion on the Concentration of Phytate-P in Laying Hen Excreta	109
4.5 Discussion	111
4.5.1 Comparison to Breeders Expected Performance	111
4.5.2 The Effect of Glucanase and Phytase on Laying Hen Performance	111
4.5.3 The Effect of Glucanase and Phytase on Egg Quality	114
4.5.4 The Effect of Glucanase and Phytase on Phytate-P Concentration in the Excreta of Laying Hen	116
4.5.5 Conclusions	118
Chapter 5 The Effect of Graded Levels of Phytase Beyond	
Industry Standards in Laying Hens Diets	120
5.1 Abstract	120
5.2 Introduction	121
5.2.1 Study Objectives	125
5.2.2 Hypotheses	125
5.3 Materials and Methods	126
5.3.1 Experimental Design and Treatments	126
5.3.2 Animal Housing	126
5.3.3 Feeding Regime and Performance Recording	126
5.3.4 Dissections	127
5.3.5 Statistical Analysis	127
5.4 Results	129

	129
5.4.2 The Effect of Increasing Phytase Inclusion on Laying Hen Performance	129
5.4.3 The Effect of Increasing Phytase Inclusion on Laying Hen Egg Quality	132
5.4.4 The Effect of Increasing Phytase Inclusion on the Phytate-P Concentration in the Gastrointestinal Tract	134
5.4.5 Effect of Increasing Phytase Inclusion on the Liver Myo-inositol and Mineral Concentration	135
5.4.6 The Effect of Increasing Phytase Inclusion on Blood Mineral Concentration	137
5.5 Discussion	139
5.5.1 Comparison to Breeders Expected Performance	139
5.5.2 The Effect of Increasing Phytase Inclusion on Laying Hen Performance	139
5.5.3 The Effect of Increasing Phytase Inclusion on Egg Quality	140
5.5.4 The Effect of Increasing Phytase Inclusion on Phytate phosphorus hydrolysis	142
5.5.5 The Effect of Increasing Phytase Inclusion on Liver <i>Myo</i> -inositol and Mineral Concentration	143
5.5.6 The Effect of Increasing Phytase Inclusion on Blood Mineral Concentration	145
5.5.7 Conclusions	146
5.5.7 Conclusions Chapter 6 The Effect of Including Betaine and Phytase in Laying Hens Diets	146 <b>147</b>
5.5.7 Conclusions Chapter 6 The Effect of Including Betaine and Phytase in Laying Hens Diets	146 <b>147</b> 147
5.5.7 Conclusions Chapter 6 The Effect of Including Betaine and Phytase in Laying Hens Diets 6.1 Abstract 6.2 Introduction	146 <b>147</b> 147 147
<ul> <li>5.5.7 Conclusions</li> <li>Chapter 6 The Effect of Including Betaine and Phytase in Laying Hens Diets</li> <li>6.1 Abstract</li> <li>6.2 Introduction</li></ul>	146 <b>147</b> 147 147 151
<ul> <li>5.5.7 Conclusions</li> <li>Chapter 6 The Effect of Including Betaine and Phytase in Laying Hens Diets</li> <li>6.1 Abstract</li> <li>6.2 Introduction</li> <li>6.2.1 Objectives</li> <li>6.2.2 Hypotheses</li> </ul>	146 <b>147</b> 147 151 151
<ul> <li>5.5.7 Conclusions</li> <li>Chapter 6 The Effect of Including Betaine and Phytase in Laying Hens Diets</li> <li>6.1 Abstract</li> <li>6.2 Introduction</li> <li>6.2.1 Objectives</li> <li>6.2.2 Hypotheses</li> <li>6.3 Materials and Methods</li> </ul>	146 <b>147</b> 147 151 151 151
<ul> <li>5.5.7 Conclusions</li> <li>Chapter 6 The Effect of Including Betaine and Phytase in Laying Hens Diets</li> <li>6.1 Abstract</li></ul>	146 <b>147</b> 147 151 151 151 152
<ul> <li>5.5.7 Conclusions</li> <li>Chapter 6 The Effect of Including Betaine and Phytase in Laying Hens Diets</li> <li>6.1 Abstract</li></ul>	146 <b>147</b> 147 151 151 151 152 152
<ul> <li>5.5.7 Conclusions</li> <li>Chapter 6 The Effect of Including Betaine and Phytase in Laying Hens Diets</li></ul>	146 <b>147</b> 147 151 151 152 152 152
<ul> <li>5.5.7 Conclusions</li> <li>Chapter 6 The Effect of Including Betaine and Phytase in Laying Hens Diets</li> <li>6.1 Abstract</li> <li>6.2 Introduction</li> <li>6.2.1 Objectives</li> <li>6.2.2 Hypotheses</li> <li>6.3 Materials and Methods</li> <li>6.3.1 Experimental Design and Treatments</li> <li>6.3.2 Animal Housing</li> <li>6.3.3 Feeding Regime and Performance Recording</li> <li>6.3.4 Egg Keeping Quality</li> </ul>	146 <b>147</b> 147 151 151 152 152 152 152
<ul> <li>5.5.7 Conclusions.</li> <li>Chapter 6 The Effect of Including Betaine and Phytase in Laying Hens Diets.</li> <li>6.1 Abstract</li> <li>6.2 Introduction</li> <li>6.2.1 Objectives</li> <li>6.2.2 Hypotheses</li> <li>6.3 Materials and Methods</li> <li>6.3.1 Experimental Design and Treatments</li> <li>6.3.2 Animal Housing</li> <li>6.3.3 Feeding Regime and Performance Recording</li> <li>6.3.4 Egg Keeping Quality.</li> <li>6.3.5 Feather Score</li> </ul>	146 <b>147</b> 147 151 151 152 152 152 152 152
<ul> <li>5.5.7 Conclusions</li> <li>Chapter 6 The Effect of Including Betaine and Phytase in Laying Hens Diets</li> <li>6.1 Abstract</li> <li>6.2 Introduction</li> <li>6.2.1 Objectives</li> <li>6.2.2 Hypotheses</li> <li>6.3 Materials and Methods</li> <li>6.3.1 Experimental Design and Treatments</li> <li>6.3.2 Animal Housing</li> <li>6.3.3 Feeding Regime and Performance Recording</li> <li>6.3.4 Egg Keeping Quality</li> <li>6.3.5 Feather Score</li> <li>6.3.6 Dissections</li> </ul>	146 <b>147</b> 147 151 151 152 152 152 152 154 154
<ul> <li>5.5.7 Conclusions</li> <li>Chapter 6 The Effect of Including Betaine and Phytase in Laying Hens Diets</li></ul>	146 <b>147</b> 147 151 151 152 152 152 152 154 154

6.4.1 Diet Analysis	155
6.4.2 The Effect of Betaine and Phytase on Laying Hen Performance	155
6.4.3 The Effect of Betaine and Phytase on Egg Quality	158
6.4.4 The Effect of Betaine and Phytase on Egg Quality during Storage	158
6.4.5 The Effect of Betaine and Phytase on Laying Hen Feather Score	162
6.4.6 The Effects of Betaine and Phytase on Blood Plasma Parameters	163
6.5 Discussion	165
6.5.1 Comparison with Breeder Expectations	165
6.5.2 The Effect of Betaine and Phytase on Laying Hen Performance	165
6.5.3 The Effect of Betaine and Phytase on Egg Quality	168
6.5.4 The Effect of Betaine and Phytase on Laying Hen Feather Score	171
6.5.5 The Effect of Betaine and Phytase on Blood Plasma Parameters	171
6.5.6 Conclusions	172
Chapter 7 General Discussion	173
7.1 The Effect of High Phytase Inclusion on Laying Hen Performance	173
7.2 The Effect of High Phytase Inclusion on Myo-Inositol	174
7.3 The Effect of High Phytase Inclusion on Minerals	175
7.4 The Effect of High Phytase Inclusion on Egg Quality	176
7.5 Final Conclusions	177
List of References	179
List of Abbreviations	209

# List of Tables

Table 1.1	Mean (and range) of total-P and phytate-P concentrations, and the proportion of phytate-P to total P in feed ingredients	7
Table 1.2	The effect of phytic acid concentration on the performance of monogastrics	16
Table 1.3	The effect of phytic acid concentration of AID coefficients in piglets	18
Table 1.4	The effect of phytic acid addition to endogenous mineral excretion (mg/bird/48h)	20
Table 1.5	Phytase activity (FTU kg <sup>-1</sup> DM) along the gastrointestinal tract when a control diet is supplemented with different phytases	34
Table 3.1	Ingredients and calculated nutrient composition of experimental diets	64
Table 3.2	Analysed nutrient composition of experimental diets	67
Table 3.3	The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal on laying hen performance	69
Table 3.4	The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal on the gastrointestinal tract weight (g) in laying hens	70
Table 3.5	The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal on digesta pH within the gastrointestinal tract of the laying hen	72
Table 3.6	The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal on digesta weight (g) within the gastrointestinal tract of the laying hen	73
Table 3.7	The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal on digesta wet weight solubility within the gastrointestinal tract of the laying hen	74
Table 3.8	The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal on digesta dry weight solubility within the gastrointestinal tract of the laying hen	75

Table 3.9	The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal on digesta ash weight solubility within the gastrointestinal tract of the laying hen	76
Table 3.10	The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal on the solubility of minerals within the crop	79
Table 3.11	The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal on the solubility of minerals within the proventriculus and gizzard	80
Table 3.12	The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal on the solubility of minerals within the duodenum	81
Table 3.13	The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal on the solubility of minerals within the jejunum	82
Table 3.14	The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal on the solubility of minerals within the ileum	83
Table 3.15	The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal on the concentration of minerals within the blood plasma of laying hens ( $\mu$ g ml <sup>-1</sup> )	85
Table 4.1	Ingredients and calculated nutrient composition of experimental diets	101
Table 4.2	Analysed nutrient composition of diets	103
Table 4.3	The effect of glucanase and phytase on laying hen performance	106
Table 4.4	The effect of glucanase and phytase on egg quality	107
Table 4.5	The effect of glucanase and phytase on egg yolk fatty acid proportions	108
Table 4.6	The effects of glucanase and phytase on egg yolk cholesterol content and fatty acid proportions	109
Table 4.7	The Effect of glucanase and phytase on the concentration of total, non-phytate and phytate phosphorous (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	110
Table 5.1	Ingredients and calculated nutrient composition of experimental diets	128
Table 5.2	Analysed nutrient composition of diets	129
Table 5.3	The effect of increasing phytase inclusion on laying hen performance	131

Table 5.4	Effect of increasing phytase inclusion on egg quality	133
Table 5.5	The effect of increasing phytase inclusion on the concentration of total and phytate-P in the gastrointestinal tract (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	134
Table 5.6	The effect of increasing phytase inclusion on the concentration of myo-inositol (mg g <sup>-1</sup> ) and minerals (mg kg <sup>-1)</sup> in the liver	136
Table 5.7	The effect of increasing phytase inclusion on blood plasma mineral concentration ( $\mu g m I^{-1}$ )	138
Table 6.1	Ingredients and calculated nutrient composition of experimental diets	153
Table 6.2	Analysed nutrient composition of the diets	155
Table 6.3	The effect of betaine and phytase on laying hen performance	157
Table 6.4	The effects of betaine and phytase on egg quality	159
Table 6.5	The effect of betaine and phytase on weight loss during storage	160
Table 6.6	The effect of betaine, phytase and storage time on egg quality	161
Table 6.7	The effect of betaine and phytase on the blood plasma parameters	164

# List of Figures

Figure 1.1	The structure of phytic acid	5
Figure 1.2	Summary of the anti-nutritional effects of phytic acid	27
Figure 6.1	The effect of betaine and phytase on the mean feather score of the back of laying hens with standard error bars. <sup>a-b</sup> Means within columns with no common superscript differ significantly (P<0.05)	161

# Chapter 1 Review of the Literature on Phytic Acid and Phytase

# 1.1 Phosphorus

Phosphorus is an essential mineral for all known forms of life, and therefore an important nutrient within the laying hen diet. Exhibiting multiple functions, phosphorus is located within the skeleton, soft tissues and extracellular fluids of the body. The vast majority of phosphorus is found within the skeleton as part of a hydroxyl-apatite mineral complex with calcium (Neuman and Neuman, 1953). Apatite gives the bone its strength which is essential for providing the body with support, physical protection and allowing movement. The phosphorus in bones also acts as a reservoir for the bird that can be made available when needed.

At the cellular level, phosphorus is a major structural component of the both deoxyribonucleic acid and ribonucleic acid (Schneider, 1945). As a part of the phospholipid bilayer, phosphorus defines the cell boundaries helping concentrate nutrients while providing a physical barrier (Robertson, 1959). Phosphorus is also a constituent of adenosine triphosphate, the energy currency of the cell and an important molecule involved in regulatory phosphorylation (Lipmann, 1941).

# **1.2 Sources of Phosphorus in Laying Hen Diets**

Poultry diets are formulated to meet the animal's requirements for maintenance and production by providing a mix of numerous feed ingredients; these include cereal grains, oilseed meals, fats, minerals, vitamins and enzymes in addition to both animal and plant based by-products. When formulating a laying hen diet the nutritionist can provide the bird with phosphorus from three origins: animal, rock and plant. The concentration of available phosphorus in laying hen diets ranges from 0.5% to 0.3% (Lesson and Summers, 2008). Generally, phosphorus levels are reduced with age as egg production falls. Available phosphorus has been

defined differently by a number of author's but is generally accepted to be the phosphorus that could be retained by the bird. Both qualitative and quantitative measurements have been used to assess phosphorus availability (Shastak and Rodehutscord, 2013). Different sources of phosphorus have different quantities of unavailable and available phosphorus.

## **1.2.1 Animal Phosphorus Sources**

Meat and bone meal (MBM) is a by-product of the beef and pork industries utilising discarded carcasses. MBM is used as a source of protein in diets as it has a protein content of approximately 500g kg<sup>-1</sup> (Parsons et al., 1997). Although somewhat variable, the phosphorus content of MBM is around 60g kg<sup>-1</sup>(Van der Klis, 1996). The majority of this phosphorus is sourced from the bone and so tends to be readily available. After the epidemic of Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy (BSE) in the United Kingdom, restrictions were put into place across the European Union to prevent the use of animal products as feed ingredients. This is because the standard rendering processes used do not inactivate the prions which cause BSE (956/2008, of 29 September 2008). New technologies that use high pressure treatments have been reported to be effective at destroying prions. However, there is little appetite within the current European marketplace for MBM as consumers still resist its reintroduction. Fish meal, blood meal and insect meal also contain phosphorus, but as these ingredients are not currently used within laying hen diets, they are of little interest.

### 1.2.2 Rock Phosphorus Sources

Inorganic phosphate starts as a rock mineral that is mined from the ground; in their natural state many of these phosphates are unavailable to the bird and must be heated during their processing. Solubility in hydrochloric acid at pH4 is a useful but blunt tool used to measure phosphorus availability (Leeson, 2008). After processing, the phosphorus availability of these phosphates can be near 100% which is useful for nutritionists, but as ingredients, they do have their pitfalls. Firstly, some rock phosphates contain trace amounts of contaminants such as vanadium (Romoser et al., 1961) and fluorine (Kick, 1933), which can negatively affect shell quality and hatchability of breeder eggs (Bressman et al., 2002). The second drawback to inorganic phosphorus is the expense; the availability, extraction, processing and transport of the raw rock make phosphorus one of the most expensive nutrients to supply to the animal after energy and protein (Shastak and Rodehutscord, 2013). This was exacerbated in 2008 when a price spike lead to an increase from approximately £30 t t<sup>-1</sup> to £260 t<sup>-1</sup>. The price has since settled down to approximately £110 t<sup>-1</sup> but is unlikely to return to the pre-2008 price (ICIS, 2012).

The dramatic increase in cost is due partly to the distribution of inorganic phosphorus. Production is limited to few countries with the United States of America, the People's Republic of China and the Kingdom of Morocco being the largest (Cordell et al., 2009). All three sites have production issues however; China is reducing its exports to accommodate an ever increasing internal demand, while the USA is running low of raw rock and so importing more from Morocco (Jasinski, 2008). Morocco has the greatest deposits with some estimates giving it three times more rock phosphorus than the rest of the world combined (IFA, 2006). The main problem with Morocco's supply is that it is geopolitically sensitive as much comes from the Western Sahara. The Western Sahara is an area that is mostly under the control of Morocco, although sovereignty is not universally recognised and is contested by some nations. This has led the Western Sahara Resource Watch to claim Morocco is breaking international law (WSRW, 2007), the UN to condemn the trade and a number of high profile boycotts (Corell, 2002). It is predicted that at present rates, global phosphate rock reserves will run out in around 400 years, and that both China and the USA may have to cease production within 100 years if they continue to increase processing at current rates. However, it is believed that the demand for rock phosphorus fertiliser will continue to increase, shortening these time frames dramatically (Cordell et al., 2009).

The final problem with inorganic phosphorus is its overuse in animal feed. Many nutritionists overestimate the available phosphorus requirements of their animals to ensure that phosphorus does not become a limiting nutrient. In addition to this, inorganic phosphorus is used to supply available phosphorus when a diet contains a high level of unavailable phosphorus. This gives the diet an adequate available phosphorus but high total phosphorus content. Supplying phosphorus at a level greater than the animal's requirements leads to an increase in the phosphorus excreted in the manure. When excreta is spread as fertiliser, leaching and surface runoff lead to a build-up of the phosphorus in the surface water which can lead to eutrophication and the death of aquatic animals (Sharpley, 1999, Correll, 1999). Phosphorus is the greatest pollutant within freshwater systems and the animal agricultural sector has to accept some responsibility for this. In recent years legislative branches throughout the European Union have introduced limits to the amount of phosphorous that can be spread on fields.

#### **1.2.3 Plant Phosphorus Sources**

Laying hens within the United Kingdom are predominately fed a diet based on plants, notably wheat and soybean. In the past, MBM and inorganic phosphorus were used to increase the dietary phosphorus to compensate for the poor availability of the phosphorus in plants. This is because the majority of the phosphorus in plants is present as phytate phosphorous (phytate-P) (Selle and Ravindran, 2007). Phytate is an insoluble, organic complex, made from phytic acid and other nutrients. Phytic acid is made of an inositol ring with six phosphate groups, shown in Figure 1. It is highly charged and so binds to nutrients reducing the availability of the phytate-P and the other nutrients. As a result, much of this phytate-P passes through the bird without being digested or absorbed (Cowieson et al., 2011). Nutritionists can supplement diets with the enzyme phytase to break down phytic acid and release phytate-P, and thereby increasing its availability (Wodzinski and Ullah, 1996b). The Alltech Global Feed Survey estimates that in 2012 approximately 417.8 million tonnes of poultry feed was produced of which 141.1 million tonnes was made for laying hens (Alltech, 2013). Given that the range of phytate-P within a poultry diets falls between 2.5 – 4 g kg<sup>-1</sup> (Ravidran, 1995), the amount of phytate-P fed to all poultry in 2012 was over one million tonnes, while the World's laying hens were fed just under half a million tonnes. Each year the World uses approximately 0.9 million tonnes of inorganic phosphorus for animal feed additives and 17.5 million tonnes are used in crop fertiliser production (Correll, 1999). Using phytase to help exploit the phytate-P that is already being fed to chickens

can help reduce the poultry industries reliance on inorganic phosphates and MBM, producing cheaper diets that are more socially acceptable, economically stable and environmentally friendly.

# 1.3 Phytic Acid

# **1.3.1 Phytic Acid Definitions**

The term phytate is often used when referring to any of the phytic acid related compounds; however, the term actually refers to the mixed salt of phytic acid (Selle and Ravindran, 2007). Phytic acid is the free form of phytate that may also be referred to as *myo*-inositol hexaphosphate, or IP<sub>6</sub> (Cheryan, 1980). Phytase can remove phosphate groups from phytic acid to generate the lower esters which are listed: *Myo*-inositol pentaphosphate (IP<sub>5</sub>), *Myo*-inositol tetraphosphate (IP<sub>4</sub>), *Myo*-inositol triphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>), *Myo*-inositol biphosphate (IP<sub>2</sub>) and *Myo*-inositol monophosphate (IP<sub>1</sub>). Phytin is a specific complex of phytate found within plants that incorporates potassium, magnesium and calcium (McCance and Widdowson, 1935).

# 1.3.2 Chemical Structure of Phytic Acid

Figure 1.1 shows the structure of phytic acid, consisting of a *myo*-inositol 6 carbon ring that has 6 phosphate groups, giving it a molecular weight of 660 (Anderson, 1914).



Figure 1.1The Structure of Phytic Acid first proposed by Anderson (1914)

The phosphate moieties are equatorially aligned with the exception of the group at  $C_2$  which is axially aligned. Of the 12 proton dissociation sites, 6 are strongly acidic at pKa of approximately 1.5, 3 have weakly acidic pKa values of 5.7, 6.8 and 7.6 and the final three are very weakly acid, with pKa values greater than 10 (Costello et al., 1976). Within the pH range of the digestive tract all of these sites will dissociate, giving the phytic acid a sizeable negative charge and large chelating capacity of cations. This enables phytic acid to bind to positively charged minerals and form phytate complexes.

Using pH-drop tests, Cheryan (1980) found that phytic acid forms the most stable phytate with  $Zn^{2+}$ , followed by  $Cu^{2+}$ ,  $Ni^{2+}$ ,  $Co^{2+}$ ,  $Mn^{2+}$ ,  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Fe^{2+}$  in order of stability. Depending upon the concentration of the ions and the pH, phytate can occur as either soluble chelates or an insoluble precipitate. Precipitation of phytate increases with the concentration of minerals relative to the phytic acid. A rise in pH towards more neutral and basic ranges will also increase precipitation. Using shifts in <sup>31</sup>P nuclear magnetic resonance spectra of phytic acid, it has been shown that an individual  $Zn^{2+}$  ion can bind to the C<sub>5</sub> phosphate groups on two separate phytic acid molecules to form a cationic bridge (Champagne and Fisher, 1990, Champagne et al., 1990). This would enable the generation of large complexes that would lead to precipitation.

### 1.3.3 Occurrence of Phytic Acid

Phytate is the principal molecule used to store both *myo*-inositol and phosphorus within plant seeds for germination, with approximately two thirds of the total phosphorus (total-P) in plant seeds found as phytate-P (Cosgrove, 1966, Simons et al., 1990b) Phytic acid can also act as a reservoir for other minerals. During rice seed development, phosphorus is rapidly transported to the aleurone layer; here it is immediately used to generate phytic acid which then attracts metals to form the phytin complexes (Iwai et al., 2012). As discussed previously, phosphorus has numerous essential roles within cells and so is crucial for plant development and growth. *Myo*-inositol also plays a pivotal role as a precursor for many molecules, with critical functions including the formation of cell walls and

plasma membranes, as well as acting as an oxidative stress protectant (Bohnert et al., 1995).

#### Percentage Feed Ingredient Total-P (g kg<sup>-1</sup>) Phytate-P (g kg<sup>-1</sup>) (%) 2.62 (2.30-2.90) 1.88 (1.70-2.20) 71.6(66-85) Maize Sorghum 3.01 (2.60-3.09) 2.18 (1.70-2.46) 72.6(65-83) Wheat 3.07 (2.90-4.09) 2.19 (1.80-2.89) 71.6(55-79) 6.45 (4-70.78) Rapeseed 9.72 (8.79-11.5) 66.4(36-76) Cottonseed 10.02 (6.40-11.36) 7.72 (4.90-9.11) 77.1(70-80) Soybean 6.49 (5.70-6.94) 3.88 (3.54-4.53) 59.9(53-68) Rice bran 17.82 (13.40-27.19) 14.17 (7.90-24.20) 79.5(42-90) 76.3(50-87) Wheat bran 10.96 (8.02-13.71) 8.36 (7.00-9.60)

Table 1.1 Mean (and range) of total-P and phytate-P concentrations, and the proportion of phytate-P to total P in feed ingredients

1.3.3.1 Concentration of Phytic Acid in Common Ingredients

Table adapted from Selle and Ravindran, (2007) using data dervied from studies by Nelson et al. (1968), Kirby and Nelson, (1988), Eeckhout and Depaepe, (1994) Ravindran et al. (1994), Viveros et al. (2000), Selle et al. (2003b) and Godoy et al. (2005)

The concentrations of phytic acid found within different dietary ingredients can vary widely from 5 - 25 kg<sup>-1</sup> giving the variety if phytate-P concentrations shown in Table 1.1. Selle and Ravidran (2007) summarised several papers to give the mean and range of phytate-P within a number of important ingredients; cereals have approximately 2 g kg<sup>-1</sup> of phytate-P making up around 70% of their total-P. Grain legumes such as chickpeas and field peas were not included in this review, but have a similar concentration of phytate-P to the cereals. The oilseed meals however, have a much higher level of both total-P and phytate-P, but with similar proportions. Soybean meal is currently the most popular oilseed meal used with laying hen diets and has the lowest proportion of phytate-P of all major ingredients, but also the lowest level of total-P compared to the other oilseed meals. By-products like wheat bran have higher levels of total and phytate-P in comparison with oilseeds and cereals, but in addition to this the proportion of phytate-P is extremely high, reaching 80%. Variation of phytate-P concentration within a feed ingredient is caused by a number of factors including the amount of phosphorus available to the plant during growth,

individual plant genotypes and year of harvest (Reddy et al., 1982, Steiner et al., 2007, Coelho et al., 2002).

#### **1.3.3.2 Form of Phytic Acid in Dietary Ingredients**

As discussed previously, phytate-P is poorly available to monogastrics such as the laying hen. This availability can in part be influenced by the location of the phytic acid within the feed ingredient and what other nutrients it is associated with. The location and storage of phytic acid varies between different plants but generally it is found as the potassium, magnesium and calcium salt, phytin, in subcellular membrane bound protein vacuoles that are referred to as protein bodies (Lott et al., 1985, Ockenden et al., 2004). The phytin can form crystal globoid structures that are visible within the protein bodies using an electron microscope. Ogawa et al. (1975) found that the globoid phytin crystals in rice consist of 670 g kg<sup>-1</sup> phytic acid, 190 g kg<sup>-1</sup> potassium, 110 g kg<sup>-1</sup> magnesium and 10 g kg<sup>-1</sup> calcium on a dry matter basis. The size of the crystals will depend upon the ratio of potassium relative to other cations; larger crystals will form when the level of potassium in the protein bodies decreases (Lott et al., 1985). If there is a large proportion of potassium, phytin will not form crystals but instead interacts directly with protein to create soluble protein-phytin complexes that are distributed consistently within the protein bodies. This is the case in both soybeans and peas where crystals are either smaller in size or not present, as the phytin compounds are completely soluble(Lott and Ockenden, 1986).

Within cereals such as wheat, barley and rice, the protein bodies that store the phytin are concentrated within the aleurone layer and the bran of the grains; this may explain why the by-products of cereals have such high levels of phytate-P (Steiner et al., 2007). Maize, soybean and rapeseed however, contain their protein bodies within their embryonic cells and the endosperm of the seed (de Boland et al., 1975, Odell et al., 1972, Erdman, 1979). It is highly likely that the location and form of the phytin within an ingredient will have an effect on the availability of the phytate-P. For example large insoluble phytin crystals found within the fibrous aleurone layer are likely to be less available to the bird than those soluble phytins found within the endosperm.

## 1.3.4 Factors Effecting Phytate-P Hydrolysis

It has been stated that poor phytate-P digestion by poultry and other monogastrics is due to the lack of endogenous phytase and phosphatase activity. This is incorrect; the reason for poor phytate-P utilisation is due to the poor availability of the substrate phytic acid (Cowieson et al., 2011). As previously mentioned, phytic acid contains numerous negative charges which will bind to cations to form the insoluble phytate complexes. It is the lack of phytate solubility that prevents the phytase in the brush border of the intestinal membrane breaking down phytic acid to release the phytate-P.

There is undeniably a great deal of variation in the degree of phytate-P digestion, ranging from 0 to 60% in broilers and 8 to 60% in layers (Nelson, 1976, Edwards, 1983, Rutherfurd et al., 2004, Mohammed et al., 1991). The control of this variation is multifactorial and can be influenced by both nutritionist and farmer.

## 1.3.4.1 Effect of Bird on Phytate-P Hydrolysis

The type of bird (broiler vs layer) will affect the hydrolysis of phytate-P (Peeler, 1972); laying hens have a greater endogenous phytase activity within the small intestine than broilers (Maenz and Classen, 1998). The laying hen also has a slower transit time and so it may be that phytase has longer to act upon the substrate. Any genetic disposition to alter the environment of the gastrointestinal tract will also have an effect, as this can alter the solubility of the phytic acid and hence its availability to phytase. The age of the birds may also affect the breakdown of phytate; Scheideler and Sell (1987) found as laying hens aged from 34 to 50 weeks phytate-P retention fell from 47% to 9%. This may have been because of a reduction in phytic acid hydrolysis or a decrease in phosphorus absorption. The phosphorus requirement of the laying hen falls with age and so without the same physiological pressure, the bird may no longer need phytase to gain adequate phosphorus.

### 1.3.4.2 Effect of NPP on Phytate-P Hydrolysis

A common feature of many enzymes is a feedback mechanism whereby the product of the reaction inhibits the continued activity of the enzyme. The hydrolysis of phytic acid produces orthophosphate, which has been shown to reduce the activity of phytase (Greiner et al., 1993, Lei and Stahl, 2000, Konietzny and Greiner, 2002a). The level of dietary inorganic non-phytate phosphorus (NPP) will strongly effect the concentration of orthophosphate present in the gastrointestinal tract, and so logically the hydrolysis of phytate-P is dependent upon the amount of NPP present in the diet.

In the rat, low levels of NPP reduced available phosphorus marginally below the animals requirements which increased the digestibility of both total-P and phytate-P by 12 and 62% respectively. Leytem et al. (2008) showed that an increase in NPP levels within a broiler diet could affect the digestively of phytate phosphorus, but that this was dependent upon the diet's base ingredients.

#### 1.3.4.3 Effect of Calcium on Phytate-P Hydrolysis

The limited availability of phytate-P is due to the formation of insoluble complexes, and so it stands to reason that a change in the concentration of cations that cause these complexes to form will affect the phytate-P hydrolysis (Selle et al., 2009c). Because of the bird's large requirement, calcium is the most prevalent cation within the gastrointestinal tract lumen and so the most important when discussing phytate complex formation. The *de novo* formation of Ca-phytate complexes is influenced by both the pH of the tract and the level of calcium in the diet.

Within an *in vitro* system it was found that calcium reduced phytic acid hydrolysis by 22% in the presence of wheat phytase (Hill and Tyler, 1954). Wise and Gilbert (1982) showed that high levels of dietary calcium reduced phytate hydrolysis within rats. Multiple studies have shown a negative effect of calcium on phytate hydrolysis in poultry (Selle et al., 2009c), and Taylor (1965) showed that very high levels of calcium can halt phytate hydrolysis completely. An increase in calcium concentration from 4.7 to 11.6 g kg<sup>-1</sup> resulted in a decrease in the apparent ileal digestibility (AID) of phytate-P from 0.201 to 0.059 (Plumstead et al., 2008). In another study, phytate-P AID decreased by 63% when calcium was increased from 2 to 7 g kg<sup>-1</sup> (Tamim et al., 2004b). Within laying hens this can be problematic, as the calcium levels have to be high because of the large requirements to maintain bone strength and produce quality egg shells. The calcium concentration in a broiler diet is typically around 10 g kg<sup>-1</sup>, while the laying hen requires approximately 40 g kg<sup>-1</sup> dietary calcium. Van der Klis et al. (1997) found that reducing calcium levels from 40 g kg<sup>-1</sup> to 30 g kg<sup>-1</sup> increased ileal phytate hydrolysis from 9% to 33%. This shows phytic acid can be broken down within the tract of the laying hen. However, a calcium level of 30 g kg<sup>-1</sup> should not be recommended as this diet would not meet the birds calcium requirement.

### 1.3.4.3.1 Limestone

Limestone is the most prevalent calcium source in broiler and layer diets. The acid binding capacity of limestone is very high at 15,044 meq kg<sup>-1</sup> at pH 3 (Lawlor et al., 2005); this means that an increase in limestone will result in a rise in the pH of the digesta within the gastrointestinal tract lumen. Increase in dietary calcium using limestone from 10.7 to 25.3 g kg<sup>-1</sup> resulted in an increase in pH in both the crop (4.89 vs 5.32) and ileum (6.62 vs 7.39)(Shafey et al., 1991). The pH of the tract is crucial for the formation of cation-phytate complexes (Maenz et al., 1999). As the pH rises so will the quantity and strength of the bonds between the minerals and phytic acid, making the phytic acid substrate refractory to endogenous intestinal mucosal phytase activity. The pH will also rise above the optimum range of the phytase enzymes (Engelen et al., 1994). This means that limestone addition has a triple effect, increasing the concentration of calcium ions in the lumen in addition to increasing the pH of the tract to favour complex formation and inhibit phytase activity.

Limestone particle size can also have an effect on phytate hydrolysis. An increase in particle size from 28 to 1300  $\mu$ m improves phytate-P hydrolysis both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Manangi and Coon, 2006). This is because the smaller limestone particles are more soluble, and so there is an increased likelihood of them being available to bind to the phytic acid to form phytate complexes.

#### 1.3.4.3.2 Calcium Complications

There are additional mechanisms other than increasing pH and calciumphytate complex formation that could inhibit the hydrolysis of phytate. The benefits of reducing calcium can be complicated by the relationship between calcium and phosphorus homeostasis. A dietary calcium reduction relative to phosphorus could cause greater uptake of both calcium and phosphorus from the intestines (Tamim et al., 2004b). Therefore, a reduction in dietary calcium could benefit phytate hydrolysis through a reduction of intestinal phosphate concentration. It is important to consider the calcium and phosphorus ratio as well as the overall values when investigating the hydrolysis of phytic acid (Lei et al., 1994). There is also a possibility that calcium may interfere with the endogenous phytase itself and reduce its activity in this way but there is no substantial evidence of this (Applegate et al., 2003).

A 5 g kg<sup>-1</sup> addition of limestone calcium reduced the digestibility of total-P, phytate-P and NPP by approximately 57%, 63% and 40% respectively (Tamim et al., 2004b). This trial supports the theory that limestone can increase the formation of phytate through increasing luminal calcium concentration and pH.

The effect of calcium on NPP is due to the formation of calcium phosphates, which also have a reduced solubility and therefore availability (Holt et al., 1925). Harms and colleagues (1962) showed that the difference between the utilisation of phytate-P and NPP increased as the calcium phosphorus ratio is increased from 1:1 to 2:1. This supports the work of Gosselin and Coghlan (1953), showing that calcium has a greater affinity to phytic acid than organophosphates.

A reduction in the dietary calcium level or limestone inclusion can help mitigate the formation of complexes somewhat and improve phytic acid hydrolysis, phosphorus digestibility and bird performance (Selle et al., 2009c). However, this is not always possible if the bird's calcium requirements are going to be met in a long term commercial setting.

#### 1.4.4.4 Effect of Other Minerals on Phytate-P Hydrolysis

*In vitro* studies have shown that other cations like magnesium, manganese, iron and zinc can all inhibit the hydrolysis of phytic acid (Maenz et al., 1999). The magnitude of their effect is dependent upon the pH of the gastrointestinal tract and molar ratios present. Banks et al. (2004a) showed

that dietary copper could reduce phosphorus retention, presumably though a decrease in the solubility of phytate-P. Another study showed that an increase in copper levels from 100 to 250 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> had no significant effect, but increasing the copper level above 250 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> reduced phosphorus retention by 19% (Banks et al., 2004b).

Since the use of antibiotics as growth promoters was banned in the European Union, the use of zinc as zinc oxide has increased in piglet and broiler diets (Hahn and Baker, 1993). For zinc to have a pharmaceutical effect it has to be included within the diet at high concentration, which has been shown to reduce the release of phytate-P by 30% in the broiler (Augspurger et al., 2004).

Once associated with phytic acid, the effect of different minerals will vary. Champagne and Hinojosa (1987) showed that copper-phytate complexes are more soluble than zinc-phytates and that these complexes had a greater solubility.

## 1.4.4.5 Effect of Vitamin D on Phytate-P Hydrolysis

Multiple studies have shown that vitamin D can increase the hydrolysis of phytic acid and phytate-P utilisation (Deluca, 1988, Mitchell and Edwards, 1996, Carlos and Edwards, 1998, Edwards, 1993). The mechanism behind this could be multifactorial. Firstly, dietary vitamin D can increase the calcium absorption (Bauman, 1983). As the concentration of calcium cations present in the lumen of the gastrointestinal tract decreases, so will the formation of calcium-phytate complexes. An increase in vitamin D will therefore increase the solubility of phytic acid and so increase its susceptibility to phytase activity.

Vitamin D can also increase the transport of phosphorus within the small intestine (Tanaka and Deluca, 1974, Harrison and Harrison, 1961). This will increase the retention of any phosphorus hydrolysed from phytic acid and so increase the retention of phytate-P will be greater.

Vitamin D may interact with phytase more directly as it has been shown to increase the activity of endogenous intestinal mucosa phytase in the rat (Pileggi et al., 1955) and chicken(Davies et al., 1970).

#### 1.4.4.6 Effect of Ingredients on Phytate-P Hydrolysis

Variation in the amount, form and location of the phytin found within different feed ingredients will inevitably affect it's hydrolysis as the solubility and accessibility of the phytin differs. Leytem and colleagues (2008) fed broilers four diets based on different cereal grains. They found that the barley diet had the highest AID coefficients of phytate-P (0.29) followed by wheat (0.26), and oats (0.26) and finally maize (0.10).

As well as the raw material itself, different processing treatments can affect the availability of phytate-P within an ingredient. For example, a decrease in the size of maize particles from coarse ( $894\mu$ m) to fine ( $484\mu$ m) resulted in a decrease in the retention of calcium, total-P and phytate-P (Kasim and Edwards, 2000). Heuser (1945) showed that larger maize particles cause an increase in digesta retention times, while others have shown that coarser grains can increase gastric secretions and muscular activity(Nir et al., 1994). It is likely that a change in luminal pH and retention time will increase phytase activity and give the phytase longer to hydrolyse phytic acid. Many factors such as dietary fat, fibre and xylanase supplementation are known to affect gastrointestinal tract retention time and luminal environment; it may be possible that these factors can also influence phytic acid hydrolysis (Ouhida et al., 2001).

Plants use phytin within their seeds to accumulate phosphorus and inositol for germination (Loewus and Murthy, 2000). Therefore, plants need phytase activity to break down the phytic acid and utilise the stored nutrients (Konietzny and Greiner, 2002a). The level of phytase activity varies amongst ingredients and consequently different diets will hydrolyse phytic acid to different degrees (Selle and Ravindran, 2007).

On the other hand, within most dietary ingredients phytase activity is quite small, and it is possible that any differences in plant phytase activity do not significantly affect the hydrolysis of phytic acid within the gastrointestinal tract of the hen (Zimmermann et al., 2002). Steam pelleting can also affect phytic acid hydrolysis as it can denature the plant phytase enzymes and so remove any small benefits they may give the bird (Jongbloed and Kemme, 1990). Although phytic acid is a thermostable molecule, it has been shown

that autoclaving can increase phosphorus availability in rice and soybean bran, through the breakdown of phytic acid (O'Dell, 1962, Takemasa and Hijikuro, 1991). It is possible that steam pelleting can have the same effect.

Given the low level of plant phytase activity and the lack of susceptibility of the phytate complexes to the endogenous phytase in the small intestines, increasing phytase activity within the foregut sections of the gastrointestinal tract would benefit phytic acid hydrolysis significantly. The addition of exogenous phytase allows the nutritionist to increase the phytase activity of the diet; this can significantly increase phytic acid hydrolysis and phosphorus availability in both broiler and laying hen diets.

## 1.3.5 Phytic acid as an Anti-Nutrient

Phytic acid can be considered a nutrient because of the potential phosphorus that can be made available to the bird; it can also be considered an anti-nutritional factor because of the negative effects phytic acid can have on the digestion of other nutrients. Few studies have been conducted to investigate the effects of phytic acid concentration on monogastric performance, but those that have show that an increase in the concentration is detrimental to body weight gain (BWG) of fish, chicks, broilers and piglets as shown in Table 1.2. Only two studies have investigated the effects of phytic acid concentration in laying hens. The first used low phytic acid maize, but failed to find a significant effect on laying hen performance (Ceylan et al., 2003). This is likely because the difference between the two levels of phytic acid within the study was quite small, in comparison with the other experiments. The second trial, although small found that increasing phytic acid to very high levels with the inclusion of sodium phytate decreased egg weight, egg mass and increased feed conversion ratio(Jubarah et al., 2006).

Unfortunately, this study was not powerful enough to find a significant effect on egg production due to insufficient bird numbers and trial duration. However, a large numerical reduction in egg production was seen, from 75.7% to 67.9%.

The unfavourable effects of increasing phytic acid concentration in diets with adequate non-phytate phosphorus (NPP) suggest that phytic acid is not

simply affecting phosphorus availability, but also acting as an anti-nutritional factor.

		Phytic acid	
Study	Animal	g kg⁻¹	Phytic Acid Effect
Usmani and Jafri,	Indian		
2002	Carp	0 vs 15	27% ↓BWG, 25%↑ FCR
Woyengo et al., 2012	Piglet	0 vs 20	37% ↓BWG
Liu et al., 2009	Broiler	7.8 vs 15.7	3% ↓BWG
Liu et al., 2008a	Broiler	7.8 vs 15.7	7% ↓BWG
Cabahug et al., 1999	Broiler	1.04 vs 1.57	7% ↓BWG
Onyango and Adeola,			
2009	Broiler	0 vs 1.65	28% ↓BWG
	Layer		
Shan and Davis, 1994	chicks	0 vs 16.5	44% ↓BWG
	Laying		
Ceylan et al., 2003	hen	5.7 vs 7.1	=
	Laying		2%↓ EW, 12%↓EM and
Jubarah et al., 2006	hen	0 vs 9.1	26%† FCR

Table 1.2 The effect of phytic ac	id concentration on the performance of
monogastrics	

Table adapted from Woyengo and Nyachoti (2011), BWG = Body Weight Gain, FCR= Feed Conversion Ratio, EW= Egg Weight, EM= Egg Mass

#### **1.3.5.1 Effect of Phytic acid on Minerals**

#### 1.3.5.1.1 Effect of Phytic acid on Calcium

The first non-phosphorus effect to be researched in detail was with calcium (Nelson, 1984). The calcium requirements of monogastric animals are greater than that of any other mineral and so the calcium concentrations in pig and poultry diets are high; this is especially the case in laying hens. This high calcium concentration causes calcium to be the most important mineral

in regard to phytate complex formation. Nelson (1984) proposed an equation for the calcium requirements of broilers dependent upon phytate-P concentration that suggests each phytic acid molecule holds 5.1 atoms of calcium. Nash (1998) showed slightly less calcium was bound phytic acid with a ratio of 4.62 to 1 while others have reported a ratio of 4.93 to 1(Marini et al., 1985). Wise (1983) summarised that, depending upon luminal mineral concentration and pH, a range of 3 - 6 moles of calcium would bind to 1 mole of phytic acid. In broilers, the dietary concentrations of phytic acid and calcium are both approximately 10 g kg<sup>-1</sup>. If it is assumed that 6 moles of calcium can bind to one mole of phytic acid, then over one third of the dietary calcium could be bound to phytate in broiler and piglet diets (Selle et al., 2009c). Using the same assumptions in laying hen diets, up to 10% of dietary calcium could be bound to phytate.

It has been shown that increases in dietary phytic acid concentrations will increase the amount of calcium bound to phytate, which will decrease calcium digestibility. As phytic acid increased from 10.4 g kg<sup>-1</sup> to 13.6 g kg<sup>-1</sup> in broiler diets calcium AID was reduced from 37.3 to 36.0 (Ravindran et al., 2006). In laying hens, Ceylan et al. (2003) failed to find an effect of phytic acid on calcium utilisation, but again, this could be due to the relatively small difference in dietary treatments discussed previously.

### 1.3.5.1.2 Effect of Phytic acid on Other Minerals

Woyengo et al. (2009)showed that increasing phytic acid concentration could significantly affect the AID of many minerals and not just calcium (Table 3.) The greatest phytic acid effect was on sodium where the AID coefficent actually suggests a net loss of the mineral.

There is some considerable overlap with human nutrition in regard to the anti-nutrient properties of phytic acid; many malnourished people eat plant based diets high in phytic acid which can exacerbate any mineral deficiencies. Kim et al. (2007) discovered that zinc absorbtion was correlated with phytic acid intake in both elderly and young women. Another trial in rats found that addition of 1.3 g kg<sup>-1</sup> phytic acid to a cereal diet led to a 33% decrease in the absorption of iron. Jubarah et al. (2006) did not look at the digestibility of any minerals, but did find that phytic acid decreased the level

of iron in egg yolks. There was also a numerical but insignificant decrease in the level of zinc in the blood serum and egg yolk.

Mineral	Dietary Phytic Acid g kg <sup>-1</sup>				
Mineral	0	5	10	20	
Ca	0.782	0.711	0.534	0.369	
Mg	0.291	0.188	0.137	-0.030	
Р	0.801	0.654	0.505	0.372	
Na	0.492	0.427	0.466	-0.182	
К	0.876	0.866	0.890	0.811	

Table 1.3 The effect of phytic acid concentration on AID coefficients in piglets

Adapted from Woyengo et al. (2009)

## 1.3.5.1.3 Mechanism of Phytic Acid Restricting Mineral Availability

The reduction in mineral digestibility could be a result of the direct binding of minerals to phytic acid to form insoluble phytate. For minerals such as calcium to be absorbed they have to be soluble, so a reduction in their solubility will cause a decrease in their absorption. Reduced mineral solubility through phytate complex formation, however, is just one of the mechanisms that could affect mineral digestibility.

Phytic acid increases endogenous secretion of minerals. Phytic acid forms insoluble complexes within the small intestines as the pH rises towards neutrality by binding to divalent cations (Tamim et al., 2004b). Monovalent cations like sodium will also bind to phytic acid but do not form such strong bonds (Erdman, 1979). In addition, monovalent cations cannot bridge between two individual phytic acid molecules and so their complexes do not precipitate out of solution as easily (Champagne et al., 1990). It is therefore most likely that the decrease in sodium digestibility is actually due to an increase in endogenous sodium secretion and losses, not through complex formation.

Phytic acid has been shown to bind to both proteins and endogenous enzymes for example pepsin within the stomach (Zebrowska et al., 1983). The presence of phytic acid reduced the digestion of bovine serum albumin by pepsin *in vitro* (Knuckles et al., 1985). Liu et al. (2009) showed that the pepsin activity in the proventriculus was reduced by 6.3% with an increase in phytic acid concentration from 2.2 g kg<sup>-1</sup> to 4.4 g kg<sup>-1</sup>. Woyengo, (Woyengo, 2011) showed a similar effect in piglets where an increase from 0 to 20g kg<sup>-1</sup> sodium phytate resulted in a decreased stomach digesta pepsin activity from 265.5 to 142.5 PU/ml.

Within the digestive system feedback mechanisms are in place whereby low enzyme activities are compensated for by increased enzyme secretions. This feedback can be prompted by the presence of undigested feed or inactivated enzymes within the gastrointestinal tract. In the rat, low stomach pepsin activities caused by tannic acid resulted in an increase in the secretion of both hydrochloric acid and pepsin (Mitjavil. et al., 1973). To protect the small intestines from acid erosion and enzyme digestion the animal will secrete intestinal and pancreatic bicarbonates and mucin that are high in sodium (Zebrowska et al., 1983). It seems therefore, that phytic acid increases pancreatic secretions to protect the intestines from the increased hydrochloric acid secretions brought about by reduced enzyme activities and low nutrient availabilities, which results in large sodium losses.

Cowieson et al. (2004) investigated the effect of phytic acid on endogenous losses in broilers by giving them a precision fed diet of 50 ml glucose. The test diet was created by adding 1 g of free phytic acid to that solution. They found that phytic acid led to increases in the excretion of calcium, iron, copper and sulphur, but by far the greatest increase was with sodium.

This was followed by a similar 48 hour precision fed experiment where broilers were fed a casein solution with the same 1 g of IP<sub>6</sub> added to create a test diet. In this experiment calcium, magnesium, manganese and sodium losses were increased by 187%, 39%, 87% and 174% respectively (Cowieson et al., 2006). Liu and Ru (2010) performed a similar experiment using a purified corn starch diet and the addition of sodium phytate to increase the phytate-P concentration from 2 g kg<sup>-1</sup> to 4 g kg<sup>-1</sup>. The only significant effects reported were a reduction in the endogenous secretion of copper and iron. The differences seen between the experiments is probably due to the form of phytic acid used. Liu and Ru (2010) used the sodium salt of phytic acid whereas Cowieson and colleagues used a free form of phytic acid in both of their experiments, (Coweison et al., 2004, 2006). This shows how the form of phytic acid can affect not just its hydrolysis but also the anti-nutritional effects it can have within the gastrointestinal tract. The form of phytic acid has been shown to affect the endogenous mucin secretions with phytin having a greater effect than that of free phytic acid(Onyango et al., 2009).

Mineral	Control	Control + 1g Phytic Acid	p value
Calcium	72.5	122.5	<0.05
Copper	0.3	0.3	NS
Iron	5.2	6.8	<0.05
Magnesium	30	36.3	NS
Manganese	0.5	0.6	NS
Sodium	38.7	155	<0.001
Sulphur	66.8	98.1	<0.05
Zinc	12	14.9	NS

Table 1.4 The effect of phytic acid addition to endogenous mineral excretion (mg/bird/48h)

Adapted from Cowieson et al. (2004)

Phytic acid can also increase endogenous secretions by binding to metalloenous digestive enzymes that are tightly bound to a metallic ion co-factor, such as a-amylase and alkaline phosphatase. a-amylase relies upon calcium as a co-factor while alkaline phosphatase requires zinc (Malmstro and Neilands, 1964). Deshpande and Cheryan (1984) showed that phytic acid can reduce the activity of a-amylase *in vitro*. Liu et al. (2008b) showed that increasing phytic acid concentration from 2.2 g kg<sup>-1</sup> to 4.4 g kg<sup>-1</sup> in broiler diets reduced a-amylase activity by over 8%. If phytase leads to an increase in the secretion of the metalloenous enzymes by reducing their

activity, it is probable that there will also be an increase in the secretion of the enzyme cofactors, most notably calcium and zinc (Woyengo and Nyachoti, 2013).

Phytic acid could also increase endogenous losses by directly binding to secreted minerals to form complexes and so preventing them being reabsorbed. It is likely that this action is on multivalent cations rather than monovalent cations as they form stronger bonds and the complexes generated are less soluble (Scheuermann et al., 1988).

Finally, phytic acid may act on mineral absorption through altering the osmotic gradient across the gastrointestinal tract wall. Phytic acid can restrict the digestibility and absorption of nutrients such as sugars and amino acids, thereby reducing their active transport into enterocytes (Selle and Ravindran, 2007). The reduced presence of solutes within the enterocytes will decrease the osmotic flow of water which will in turn reduce the absorption of minerals. Minerals can also be co-transported with other nutrients, for example sodium can be transported with glucose. If phytic acid reduces the absorption of glucose it is possible that sodium transport will also be reduced (Fordtran et al., 1968, Fordtran, 1975).

### 1.3.5.2 Effect of Phytic acid on Protein

There is still some debate about the ability of phytic acid to impede protein and amino acid digestibility within poultry. The range of results seen by different authors stem from a number of contributing components within the experiments, including the inert marker used, ingredients used, levels of calcium, levels of NPP, levels and source of phytic acid, dietary electrolyte balance, bird genetics, bird age, housing and the inherent digestibility of the amino acids (Selle and Ravindran, 2007).

Liao et al, (2005) reported that increasing phytic acid concentration in piglet diets from 7.8 to 15.6 g kg<sup>-1</sup> resulted in a decrease in the AID of nitrogen as well as the amino acids: histidine, isoleucine, phenylalanine, threonine with the largest effect on valine. In broilers, an increase in phytic acid from 10.4 to 15.7 g kg<sup>-1</sup> resulted in significant decreases in the AID of nitrogen by 2.3% and multiple amino acids by an average of 2.0% (Ravindran et al., 2000a).
Threonine digestibility was the most effected by rises in phytic acid concentration.

Phytic acid could inhibit protein digestion through a number of mechanisms. Phytic acid will inhibit the digestion of the plant proteins associated with it within the plant cells. As seeds ripen phytin accumulates and becomes linked with protein (Cosgrove, 1980). These complexes have reduced solubility and may be refractory to pepsin digestion, preventing the amino acids becoming available for absorption (Ravindran et al., 1999a).

Secondly, protein-phytate complexes may also form *de novo* within the gastrointestinal tract, after phytic acid has become dissociated with the minerals and proteins it was bound to within plant cells. Phytic acid is able to bind to protein via strong electrostatic interactions dependant on pH (Selle et al., 2000). When the pH is below the isoelectric point of protein the negatively charged phytic acid will bind to the basic amino acids arginine, lysine, and histidine within the protein (Singh, 2008). This occurs quickly and is followed by the slow accumulation of proteins before eventually precipitating (Cosgrove, 1980). The formation of the phytate-protein complexes reduces protein susceptibility to pepsin because they have reduced solubility and structural differences. These changes in structure and solubility could affect the functions of the proteins. If enzymes become bound to phytate this may affect their level of activity. Due to the low pH required it is likely that in birds any *de novo* formation of phytate-protein complexes will occur in the proventriculus.

As the pH rises towards the isoelectic point of protein, phytase and protein become unbound as the protein charges are neutralised. Above the isoelectric point it is hypothesized that divalent cations such as calcium, magnesium and zinc bound to phytate can act as a bridge to the negatively charged protein carboxyl groups (Selle et al., 2000). This again would lead to proteins accumulating and precipitating out of solution within the gastrointestinal tract.

Another possible way phytic acid may inhibit apparent protein digestion is by increasing the flow and losses of the birds' endogenous proteins and amino acids (Ravindran et al., 1999a). This is supported by changes in threonine

digestibility, an amino acid that exists in high concentrations within endogenous secretions (Siriwan et al., 1994, Angkanaporn et al., 1994). Cowieson and Ravindran (2007) showed that the addition of 14.5 g kg<sup>-1</sup> sodium phytate salt on top of a phytic acid free broiler diet resulted in an 87% increase in the endogenous flow of nitrogen and amino acids. To date, no published work has looked at the effect of phytic acid of the endogenous losses of amino acids and protein in laying hens.

Finally, phytic acid may also bind with enzymes to make phytate-enzymatic protein complexes. This could reduce enzyme activity and so slow down the rate of digestion. The chelating of cations such as calcium, discussed above, can also be essential for digestive enzymes such as trypsin and α-amylase (Selle et al., 2000). If calcium is restricted, the enzymes that require it will have reduced activity.

#### 1.3.5.3 Effect of Phytic acid on Energy

Phytic acid has been shown to be detrimental to the energy status of a diet. In the piglet, it has been shown that increasing phytic acid concentration from 7.8 to 17.0 g kg<sup>-1</sup> can reduced the AID of energy (Liao et al., 2005). In broilers, an increase from 10.4 to 13.6 g kg<sup>-1</sup> dietary phytic acid resulted in a decrease in apparent metabolisable energy (AME) from 14.04 to 13.73 MJ kg<sup>-1</sup> dry matter (Ravindran et al., 2006). Miles and Nelson (1974) created a chick diet with and without the inclusion of dephytinised soybean meal and showed the removal of phytic acid increased energy utilisation.

It can be concluded therefore, that phytic acid can decrease the energy available in the diet to an animal. However, energy itself is not a nutrient, but the result of the metabolism of protein, carbohydrate and lipids. Therefore any effect in energy utilisation will be due to a change in the ileal digestibility of amino acids, carbohydrates and lipids (Camden et al., 2001). To understand the effect of phytic acid on energy the effects of phytic acid on the individual components of energy need to assesed .

As discussed above, multiple studies have shown that phytic acid can reduce the digestibility of protein and multiple amino acids through a number of possible mechanisms. As well as being an important nutrient within its own right, protein can be used as an energy source and so a reduction in protein digestibility will affect the AME of a diet. In a broiler diet, the inclusion of sodium phytate, increasing the phytic acid concentration from 8.5 to 14.5 g kg<sup>-1</sup>, resulted in an increase in the endogenous loss of protein of 6125 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (Cowieson et al., 2008). This protein loss is equivalent to 96kJ kg<sup>-1</sup> DM energy intake (Woyengo and Nyachoti, 2011). However, the phytic acid doesn't have to increase endogenous losses, just secretions, to have an effect on energy. The digestion of feed has an inherent energy cost, increasing endogenous secretions will increase these costs even if the proteins are later recovered.

Although phytic acid can restrict the energy of a diet through manipulation of protein digestion, this is not the only mechanism. Low phytic acid feeds were made by adding 300g kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase treated rapeseed meal to a basal diet. This was compared to a diet with 300g kg<sup>-1</sup> placebo treated rapeseed meal and it was found that the low phytic acid diets had an improved apparent metabolisable energy but not an improved ileal protein digestibility. This suggests the phytic acid can inhibit energy utilisation without impeding protein digestion. Therefore, phytic acid must also interfere with the digestion of the other energy providing nutrients, starch and lipids (Newkirk and Classen, 2001).

*In vitro* starch digestibility was improved by 25% when navy beans were treated to remove all their phytic acid (15 g kg<sup>-1</sup>); this improvement was reversed by the addition of 10 g kg<sup>-1</sup> sodium phytate (Thompson et al., 1987). Yoon et al. (1983) showed similar results whereby 20 g kg<sup>-1</sup> phytic acid addition to a human saliva *in vitro* digestion of wheat starch reduced starch digestibility by 50 %. This was alleviated with the addition of calcium, presumably through the creation of calcium phytate complexes. Lee et al. (2006) showed that the addition of 10 g kg<sup>-1</sup> phytic acid to a phytate free diet reduces glucose absorption through low blood glucose levels in mice. Onyango et al. (2008) also showed that phytic acid reduced glucose absorption in the jejunum of broilers. Similarly a 6% blood glucose level reduction was seen in broilers when dietary phytic acid concentration was increased from 7.9 to 15.7 g kg<sup>-1</sup> (Liu et al., 2008b). This study also reported that increasing dietary phytic acid reduced the activity of maltase, α-amylase and sucrase by, 6, 8.3 and 11.4 % respectively. It appears that phytic acid

could therefore reduce the absorption of carbohydrates by inhibiting the activity of the digestive enzymes. This may explain why Yoon et al. (1983) found calcium alleviated their depressed starch digestion as calcium competed with protein to form complexes. Woyengo et al. (2013) also suggested that phytic acid could restrict carbohydrate digestion by binding to proteins that are associated with starch. Finally, it is structurally possible that phytic acid may bind to starch through phosphate linkages and therefore reduce starch solubility in addition to digestibility, but there is little evidence for this (Thompson, 1986).

Studies investigating the effects of phytic acid on lipid digestion are sparse, but some work has been done suggesting there is a phytate effect and to explain possible mechanisms. Lee et al (2005) showed that increasing dietary phytic acid from 0 to 15 g kg<sup>-1</sup> in mice diets reduced the hepatic total lipids and total cholesterol while also reducing the concentration of cholesterol, and low density lipoproteins in the blood. This could reflect a decrease in lipid digestion, and in 2007 a similar study supported these findings while showing a reduction in the apparent absorption of total lipids and cholesterol (Lee et al., 2007). Camden et al. (2001)also found that a reduction in phytic acid level with the inclusion of exogenous phytase increased the ileal digestibility of fats.

The reduced digestion of lipids could be due to the formation of lipid-peptidephytin complexes called lipophytins. It is possible that calcium-phytate complexes may form metallic soaps in the gastrointestinal tract. Matyka et al. (1990) found that the addition of beef tallow reduced phytate hydrolysis in chicks and increased the excretion of soap fatty acids. Ravindran et al. (2000b) showed that the energy effect of phytate was more pronounced when calcium was increased in the diet, suggesting calcium-phytate complexes are important in energy utilisation. It is also very likely that phytic acid inhibits the digestion of lipids by interacting with the enzymes of fat digestion. Phytic acid has been shown to reduce the activity of pancreatic lipase *in vitro* (Knuckles et al., 1989) and *in vivo* (Liu et al., 2009). Finally, there is the possibity that phytic acid can, using multivalent cation bridges, bind to bile acids and form mineral-bile-phytic acid complexes. This would reduce the digestion of fat but this possible mechanism has not yet been tested experimentally.

#### 1.3.5.4 Conclusion on the Anti-nutritional Effects of Phytic Acid

Phytic acid is a polyanionic negatively charged molecule within the gastrointestinal tract, which enables it to bind to a multitude of nutrients and endogenous secretions. This causes the formation of insoluble phytate complexes which are refractory to phytase activity. The phytate-P bound within the complex are less available to the bird, as are the other nutrients bound to phytate. This could be through a drop in the solubility of nutrients within the complex or through increasing endogenous secretion as enzymes activities are reduced, Figure 1.2. Whatever the mechanisms, it is clear that phytic acid can be considered both a potential nutrient and an important anti-nutrient. Some have tried to solve this problem by producing plants low in phytic acid. This will remove the anti-nutritional effect of phytic acid, but also removes an important source of phosphorus and inositol from the animal. The use of exogenous phytase is a better solution to the phytac acid problem. The increased hydrolysis of phytic acid can remove the anti-nutritional effects while increasing the availability of the phytate-P.



Figure 1.2 Summary of the anti-nutritional effects of phytic acid, adapted from Woyengo et al. (2013)

## 1.4 Phytase

## 1.4.1 Introduction to phytase

Improving phytate-P availability is an ecologically sustainable and cost effective alternative to increasing dietary phosphorus. For the phytate-P to be accessible to the chicken, it is necessary that phytic acid is hydrolysed to *myo*-inositol and inorganic phosphorus. Phytase (*myo*-inositol

hexaphosphate phosphohydrolase) is the name given to an enzyme that breaks down phytate (Singh, 2008).

Some believe the poor phytate-P utilisation is due to a lack of phytase within the gastrointestinal tract, however, this is inaccurate (Cowieson et al., 2011). There is phytase and phosphatase activity within the intestinal mucosa, blood and liver of the chicken capable of hydrolysing phytate (Oshima et al., 1964, Birge and Avioli, 1981, Maenz and Classen, 1998). The lack of phytate digestion is actually caused by poor substrate solubility within the intestine, caused by the formation of cation-phytate complexes previously mentioned (Wise and Gilburt, 1981).

The poor phytate-P digestibility can be resolved with the addition of supplemental exogenous phytases within monogastric diets. These phytases are active in the crop, proventriculus and gizzard where the pH is lower. Phytate complexes become insoluble upon entering the small intestines. Therefore exogenous phytases are capable of hydrolysing phytic acid before complexes become insoluble (Simon and Igbasan, 2002). Problems could occur within the crop where the pH is variable. A rise in crop pH could allow the formation of complexes before supplemental phytase can act.

#### **1.4.2 Classification of Phytase**

Phytases are a subgroup of phosphomonoesterases that use progressive steps to hydrolyse phytic acid through sequentially lower inositol polyphosphates ( $IP_{6} \rightarrow IP_{5} \rightarrow IP_{4} \rightarrow IP_{3} \rightarrow IP_{2} \rightarrow IP_{1}$ ), removing phosphorus to produce inorganic phosphorus moieties and a *myo*-inositol ring. Some phytases cannot hydrolyse phytic acid completely and only take the molecule to the lower esters. The term phytase is used to describe any enzyme that hydrolyses polyphosphate inositol to potentially release phosphate groups, and so encompasses a diverse group of enzymes with a broad range of sizes, structures and mechanisms (Bedford and Partridge, 2001). This has led to a number of classification practices. There are 4 distinct catalytic classes of phytase: Class I are the histidine acid phytases (HAPhy), class II are the β-propeller phytases (BPPhy), Class III are the cysteine phytases (CPhy) and finally Class IV, the purple acid phytases (PAPhy) (Mullaney and Ullah, 2003, Greiner, 2007). Phytases are also defined as either acidic or alkaline phytases based upon their pH optimum. Finally, phytases can be categorised depending upon which *myo*-inositol carbon number they dephosphorylate first. There are three known starting positions giving the groups 3-phytase (EC 3.1.3.8), 5-phytase (E.C.3.1.3.72) and 6-phytase (EC 3.1.3.26)(Bedford and Partridge, 2001).

The majority of phytases found in nature belong to the HAPhy class and have no need for a metallic co-factor. Almost all HAPhy enzymes are acid phytases and have been found in bacteria, fungi, plants and animals (Wodzinski and Ullah, 1996a, Mullaney et al., 2000, Greiner, 2007). The active sites of the HAPhy enzymes are located between a conserved  $\alpha/\beta$ -domain and a variable  $\alpha$ -domain (Kostrewa et al., 1999). It is thought that the variability of the  $\alpha$ -domain leads to differences in substrate binding. The final product of HAPhy activity is *myo*-inositol monophosphate. The phosphorus at C<sub>2</sub> position is refractory to hydrolysis and so phytic acid is rarely hydrolysed completely. Subsequently the products are normally 5 inorganic phosphorus moieties and one *myo*-inositol monophosphate (IP<sub>1</sub>)(Wodzinski and Ullah, 1996b). The HAPhy Class contains both 3-phytases and 6-phytases.

BPPhy enzymes were first discovered in *Bacillus spp.*, but have now also been found in *Xanthomus oryzae* and *Shemanella oneidensis* (Kerovuo et al., 1998, Chatterjee et al., 2003, Cheng and Lim, 2006). They are a 3-phytase that share no homology with other types of phosphatases. Their structure consists of a folded propeller with 6 blades, each with a calcium binding site (Shin et al., 2001). The presence of 3 calcium ions on the high affinity sites increases the thermostability of the enzyme. The addition of another 3 calcium ions activates the enzyme by removing the negative charge from the active site making it suitable for phytate. They are an alkaline phytase capable of hydrolysing calcium phytate complexes between pH 7 and 8 (Oh et al., 2001). Alkaline phytases exhibit strict substrate specificity for calcium–phytate complexes and produces *myo*-inositol trisphosphate as the final product (Oh et al., 2004).

CPhy and PAPhy like HAPhy are both acidic phytases. PAPhy are a type of acid phosphatases given this name because of the purple colour of their

oxidised form. Purple acid phosphatases have been found in bacteria, fungi, animals and plants, but it is only in plants that they show phytase activity. They were first discovered in the cotyledons of germinating soybean seeds, but have since been found in wheat and barley (Hegeman and Grabau, 2001). PAPhy contain a binuclear centre with at least one Fe<sup>3+</sup> ion and either a Mn<sup>2+</sup>, Zn<sup>2+</sup>, Mg<sup>2+</sup> or another Fe<sup>3+</sup> ion (Bedford and Partridge, 2001).

CPhy were first discovered in *Selenomonas ruminantium*, an anaerobic ruminal bacterium. They are a cysteine phosphatase which is related to the tyrosine phosphatases that do not require a co-factor. The active site of CPhy consists of a loop that creates a pocket to hold the substrate. This is a similar mechanism to that of the trypsin phosphatases. The loop is cable of holding a phytic acid molecule that is fully phosphorylated to  $IP_6$  (Yanke et al., 1999).

#### **1.4.3 Phytase Discovery and Development**

Phytase activity was first discovered in rice bran over 100 years ago ((Suzuki et al., 1907), 50 years after the discovery of phytate itself (Hartig, 1855, Cowieson et al., 2011). In the 1960's Nelson and colleagues started the first in-depth research into the negative effect of phytate on the availability of phosphorus and calcium (Nelson, 1967). This coincided with the first attempts to produce a phytase feed additive (Wodzinski and Ullah, 1996b). However, phytase didn't take off at that time as production on a large scale was difficult and expensive. This would have made phytase uneconomical compared to the inorganic phosphorus sources that were relatively cheap compared to today's prices.

After developments in genetic engineering, it was in 1991 that the first commercially viable phytase products became available (Bedford and Partridge, 2001). The use of phytase was encouraged by legislation brought into force in the Netherlands that produced substantial pressure to reduce phosphorus pollution on agricultural land (Chesson, 1993). A simple way to reduce phosphorus pollution is to use phytase in the diet to improve plant phytate-P availability and reduce the level of NPP within animal diets thereby increasing total-P retention and reducing phosphorus excretion.

## 1.4.4 Defining phytase activity

There is no single universally recognised international standard for phytase activity which can cause confusion within the nutrition industry and academia. However, fytase units (FTU) are the most common measurement of phytase activity within the literature. One FTU is defined as the amount of enzyme that liberates 1  $\mu$ mol of inorganic phosphorus from 0.0051 mol L<sup>-1</sup> sodium phytate at pH 5.5 and 37°C per minute (Engelen et al., 1994). When included within a diet the amount of phytase will be expressed as FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>. The use of FTU provides an easy and simple system to measure the activity of phytase, but is limited as different phytase enzymes will have different pH optima and Michaelis constants. This has led to other assays being used for activity measurements using pH ranges more suitable to the phytase being analysed. In practice, the activity of phytase will also be affected by the conditions the digestive tract such as the temperature, retention time and pH in addition to the concentrations of different nutrients within the diet (Selle and Ravindran, 2007). Another problem with the FTU measurement is the substrate sodium phytate. Sodium phytate does not accurately represent the "naturally" occurring phytin which is less soluble and harder to degrade because it has different and multiple minerals, most commonly potassium, magnesium and calcium (Onyango et al., 2009).

## 1.4.5 Sources of Phytase

There are four sources of phytase in the diet of the laying hen (Selle and Ravindran, 2007, Bedford and Partridge, 2001).

- Endogenous intestinal phytase in the digestive secretions
- Gastrointestinal tract microflora phytase
- Intrinsic plant ingredient phytase
- Supplemental microbial phytase

## 1.4.5.1 Intrinsic Plant phytase

Plants need to use phytases to utilise the *myo*-inositol, phosphorus and other minerals stored within the phytin complexes. These are 6-phytases with relatively low levels of activity and little effect on the hydrolysis of phytic acid but they have been shown to break down phytic acid within feed (Temperton and Cassidy, 1964, Scheuermann et al., 1988). The level of phytase activity within an ingredient will be dependent upon its cultivation, genetics, age, drying and storage. Plant phytases are vulnerable to pH, temperature and proteolysis, and so do not survive high temperature pelleting processes or for very long in the gastrointestinal tract (Konietzny and Greiner, 2002b). To overcome this, transgenic plants have been developed using the phytase genes from fungi and bacteria to create high levels of stable phytase enzymes. These sources of phytase could become important in the future if they provide cheap phytate hydrolysis, but currently are not widely used.

#### 1.4.5.2 Endogenous and Microfloral Phytase

McCollum and Hart (1908) were the first to show phytase activity in any animal tissue. Since this pioneering work, other studies have shown that phytate can be hydrolysed by the intestinal mucosa of the human, rat, calf, and chicken (Dias et al., 2010, Bitar and Reinhold, 1972). The level of phytic acid present in a chick's blood increases dramatically in the first three weeks after hatch indicating that phytic acid can be digested (Oshima et al., 1964). Maenz (1998) demonstrated that there was substantial phytase activity within the small intestines of the chicken that reduced distally through the jejunum and ileum. The activity was also found to be greater in the mature laying hen relative to the younger broiler chick. Lopez et al. (2000) found that in the rat the greatest phytase activity within the small intestines was present in the duodenum (Lopez et al., 2000). The production of endogenous phytase increases with dietary phytic acid concentration and decreases as the concentration of NPP rises suggesting that animals can react to the form and availability of dietary phosphorous (Lopez et al., 2000, Hu et al., 1996).

Kerr et al. (2010) suggested that micro-organisms in the crop may also help hydrolyse phytate. However, it has been shown that germ-free rats can break down phytic acid as easily as conventional rats; this suggests it is the endogenous and not microbial phytase that is more important in the hydrolysis of phytate within the gastrointestinal tract (Wise and Gilburt, 1982). Although the bird has substantial phytase activity it is not utilised because the phytic acid is bound within phytate complexes and so not available for hydrolysis within the intestinal mucosa (Cowieson et al., 2011). At very high calcium concentrations it has been reported that the amount of phytic acid hydrolysed is negligible (Taylor, 1965).

#### 1.4.5.3 Exogenous Supplemental Phytase

Nelson et al. (1971) showed microbial phytase could break down the phytic acid of plant feed ingredients. There is now a range of supplemental phytases available on the market that are stable at high temperatures, active over a wide pH range, refractory to proteolysis and will readily hydrolyse phytic acid (Usmani and Jafri, 2002).

Phytases available on the commercial market are most commonly HAPhy and come from *Aspergillus niger*, *Peniophora lycii* and *Escherichia coli* (Bedford and Partridge, 2001). *A. niger is* a type 3-phytase while both *P lycii* and *E. coli* phytases are type 6. The phytases are produced by genetically engineered fungi that have cloned vectors inserted into their DNA, which are then overexpressed to produce large quantities of the enzyme. The fungi are housed in a batch-fed submerged pure culture fermentation container (Bedford and Partridge, 2001). The fermentation broth is collected and the phytase is captured by multiple processes. The first step of the purification process is to centrifuge the broth removing the majority of the fungi cells. Filtration will remove the remainder of the cells while ultrafiltration and diafiltration will remove any insoluble non-phytase compounds of low molecular weight. The final product will be subject to a number of tests to ensure it has the required phytase activity, purity and chemical composition.

Phytase can be added to animal feed as dust/granules or in a liquid form. If the feed is pelleted the phytase is often added in liquid form after the pelleting process, which involves temperatures exceeding 80°C, to overcome heat stability problems. Heat stable varieties are now available that provide a more reliable enzyme that can be added to the feed before pelleting and reduce manufacturing costs (Garrett et al., 2004). *E. coli* phytase enzymes are reported to be more heat stable compared to others (Igbasan et al., 2000). Within the chicken, exogenous phytase is mainly active in the first half of the gastrointestinal tract; the crop, proventriculus and gizzard. This is because the pH is lower and so more favourable for phytase activity. Phytase from *E. coli* has been shown to maintain activity later in the tract compared to *P. lycii* phytase, which suggests it may be more resistant to proteolytic enzymes active in the latter parts of the tract (Table 1.5; Onyango et al., 2005b). *E. coli* phytases have also retained the highest residual activity (93%) after incubation with proventriculus and gizzard digesta supernatants for 1 h at 40°C (Igbasan et al., 2000). Phytase activity within a section of the gastrointestinal tract, however, does not guarantee phytate hydrolysis. Many factors can affect the efficacy of exogenous phytase within the gastrointestinal tract.

Control + 1000 FTU Kg<sup>-1</sup> Control + 1000 FTU Kg P. lycii Control E. coli Crop 67<sup>c</sup> 649<sup>a</sup> 404<sup>b</sup> **Proventriculus** 28<sup>b</sup> 406<sup>a</sup> 63<sup>b</sup> 29<sup>b</sup> 25<sup>b</sup> Jejunum 554<sup>a</sup> 6<sup>b</sup> 16<sup>b</sup> 91<sup>a</sup> lleum

Table 1.5 Phytase activity (FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> DM) along the gastrointestinal tract when a control diet is supplemented with different phytases

Adapted from Onyango et al. (2005b)

<sup>a-b</sup> Means within columns with no common superscript differ significantly (P<0.05)

## 1.4.7 Factors Affecting the Efficacy of phytase

The efficacy of phytase will be affected by all of the factors that affect the hydrolysis of phytic acid without exogenous phytase supplementation that have already been discussed in Section 1.4.4.

The form of the phytic acid substrate will effect it's hydrolysis, both with and without exogenous phytase. Leske and Coon (1999) showed the effect of 600 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase on the hydrolysis of phytic acid from different ingredients to vary widely from 6.3% in rapeseed meal to soybean meal at 37.5 %. This difference is seen despite the fact that rapeseed meal has a

higher level of phytic acid and so should have greater concentration of substrate available for hydrolysis.

Of particular importance when discussing phytase efficacy is the availability of the phytic acid to the exogenous phytase. The increase in dietary mineral levels will allow a greater formation of phytate complexes, and so reduce phytic acid solubility and the efficacy of phytase. Minerals themselves can bind to phytase and reduce phytase activity, but there is little evidence of this. The inclusion of limestone especially can have a large effect on phytase efficacy as it can result in a dramatic rise in gastrointestinal tract pH, notably in the crop (Shafey et al., 1991). A rise in crop pH can force the early formation of phytate complexes before the phytase can significantly hydrolyse the phytic acid.

Different commercially available phytase enzymes will have different levels of activity per kilogram, but even if they are equated in terms of FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>, differences in Km values, pH optimum ranges, thermostability and resistance to pepsin degradation will all affect the amount of phytic acid they hydrolyse. Onyango et al. (2005b) added 1000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> of *E. coli* or *P. lycii* phytase to a diet with a low level of NPP and found that the *E. coli* phytase had a higher level of activity in all sections of the gastrointestinal tract.

The addition of other exogenous enzymes can also affect the activity of phytase. The use of xylanase in wheat diets can help phytase access the phytic acid substrate and improve the utilisation of nutrients released by phytase (Ravindran et al., 1999b). The addition of proteinase enzymes may also affect phytase activity (Cowieson and Adeola, 2005). It could possibly benefit phytase by reducing the formation of protein-phytate complexes, or inhibit phytase activity through increased proteolysis.

Finally, as shown in Section 1.342, we know that free phosphorus can inhibit phytase activity and so a increases in dietary NPP will inevitably reduce the activity of phytase. There is also a possibility that plant, endogenous and gut microbial activity could affect the activity of endogenous phytase through competition for substrate and an increase in the presence of free phosphorus. However, given their low levels of activity this effect is probably negligible.

## 1.4.8 Benefits of Dietary Phytase Inclusion

There have been many studies that have shown the supplementation of exogenous phytase in chicken diets can improve performance. For example, the growth performance of broilers fed a diet with 4.5 g kg<sup>-1</sup> total phosphorus improved by 54% when 1500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> was included in the diet (Simons et al., 1990a). The benefits of phytase are more pronounced when the diets have reduced levels of dietary phosphorus, indicating that increased phosphorus digestion may be the potential mechanism. However, phytase has also improved the growth of animals fed diets with adequate levels of phosphorus. Selle et al. (1999) showed that phytase could improve the weight gain of birds fed a diluted diet with lower levels of phosphorus, calcium, protein and energy. The treatments did not significantly affect the toe ash and so it was suggested that the phytase benefits are extraphosphoric as phosphorus was not limiting.

Diets with high nutrient specifications are less likely to show phytase performance responses. This is because the anti-nutritional effects of phytic acid on nutrient availability will not be as significant, as the birds' requirements can still be met by the base diet. As a result, the hydrolysis of phytic acid by exogenous phytase will benefit the bird less. The effect of phytase on performance will be related to the underlying level of phytic acid within the diet. Selle et al. (2003a) showed that exogenous phytase allows a diet dilution without reducing the desired production level and that this nutritional strategy can be more economical. In laying hens, the supplementation of phytase reversed the increase in FCR caused by an increase in phytic acid (Jubarah et al., 2006).

## 1.4.8.1 Effect of Phytase on Phosphorus

Numerous studies have shown that the addition of phytase to a poultry diet can improve the availability of phytate-P and increase phosphorus retention through the hydrolysis of phytic acid (Denbow et al., 1995, Ravindran et al., 2000b, Boling-Frankenbach et al., 2001, Augspurger and Baker, 2004, Onyango et al., 2005a)

The improvement in phytate-P utilisation allows nutritionists to decrease the amount of NPP or TP within the diet. Phytase has been shown to reverse

negative effects caused by low phosphorus diets in pigs, broilers and laying hens (Denbow et al., 1995, Harper et al., 1997, Van der Klis et al., 1997, Gordon and Roland, 1998, Jalal and Scheideler, 2001). The decrease of NPP within diets and improvement of phytate-P absorption can be used to reduce excreted phosphorus and therefore phosphorus pollution.

The ability to replace NPP with phytase has led to the search for equivalence values. In order to formulate diets correctly, nutritionists require knowledge of how much phytate-P phytase releases in vivo. The fytase units given to phytase enzymes are based on in vitro experiments and so they are not appropriate for dietary formulations; equivalencies are generated with bioassay experiments based on performance data. However, these can be flawed because phytase can have additional beneficial effects unrelated to phosphorus. Many have studied the phosphorus phytase equivalences in broilers, and have produced results varying from 400 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> = 1 g phosphorus to 1146 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> = 1g phosphorus (Augspurger et al., 2003, Yi et al., 1996, Selle and Ravindran, 2007). In laying hen, Van der Klis et al. (1997) reported a phosphorus equivalence of 190 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> = 1 g phosphorus, but also found this varied dependant on NPP dose. This variance in equivalences stems from the differences in response criteria, basal diet, level of NPP, level of phytic acid, calcium phosphorus ratios and all the other factors that can affect phytase efficacy (Denbow et al., 1995). These factors should be taken into account when reducing the level of NPP in the diet in favour of phytase.

#### 1.4.8.2 Effect of Phytase on Minerals

As phytase breaks down the phytic acid it will also reduce the amount of calcium and other minerals that become bound within the insoluble phytate complexes. Phytase is not as effective at hydrolysing phytic acid when it is already bound to calcium (Plumstead et al., 2008). That said, exogenous phytase acts in the foregut and so can hydrolyse phytate before mineral-phytate complexes can form within the small intestines unless the pH of the crop rises.

Laying hens have a high calcium demand for eggshell production. This will increase the amount of calcium available for Ca-phytate complex formation

and can increase the pH of the digestive tract, more specifically the crop, towards an environment more suitable for complex formation; this may inhibit the effect exogenous phytase can have on breaking down phytate. However, 1000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> did hydrolyse phytate to lower esters in layer hen diets with high calcium concentrations of ~45g kg<sup>-1</sup> DM (Agbede et al., 2009b). Shirley and Edwards (2003) showed that increasing phytase inclusion increased the retention of dietary calcium in broiler diets. Augspurger and Baker (2004) took a basal diet deficient in calcium and added either phytase at 500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> or one of five graded doses of Ca (0-4g kg<sup>-1</sup>) to calculate equivalence values. They found that their phytase released the equivalence of 0.72 g Ca kg<sup>-1</sup>.

#### 1.4.8.3 Effect of Phytase on Protein

As previously discussed phytic acid can be detrimental to protein and amino acid digestion through a number of mechanisms. It stands to reason therefore that phytase addition would hydrolyse phytic acid and prevent these negative effects. Shirley and Edwards (2003) showed that increasing phytase inclusion increased the retention of nitrogen. Meanwhile, multiple studies have shown that phytase can improve amino acid digestibility(Selle et al., 2000). Rutherfurd et al. (1997) showed that phytase benefitted the true ileal digestibility coefficient of 16 amino acids in maize, wheat, rapeseed meal and soyabean meal by 3.90, 12.94, 9.31 and 6.39% respectively when fed to broilers. In laying hens, Van der Klis and Versteegh (1991) showed the addition of 250-300 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> gave significant, if small, improvements in the apparent ileal absorption of nitrogen indicating a protein effect of phytase. A more recent trial showed that diluting a diet to reduce the level of crude protein (17 vs 15%), metabolisable energy (2,900 vs 2800kcal ME  $kg^{-1}$ ), calcium (4.2 vs 3.8%) and phosphorus (0.375 vs 0.28%) had no negative effect on performance if supplemented with phytase at 600 FTU  $kg^{-1}$  (Lima et al., 2010).

Snow et al. (2003) added 300 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase to three different laying hen diets. The control was a maize-soybean diet, the treatment diets had either 75 g kg<sup>-1</sup> meat and bone meal or 100g kg<sup>-1</sup> wheat middling added. Although numerical increases between 2-3% were seen there was no significant

phytase effect on the digestibility of amino acid. Liu et al. (2007) showed that the addition of phytase to a calcium and phosphorus deficient diet improved the nitrogen and amino acid digestibility in comparison with a negative control diet. Agbede et al. (2009a,b) have published two similar trials where supplemental phytase was added to the diets of caectomised laying hens. In the first trial they found phytase could significantly improve the utilisation of protein, energy and amino acids in diets with low levels of calcium (Agbede et al., 2009a). This effect was reduced somewhat when the calcium concentration was higher. In their second trial, phytase failed to significantly affect the digestibility of nitrogen or amino acids across a range of dietary phosphorus levels.

It appears that phytase does have the capacity to improve protein and amino acid utilisation in laying hens, however, this is by no means consistent. It may be that the high calcium level required in laying hen diets goes some way to explain the inconsistencies seen between trials. Regardless, a number of factors need further investigation before it can be concluded that the protein effects of phytic acid and phytase are significant in explaining performance differences seen.

#### 1.4.8.4 Effect of Phytase on Energy

In broiler diets, the inclusion of phytase consistently increases the apparent metabolisable energy of a diet (Selle and Ravindran, 2007). Selle et al. (2005) showed that including phytase at 600 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> in a wheat based diet increased the AME from 14.22MJ kg<sup>-1</sup> to 14.56MJ kg<sup>-1</sup>. Scott et al. (2001) showed that 1000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase inclusion in layer diets improved the AME in both maize or wheat based diets by 3.5 and 3.6% respectively. Liebert et al. (2005) found that 300 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase had no effect on AME in layer diets. It is probably that the difference seen between these studies is due to the difference in phytase dose. A reduction in metabolisable energy from 12.14 to 11.72 MJ ME kg<sup>-1</sup> had no negative effect with the inclusion of 600 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>(Lima et al., 2010). Camden et al. (2001) found that phytase improved the AME of a broiler diet by 1.1% and that this was due to an improved ileal digestibility of fat, protein and starch by 3.5, 2.6 and 1.4%. To conclude, phytase can affect the apparent metabolisable energy (AMEn) of a

diet, but it appears that higher doses are required for the improvements to become significant.

## 1.4.9 High Phytase inclusion

The standard inclusion of exogenous phytase within poultry diets is 250 – 1000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>. Recently there has been increased interest in "super-dosing" or including phytase at levels higher than those of the standard inclusion. A phytase dose is considered to be above the standard inclusion level when the phytase activity is at or greater than 2500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>. A number of studies have now shown that the inclusion of high levels of phytase within diets can benefit animal performance (Cowieson et al., 2011).

The aim of the high inclusion levels is to hydrolyse all phytic acid in the foregut down to the lowest esters. Within the small intestines a rise in pH will strengthen the association between the higher phytic acid ester and charged nutrients resulting in precipatiation. Hydrolsying phytic acid into the lower esters before it enters the duodenum reduces the formation of phytate complexes, as the lower esters are more soluble and have less ability to bind cations (Persson et al., 1998). This means they are more available to endogenous phytase which can further hydrolyse the phytic acid to *myo*-inositol, IP<sub>1</sub> and phosphorus. These can then be absorbed and utilised by the bird.

A number of mechanisms have been suggested to explain how a high phytase diet can improve performance (Cowieson et al., 2011); the first is through the release of additional phosphorus. The complete hydrolysis of phytic acid will release almost all the phytate-P(Nelson et al., 1971). This is a substantial amount of phosphorus, however, this will only improve the performance if phosphorus is a limiting nutrient, and so is unlikely to be the main mechanism seen in the trials with adequate phosphorus. Excessive phosphorus will just be excreted in the manure (Angel and Applegate, (2002)). Although this is probably not the mechanism that improves performance, the release of all of the phytate-P will allow further reduction in NPP and therefore could reduce the cost and environmental impact of monogastric diets. Phytase targets the higher esters of phytic acid (Wyss et al., 1999), IP6 and IP5; this is important because these phytic acid molecules have a greater calcium binding capacity than the lesser esters, IP4 and IP3. For example, IP3 has approximately 10% of the calcium binding capacity of IP6 (Persson et al., 1998). Therefore, initial phytase activity will release disproportionately high amounts of calcium compared to phosphorus. The use of high phytase doses can deliver a more balanced release of phosphorus and calcium, closer to the 1.1 calcium phosphorus ratio normally used for phytase matrices. It may be that the benefits seen in the higher inclusion trials are due to a restoration of the calcium phosphorus ratio (Cowieson et al., 2011).

The complete hydrolysis of phytic acid within the gastrointestinal tract will also have a benefit through the removal of the extra-phosphoric effects of phytate. As previously mentioned, phytate complex formation hinders mineral, protein and energy nutrition. Dephosphorylation of phytic acid earlier within the tract has the potential to remove these negative extraphosphoric effects by preventing the formation of phytate complexes.

Finally, there is the benefit of increased *myo*-inositol availability. After phytate has been dephosphorylated to the lower esters, they can be absorbed and further broken down into free phosphorus and *myo*-inositol. *Myo*-inositol is known to be involved with the transport of fats and fat soluble nutrients, and it has been shown to increase growth in rats and decrease fatty liver syndrome (Katayama, 1997). It is also worth noting that *myo*-inositol is the precursor of multiple compounds that are important for maintaining normal cellular function. For example IP<sub>3</sub> can be used as a secondary messenger during cell signalling or in the control of intracellular calcium ion concentration (Berridge, 1993). Little work has been conducted on animal requirements of *myo*-inositol, but Hegsted (1941b) showed that it improved chick growth. It may be that phytase provides the bird with a large amount of *myo*-inositol which can improve animal performance.

## 1.5 Concluding Remarks

Phytic acid is an integral part of plant seeds, feed ingredients and the laying hen diet and can be thought of as both a potential nutrient and anti-nutrient. Phytic acid contains a large proportion of dietary phosphorus but unfortunately it is not readily available. This is because the phosphate groups on the phytic acid molecule make it very negatively charged. These negative charges attract a large number of cations within the tract to form insoluble phytate complexes. The insolubility of these complexes make them refractory to endogenous phytase activity and so the phosphorus is largely unavailable. The formation of these complexes also restricts the digestion of the other nutrients, these are known as the extra-phosphoric effects of phytate.

Exogenous phytase can be included in the diet to hydrolyse phytic acid before phytate complexes form, and so release more of the valuable phytate-P. In doing this, the number of phytate complexes formed are reduced. The reduction in phytate formation reduces the adverse effects of phytic acid on calcium, other minerals, protein and energy of the diet.

The effects and main mechanisms of phytic acid and phytase are well understood in broiler nutrition,n but little research has been done on laying hens due to the difficulty and expense of running layer trials. While much of the broiler research can be transferred to laying hens, the fundamental differences between the birds and their diets requires experiments focused on layers. For example, the difference in dietary calcium concentration indicates the need for layer trials, as the concentration of calcium can have such an adverse effect on phytase efficacy. Finally, the use of high levels of phytase beyond the standard inclusion levels have shown to benefit both broilers and piglets, but this has not yet been shown in the laying hens and the underlying mechanisms are not well understood.

## 1.6 Study Aims

This thesis aims to investigate if using higher than standard phytase inclusion levels can benefit laying hen performance and to investigate the mechanisms behind such improvements.

# Chapter 2 Materials and Methods

# 2.1 Introduction to General Methods

To avoid repetition, a general methods chapter has been included to detail methodologies that were similar throughout the different experiments. All experiments were reviewed by the University of Leeds animal ethics committee and given approval before taking place. The animal housing and husbandry was in accordance with current agricultural regulations, Council Directive 99/74/EC and the Welfare of Farmed Animals (England) Regulations 2007. In addition to this, all scientific animal procedures were in line with the Home Office guidelines (Home Office, 2014) and Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986. The animals were monitored by poultry vet Jim Morris from Haven Veterinary Group.

## 2.2 Animal Husbandry

Throughout the different experiments the birds were kept either individually or in small groups. The cages of the birds differed depending upon whether the birds were housed individually or not.

## 2.2.1 Individual housing

The birds were kept in wire mesh cages that measured 51cm wide by 52 cm deep. The floor had an 8° slope to remove eggs from the cage giving a minimum height of 69cm and maximum height of 76 cm. The feed was presented to the bird in a 36cm long trough that hooked onto the outside of the door at the front of the cage. The birds accessed the trough through two 15 cm holes in the front door. The trough had a lip at the front to prevent feed wastage and side baffles to stop birds eating their neighbour's diets. The cages were held in stacks of 6 with 2 tiers and kept in two rooms. Each

cage had 3 water nipples, an abrasive claw shortening device and a tray under the mesh floor to collect excreta.

## 2.2.2 Group Housing

The chickens were housed within one animal room in cages across 3 tiers, 20 cages per tier. These were enriched, colony style cages that were inspected by an Animal Health officer after the ban on conventional barren cages. The cages measured 72cm wide and 50cm deep. The floor of the cage had a 8° slope to remove eggs. The height at the rear and front of the cage were 56cm and 62cm, respectively. Each cage was equipped as standard, with two 32cm feed troughs, a nest area, 60cm of perch space, a scratching litter area, an abrasive claw shortening device and at least 3 water nipples at all times. An electric wire was located under the egg baffle to prevent birds egg eating and a tray was placed under the cage to collect excreta. The cages were used to house either 3 or 4 birds depending upon the trial.

#### 2.2.3 Birds

The laying hen breed used throughout all experiments was the Bovan Brown layer. The breeding company's husbandry recommendations were used as a guide during bird management. The age of the birds used was dependent upon the experiment. In experiments using start of lay birds the pullets were purchased from a commercial floor rearing facility. The birds were selected and brought to the University of Leeds farm before the onset of lay and went onto trial at 21 weeks of age. Experiments on mid-lay birds started at 36 weeks of age. These birds were purchased from a commercial enriched cage laying hen farm a few weeks before the trials commenced. Any birds that reacted badly to their move during lay were not put onto trial. Numbered wing bands were used to identify individual birds.

Health checks were undertaken on birds before being brought onto the farm; these included inspections of the pubic bone, vent, comb, wattle, and feather cover of the birds.

#### 2.2.3 Lighting Temperature and Health

The health status of the birds was checked daily; any birds showing signs of sickness or disease were noted and if deemed necessary were euthanized. Any natural deaths and euthanized birds were recorded on the day they occured. The rooms were kept at 21°C using 4 ventilation inlets, two extracting fans and heaters when necessary. The hours of light provided each day were dependant on the age of the birds and followed the breeders' recommendations; 15 hours of light at 21 weeks of age and 16 hours of light thereafter. The light intensity was kept between 6-10 lux, but increased to 50 lux for daily inspections.

#### 2.2.4 Feed and Water

Both feed and water were available ad lib, to the birds at all times. The feed was regularly topped up to ensure it was fresh and the water lines were flushed once a week to prevent the build-up of stale water or microbial contamination. Daily checks were carried out on water line and feed level. Throughout all of the trials the feeds used were mash diets. All the experimental diets were formulated with help from the industry sponsors on Format International feed formulation software. The diets were then produced by Target Feeds Ltd, a specialist trial feed mill, in single batches a week before the experiment began. Feed was stored in 25 kg coloured bags in a cold room and opened only when needed to ensure it was kept fresh. Each diet had a different coloured bag and a lettered label that corresponded to a particular treatment. The identity of the treatments was unknown throughout the duration of the experimental trials to ensure all measurements were unbiased. Each week a 250 g sample of feed was taken and frozen at -20°C. At the end of the experiment equal weighted subsamples of the feed from each week were mixed and sent for analysis. All of the feed analysis was done by Sciantec Analytical. The diets were analysed for moisture, crude protein, crude fibre, oil A (ether extract), ash, calcium, phosphorus, sodium and phytate phosphorus.

## 2.3 Animal Performance Measurements

### 2.3.1 Feed Intake

During all of the trials several production criteria were measured and recorded. The amount of feed presented to the birds and the feed refused by birds each week were recorded and used to calculate the average daily feed intake. When individually housed, the chickens were fed daily and were given 5 grams more than their previous day's feed intake. This was to ensure the birds ate the complete diet and prevent the birds selectively feeding. This was not a problem in the group housed birds.

## 2.3.2 Bird Weight

The chickens were weighed at the start and end of every trial. This was used to calculate the average weight gained during the trial. The birds were always weighed in the afternoon to ensure they had all laid their eggs for that day.

## 2.3.3 Egg Production and Weight

Eggs were collected and counted throughout the trial, facilitating the generation of hen-day egg production data. The eggs were then weighed to give an average egg weight and daily egg mass production. Accurate egg weights cannot be obtained from wet cracks and dropped eggs so these eggs were excluded from the average egg weight and egg mass production data sets. An adjusted egg mass (Adj Egg Mass) was calculated making the assumption that the weight of any dropped or cracked egg was that of the average egg for that cage and week.

## 2.3.4 Feed Conversion Ratio

The egg mass production and the average daily feed intake were used to calculate the Feed Conversion Ratio (FCR) of the laying hens. An adjusted FCR (AdjFCR) was also calculated using the adjusted egg mass production.

## 2.3.5 Egg Quality Analysis

On specific days during the trials detailed egg quality analysis was done. On these days the eggs were individually marked for identification, weighed to 0.01 g accuracy and then candled. Eggs were classified as whole, with a hairline crack, gross crack or wet crack. The eggs then had their midline drawn on for future measurements. The whole eggs were then strength tested using a ORKA Egg Force Reader to an accuracy of 0.001 kgf. Immediately after the strength test the eggs were cracked open onto a level glass breakout unit with an angled mirror beneath. When the eggs were broken open the midline of the shell was kept intact. The breakout unit and mirror were used to inspect the egg for blood and meat spots. The eggs were given a spot score with 0 indicating no spots, 1 representing a few spots only noticeable under detailed inspection and 2 signifying a large amount of spots clearly noticeable without detailed inspection. The albumen height was then measured using a BAXLO tripod based dial micrometre to an accuracy of 0.1 mm. The albumen height was measured at three points 1cm from the egg yolk. The average albumen height was used with the egg weight to generate a Haugh Unit measurement using the equation (Haugh, 1937):

$$HU = 100 \times \log(AH - 1.7EW^{0.37} + 7.57)$$

Where

HU = Haugh units

AH = Albumen Height

EW = Egg Weight

The yolk colour was then recorded using a DSM yolk colour fan chart. Larger scores indicate a deeper colour becoming more orange and less pale. Finally, the eggshells were cleaned with gentle flowing distilled water above a sieve to catch any small detached fragments of shell. These were carefully cleaned, retained and the complete shell was dried in an oven set at 100°C for 24 hours. Once dry the shell was weighed to 0.01g and the shell thickness was measured at three points on the midline drawn previously on the egg to an accuracy of 0.001mm. In some of the trials the yolks were then separated and weighed to 0.01g after their colour had been recorded.

## 2.4 Laboratory analysis

#### 2.4.1 Mineral Analysis of Feed and Digesta

#### 2.4.1.1 Cleaning of Glassware

To remove any mineral contamination all glassware used during these procedures were acid washed before use. Briefly, after the standard laboratory glass wash 10 ml 5M hydrochloric acid was added to each piece of glassware and brought to the boil using a hot plate. The acid was then disposed of, this process was repeated and finally the glassware was rinsed with distilled water three times. The glassware was then allowed to dry in a clean drying oven set at 100°C for at least 24 hours and then covered with parafilm and stored within a clean cupboard until used.

#### 2.4.1.2 Dry Matter and Ash Weight

Clean thermostable glass tubes identified with a thermostable ink were oven dried at 100°C until the tube reached a stable weight (approximately 24 hours) and allowed to cool in a desiccator. The tube was weighed to the nearest 0.0001g before a known weight of approximately 1 g of sample was added to a tube. This weight was recorded as the sample wet weight. The sample was then placed in the same oven for 24 hours. The tube was allowed to cool in a desiccator and reweighed to give the sample dry weight. The sample was then put in a muffle furnace at 550°C for 16 hours. The furnace was allowed to cool to 100°C before the tubes were placed into a

desiccator and allowed to cool. The tube was then weighed to give the sample ash weight.

#### 2.4.1.3 Dissolution of Minerals

An acid rinsed watch glass was placed onto the sample tube before 10 ml 5M hydrochloric acid was added to the tube. This was added as two lots of 5ml to avoid loss by effervescence. The sample tube was placed on a cold hot plate and the acid was brought to the boil by slowly increasing the temperature of the hot plate. The sample was then allowed to simmer for 5 minutes. The tube was then removed from the hot plate and allowed to cool. Once cool the solution was rinsed through an ashless filter paper into a 100ml volumetric flask. The tube was then washed into the filter paper with hot distilled water three times and the filter was rinsed with hot distilled water. The washings were sealed to prevent contamination and allowed to cool to room temperature. Once cool, the solution was brought up to 100ml with distilled water, resealed and mixed by inverting 10 times. This solution was stored in acid washed glass tubes for determination of mineral concentration using inductively coupled plasma mass spectroscopy (ICP-MS).

#### 2.4.1.4 Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectroscopy

When ready for analysis the solutions were diluted to bring the concentration of minerals into the correct range (approximately 1000 µg/l). The solution was diluted with a 2% nitric acid solution that was prepared fresh from ICP grade 70% concentrated nitric acid and ultrapure water with a resistance of 18 megohms or greater. An ICP-MS mineral standard was purchased and diluted with the same 2% nitric acid to create a five point standard curve including a blank. The standards and samples were run on a Perkin Elmer Elan DRCe ICP/MS with a control solution after every 25 samples to ensure the machine did not need recalibrating. The ICP/MS analyser used the standards to generate a standard curve and reported the concentration of the minerals within each sample solution. The minerals analysed were

sodium, potassium, calcium, phosphorus, magnesium, zinc, iron, copper and manganese.

## 2.4.2 Egg Yolk Analysis

#### 2.4.2.1 Egg Yolk Fatty Acid Analysis

During the third experiment the fatty acid composition of egg yolks was analysed. This was done through a one-step fatty acid extraction and methylation process to create fatty acid methyl esters which were then run on a gas chromatographer. This method was adapted from Park and Goins (1994).

#### 2.4.2.1.1 Solubilising the lipid fraction of the yolk

The yolks were collected during egg quality analysis and frozen at -20°C in a zip lock plastic bag with the air removed. Upon analysis the yolks were removed from the freezer and allowed to thaw. Once liquid, the yolk sample was mixed within the bag and then a weighed sample of approximately 1g was taken into a glass tube using yolk from three different parts of the bag. One gram of glass beads were added to the yolk sample in addition to 3 ml 2% NaCl solution. The tube was flushed with nitrogen gas and capped with a Teflon lined lid. The tube was vortexed three times for 15 seconds. After this the tube was placed in an orbital shaker for 10 hours at 250 rpm per minute and 20°C.

#### 2.4.2.1.2 Methylation and extraction of fatty acids

After shaking, 1 ml of the sample solution was taken into a fresh tube. To this tube 200 µl methylated chloride and 2ml 0.5 N NaOH in methanol was added. The tube was then flushed with nitrogen gas and capped with a Teflon lined lid and vortexed three times for 15 seconds. The sample was then placed into a water bath set at 90°C for 10 minutes. The tubes were then vortexed once more and allowed to cool to room temperature. Once cool, 2ml 14% boron trifluoride in methanol was added to the tube before being flushed with nitrogen and capped again. The tube was vortexed three times for 15 seconds and then placed in the 90°C water bath for 10 minutes. The sample was three times for 15 seconds and then placed in the 90°C water bath for 10 minutes.

2ml distilled water was added to the sample as well as 1ml hexane. The tube was vortexed three times for 30 seconds before being centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 10 minutes. Immediately after centrifugation, 800 µl of the hexane proportion of the solution containing the fatty acid methyl esters was carefully pipetted into a 2ml gas chromatography vial.

#### 2.4.2.1.3 Gas Chromatography

The samples were run on a Varian 3400 with the Varian 8200CX autosampler. The column used was a 25m long BPX70 capillary column from SGE with an internal diameter of 0.22mm and 0.25µm film thickness.

The column starting temperature of 70°C was held for 30 seconds after sample injection before increasing at a rate of 10°C min<sup>-1</sup> to 170°C. The temperature was then held for 10 minutes at 170°C before increasing to 220°C at a rate of 5°C min<sup>-1</sup>. The injector and flame-ionisation detector temperatures were set at 230°C and 240°C respectively. Helium was used as the carrier gas. The fatty acid percentage was calculated by means of direct normalisation of the peak areas that were quantified by the Hewlett Packard 3395 Integrator. All samples were run in duplicate.

#### 2.4.2.2 Colorimetric Cholesterol Analysis

For analysis the yolks were removed from the freezer and allowed to thaw. Once liquid, the yolk sample was mixed within the bag and then a weighed sample of approximately 1g was taken into a glass tube using yolk from three different parts of the bag. One gram of glass beads were added to the yolk sample in addition to 10 ml 2% NaCl solution. The tube was flushed with nitrogen gas capped with a Teflon lined lid. The tube was vortexed three times for 15 seconds. After this the tube was placed in an orbital shaker for 10 hours at 250 rpm per minute and 20°C.

The cholesterol assay kit MAK043 from Sigma Aldrich was used to determine the concentration of total cholesterol in the egg yolk solution. A 2  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ l cholesterol stock solution was used to create 0, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10 ng/ $\mu$ l cholesterol standards. Fifty microlitre of the standard or sample solution was added to a flat bottomed 96 well plate. Forty four microlitres of the assay

buffer was then added followed by 2µl of the cholesterol probe, the enzyme mix and the cholesterol esterase. Each well was then mixed by pipetting before incubation at 37°C for 60 minutes. During incubation the plate was protected from light. The absorbance of the assay was measured on a Thermo Scientific Multiskan FC plate reader at 570nm. All samples were analysed in duplicate.

## 2.4.3 Blood Analysis

## 2.4.3.1 Collection

Blood samples were collected during dissections immediately after death from the common carotid artery during dissections. The blood was collected into a vacuum container that contained heparin. This was then gently inverted to mix the blood and heparin before being stored at room temperature for 30 minutes. The tube was then centrifuged at room temperature for 10 minutes at 6000 × g. After centrifugation aliquots of the blood plasma were taken and frozen at -20°C.

#### 2.4.3.2 Mineral

Three hundred microlitres of the blood plasma was added to 1200  $\mu$ l 2% nitric acid within an eppendorf. The mixture was then vortexed twice for 15 seconds before being centrifuged at 15,000 × g for 10 minutes. The supernatant was gently removed into a fresh eppendorf. This solution was then used for ICP-MS analysis in line with the methods set out in section 2.4.1.4. All samples were analysed in duplicate.

#### 2.4.3.3 Blood Urea Nitrogen

For the analysis of blood urea nitrogen the STA-382 kit from Cell Biolabs Inc. was used. To begin, 500µl blood plasma sample was added to 500µl distilled water to bring the urea concentration into the correct range.

Urea standards were made using serial dilutions of the stock provided to create a range of concentrations from 50 mg dl<sup>-1</sup> to 0.78 mg dl<sup>-1</sup>. A blank distilled water sample was also analysed. 10µl of the diluted samples and standards were added to wells on a 96 well plate. 100 µl of a urease enzyme and ammonia reagent solution were then added to each well. The wells were

then mixed using a pipette, being careful not to cause bubbles or foaming. The wells were then incubated at 37°C for 10 minutes. 100 µl of the developing solution was then added to each well and again the solutions were mixed carefully. The plate was then incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C. Finally, the colour intensity was measured on a Thermo Scientific Multiskan FC plate reader at 620 nm for 10 seconds. The known concentrations of urea were used to make a standard curve, and from this the concentration of urea in the blood plasma was calculated taking the dilution into account. The standards were analysed in triplicate and samples were analysed in duplicate.

#### 2.4.3.4 Myo-inositol

The analysis of *myo*-inositol was performed using the K-INOSL kit from Megazyme with some minor adaptions. To begin, 500µl of blood plasma was deproteinised using 500 µl 1M perchloric acid. This solution was vortexed twice for 15 seconds before being centrifuged at 10,000 g for 10 minutes. 500 µl of the supernatant was then carefully removed and added to 500 µl 1M potassium hydroxide. This solution was vortexed twice for 15 seconds before being centrifuged at 15,000 × g for 10 minutes. The supernatant of this solution was then carefully removed and used for the myo-inositol analysis. Serial dilutions were performed on the 0.25 mg ml<sup>-1</sup> myo-inositol stock solution to create a set of 5 standards including a blank. Within an eppendorf, 50 µl of the blood sample was added to 200 µl of distilled water, 50 µl pH 7.5 buffer, 50 µl ATP solution and 10 µl hexokinase solution. This was then incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes. 500 µl of pH 9.5 buffer was then added with 250 µl of a nicotinamide-adenine dinucleotide iodonitrotetrazolium chloride solution and 10 µl of the diaphorase solution. This was then incubated at room temperature for 3 minutes, protected from light. After the three minutes 200 µl sample was pipetted from the eppendorf into a well on a 96 well plate to give a before reaction absorbance value  $(A_1)$ .10 µl of the *myo*-inositol dehydrogenase solution was then added to the eppendorf, mixed and incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature, protected from light. Another 200 µl was then pipetted from the eppendorf into the well plate to give an after reaction absorbance value (A<sub>2</sub>). The absorbance values of both A<sub>1</sub> and A<sub>2</sub> were then measured at 490nm on a Thermo Scientific Multiskan FC plate reader. The absorbance of A<sub>1</sub> was then subtracted from A<sub>2</sub> and this value was compared to the standards to give the concentration of *myo*-inositol.

## 2.4.4 Phytate-P Analysis

The analysis of phytate-phosphorus used the kit K-Phyt from Megazyme. This was done by determining the total and non-phytate phosphorus contents of the sample. Phytate phosphorus content was determined by difference between the total and non-phytate phosphorus contents.

### 2.4.4.1 Sample Extraction

To begin, 0.5 g of sample was accurately weighed into a 15 ml Falcon tube. 10 ml of 0.5M hydrochloric acid was then added to the sample to extract the free and phytate-phosphorus. This tube was then vortexed for 15 seconds four times. After vortexing the tube was placed in a rotatory incubator for 12 hours at room temperature during which it was shaken at 250rpm.

After the phosphorus was extracted, 1.5ml of the acid extract was centrifuged at  $15,000 \times g$ . 0.5 ml of the supernatant was then transferred into an eppendorf with 0.5ml 0.75M sodium hydroxide. This solution was then used to determine the phytate-P concentration.

## 2.4.4.2 Enzymatic Dephosphorylating Reaction

The sample underwent two procedures at the same time to determine the total and non-phytate phosphorus content. For each procedure 50  $\mu$ l of the sample was added to 600  $\mu$ l distilled water and 200  $\mu$ l pH5.5 buffer within an eppendorf. To the total eppendorf, 20  $\mu$ l phytase solution was added while the non-phytate eppendorf had another 20  $\mu$ l of distilled water added. Both tubes were mixed by vortexing and incubating in a 40°C water bath for 10 minutes. After incubation both eppendorfs had 200  $\mu$ l pH10.4 buffer added to them. The total phosphorus tube also had 20  $\mu$ l alkaline phosphatase suspension added, while the non-phytate eppendorf had another 20  $\mu$ l of distilled water added to it. Both tubes were mixed again by vortexing and then incubated at 40°C for 15 minutes. After 15 minutes the eppendorfs were place in a water bath at 100°C for 10 minutes to stop the reaction. The tubes were then centrifuged at 15,000 × g for 10 minutes and the supernatant was removed for colorimetric phosphorus analysis.

A 10% ascrobic acid, 1M sulphuric acid solution was created fresh on the day in addition to a 5% ammonium molybdate solution. One millilitre of the ammonium molybdate solution was then added to 5ml of the ascorbic acid solution to create a yellow colour reagent.

Using the stock solution provided in the kit, 5 phosphorus standards including a blank were created (7.5 $\mu$ g/ml-0.5 $\mu$ g/ml.) One hundred microlitres of the standards and samples were added to wells in a 96 well plate. To each of these wells 50  $\mu$ l of the colour reagent was added. The plate was then incubated in an oven at 40°C for one hour before the absorbance of the wells was read at 655nm on a Thermo Scientific Multiskan FC plate reader. The absorbance of the sample and the standard curve were used to give the phosphorus concentration of the total phosphorus solution and the non-phytate phosphorus solution. These were used to calculate the concentration of total and non-phytate phosphorus in the sample on a weight/weight basis. These concentrations were then used to calculate the g kg<sup>-1</sup> of phytate phosphorus in the sample.

# Chapter 3 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal Inclusion on Laying Hens

## 3.1 Abstract

The experiment was conducted to assess the effects of including 175 g kg<sup>-1</sup> rapeseed meal and 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase on the solubility of minerals within the gastrointestinal tract of the laying hen in mid-lay. In addition to this the effects on short term performance and blood mineral concentrations were also studied.

The birds were individually housed and fed their respective diets for four weeks during which their performance was recorded, in the final week the strength of the egg shells was also recorded. At the end of the four weeks the birds were killed via cervical dislocation. A peripheral blood sample was taken in addition to the empty weight of the crop, proventriculus and gizzard, duodenum, jejunum and ileum. A total digesta and soluble digesta sample from each section of the gastrointestinal tract were collected and weighed. Each digesta sample had its pH recorded before being frozen at -20°C to await mineral analysis.

The inclusion of phytase had no effect on the performance of the birds throughout the four weeks of the trial, but did increase the egg shell strength in the final week from 3.49 to 3.93kgf. Rapeseed meal had no significant effect on the performance of the laying hens, however, there was a trend for the rapeseed meal diet to increase weight gain from 107 to 158g.

The inclusion of rapeseed meal had no effect on the weight of any of the sections of the gastrointestinal tract, however, phytase significantly reduced the weight of the proventriculus and gizzard from 41.9 to 39.0g; this suggests the phytase supplemented diet needed less mechanical or gastric digestion. Rapeseed meal had no effect on the weight or pH of the digesta from any part of the tract. Including phytase in diets increased the weight of

duodenal digesta from 2.74 to 3.20 g and decreased its pH from 5.87 to 5.60.

Rapeseed meal increased the solubility of the diet within the duodenum in comparison to the control diet while phytase supplemented diets were significantly more soluble than unsupplemented diets in the gizzard and duodenum. There was a trend for the ash content of the phytase diets to be more soluble within the crop and gizzard; this effect became significant within the duodenum. Within the crop there was an interaction between the two treatment factors whereby phytase increased the control diet solubility, but had no effect on the rapeseed meal diet. The solubility of minerals within the crop varied greatly and was not affected by either treatment. Within the gizzard rapeseed meal decreased the solubility of zinc from 13.1 to 5.6 g soluble 100 g<sup>-1</sup> total digesta, while phytase inclusion increased the solubility of calcium, iron, copper and manganese. Phytase also increased the solubility of calcium, phosphorus, magnesium, copper and manganese in the duodenum and phosphorus in the jejunum. Rapeseed meal had no effect on the solubility of any minerals within the digesta of the duodenum or jejunum. Within the ileum rapeseed meal increased the solubility of sodium, calcium and phosphorus while phytase increased the solubility of calcium, phosphorus, iron and manganese from 0.5, 0.5, 7.7 and 1.8 to 1.3, 1.6, 19.2 and 3.2 respectively. The concentration of minerals in the blood was not affected by rapeseed meal inclusion, however, phytase increased the circulating concentrations of calcium, magnesium, zinc and manganese from 194.7, 33.7, 0.707 and 0.025 to 219.4, 37.1 0.897 and 0.032 respectively. The inclusion of phytase increased the solubility of some minerals along the gastrointestinal tract making them more available to the bird. This appeared to increase the absorption of several minerals, which could affect performance or egg quality.

## **3.2 Introduction**

Modern commercial poultry rations utilise cereals to give a dietary base providing a low cost energy source, but unfortunately they provide insufficient protein. By-products of animal production such as meat and bone meal or fish meal can be used to provide concentrated protein. However, fish meal is usually avoided due to the egg taint it can produce (Pearson et al., 1983) while the European prohibition of processed animal
protein (956/2008, of 29 September 2008) prevents the use of meat and bone meal in animal feeds.

As a consequence, oilseed meals have become the main source of protein, the most common of which is soya bean meal. Rapeseed meal is a cheap, U.K. grown alternative that could significantly reduce the cost of feed production (Leeson et al., 1987). Rapeseed meal has the potential to replace soya bean meal as both meals have similar amino acid profiles; rapeseed meal contains more sulphur amino acids, but lower levels of lysine, tryptophan, leucine and isoleucine (Bell, 1984). SBM also has a higher crude protein concentration (460 vs 340 g kg<sup>-1</sup>) and apparent metabolisable energy (10 vs 7 MJ kg<sup>-1</sup>.) Rapeseed meal also has a higher level of Crude Fibre (120 vs 50 g kg<sup>-1</sup>) as well as calcium and phosphorus (Bell, 1984, Nutrition, 2010). Unfortunately, rapeseed meal is also associated with a number of anti-nutritional factors that have previously restricted its use.

Rapeseed meal historically had high levels of erucic acid, but this was reduced through selective breeding in the 1960s to give 0-rapeseed. In the 1970s plant breeders reduced the levels of glucosinolates to produce a rapeseed referred to as 00-rapeseed (Mawson et al., 1993). The negative association with the word rape in some western countries has also led to the use of the name canola which takes its name from CANadian Oil Low Acid. Rapeseed also has relatively high levels of tannins which are currently being reduced to produce a 000-rapeseed. Another factor which has restricted the inclusion of rapeseed in commercial layer diets is the fish taint it can produce in the eqgs. Rapeseed contains high levels of choline, which is fermented in the gastrointestinal tract to trimethylamine (TMA) (March and MacMillian, 1979). Fish taint is caused by an accumulation of TMA in the ovarian follicles which go on to form eggs. Some brown egg strains of layers have a defective flavin-containing monooxygenase 3 (FMO3) gene which is responsible for oxidising the TMA into an odourless product (Honkatukia et al., 2005). Recently, poultry breeders have used genetic markers to select for laying hens that have a functional FMO3 gene and so rapeseed meal can be fed without a detrimental effect on egg taste. The final anti-nutrient that causes a problem with the use of rapeseed as a protein source is phytic acid.

- 58 -

Rapeseed contains a higher concentration of phytic acid than soya bean meal (6.45 vs 3.88g kg<sup>-1</sup>)(Selle and Ravindran, 2007) . The form the phytic acid takes within rapeseed meal may increase the potency of its antinutritional effects. It is possible that the phytic acid in soyabean meal is more soluble than that of rapeseed meal (Maenz et al., 1999). It is also known that the phytin within soyabeans is very soluble due to the amount of potassium bound within their salts (Lott and Ockenden, 1986). Leske and Coon (1999) found the hydrolysis of phytic acid was almost 6 times greater in soya bean meal than rapeseed meal when subjected to 600 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase.

Earlier trials showed that replacing soya bean meal with moderate levels of rapeseed meal (110g kg<sup>-1</sup>) reduced feed intake which led to a decrease in egg production and body weight (Leeson et al., 1976). The new varieties of rapeseed meal could potentially be included in layer diets at higher concentrations since the high inclusion of 300 g kg<sup>-1</sup> in broilers rations had no detrimental effect on bird health or performance (Ramesh et al., 2006). In layers, the inclusion of 80g kg<sup>-1</sup> expelled RSM did not affect egg production, weight, feed intake, fed conversion ratio or egg quality, but did reduce calcium and phosphorus retention presumably because of the high phytic acid concentration (Swiatkiewicz et al., 2010). However, when included at higher levels negative effects on performance have been seen. Jeroch et al. (2009) found that the inclusion of rapeseed meal at 300 g kg<sup>-1</sup> reduced egg weight and weight gain of laying hens. Other work has shown that 100g kg<sup>-1</sup> rapeseed meal inclusion can actually benefit bird performance with an increase in egg weight (Riyazi et al., 2008b). It is noteworthy that this change in egg weight was accompanied by a 15% increase in feed intake. Work with broiler breeders supports this showing that including rapeseed meal at 0, 5, 10, 15 and 20% had no effect on any performance characteristics (Gheisari et al., 2011). It seems likely that rapeseed meal can be included within layer diets at moderate levels, but perhaps not as high as those potentially used in broilers, and that they would benefit from supplemental phytase because of the high phytic acid content. Phytase inclusion at 1,000 FTU g kg<sup>-1</sup> can improve the performance of broilers fed a diet with 150g kg<sup>-1</sup> rapeseed meal (Smulikowska et al., 2010). In laying hens, 450FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> improved the availability of calcium and phosphorus in a diet

with 150g kg<sup>-1</sup> RSM (Sasyte et al., 2007). Um and Paik (1999) also showed that phytase addition to a diet with a low level of rapeseed meal (30g kg<sup>-1</sup>) reduced phosphorus excretion.

Phytic acid is considered to be an anti-nutrient because of the negative effect it can have on other nutrients such as minerals within the diet. The six phosphate groups located on phytic acid make it a highly negatively charged molecule within the pH range of the gastrointestinal tract of the chicken. This allows phytic acid to chelate cations and form a phytate salt. The strength of the bonds between the mineral cations and phytic acid varies as follows;  $Zn^{2+} > Cu^{2+} > Ni^{2+} > Co^{2+} > Mn^{2+} > Ca^{2+} > Fe^{2+}$  (Cheryan, 1980). Although minerals such as zinc and copper have a greater affinity for phytate it should be noted that calcium is more important and abundant within poultry feed and so it has been studied more.

For minerals to be absorbed from the gut lumen they need to be soluble; it follows that the solubility of minerals is a good indicator of their availability to the bird (Shafey et al., 1991, Tamim et al., 2004a). Cheng and Coon (1990) showed that the quality of egg shells was closely related to the solubility of calcium within the gizzard. Guinotte and colleagues (1995) found that coarser calcium particles resulted in an increase in insoluble gizzard calcium, an increase in the calcium excreted and a decrease in the weight gain of broilers. Zhang and Coon (1997) showed that larger limestone particles increased calcium solubility and retention when fed to layers. Both these studies agree that increasing mineral solubility increases its retention, but differ when comparing feed particle size. This difference between broilers and layers is probably due to the different dietary inclusions and bird requirements. In broilers, smaller particles of limestone will have a greater surface area, allowing more calcium to be solubilised. In layers, larger particles of limestone will be held back in the gizzard for longer; slowly releasing the calcium over time will allow an increase in calcium solubility, retention and an improvement in shell quality. Smaller limestone particles will not be retained in the gizzard and pass through the digestive tract insolubilized.

A number of factors are known to affect mineral solubility. Walk et al. (2012a) showed within an *in vitro* digestion model that the solubility of minerals was affected by the pH of the system. Guinotte et al. (1995) used the proton pump inhibitor omeprazole to show that inhibiting gastric secretions increased gizzard pH and reduced calcium solubility. Calcium solubility can also be affected by dietary calcium levels and gastrointestinal tract and retention time (Zhang and Coon, 1997.) The relationship between minerals within the gastrointestinal tract may be important. A reduction in the calcium: phosphorus ratio from 2:1 to 1:1 increased the solubility of phosphorus in sheep small intestines (Yano et al., 1979). Pontoppidan et al. (2007a) showed that increasing dietary calcium decreased the amount of soluble zinc, manganese and iron *in vitro*. An increase in dietary copper from 8 to 200ppm increased copper solubility, but decreased the solubility of zinc (Pang and Applegate, 2007). Finally, dietary phytic acid can affect the solubility of minerals (Woyengo et al., 2010b). Wise (1983) showed that increasing phytic acid concentration reduced calcium solubility. The inclusion of phytase should be able to increase the solubility of minerals in the tract by negating the effect phytic acid has on solubility.

The solubility of minerals in the gizzard and proximal small intestines is of particular importance in relation to mineral absorption because of phytic acid and the formation of phytate salts. Phytic acid is most soluble and susceptible to phytase within the acidic gizzard (Campbell and Bedford, 1992). Supplemental phytase activity also reaches its peak in more acidic environments and so is most active in the proximal sections of the gastrointestinal tract (Igbasan et al., 2000). The endogenous phytase within the small intestines is poor at hydrolysing phytic acid; this means that as the pH rises in the small intestine additional release of minerals from phytate is limited and so there is no further increase in mineral solubility.

It has been shown *in vitro* that phytase can affect the solubility of minerals (Pontoppidan et al., 2007b, Walk et al., 2012a). In comparison, Woyengo et al. (2010) showed that phytase could numerically increase mineral solubility *in vivo* but failed to find a significant difference. Walk and collegues (2012b) found that the phytase solubility effect was dependent on the ingredients in the diet during *in vitro* incubations. Recently, a comparison between *in vivo* 

The use of diets with high phytase inclusion levels above the standard dose has been shown to benefit both broilers and piglets, but this has not yet been shown in laying hens. Augspurger et al. (2007) found no significant benefits between the inclusion of 300 and 10,000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>, however, there was a numerical increase in egg production numbers in both sections of the trial. Increasing the standard phytase inclusion up to 1000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> further increased the retention of phosphorus in laying hens, suggesting a greater hydrolysis of phytic acid. It seems logical that increasing the phytase inclusion above standard levels will cause a greater breakdown in dietary phytic acid and therefore reduce the formation of insoluble phytate complexes. This would lead to an increase in the solubility of minerals within the gastrointestinal tract and could improve animal performance or allow a dietary mineral dilution.

## 3.2.1 Objectives

The objective of this study was to investigate the effects of a high phytase inclusion level on laying hens when fed a diet with or without the inclusion of rapeseed meal, specifically looking at the solubility of a wide range of minerals within the digesta in different sections of the gastrointestinal tract.

## 3.2.2 Hypotheses

Phytase supplementation will increase the solubility of the digesta and minerals within the gastrointestinal tract of the laying hen

Rapeseed meal inclusion will reduce the solubility of the digesta and minerals within the gastrointestinal tract of the laying hen

Phytase supplementation will increase the solubility of the digesta less when birds are fed the rapeseed meal diet

Phytase will improve shell quality

Phytase will increase the concentration of minerals within the blood plasma

It is not expected that phytase or rapeseed meal will affect performance due to the short length of the trial.

#### **3.3 Materials and Methods**

An experiment was conducted to investigate the effect of rapeseed meal inclusion at 175 g kg<sup>-1</sup> and phytase inclusion at 2500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> within laying hen diets on bird performance, digesta mineral solubility, gut weight, digesta weight and pH in addition to blood mineral concentration.

#### **3.3.1 Experimental Design and Treatments**

The experiment was a 2×2 factorial design, with or without the inclusion of rapeseed meal at 175 g kg<sup>-1</sup> and the addition of 0 or 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> Quantum XT<sup>™</sup> phytase giving four dietary treatments as described in Table 3.1. Soya bean meal was reduced to accommodate the addition of the rapeseed meal, however, in order to achieve the birds requirements soya bean meal could not be excluded completely from the treatment diets. Wheatfeed was also reduced in the RSM treatment diets. All diets were formulated to have adequate calcium and phosphorus. The phytase was given conservative matrix values during the feed formulation normally used for the inclusion of 300 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> Quantum XT<sup>™</sup> (0.143% digestible calcium, 0.13% available phosphorus and 0.03% digestible sodium). These matrix values remove any benefit phytase has at a normal inclusion level, therefore any improvement seen in egg production will be due to the higher than standard inclusion of phytase.

#### 3.3.2 Animal Housing

A total of 150 Bovan Brown chickens were weighed and health checked at 34 weeks old at a commercial farm. Fifty healthy chickens with weights closest to the mean were initially selected for transportation to the University of Leeds, Spen Farm. For two weeks before the start of the trial the birds were housed individually and their health status, body weight, feed intake, egg production, egg weight and egg mass were recorded. 40 of these birds were then selected to go onto the trial based upon their weight and health. They were then randomly allocated to treatments, balancing within replicate for body weight and production criteria recorded during the previous two weeks. This resulted in 10 replicates split between two rooms.

	Contro	l Diet	RSM	Diet
Ingredient (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Without	With	Without	With
	Phytase	Phytase	Phytase	Phytase
Barley	75.0	75.0	75.0	75.0
Wheat	466.0	456.2	489.0	501.9
Wheatfeed	133.4	153.2	00.0	00.0
Hipro Soya Ext	181.4	179.0	109.1	107.0
Rapeseed Ext	00.0	00.0	175.0	175.0
Layer Premix	02.5	02.5	02.5	02.5
L-Lysine HCI	0.88	0.87	0.95	0.98
DL-Methionine	1.6	1.6	1.1	1.1
Thr Microweigh	0.03	0.02	0.00	0.00
Dry Nutri-Gold	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13
Citran Pigment	1.50	1.50	1.50	1.50
Roxazyme	0.08	0.08	0.08	0.08
Limestone Granules	90.18	89.07	88.08	86.96
MCP	9.98	4.14	9.24	3.47
Salt PDV	2.78	2.78	2.79	2.77
Sodium Bicarbonate	2.11	1.00	1.96	0.88
Soya Oil GM	32.44	31.92	43.50	39.72
Quantum Dry Phytase	0.00	1.00	0.00	1.00
Nutrient Composition				
(g kg⁻¹)				
Dry Matter	883	882	885	884
Crude Oil	49	49	59	56
Crude Protein	168	169	175	176
Crude Fibre	31	32	42	42
Crude Ash	130	124	129	122
Crude Sugar	44	45	45	45
Calcium (Total)	40	39	40	39
Calcium (Digestible)	40	40	40	40
Phosphorus (Total)	5.6	4.4	5.8	4.5
Phosphorus (Available)	3.3	3.3	3.2	3.2
Sodium (Total)	1.8	1.5	1.8	1.5
AMEn (MJ kg⁻¹)	11.4	11.4	11.4	11.4

# Table 3.1 Ingredients and calculated nutrient composition of experimental diets

#### 3.3.3 Feeding Regime and Performance Recording

The birds were single housed and fed their respective treatment diets for four weeks during which their performance was recorded. In the fourth week the shell strength of the eggs was also recorded.

#### 3.3.4 Dissections and Digesta Solubility

After four weeks the birds were killed by cervical dislocation over three consecutive days. Immediately after slaughter a peripheral blood plasma sample was taken for mineral analysis. The gut was then liberated from the bird and divided into crop, proventriculus and gizzard, duodenum, jejunum and ileum. Each section of the gastrointestinal tract was clamped and then weighed while full of digesta. The digesta was then removed from the tract and mixed before the pH was recorded from three points. The empty weight of the tract segment was then recorded. The total weight of the digesta for each gastrointestinal tract section was calculated using the equation:

#### Total Digesta Weight = Full GIT Weight – Empty GIT Weight

After mixing a digesta sample, hence forth known as the "complete digesta," was then taken. Another digesta sample was then weighed, centrifuged at  $6,466 \times g$  at 4°C for 10 minutes, seperating the digesta into the soluble and insoluble proportions. The soluble fraction was then weighed and used to give the digesta solubility on a wet weight basis using the equation below:

Wet Digesta Solubility = 
$$100 \times \frac{Soluble Digesta Wet Weight}{Complete Digesta Wet Weight}$$

The wet digesta solubility and the total digesta weight were used to generate the weight of the total soluble digesta within each section of the tract using the equation:

Soluble Digesta Weight = 
$$\frac{Wet \ Digesta \ Solublility \times Total \ Digesta \ Weight}{100}$$

The complete and soluble digesta fractions were all frozen at -20°C. They were then analysed for mineral concentration using the methods described in Section 2.4.1.

The wet, dry, ash and individual mineral weights of the analysed digesta samples were used in conjunction with the Total and Soluble Digesta Weights to generate the dry weight, ash weight and individual mineral weights for the complete and soluble fractions of the digesta. For example, the soluble ash weight would be found with the following equation:

Soluble Ash Weight = Soluble Digesta Weight  $\times \frac{Sample Ash Weight}{Sample Wet Weight}$ 

The weight of the total and soluble digesta on a dry, ash and individual mineral basis was then used to generate the solubility of the digesta on a DM basis in addition to the solubility of the digesta ash and minerals using the equation:

 $Mineral Solubility = 100 \times \frac{Soluble Digesta Mineral Weight}{Complete Digesta Mineral Weight}$ 

#### 3.3.5 Statistical Analysis

All data was tested for normality using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test and transformed when necessary. The egg production data was not normal and so Box-Cow transformations were used to normalise the data before analysis. The homogenity of variance of data was also analysed within the model. Two factor univariate general linear model (GLM) analysis of variance (ANOVA) tests within the statistical programme IBM SPSS Statistic 21 were used to analyse the performance data. Two factor univariate GLM ANOVA tests were also used to analyse the pH, digesta weight, gastrointestinal tract weight and blood mineral concentration with the time of death included in the model as an independent variable. When significant

post-hoc bonferroni tests were performed for multiple comparisons. Significance was assigned at P< 0.05.

## 3.4 Results

#### 3.4.1 Diet Analysis

The analysis of the diets shows that they were generally true to their formulation. The crude protein and oil contents of all four diets was lower than the calculated levels. The crude protein and oil were higher in the rapeseed meal diet than the control. The fibre content of the rapeseed meal without phytase was also slightly higher than the formulation calculated and the other three diets. The ash, calcium, phosphorus and sodium were all satisfactory, however, there was a slightly reduced level of ash and calcium in the rapeseed meal diet with phytase.

Contro	ol Diet	Rapeseed	Meal Diet
Without	With	Without	With
Phytase	Phytase	Phytase	Phytase
895	893	897	893
52	51	62	53
168	164	176	168
31	32	49	42
141	132	152	123
45.9	42.8	47.0	35.9
5.7	4.5	5.8	4.2
2.7	1.6	1.9	2.0
3.0	3.0	3.8	3.3
1.9	1.4	1.9	1.4
8.1	8.5	7.4	7.8
5.3	4.3	3.3	3.5
1.6	1.7	1.8	1.8
0.12	0.12	0.10	0.12
0.12	0.10	0.09	0.09
0.03	0.03	0.02	0.02
	Contro Without Phytase 895 52 168 31 141 45.9 5.7 2.7 3.0 1.9 8.1 5.3 1.6 0.12 0.12 0.03	Control DietWithoutWithPhytasePhytase8958935251168164313214113245.942.85.74.52.71.63.03.01.91.48.18.55.34.31.61.70.120.120.120.100.030.03	Control DietRapeseedWithoutWithWithoutPhytasePhytasePhytase89589389752516216816417631324914113215245.942.847.05.74.55.82.71.61.93.03.03.81.91.41.98.18.57.45.34.33.31.61.71.80.120.120.100.120.100.090.030.030.02

#### Table 3.2 Analysed nutrient composition of experimental diets

## 3.4.2 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on Laying Hen Performance

The inclusion of rapeseed meal had no detrimental effect on performance of the birds throughout this trial, with numerical but insignificant increases in average egg weight and daily egg mass production (Table 3.3). The feed intake and FCR were both higher, but again this difference was not significant. The largest dietary effect on performance seen in this trial was a non-significant trend for an increase in body weight gain of the birds fed the rapeseed meal diets. The hen-day egg production shows no dietary effect with a small decrease in egg numbers with the inclusion of 175 g kg<sup>-1</sup> rapeseed meal . Hen-housed egg production is not included in the analysis as no mortalities occurred throughout the trial. No difference in egg shell quality was seen between the control and rapeseed meal diet with both having similar egg shell weights and egg shell strengths.

The addition of 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase had no significant effect on the performance of the laying hens. The weight gained by the birds on the phytase diet was 30% greater than those on the control diet, however, this was not significant. Finally, high phytase inclusion benefited shell quality with a numerical increase in shell weight and a significant increase in egg shell strength from 3.49 to 3.93 kgf. No significant interactions were seen between the diet and the inclusion of phytase.

performance
hen
on laying
al c
l me
rapeseec
and
phytase a
t of
effect
The
3.3
Table

Diet	Phytase	FI	HDEP	Egg Weight	Egg Mass	FCR	Shell Weight	Shell Strength	BWG
	(FTU kg <sup>-1</sup> )	(b)	(%)	(g)	(6)		(6)	(kgf)	(B)
Control	0	114	97	61	58.8	1.93	5.86	3.53	92
	2,500	112	96	61.7	59.1	1.91	5.91	3.92	121
Rapeseed Meal	0	117	96	62.7	60.5	1.93	5.84	3.46	138
	2,500	118	94	63.3	59.2	2	6.08	3.94	178
Control		113	96	61.3	59	1.92	5.89	3.73	107
Rapeseed Meal		117	95	63	59.9	1.97	5.96	3.7	158
	0	115	67	61.8	59.6	1.93	5.85	3.49	115
	2,500	115	95	62.5	59.2	1.95	9	3.93	150
SEM		1.9	0.9	0.55	0.65	0.03	0.06	0.08	14.9
P-Value									
Diet		SN	NS	SN	NS	SN	0.083	NS	060.0
Phytase		SN	SN	SN	NS	SN	NS	< 0.005	SN
Diet × Phytase		SN	NS	SN	NS	NS	SN	NS	SN
FI = Daily deed inta	ke, HDEP = Hen	i day egg	Productio	n, FCR = Fee	d Conversion F	Ratio, BW	G = Body weight	t gain throughout	trial

- 69 -

## 3.4.3 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Gastrointestinal Tract Weight in the Laying Hen

The weights of the sections of the gastrointestinal tract are shown in Table 3.4. The addition of rapeseed meal had no significant effect on weight of any of the segments of the gastrointestinal tract. However, with the exception of the crop the tract segments were numerically higher when birds were fed a rapeseed meal diet.

Dietary treatme	nt		Gastrointe	stinal Tract	Section	
Diet	Phytase FTU kg⁻¹	Crop	Giz <sup>1</sup>	Duo <sup>2</sup>	Jej <sup>3</sup>	lleum
Control	0	6.61	41.55	18.08	24.61	17.47
	2500	6.96	38.53	16.23	24.07	17.08
Rapeseed Meal	0	6.62	42.22	17.64	25.15	18.47
	2500	6.46	39.40	17.78	26.37	19.23
Control		6.79	40.04	17.16	24.34	17.28
Rapeseed Meal		6.54	40.81	17.71	25.76	18.85
	0	6.62	41.89	17.86	24.88	17.97
	2500	6.71	38.97	17.01	25.22	18.16
SEM P-Value		0.328	1.478	0.703	0.935	0.815
Diet		NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Phytase		NS	<0.05	NS	NS	NS
Diet ×		NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Phytase						

# Table 3.4 The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal on the gastrointestinaltract weight (g) in laying hens

<sup>1</sup>Proventriculus and Gizzard

<sup>2</sup>Duodenum

<sup>3</sup>Jejunum

The addition of 2500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> to the diet significantly reduced the combined weight of the gizzard and proventriculus from 41.89 to 38.97g (P<0.05). There was also a large decrease in the weight of the duodenum with the addition of phytase to the control diet. This weight difference was not seen in the rapeseed meal diet and therefore phytase failed to significantly affect duodenum weight. The P-value for the interaction between phytase and diet was low but not significant due to the level of variation in duodenum weight. Phytase had no effect on the weight of any of the other sections of the gastrointestinal tract and no significant interactions between diet and phytase were found.

## 3.4.4 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Digesta pH and Weight within the Gastrointestinal Tract of the Laying Hen

Rapeseed Meal had no significant effect on the pH of the digesta in any of the gastrointestinal tract sections while phytase significantly decreased the pH of the digesta in the duodenum from pH 5.87 to pH 5.60 (P<0.01; Table 3.5). There were no significant interactions between phytase and diet. However, the pH of the gizzard and jejunum did show trends towards significance. The addition of phytase to the control diet made the digesta in the gizzard and jejunum more acidic. In the rapeseed meal diets phytase increased the pH of the digesta in the gizzard and jejunum.

The addition of rapeseed meal to the laying hen diet had no effect on the weight of the digesta in the gastrointestinal tract (Table 3.6). Phytase supplementation significantly (P<0.05) increased the weight of the digesta within the duodenum from 2.74 to 3.20 g. Although no significant interaction was found between diet and phytase, the increase in digesta weight is only seen in the rapeseed meal diets. Within the control diet there is a small decrease in digesta weight with dietary phytase addition. No other significant phytase effects or interactions between the treatments were found.

Dietary treatment			Gastrointe	estinal Tra	ct Section	1
Diet	Phytase FTU kg <sup>-1</sup>	Crop	Giz <sup>1</sup>	Duo <sup>2</sup>	Jej <sup>3</sup>	lleum
Control	0	3.98	3.14	5.80	5.91	7.36
	2500	4.07	2.72	5.46	5.63	6.93
Rapeseed Meal	0	4.34	2.71	5.93	5.63	7.16
	2500	4.15	2.97	5.74	5.77	7.28
Control		4.03	2.93	5.63	5.77	7.15
Rapeseed Meal		4.25	2.84	5.84	5.70	7.22
	0	4.16	2.93	5.87	5.77	7.26
	2500	4.11	2.85	5.60	5.70	7.11
SEM		0.338	0.333	0.165	0.130	0.150
P-Value						
Diet		NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Phytase		NS	NS	<0.01	NS	NS
Diet × Phytase		NS	0.056	NS	0.092	NS
<sup>1</sup> Droventrioulus and	Cincord					

# Table 3.5 The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal on digesta pH within the gastrointestinal tract of the laying hen

<sup>1</sup>Proventriculus and Gizzard

<sup>2</sup>Duodenum

<sup>3</sup>Jejunum

Dietary treatment		Ga	strointes	tinal Tra	ct Sectio	n
Diet	Phytase FTU kg <sup>-1</sup>	Crop	Giz <sup>1</sup>	Duo <sup>2</sup>	Jej <sup>3</sup>	lleum
Control	0	51.29	18.89	2.89	15.00	11.94
	2500	34.72	17.72	2.76	14.62	11.54
Rapeseed Meal	0	33.57	18.43	2.58	15.20	14.30
	2500	37.45	17.07	3.64	14.97	12.54
Control		43.01	18.31	2.83	14.81	11.74
Rapeseed Meal		35.51	17.75	3.11	15.09	13.42
	0	42.43	18.66	2.74	15.10	13.12
	2500	36.09	17.40	3.20	14.80	12.04
SEM		11.108	1.513	0.318	0.970	1.233
P-Value						
Diet		NS	NS	NS	NS	0.144
Phytase		NS	NS	<0.05	NS	NS
Diet × Phytase		NS	NS	NS	NS	NS

Table 3.6 The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal on digesta weight(g) within the gastrointestinal tract of the laying hen

<sup>1</sup>Proventriculus and Gizzard

<sup>2</sup>Duodenum

<sup>3</sup>Jejunum

## 3.4.5 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Solubility of the Digesta within the Gastrointestinal Tract of the Laying Hen

Rapeseed meal significantly increased the solubility of the diet in the duodenum and the ileum on a wet weight basis (Table 3.7). Phytase supplementation also significantly affected digesta solubility within the duodenum with an increase from 29.67 to 49.28 g soluble 100 g<sup>-1</sup> total digesta . Within the crop a significant interaction was seen between the diet and phytase addition. Phytase increased the solubility of the digesta in the crop from 29.01 to 39.12 g soluble 100 g<sup>-1</sup> total when the birds were fed the control diet. In the rapeseed meal diet, however, phytase supplementation gave a non-significant reduction in solubility from 37.66 to 33.20 g soluble

100  $g^{-1}$  total . No other interactions were seen between phytase and diet in relation to wet digesta solubility.

Table 3.7 The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal on digesta wet weight solubility (g soluble 100 g<sup>-1</sup> total) within the gastrointestinal tract of the laying hen

Dietary treatment		C	Sastrointes	stinal Tract	Section	
Diet	Phytase FTU kg <sup>-1</sup>	Crop	Giz <sup>1</sup>	Duo <sup>2</sup>	Jej <sup>3</sup>	lleum
Control	0	29.01 <sup>b</sup>	16.27	26.39	36.16	13.01
	2500	39.12 <sup>a</sup>	19.53	39.52	36.92	12.38
Rapeseed Meal	0	37.66 <sup>a</sup>	16.45	32.95	36.03	21.11
	2500	33.20 <sup>ab</sup>	16.28	59.05	37.43	17.81
Control Rapeseed Meal	0	34.06 35.43 33.33	17.90 16.37 16.36	32.95 46.00 29.67	36.54 36.73 36.09	12.70 19.46 17.06
	2500	36.16	17.90	49.28	37.18	15.10
SEM P-Value		1.796	1.337	4.047	1.555	1.678
Diet		NS	NS	<0.05	NS	<0.05
Phytase		NS	NS	<0.05	NS	NS
Diet × Phytase		<0.05	NS	NS	NS	NS

<sup>a-b</sup> Means within columns with no common superscript differ significantly (P<0.05) <sup>1</sup>Proventriculus and Gizzard

<sup>2</sup>Duodenum

<sup>3</sup>Jejunum

Analysis of digesta solubility on a dry weight basis showed that phytase increased the solubility of the digesta in the gizzard and proventriculus from 2.63 to 3.79 g soluble 100 g<sup>-1</sup> total digesta (Table 3.8). In agreement with the wet weight solubility results rapeseed meal increased the solubility of the digesta in the duodenum from 6.55 to 25.25 g soluble 100 g<sup>-1</sup> total . There was also a trend for the rapeseed meal diets to have a more soluble ileum digesta than the control diets.

Within the crop there was a trend for the digesta ash to be increased by phytase supplementation and the addition of 175 g kg<sup>-1</sup> rapeseed meal (Table 3.9). The solubility of ash in the gizzard and duodenum digesta was significantly increased by the inclusion of phytase from 13.05 and 15.94 to 21.46 and 27.34 g soluble  $100 \text{ g}^{-1}$  total. Both phytase and rapeseed meal significantly increased the solubility of the digesta ash in the duodenum. The was also a near significant trend for rapeseed meal inclusion to increase the solubility of the ash in the ileum.

-						
Dietary treatment			Gastrointe	estinal Tra	ct Section	
Diet	Phytase FTU kg <sup>-1</sup>	Crop	Giz <sup>1</sup>	Duo <sup>2</sup>	Jej <sup>3</sup>	lleum
Control	0	6.36	2.87	5.60	14.89	3.75
	2500	6.51	4.25	7.50	17.54	4.18
Rapeseed Meal	0	5.32	2.40	21.01	15.21	6.91
	2500	4.64	3.34	29.48	17.18	5.54
Control		6.44	3.56	6.55	16.22	3.96
Rapeseed Meal		4.98	2.87	25.25	16.19	6.22
	0	5.84	2.63	13.31	15.05	5.33
	2500	5.57	3.79	18.49	17.36	4.86
SEM P-Value		0.520	0.301	2.336	0.818	0.592
Diet		NS	NS	<0.05	NS	0.059
Phytase		NS	<0.05	NS	NS	NS
Diet × Phytase		NS	NS	NS	NS	NS

Table 3.8 The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal on digesta dry weight solubility (g soluble 100 g<sup>-1</sup> total) within the gastrointestinal tract of the laying hen

<sup>1</sup>Proventriculus and Gizzard

<sup>2</sup>Duodenum

<sup>3</sup>Jejunum

Dietary treatment		C	Sastrointes	tinal Tract	Section	
Diet	Phytase FTU kg <sup>-1</sup>	Crop	Giz <sup>1</sup>	Duo <sup>2</sup>	Jej <sup>3</sup>	lleum
Control	0	11.78	12.81	9.76	14.01	3.81
	2500	18.34	26.59	17.27	19.41	4.12
Rapeseed Meal	0	9.54	13.30	22.12	16.30	6.50
	2500	11.60	16.33	37.41	15.92	7.22
Control		15.06	19.70	13.52	16.71	3.97
Rapeseed Meal		10.57	14.81	29.76	16.11	6.86
	0	10.66	13.05	15.94	15.16	5.16
	2500	14.97	21.46	27.34	17.66	5.67
SEM P-Value		1.240	2.290	3.108	1.720	0.727
Diet		0.080	NS	<0.01	NS	0.052
Phytase		0.067	<0.05	<0.05	NS	NS
Diet × Phytase		NS	NS	NS	NS	NS

Table 3.9 The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal on digesta ash weight solubility (g soluble 100 g<sup>-1</sup> total) within the gastrointestinal tract of the laying hen

<sup>1</sup>Proventriculus and Gizzard

<sup>2</sup>Duodenum

<sup>3</sup>Jejunum

## 3.4.6 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Solubility of Minerals within the Gastrointestinal Tract of the Laying Hen

## 3.4.6.1The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Solubility of Minerals within the Crop

There was tendency for 2500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase supplementation to increase the solubility of zinc in the crop from 5.9 to 9 g soluble 100 g<sup>-1</sup> total (Table 3.10). In addition to this there were also large numerical increases in the solubility of sodium, calcium, magnesium, iron, and copper with phytase addition. These differences were not significant as there was a large degree of variation in crop mineral solubility and some birds dissected earlier in the day failed to contribute a sample. Rapeseed meal did not significantly affect the solubility of any minerals in the crop and no large numerical differences were seen. Similarly, no significant interactions were seen between phytase and rapeseed meal addition.

### 3.4.6.2 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Solubility of Minerals within the Proventriculus and Gizzard

The solubility of minerals within the proventriculus and gizzard were significantly affected by the treatment diets (Table 3.11). Rapeseed meal significantly decreased the solubility of zinc from 13.1 to 5.6 g soluble 100 g<sup>-1</sup> total. There was also a trend for rapeseed meal to decrease the solubility of sodium and iron. Rapeseed meal failed to affect the solubility of potassium, calcium, phosphorus, magnesium, copper or manganese.

Phytase increased the solubility of calcium, iron, copper and manganese from 5.1, 27.0, 18.7 and 14.5 to 7.9, 53.7, 41.1 and 26.8 g soluble 100  $g^{-1}$  total respectively.

No significant interactions were seen between phytase and rapeseed meal in regard to gastric mineral solubility.

## 3.4.6.3 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Solubility of Minerals within the Duodenum

Within the duodenum the addition of rapeseed meal had no significant effect on the solubility of minerals, whereas phytase resulted in numerical increases in the solubility of all minerals except potassium (Table 3.12). The increases were significant for calcium, phosphorus, magnesium, copper and manganese. Calcium solubility was increased 3 fold from 4.0 to 12.3 g soluble 100 g<sup>-1</sup> total while the phosphorus solubility doubled from 7.4 to 15.9 g soluble 100 g<sup>-1</sup> total. The increases in copper and manganese solubility were equally large while the increase in magnesium solubility was not as great from 21.8 to 36.4 g soluble 100 g<sup>-1</sup> total.

No significant interactions were found, however, there was a trend for an interaction between rapeseed meal and phytase in relation to the solubility of

copper. The effect of phytase on the solubility of copper was much greater in the rapeseed meal diet compared to the control diet. A similar effect was seen in relation to solubility of magnesium.

## 3.4.6.4 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Solubility of Minerals within the Jejunum

Phytase had less effect on the solubility of minerals within the jejunum with the only significant effect being an increase in phosphorus solubility from 5.9 to 14.8 g soluble 100 g<sup>-1</sup> total (Table 3.13). The increase in phosphorus solubility was larger than that seen in the duodenum. There were two trends seen from phytase supplementation with increases in calcium and zinc solubility.

Rapeseed meal had no effect on the solubility of minerals within the jejunum and no discernible patterns or differences can be seen in the data.

There was a significant interaction in relation to copper solubility whereby rapeseed meal increased copper solubility from 20.4 to 36.2 g soluble 100 g<sup>-1</sup> total when birds were fed a diet without phytase. When fed phytase rapeseed meal inclusion had no effect on the copper solubility. Phytase significantly decreased the solubility of copper in the rapeseed meal diet from 36.2 to 23.4 g soluble 100 g<sup>-1</sup> total. In the control diet phytase gave a near significant increase in solubility (P=0.060).

## 3.4.6.5 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Solubility of Minerals within the Ileum

Within the ileum the addition of rapeseed meal had its greatest effect relative to the other sections of the gastrointestinal tract (Table 3.14). Rapeseed meal significantly increased the solubility of sodium and calcium from 10.7 and 0.4 to 21.4 and 1.4 g soluble 100 g<sup>-1</sup> total respectively. Rapeseed meal also gave trends for increases in the solubility of phosphorus, magnesium, iron and copper. Phytase supplementation significantly increased the solubility of calcium, phosphorus, iron and manganese.

No significant interactions were found between phytase and rapeseed meal.

	ct or priytase and rape	seeu Illeal C	un une solubi	unio (g solub	le luu g to	tal) ol miner		s crop		
Diet	Phytase FTU kg <sup>-1</sup>	Na	¥	Ca	٩	Mg	Zn	Бe	Cu	Mn
Control	0	62.1	23.3	1.7	27.1	27.1	7.8	7.6	39.5	28.6
	2,500	90.0	23.8	3.0	28.1	35.5	10.2	11.8	42.8	33.2
Rapeseed Meal	0	81.0	20.0	2.2	25.2	32.4	3.9	8.1	27.4	20.3
	2,500	81.7	17.4	3.0	23.1	31.0	7.8	7.1	39.8	21.6
Control		76.1	23.5	2.3	27.6	31.3	9.0	9.7	41.2	30.9
Rapeseed Meal		81.3	18.7	2.6	24.2	31.7	5.8	7.6	33.6	21.0
	0	71.5	21.6	1.9	26.1	29.8	5.9	7.8	33.4	24.5
	2,500	85.9	20.6	3.0	25.6	33.3	9.0	9.4	41.3	27.4
SEM		4.9	2.4	0.4	2.6	2.1	1.0	1.3	5.1	3.4
P-Value										
Diet		NS	SN	NS	SN	SN	SN	SN	NS	SN
Phytase		NS	SN	NS	NS	NS	0.074	NS	NS	SN
Diet × Phytase		NS	SN	NS	NS	NS	SN	SN	NS	SN

Table 3.10 The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal on the solubility (g soluble 100 g<sup>-1</sup> total) of minerals within the crop

- 79 -

σ	
an	
ns	
Ĕ	
Ţ	
en	
Š	
p	
the	
Ē	
ith	
3	
als	
neı	
Ē	
o	
al)	
ţ	
, ם	
8	
5	
q	
olu	
S	
5	
i i	
qn	
sol	
e	
n tt	
0	
lea	
E	
eec	
es	
rap	
p	
an	
ase	
Σ	
hq	
ç	
ect	
eff	
e	
E	
e 3	
abl	
Ë	

gizzard			6			5			5	
Diet	Phytase FTU kg <sup>-1</sup>	Na	×	Ca	٩	Mg	Zn	Fe	Cu	Mn
Control	0	37.0	3.5	5.0	7.1	15.0	12.7	33.8	23.9	14.9
	2,500	39.6	4.2	7.7	7.7	16.7	13.6	68.4	41.5	29.4
Rapeseed Meal	0	22.7	4.4	5.1	6.8	13.4	6.2	20.2	13.6	14.0
	2,500	23.9	4.7	8.2	7.2	12.8	5.0	39.0	40.7	24.2
Control		38.3	3.9	6.3	7.4	15.9	13.1	51.1	32.7	22.1
Rapeseed Meal		23.3	4.6	6.6	7.0	13.1	5.6	29.6	27.1	19.1
	0	29.8	4.0	5.1	7.0	14.2	9.4	27.0	18.7	14.5
	2,500	31.7	4.4	7.9	7.5	14.8	9.3	53.7	41.1	26.8
SEM		3.9	0.7	1.2	0.8	1.4	1.7	6.6	4.5	2.5
P-Value										
Diet		0.061	SN	SN	SN	SN	< 0.05	0.086	SN	SN
Phytase		SN	SN	< 0.05	SN	SN	SN	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Diet × Phytase		NS	SN	NS	NS	SN	SN	NS	NS	NS

(1)
-
Ĺ.
Ŧ
-=
_
Ľ.
>
-
S
R
2
Ð
È
-=
Ξ
7
U U
, n
5
¥
5
G
~
×
¥
e
ā
5
-
Š
0,
δ
$\sim$
>
÷
=
ō
Ξ
_
0
õ
Ξ
<u>-</u>
-
_
5
Ы
al on
eal or
neal or
meal on
d meal on
ed meal on
sed meal or
seed meal or
eseed meal or
beseed meal or
apeseed meal or
rapeseed meal on
l rapeseed meal or
d rapeseed meal or
nd rapeseed meal or
and rapeseed meal or
e and rapeseed meal or
se and rapeseed meal or
ase and rapeseed meal or
tase and rapeseed meal or
ytase and rapeseed meal or
hytase and rapeseed meal or
phytase and rapeseed meal or
<sup>t</sup> phytase and rapeseed meal or
of phytase and rapeseed meal or
of phytase and rapeseed meal or
st of phytase and rapeseed meal or
ect of phytase and rapeseed meal or
fect of phytase and rapeseed meal or
iffect of phytase and rapeseed meal or
effect of phytase and rapeseed meal or
e effect of phytase and rapeseed meal or
he effect of phytase and rapeseed meal or
The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal or
The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal or
2 The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal or
12 The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal or
3.12 The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal or
3.12 The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal or
e 3.12 The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal or
ole 3.12 The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal or
able 3.12 The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal or
Table 3.12 The effect of phytase and rapeseed meal or

duodenum										
Diet	Phytase FTU kg <sup>-1</sup>	Na	¥	Са	٩.	Mg	Zn	Fe	Cu	Mn
Control	0	39.0	6.6	4.7	9.2	27.0	38.4	22.9	17.7	8.7
	2,500	41.3	6.1	9.0	13.6	30.8	25.4	28.8	19.7	19.5
Rapeseed Meal	0	32.1	6.4	3.3	5.6	16.6	15.6	14.7	9.3	5.4
	2,500	48.8	8.8	15.5	18.2	42.0	35.5	20.2	40.3	16.8
Control		40.1	8.0	6.9	11.4	28.9	31.9	25.9	18.7	14.1
Rapeseed Meal		40.5	7.6	9.4	11.9	29.3	25.5	17.4	24.8	1.1.
	0	35.6	8.1	4.0	7.4	21.8	27.0	18.8	13.5	7.1
	2,500	45.0	7.5	12.3	15.9	36.4	30.4	24.5	30.0	18.2
SEM		4.5	1.1	2.0	2.0	3.4	6.8	4.5	4.3	2.7
P-Value										
Diet		SN	SN	SN	SN	NS	NS	SN	SN	NS
Phytase		SN	SN	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	NS	SN	< 0.05	< 0.05
Diet × Phytase		SN	0.17	NS	SN	0.102	SN	SN	0.078	NS

Table 3.13 The ef	fect of phytase and r	apeseed me	eal on the s	solubility (g	soluble 100 (	g <sup>-1</sup> total) of n	inerals with	in the jejur	un	
Diet	Phytase FTu kg <sup>-1</sup>	Na	¥	Ca	٩	Mg	Zn	Fe	Cu	Mn
Control	0	39.1	14.9	1.7	5.3	23.2	2.8	10.2	20.4 <sup>b</sup>	4.5
	2,500	36.7	14.3	5.7	19.4	27.1	8.2	15.1	26.5 <sup>ab</sup>	9.3
Rapeseed Meal	0	46.8	17.6	3.0	6.6	26.1	2.0	19.2	36.2 <sup>a</sup>	5.0
	2,500	37.1	11.7	4.0	10.2	26.2	3.5	13.9	23.4 <sup>b</sup>	5.2
Control		37.9	14.6	3.7	12.4	25.1	5.5	12.7	23.5	6.9
Rapeseed Meal		42.0	14.6	3.5	8.4	26.1	2.8	16.5	29.8	5.1
	0	43.0	16.3	2.4	5.9	24.6	2.4	14.7	28.3	4.7
	2,500	36.9	13.0	4.9	14.8	26.7	5.9	14.5	24.9	7.2
SEM		2.3	1.7	0.7	1.8	1.4	1.0	3.2	2.4	1.1
P-Value										
Diet		NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	SN	SN	NS	SN
Phytase		NS	NS	0.065	< 0.05	SN	0.092	SN	NS	SN
Diet × Phytase		NS	NS	SN	0.12	SN	SN	SN	< 0.05	SN
<sup>a-b</sup> Means within cc	olumns with no commo	on superscrip	ot differ sign	iificantly (P<	0.05)					

lable 3.14 The effe	ect or pnytase and rap	eseed meal	on the solui	ollity (g solul		al) or mineral	s within the	lieum		
Diet	Phytase FTU kg <sup>-1</sup>	Na	¥	Са	٩	Mg	Zn	Fe	Cu	ЧМ
Control	0	9.5	2.5	0.2	0.3	4.0	1.4	6.0	6.2	1.8
	2,500	12.0	1.7	0.6	0.9	5.3	2.9	11.1	7.8	2.7
Rapeseed Meal	0	22.9	3.5	0.8	0.8	7.0	2.7	9.3	11.4	1.9
	2,500	19.8	1.8	2.0	2.3	7.4	8.2	27.2	10.0	3.7
Control		10.7	2.1	0.4	0.6	4.7	2.1	8.6	7.0	2.3
Rapeseed Meal		21.4	2.6	1.4	1.5	7.2	5.4	18.3	10.7	2.8
	0	16.2	3.0	0.5	0.5	5.5	2.0	7.7	8.8	1.8
	2,500	15.9	1.7	1.3	1.6	6.3	5.5	19.2	8.9	3.2
SEM		2.1	0.5	0.2	0.3	0.7	1.3	2.6	1.0	0.3
P-Value										
Diet		< 0.05	NS	< 0.05	0.071	0.082	NS	0.058	0.08	SN
Phytase		SN	NS	< 0.05	< 0.05	SN	0.1	< 0.05	NS	< 0.05
Diet × Phytase		SN	NS	NS	NS	SN	NS	NS	NS	SN

solubility (a soluble 100 a<sup>-1</sup> total) of minerals within the ileum 440 200 ( 1 200 Tahla 3 14 The effect of nhvta - 83 -

## 3.4.7 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Concentration of Minerals in Blood Plasma

The addition of rapeseed meal to the diets of laying hens had no significant effect on the blood plasma mineral concentration compared to birds which had received, the control diets (Table 3.15).

Phytase significantly increased the concentration of blood calcium in both the control and rapeseed meal diets from 191.7 and 197.8 to 211.8 and 227.0  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> respectively. Phytase also increased the concentration of magnesium and manganese within the blood. The greatest significance was seen in relation to zinc, with an increase in the blood concentration of phytase supplemented birds from 0.707 to 0.897  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>. Trends were also seen for increases in the concentration of iron and copper in the blood when diets were supplemented with 2500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase.

No significant interactions were seen between diet and phytase addition in relation to concentration of minerals in blood plasma.

Table 3.15 The (	effect of phytase an	d rapeseed n	neal on the c	concentration	of minerals ו	(µg ml <sup>-1</sup> ) wit	hin the blood	plasma of lay	/ing hens	
Diet	Phytase FTU kg <sup>-1</sup>	Na	×	Са	٩	Mg	Zn	Fe	Cu	ЧМ
Control	0	2615.2	264.3	191.7	103.2	33.7	0.692	0.460	0.166	0.024
	2,500	2691.6	265.2	211.8	103.2	37.9	0.880	0.529	0.188	0.031
Rapeseed Meal	0	2637.2	266.2	197.8	109.2	33.7	0.721	0.413	0.183	0.027
	2,500	2651.4	271.8	227.0	103.1	36.2	0.914	0.526	0.190	0.033
Control		2653.4	264.7	201.7	103.2	35.8	0.786	0.494	0.177	0.027
Rapeseed Meal		2644.3	269.0	212.4	106.2	35.0	0.818	0.469	0.187	0.030
	0	2626.2	265.2	194.7	106.2	33.7	0.707	0.437	0.174	0.025
	2,500	2671.5	268.5	219.4	103.2	37.1	0.897	0.527	0.189	0.032
SEM		33.6	7.0	6.4	3.1	0.8	0.037	0.002	0.005	0.002
P-Value										
Diet		NS	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN
Phytase		NS	NS	<0.05	SN	<0.05	<0.01	0.09	0.06	<0.05
Diet × Phytase		SN	NS	NN	SN	NS	SN	SN	NS	SN

-4 ithin -1-1 . -÷ 1 ŧ ų 2 15 Th - 85 -

#### 3.5 Discussion

#### 3.5.1 Comparison to Breeder Expected Performance

The hens used in this study conformed to the breeders expectation regarding feed intake, daily egg mass and feed conversion ratio (Joice and Hill, 2014). The birds did have a slightly elevated hen day egg production and somewhat lower egg weight in comparison to published expectations, (96% vs 93% and 62g vs 64g, respectively). The birds were also underweight at the start of the trial in comparison with the breeders expectations (1.67kg vs 1.85kg, respectively). Throughout the trial the weight gained by the birds was high compared to the breeder recommendations (130g vs 10g) and brought the bird weight within reach of the breeder standards (1.81 vs 1.85kg, respectively).

#### 3.5.2 The Effect of Rapeseed Meal on Laying Hen Performance

Within this experiment, the addition of 175g kg<sup>-1</sup> rapeseed meal to a laying hen diet had no negative effect on performance compared to the control diet. The trend for higher weight gain in the rapeseed meal diets and the numerical increase in egg weights was probably due to the higher levels of protein found in the diets (Keshavarz and Nakajima, 1995). While this data indicates that rapeseed meal could be used in commercial situations, it should be noted that this trial was only a few weeks in length and other work has shown some complications with rapeseed meal addition when fed for a longer period of time (Kaminska, 2003, Najib and Al-Khateeb, 2004, Jeroch et al., 2009). The inclusion of rapeseed meal to 300g kg<sup>-1</sup> negatively affected the weight gain and egg weight of laying hens in one trial (Jeroch et al., 2009). Kaminska, (2003) also found that replacing soybean meal with rapeseed meal decreased egg weight, however, rapeseed meal had no detrimental effect on egg numbers, or egg guality. Najib and Al-Khateeb (2004) found that the inclusion of rapeseed meal up to 100g kg<sup>-1</sup> had no effect on egg production, egg weight or FCR, however, a further increase to 200 and 300g kg<sup>-1</sup> significantly deteriorated bird performance. Smulikowska et al. (2006) also found that 150g kg<sup>-1</sup> increased FCR. A number of longer trials have shown that smaller inclusion levels of rapeseed meal in layer

diets can be used without causing negative effects in egg performance or quality (Casartelli et al., 2007, Riyazi et al., 2008a, Swiatkiewicz et al., 2010). It can be concluded therefore that the inclusion of rapeseed meal up to 100 g kg<sup>-1</sup> is not detrimental to performance but that higher inclusion levels and the complete replacement of soya bean meal cannot currently to be recommended. The work of Shen et al. (1983) expanded upon this and found that rapeseed meal could be included up to 200 g kg<sup>-1</sup> if the meal was ground fine and then steam pelleted. This negative effect seen with rapeseed meal inclusion may be due to high levels of tannins and phytic acid. It is possible that the grinding and pelleting process reduced the negative effects of the tannins and phytic acid, as autoclaving has been shown to increase phytic acid hydrolysis (O'Dell, 1962, Takemasa and Hijikuro, 1991).

#### 3.5.3 The Effect of Phytase Dose on Laying Hen Performance

In the present study high phytase inclusion failed to affect the feed intake of laying hens, which may be because the birds already had an adequate diet. In the past, normal levels of phytase have been shown to increase the feed intake of laying hens with phosphorus deficient diets, but not that of those that are nutritionally adequate (Van der Klis et al., 1997). Hughes et al. (2009) found that doubling phytase dose did not increase the feed intake of layer hens more than regular levels of phytase. In another experiment, 10,000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> had no greater effect than 150 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> and 300 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> on the feed intake of pigs and laying hens (Augspurger et al., 2007).

Ahmandi et al. (2008) found that adding 150 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase decreased the feed conversion ratio of laying hens. However, increasing the phytase to 300 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> had no greater effect. This suggests the effect of phytase on improving the FCR is limited, which would explain why 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> had no effect in this experiment. Other work has found that phytase inclusion at 300 and 500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> did not affect the feed conversion ratio of a deficient laying hen diet (Liu et al., 2007).

Although it was statistically insignificant the inclusion of phytase did numerically increase the weight gained by birds across the experiment. Many studies have shown that phytase can improve the weight gain of laying hens fed deficient diets. However, 1,200 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> did not improve the body weight gain of chickens fed diets that were nutritionally adequate (Boling-Frankenbach et al., 2001).

Phytase has previously been seen to increase egg production of layers fed deficient diets by releasing phytate-P. Augspurger et al. (2007) found that 10,000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> was efficacious to egg production, but no more so than 300 or 150 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>. This supports the results from this experiment as superdosing phytase failed to affect egg production.

Phytase has been shown to increase the egg weight when layers are fed calcium and phosphorus deficient diets, but has had no effect on layers fed nutritionally sufficient diets where releasing excess calcium and phosphorus had no benefit (van der Klis et al., 1997, Gordon and Roland, 1998). Within this experiment egg weight was not significantly increased by phytase. Despite phytase numerically increasing egg weight in both the control and RSM diets across all four weeks of the trial, this increase was not significant.

Within the literature, it is clear that benefits can be seen when above standard phytase doses are used in piglet and broiler diets (Cowieson et al., 2011). This trial as well as others have failed to find significant performance benefits with above standard phytase inclusion. It may be that the phytase does exhibit the same benefits in layers but that the beneficial effects are hidden by the amount of variation within the data and the short length of the trials. It is also noteworthy that this trial was very short in length. Laying hens may need longer to express the phytase benefits because they are not growing animals and so not harmed as much by the anti-nutrient effects of phytate. It may also be that the benefits of "superdosing" are due to the greater bioavailability of the *myo*-inositol at the end of phytic acid hydrolysis. It is possible growing animals have a previously unknown requirement for *myo*-inositol that is fulfilled by high phytase inclusion but that mature animals have no such need as they can synthesis sufficient myo-inositol from glucose (Hooper, 1997). Finally, it may be that the high level of calcium in the laying hen diet prevents the near complete breakdown of phytic acid that generates the benefits of "superdosing." The higher calcium concentration

does not completely stop phytic acid hydrolysis, but may reduce the rate of hydrolysis. To investigate whether higher phytase inclusion can benefit laying hen performance longer trials need to be run with higher levels of phytase activity.

## 3.5.4 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on the Gastrointestinal Tract

In this trial phytase decreased the combined weight of the proventriculus and gizzard. The weight of the gizzard is known to be related to the digestibility of the diet; less digestible diets that need greater muscular trituration will increase the muscle mass of the gizzard. It is well documented that increasing fibre or dietary particle size can affect the weight of the gizzard (Jiménez-Moreno et al., 2009; Pacheco et al., 2013) .The reduction in gizzard weight seen in this trial could be due to phytase making the diet more digestible and so reducing the workload of the gizzard and proventriculus. It is also possible however, that the difference is due to the reduction in limestone in the phytase diets to give the equivalence values used during the formulation. Amer (2014) found that phytase addition in broiler diets up to 2000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> had no effect on gizzard weight.

Phytase also increased the weight and decreased the pH of the digesta within the duodenum. It is possible that this is as a result of greater digesta flow through the gizzard as a result of improved digestion. It may also be due to a decrease in the secretion from the duodenum, liver and pancreas as phytate is known to increase the secretion of bicarbonates and mucin (Cowieson et al., 2009). It is possible that the reduction in digesta pH may also be due to the reduction in limestone which has a high acid binding capacity.

3.5.5 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on Diet Solubility

In the crop, phytase increased the digesta solubility when birds were fed the control diet, but had no effect in the rapeseed meal diet. It is logical that the difference seen is due to the susceptibility and concentration of the phytate. A greater concentration of phytic acid will be present in the crop of birds fed

the rapeseed meal diet. This is because rapeseed meal has a higher concentration of phytic acid (Table 1.1), and the phytin within rapeseed meal is known to be less susceptible to phytase activity than that of soyabean meal (Leske and Coon, 1999). As a result phytase had less affect on the solubility of the digesta in the crop. This is backed by the trend for a decrease in ash solubility of the crop digesta in the rapeseed meal diets.

Phytase increased digesta solubility in the gizzard and duodenum. As phytase breaks down more of the phytate along the gastrointestinal tract, the solubility of the digesta ash increases. In the distal regions of the gastrointestinal tract rapeseed meal increased digesta ash. In these areas of the tract the majority of the phytic acid will have been hydrolysed (Walk et al., 2014). The higher ash solubility in the rapeseed meal diets may be a result of the slightly lower levels of minerals in the diet or due to the differences between the dietary ingredients.

It was found that the addition of rapeseed meal increased the solubility of digesta in the duodenum and ileum. This is in spite of the high tannin content of rapeseed meal in addition to the higher phytate and crude fibre concentration seen in the diet analysis.

The increase in duodenal digesta solubility is likely to be the result of greater phytic acid hydrolysis. The breakdown of phytic acid reduces the formation of insoluble phytate complexes (Nolan et al., 1987). The complex formation will reduce the solubility of the bound nutrients and the overall diet.

#### 3.5.6 The Effect of Phytase and Rapeseed Meal on Minerals

Phytase increased the solubility of calcium and phosphorus in the gastrointestinal tract; this is in line with the findings of other authors. Woyengo et al. (2010) found that 20 g kg<sup>-1</sup> additional phytate decreased mineral solubility, while 500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> supplementation numerically increased the amount of soluble calcium and magnesium in the jejunum, however, this increase was not significant. Pontoppidan et al. (2007b) conducted an *in vitro* study that looked at how calcium concentration and phytase affected mineral solubility. It was found that calcium concentration had a strong effect on the solubility of minerals; increasing calcium concentration decreased the

amount of soluble zinc, manganese and iron at the end of the digestion. The inclusion of 750 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase increased the amount of soluble zinc across all calcium levels. The concentration of soluble manganese was also increased by phytase when calcium was included at 1.2 g kg<sup>-1</sup> DM, however, as calcium inclusion increased phytase had no effect. Phytase did increase the level of soluble iron at all calcium levels. This highlights how minerals can interact within the digesta and affect each other's solubility. This may explain why phytase reduced the solubility of copper in the rapeseed meal diet. Increasing the solubility of one mineral can have a negative effect on the solubility of another (Pang and Applegate, 2007). Walk et al. (2012b) found that 1000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase increased the solubility of calcium and phosphorus in diets at and below broiler phosphorus and calcium requirements. Increasing the time the diets were kept in the gastric phase of the in vitro incubation increased the solubility of phosphorus as phytase continued to break down phytic acid. The solubility of calcium did not increase with time in the gastric phase. Further increase in phytase activity from 1000 to 5000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> increased the solubility of phosphorus from 66% to 75%, but had no effect on the calcium solubility which plateaued around 92% soluble. The difference seen between calcium and phosphorus may be due to the nature of phytic acid breakdown. Phytase targets IP<sub>6</sub> esters of phytic acid preferentially over the lesser esters such as IP<sub>3</sub> (Wyss et al., 1999). The cation binding capacity of  $IP_6$  is greater than double that of  $IP_3$ (Persson et al., 1998). This means the initial breakdown of phytic acid will result in a large release of calcium relative to phosphorus in comparison to the overall ratio when phytic acid is completely dephosphorylated (Cowieson et al., 2011). This may explain why phytase increases the solubility of calcium in the gizzard, but phosphorus solubility only increases in the duodenum after a greater amount of phytic acid hydrolysis.

Within the gastric phases of the tract the solubility of minerals was lower in the rapeseed meal diets, however, in the ileum rapeseed meal increased the solubility of sodium, calcium and possibly phosphorus, magnesium, iron and copper. Similar results were found by Morgan et al. (2014) who showed that in broilers, the solubility of calcium during the gastric and intestinal phases was higher in a rapeseed meal diet when compared to a soyabean meal diet. They attributed this effect to a more acidic pH, but that was not found in this study.

This experiment is the first to measure how using high doses of phytase affects a wide range of minerals *in vivo*. Previously, most others had focused on just phosphorus and calcium. While improving phosphorus and calcium solubility and therefore availability is important, it is unlikely that a surplus of these minerals is responsible for the "superdosing" effects seen in other trials. Walk et al. (2014) showed that within broilers increasing phytase dose beyond the standard inclusion would decrease the FCR, but adding additional dicalcium phosphate numerically increased FCR. This shows that increasing phytase beyond standard doses does not benefit bird performance through extra calcium and phosphorus release from phytate. However, it is possible that one of the benefits of higher than standard phytase inclusion is a greater release of the other minerals from phytate which is shown in this trial through greater mineral solubility.

One possible mechanism is that greater mineral solubility will increase the potential antimicrobial properties of those minerals. Copper and zinc are both known to be potential anti-microbials affecting intestinal microflora (Højberg et al., 2005, Hedemann et al., 2006). The inclusion of zinc has been shown to benefit piglet performance while 500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> allowed zinc concentration to be halved while still maintaining the same pharmacological benefits (Martínez et al., 2004). It is plausible that using very high levels of phytase may allow a further decrease in the concentration of minerals like copper and zinc while still gaining an antimicrobial benefit.

This study also showed that phytase increases the blood concentration of calcium, magnesium, zinc and manganese and potentially iron and copper. Other studies have also found that phytase increased the bioavailability of trace minerals like zinc, iron, manganese and magnesium (Czech and Grela, 2008, Silva et al., 2004). These are all minerals whose solubility was increased with the gastrointestinal tract in this trial. An increase in the blood concentration of these minerals may indicate that the birds requirements were not be being met in relation to these elements when the diets were fed diets without phytase. Therefore using high phytase inclusions may benefit

the bird by increasing mineral availability. It is notable that although phosphorus solubility was increased by phytase, its concentration did not increase in the blood. This supports the theory that high phytase inclusion does not benefit the animal through greater phosphorus availability (Walk et al., 2014).

The increase in calcium availability with a high phytase dose was not responsible for the improvements seen in broiler trials where additional calcium did not give benefits the birds (Walk et al., 2014). However, increasing calcium availability with high phytase doses in this experiment did benefit birds, improving egg shell quality. Using high doses of phytase may be able to improve shell quality and reduce the occurrence of cracks which could provide an economic benefit (Abdallah et al., 1993). The increase in the bioavailability of minerals like magnesium, zinc, manganese, iron and copper may be of interest as they are all essential nutrients required for animal growth and maintenance.

#### 3.5.7 Conclusions

This trial failed to find any significant performance effects from the inclusion of 175 g kg<sup>-1</sup> rapeseed meal or 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> alone or in combination, however, this is likely due to the length of the trial.

However, phytase did improve shell quality presumably through greater calcium availability. It is probable that this is a result of phytase hydrolysing phytic acid and releasing calcium bound within phytate complexes.

The inclusion of phytase did increase the solubility of calcium in addition to a number of minerals. With the exception of phosphorus, an increase in mineral solubility was translated into an increase in blood plasma mineral concentration. It is possible that using higher than standard phytase inclusion levels increases the availability of these minerals. This may explain somewhat the improvements seen in other monogastric trials.

Phytase increased the solubility of the whole diet, indicating that phytase does not just benefit the minerals of the diet. Within the foregut phytase had little effect on rapeseed meal compared to the control diet, which could be
due to rapeseed meal's high concentrations of phytic acid and its reduced susceptibility to phytase activity. Within the ileum, rapeseed meal improved mineral solubility. The inclusion of phytase also significantly affected the weight of the gizzard and pH of the duodenum; this could be due to phytase improving diet digestibility or because of the difference in dietary ingredients.

# Chapter 4 The Effect of Glucanase and Phytase Inclusion on Laying Hens

## 4.1 Abstract

This experiment was conducted to assess the effects of including glucanase at 0, 10,000, 20,000 and 40,000 GU kg<sup>-1</sup> with and without the inclusion of 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase in a laying hen diet that met the birds requirements.

The birds were group housed and fed their respective diets for 12 weeks during which their performance was recorded. In addition to this egg quality measurements were analysed every three weeks. At the end of the trial, excreta samples were collected and phytate-phosphorus concentration was determined to assess how the diets had affected the hydrolysis of phytic acid. Glucanase addition to the diet was found to increase bird weight gain to 198g when included at 10,000 GU kg<sup>-1</sup> comparison to the control diet at 135g. However, increasing the dose of glucanase further reversed these benefits. 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase improved the FCR of birds from 20.6 to 2.01, showing that above standard inclusion of phytase can give extraphosphoric benefits to the bird. Glucanase and phytase appeared to show greater than additive effects in relation to the weight gained by birds, indicating they can be used together within commercial laying hen rations. Glucanase improved egg shell quality while phytase had no significant effect. Differences in egg yolk fatty acid profiles and cholesterol levels suggests that both glucanase and phytase were affecting fat metabolism and digestion.

Finally, phytase significantly decreased the phytate-phosphorus concentration in the excreta from 0.71 to 0.49 g kg<sup>-1</sup> suggesting substantial, but not complete, phytic acid hydrolysis. Glucanase supplementation did not increase phytic acid hydrolysis in the phytase supplemented diet. However, in the phytase free diet there was a trend for glucanase to increase total tract hydrolysis of phytic acid.

#### **4.2 Introduction**

The base ingredients of all monogastric diets are cereal grains; unfortunately these grains contain a number of anti-nutritional factors that impede digestion and absorption of nutrients within the gastrointestinal tract (Choct, 1997). Barley, rye, oats, wheat and triticale are all classified as viscous cereals as they contain high levels of soluble non-starch polysaccharides (NSPs) (Bedford and Partridge, 2001). NSPs are complex carbohydrates that are components of the cell walls of cereals (Selvendran and Verne, 1990). NSPs are considered to be anti-nutrients because they can act as a nutrient diluter and impede digestion through a number of mechanisms. This decreases the overall apparent metabolisable energy of the diet (Coon et al., 1988). Xylans and  $\beta$ -glucans are the main two NSPs in cereals that cause problems in poultry nutrition (Bedford and Partridge, 2001). All ingredients contain varying combinations of these NSPs. In wheat the xylan to  $\beta$ -glucan ratio is 10:1 whereas in barley the ratio is closer to 1:3 (Henry, 1985).  $\beta$ glucans are found within the cell wall of the starchy endosperm and in the aleurone layer.  $\beta$ -glucans consist of a  $\beta$ 1-4 glucose backbone that can vary in length as well as the degree and pattern of  $\beta$ 1-3 linkages (Bielecki and Galas, 1991). These  $\beta$ 1-3 linkages increase  $\beta$ -glucan solubility and flexibility. Typically  $\beta$ -glucans contain 70%  $\beta$ -1-4 linkages and 30%  $\beta$ -1-3 linkages (Hesselman, 1983). Fifty four percent of the  $\beta$ -glucans present in barley are soluble although this does vary between cultivars (Aaman and Graham, 1987). It is known that the presence of soluble NSPs can reduce animal performance. Burnett (1966) was the first to identify that  $\beta$ -glucans were an anti-nutrient and suggested that an increase in digesta viscosity may be cause. Wyatt and Goodman (1993) showed that feeding a barley based diet high in  $\beta$ -glucans decreased the feed efficiency of laying hens. Carbohydrases or fibrolytic enzymes that hydrolyse NSP to oligosaccharides are not produced by vertebrates, therefore poultry cannot break down  $\beta$ - poultry and have been widely adopted since the 1980s (Newman and Newman, 1987). Glucanases break down  $\beta$ -glucans by hydrolysis of the glucosidic bonds. There are a number of mechanisms by which  $\beta$ -glucans may act as an anti-nutritional factor and glucanase may benefit animal performance.

Soluble  $\beta$ -glucans within the digestive tract hold water and increase digesta viscosity (Bedford and Morgan, 1995). This will slow digestion and absorption as it decreases the rate of diffusion of digestive substrates, enzymes and products. The increase in digesta viscosity has been shown to be detrimental to bird performance and reduce nutrient intake (Burnett, 1966; Choct and Annison, 1990; Choct and Annison, 1992; Danicke et al., 1999). Almirall and Esteve-Garcia (1995) showed that increases in viscosity, caused by  $\beta$ -glucans, reduced enzyme activities in addition to decreasing nutrient digestibility and broiler performance. Glucanase supplementation reversed these effects. Without glucanase supplementation, the birds may compensate for a lack of nutrient digestibility by increasing endogenous secretions, which will cause an increase in endogenous losses and the apparent metabolisable energy of the diet.

Glucanase can also benefit animals without high concentration of viscous grains through releasing nutrients locked within cells. The  $\beta$ -glucans within cell walls act as a physical barrier against digestion, encapsulating nutrients within the endosperm and aleurone layer of the feedstuffs (Bedford, 2002). Glucanase can break open these walls by hydrolysing glucosidic bonds and releasing the nutrients within (Choct, 2006).

Glucanase can be considered a prebiotic because of the effect it can have on the microflora within the intestine (Choct et al., 2001). Microbes do not easily digest large NSPs, but can utilise oligosaccharides. Glucanase supplementation releases oligosaccharides between 3 and 10 sugars in length after the hydrolysis of glucans. These oligosaccharides have been shown to be hydrolysed by *Bifidobacterium* and *Lactobacillus spp*. (Thammarutwasik et al., 2009). Glucanase inclusion can therefore promote the proliferation of certain microbes by providing an enery source. Glucanase has previously been shown to suppress *Salmonella*, *Campylobacter* and *Escherchia coli* while increasing the proliferation of *Bifdobacterium* and *Lactobacillius spp* (Choct et al., 2001). The products of microbial fermentation are volatile fatty acids which can benefit energy metabolism (Taylor, 2002). This glucanase probiotic effect can increase the level of microbial fermentation and so the production of volatile fatty acids (Wang et al., 2005).

Finally, glucanase may benefit bird performance through the release of glucose from the  $\beta$ -glucan chain. It is unlikely that this is a key mechanism, however, as glucanase enzymes target the mid sections of chains to create oligosaccharides and rarely release monomeric sugars (Bhat and Hazlewood, 2001).

The addition of glucanase to barley based diets has been shown to overcome the anti-nutrient effects of  $\beta$ -glucans thus improving egg production, egg weight, weight gain, feed intake and feed conversion ratio(Francesch et al., 1995; Wyatt and Goodman, 1993; Brenes et al., 1993; Mathlouthi et al., 2003). However, these effects are inconsistent and will vary depending upon the glucanase used and the bird's physiology (eg. breed, age, weight) in addition to the composition of the diet including the levels of  $\beta$ -glucans, other NSPs and additional anti-nutrients.

In commercial situations, enzymes are most commonly used in combination to gain maximal benefits in animal performance by reducing all potential antinutritional affects. The most common enzymes in the monogastric feed industry are NSP degrading enzymes such as glucanase and the phytic acid degrading enzyme phytase. The addition of glucanase, xylanase and phytase in combination can correct a dilution of all the major nutrients within a broiler diet (Lu et al., 2013). Woyengo et al. (2010a) found that the addition of a mix of carbohydrases and phytase gave a greater body weight gain in broilers when compared to phytase supplementaion alone. In contrast, Leslie et al. (2007) found benefits in diet digestibility when diets were supplemented with 500 GU kg<sup>-1</sup> glucanase but found little benefit from 500 FTU<sup>-1</sup> phytase addition in a broiler diet. In another study glucanase and

phytase in combination improved the digestibility of dietary energy (Kiarie et al., 2010). Phytase inclusion at 500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> and 1000U kg<sup>-1</sup> xylanase both failed to improve AME when supplemented alone, but together they significantly increased the AME of the diet suggesting the enzymes had additive effects (Wu et al., 2004). The addition of a glucanase, xylanase cocktail or phytase alone did not improve nitrogen digestibility, but in combination the enzymes and phytase significantly increased nitrogen digestibility (Oryschak et al., 2002). Selle et al. (2009a) found additive amino acid digestibility benefits when broilers were fed xylanase and phytase. Juanpere et al. (2005) observed that the combination of 3150 GU kg<sup>-1</sup> glucanase and 500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase to a barley based broiler diet improved phosphorus retention by 15%. The addition of phytase alone gave a 1.6% increase in phosphorus retention while glucanase alone gave no benefits. Nortey et al. (2007) found that supplementation of either 500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase or 4375 XU<sup>-1</sup> xylanase both benefited phosphorus digestibility by 4.8 and 1.9 respectively when added alone to a piglet diet. However, when added in combination the increase in phosphorus digestibility was much greater (12.8%). This suggests there is a synergistic relationship between phytase and glucanase as the effect of the two enzymes combined is greater than the cumulative effect of each alone.

This synergism may result from cell wall breakdown by glucanase, making the phytic acid more available to the exogenous phytase (Woyengo and Nyachoti, 2011). A glucanase induced reduction in viscosity is also likely to increase phytic acid hydrolysis by endogenous phytase in addition to increasing the absorption of nutrients released from phytate. Glucanase could also increase the digesta retention time which would allow phytase longer to hydrolyse phytic acid. Finally, phytic acid may restrict nutrients released by glucanase by binding them into insoluble phytate complexes. The inclusion of phytase would prevent this and give a greater response to dietary glucanase inclusion.

#### 4.2.1 Objectives

The benefits of using a higher than standard phytase doses in laying hen diets have not yet been conclusively shown. The main objective of this study

was to assess the effect of a higher than standard phytase inclusion on laying hen performance over a long term in comparison to a positive control diet without phytase supplementation. A secondary objective of this study was to assess the effect of a new glucanase enzyme on laying hen performance. As high phytase inclusion levels are becoming more common, it is of interest to assess effects of a high phytase dose and glucanase supplementation alone or in combination to better understand the interactions of the anti-nutrients  $\beta$ -glucan and phytate.

### 4.2.2 Hypotheses

Phytase supplementation will improve performance in comparison to the positive control diet

Increasing glucanase inclusion will improve performance

Phytase will improve egg shell quality

Phytase will increase total tract phytic acid hydrolysis

Phytase and glucanase will give additive improvements in performance and phytic acid hydrolysis when supplemented in combination

## 4.3 Materials and Methods

## **4.3.1 Experimental Design and Treatments**

The effect of glucanase and phytase enzyme supplementation was assessed in a laying hen performance trial. The trial was designed as a 4 × 2 factorial experiment with 4 levels of glucanase inclusion (0, 10,000, 20,000 and 40,000 GU kg<sup>-1</sup>) and two levels of phytase inclusion (0 and 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>). The activity of glucanase is defined by an *in vitro* assay where one glucanase unit (GU) is defined as the amount of enzyme that liberates 1 µmol of glucose at pH 5 and 30°C per minute from barley β-glucans. Similarly, one phytase unit (FTU) is defined as the amount of enzyme that liberates 1 µmol of inorganic P from 0.0051 mol l<sup>-1</sup> sodium phytate at pH 5.5 and 37°C per minute (Engelen et al., 1994). The exogenous enzymes used in this study were provided by AB Vista Feed Ingredients and commercially known as Econase GT and Quantum Blue phytase.

The experimental diets were formulated to meet the nutritional requirements of the laying hen and contain at least 500 g kg<sup>-1</sup> barley and 100 g kg<sup>-1</sup> rapeseed meal to provide a diet high in  $\beta$ -glucans and phytic acid. The phytase was given conservative matrix values during the feed formulation normally used for the inclusion of 300 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> to give the two base diets in Table 4.1 (0.143% digestible calcium, 0.13% available phosphorus and 0.03% digestible sodium). These matrix values remove any benefit phytase has at a normal inclusion level, therefore any improvement seen in performance will be due to the higher than standard inclusion of phytase. During the milling and mixing of the diets each of the base rations was made in a single batch. They were then split into four equal parts and had the glucanase enzyme added as required to give the 8 experimental diets.

Ingredient (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Without Phytase	With Phytase
Barley	505.1	535.3
Corn	75.9	53.2
Rapeseed Solv Ext	100.0	100.0
Soybean meal 48	149.1	146.2
Soy oil	55.0	55.0
Salt	03.0	03.0
Sodium Bicarbonate	01.0	01.0
DL Methionine	01.3	01.3
Limestone	92.3	89.8
Dicalcium Phos	12.3	10.2
Vitamin premix	04.9	04.9
Quantum Dry	00.0	01.0
Nutrient Composition (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )		
Crude Oil	69	68
Crude Protein	170	170
Crude Fiber	44	45
Calcium (Total)	40	39
Calcium (Digestible)	40	40
Phosphorus (Total)	07	06
Phosphorus (Available)	04	04
Sodium (Total)	02	02
AMEn (MJ kg⁻¹)	11.3	11.3

 Table 4.1. Ingredients and calculated nutrient composition of experimental diets

#### 4.3.2 Animal Housing

A total of 240 Bovan Brown chickens were purchased at 15 weeks old from a commercial pullet rearer. The birds were group housed with 4 birds per cage across 60 cages within one animal house at the University of Leeds, Spen Farm. Forty eight of these cages were allocated to the experimental diets when the birds reached 21 weeks of age, balancing for average bird weight and the previous weeks' performance, giving 6 replicates of 4 birds. All birds put onto trial had come into lay.

## 4.3.3 Feeding Regime and Performance Recording

The birds were fed their experimental diets for 12 weeks during which the performance criteria were recorded. Every three weeks, one day's eggs were collected and analysed for egg quality as described in Section 2.3.5.

# 4.3.4 Egg Fatty Acid Profile

The yolks from the eggs analysed for quality in the twelfth week of the trial were collected and frozen at -20°C. These were then analysed for their fatty acid profile and cholesterol content as described in Section 2.4.2.1.

## 4.3.5 Excreta Phytate-P Analysis

In the final week of the trial an excreta sample was collected from each cage. All feathers, scale and feed were removed and this sample was frozen at -20°C. This sample was then analysed for phytate-P concentration as described in Section 2.4.4.

## 4.3.6 Statistical Analysis

Two factors univariate general linear model (GLM) analysis of variance (ANOVA) tests within the statistical programme IBM SPSS Statistic 21 were used to analyse the performance and egg quality data. All data was tested for normality using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The homogenity of variance of data was also analysed within the model.

Polynomial contrasts were used within the model to assess glucanase treatment for linear, quadratic and cubic effects. When significant post-hoc bonferroni tests were performed for multiple comparisons. Significance was assigned at P< 0.05.

## 4.4 Results

### 4.4.1 Diet Analysis

The analysis of the diets is presented in Table 4.2. Generally they match the calculated composition of the diets shown in Table 4.1. The calcium concentration was slightly elevated across all diets in comparison with the calculated composition. The level of phosphorus, calcium and sodium were reduced in the diets supplemented with phytase as expected.

Phytase (FTU kg <sup>-1</sup> )			0			2,5	00	
Glucanase (GU kg <sup>-1</sup> )	0	10,000	20,000	40,000	0	10,000	20,000	40,000
Dry Matter	894	901	899	897	899	900	893	894
Oil	73.4	83.4	71.3	76.0	69.6	77.8	72.1	71.6
Crude Protein	166	160	165	167	162	161	159	161
Crude Fibre	42	39	43	45	45	46	43	46
Ash	149	157	154	156	142	143	141	134
Calcium	48.2	51.3	52.6	54.4	45.2	46.6	46.2	42.5
Phosphorus	5.5	5.7	6.0	5.7	5.2	5.3	5.1	5.0
Available								
Phosphorus	3.5	3.6	3.9	3.6	2.8	3.0	3.1	3.0
Phytate-P	2.0	2.1	2.1	2.1	2.4	2.3	2.0	2.0
Sodium	1.9	2.2	2.0	2.0	1.8	2.0	1.7	1.7

#### Table 4.2 Analysed nutrient composition of diets (g kg<sup>-1</sup>)

## 4.4.2 The Effect of Glucanase and Phytase Inclusion on Laying Hen Performance

The addition of glucanase to the laying hen diet had no significant effect on egg production, feed intake, egg mass or FCR (Table 4.3). The supplementation of glucanase did however, affect the weight gained by the birds across the 12 weeks with a significant increase from 134.9g to 197.5g with the inclusion of 0 and 10,000GU kg<sup>-1</sup> respectively (P<0.005). The weight gained then fell as the glucanase dose increased, giving no significant difference between 0 and 40,000GU kg<sup>-1</sup>. There was a trend for glucanase to affect egg weight in a cubic manner with the 10,000 and 40,000 GU kg<sup>-1</sup> doses giving larger eggs. When the average performance of the last six

weeks of the trial was analysed alone, the glucanase dose did significantly affect the weight of eggs with hens receiving 10,000 GU kg<sup>-1</sup> giving significantly heavier eggs (P<0.05) than those receiving 0 GU kg<sup>-1</sup>. The weight of the eggs then decreased for hens which received additional dietary glucanase activity of 20,000 and 4000 GU kg<sup>-1</sup> to give egg weights that were not significantly different from either the 0 or 10,000 GU kg<sup>-1</sup> dose. The addition of the higher than standard phytase dose increased the FCR of the laying hens. This was seen for both the standard FCR and adjustedFCR as a near significant trend (P=0.056) and significant difference respectively (P<0.05). This resulted from a numerical increase in production and a trend for a decrease in feed intake. During the final 6 weeks of the trial the feed intake and both FCR values were significantly lower (P<0.05) while the differences in egg mass were still insignificant. There was also a trend for phytase to increase the weight gained by birds across the 12 weeks of the trial.

# 4.4.3 The Effect of Glucanase and Phytase Inclusion on Egg Quality

The inclusion of phytase had no significant effect on any of the egg quality criteria measured during this study (Table 4.4). The inclusion of glucanase in the diet did improve all three egg shell quality traits. Glucanase inclusion significantly increased both the shell thickness and shell strength in a quadratic manner. Further inclusion beyond 10,000 GU kg<sup>-1</sup> gave no greater benefit in terms of egg shell quality and numerically decreased at 40,000GU kg<sup>-1</sup>. This decrease was significant in shell strength but not shell thickness. There was also a trend for an quadratic increase in shell weight with glucanase dose. Increasing dietary glucanase inclusion sequentially increased the shell weight from 5.6 to 5.8g.

The inclusion of glucanase had no other significant effects, although the inclusion of 10,000 GU kg<sup>-1</sup> did appear to improve egg quality in a number of criteria.

A higher than standard phytase inclusion increased the concentration of cholesterol in egg yolks (Table 4.6); while there was also a trend for 10,000GU kg<sup>-1</sup> glucanase to reduce yolk cholesterol concentration relative to no glucanase supplementation. There was a tendency for an interaction

between phytase and glucanase. The glucanase effect described above was only visible in the diet with phytase. In the diet without phytase, glucanase had no effect on cholesterol content.

The inclusion of phytase did not significantly affect the proportion of any fatty acids (Table 4.5), but there was a trend for phytase to increase the proportion of docosahexaenoic acid (22:6) and the monounsaturated fatty acids (Table 4.6). Glucanase supplementation had a quadratic effect on the proportion of oleic acid (18:1) in egg yolks, increasing at first before falling again with the highest inclusion level. There was also a trend for glucanase to reduce the proportion of arachidonic acid (20:4) in egg yolks in a linear manner. In addition to this, a quadratic effect tended towards significance with glucanase dose up to 20,000 GU kg<sup>-1</sup> increasing the proportion of docosahexaenoic acid (22:6) before falling with 40,000GU kg<sup>-1</sup>. Glucanase had a significant quadratic effect on the proportion of monounsaturated fatty acids, with an increase up to 20,000 GU kg<sup>-1</sup> before a reduction. A number of interactions were also found between phytase and glucanase in relation to the proportions of fatty acids. Increasing glucanase initially increased the proportion of palmitoleic acid (16:1) and then reduced it at higher dose when phytase was included in the diet. The opposite pattern was seen when phytase was not included in the diet. The same interaction was found with the proportion of polyunsaturated fatty acid; in the diet without phytase glucanase had no effect on docosapentaenoic acid (22:5) proportion. However, in the diet with phytase, 10,000 GU kg<sup>-1</sup> glucanase increased the proportion of this fatty acid relative to the control as well as the higher glucanase doses. Glucanase increased the proportion of monounsaturated fatty acids up to 20,000 GU kg<sup>-1</sup>. Phytase inclusion increased the proportion of monosaturated fatty acids, but as the glucanase dose increased the phytase effect was reduced.

Table 4.3 The effect (	of glucanase a	nd phytase on	laying hen per	formanc	e				
Glucanase	Phytase	Production	Egg Weight	Ē	Egg Mass	Adj Egg Mass	FCR	Adj FCR	Weight Gain
GU kg <sup>-1</sup>	FTU kg <sup>-1</sup>	(%)	(B)	D	D	D			(6)
0	0	96.3	57.6	115.0	55.0	55.5	2.11	2.09	125.6
10000	0	96.1	60.4	118.6	57.7	58.1	2.07	2.05	178.3
20000	0	97.2	58.9	117.1	56.9	57.3	2.07	2.06	181.6
40000	0	95.0	59.1	114.3	55.9	56.2	2.06	2.05	112.6
0	2500	97.3	58.7	114.1	56.8	57.2	2.02	2.00	144.1
10000	2500	95.5	59.1	114.2	55.7	56.4	2.07	2.04	216.8
20000	2500	97.4	58.8	115.1	57.0	57.3	2.03	2.02	178.8
40000	2500	97.2	59.5	113.4	57.6	57.9	1.98	1.97	179.1
0		96.8	58.2	114.6	55.9	56.3	2.06	2.05	134.9 <sup>c</sup>
10000		95.8	59.7	116.4	56.7	57.3	2.07	2.05	197.5 <sup>a</sup>
20000		97.3	58.9	116.1	56.9	57.3	2.05	2.04	180.2 <sup>ab</sup>
40000		96.1	59.3	113.8	56.8	57.0	2.02	2.01	145.9 <sup>bc</sup>
	0	96.1	59.0	116.2	56.4	56.7	2.08	2.06	149.5
	2500	96.8	59.0	114.2	56.8	57.2	2.02	2.01	179.7
SEM p Value		1.2	0.7	1.6	1.0	0.9	0.04	0.04	24.1
Glucanase	Linear	NS	NS	NS	SN	NS	SN	NS	NS
	Quadratic	NS	SN	0.110	NS	NS	NS	SN	<0.005
	Cubic	NS	0.086	NS	SN	NS	NS	NS	NS
Phytase		NS	NS	0.083	NS	NS	0.056	<0.05	0.053
Glucanse × Phytase		NS	NS	SN	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS

Table 4.4 The effe	ect of glucan	ase and phyta	se on egg	quality					
Glucanase	Phytase	Egg Weight	ΠH	Yolk Colour	Yolk Wt	BMS Score	Shell Thickness	Shell Weight	Strength
(GU kg <sup>-1</sup> )	(FTU kg <sup>-1</sup> )	(g)			(ĝ)		(mm)	(g)	(kgf)
0	0	58.4	92.4	3.9	13.8	2.3	355.7	5.53	4.52
10000	0	61.3	93.2	4.1	14.1	2.0	370.2	5.88	4.83
20000	0	59.8	95.0	4.2	13.8	2.6	373.9	5.84	4.99
40000	0	60.1	93.1	4.0	13.7	2.3	367.2	5.74	4.63
0	2500	59.7	92.1	4.0	13.8	2.0	360.5	5.68	4.69
10000	2500	60.2	92.7	4.0	14.1	1.8	364.9	5.74	4.87
20000	2500	59.6	92.5	4.0	13.9	2.3	372.4	5.82	4.73
40000	2500	60.5	93.6	4.1	13.7	2.8	369.1	5.83	4.64
0		59.1	92.3	4.0	13.8	2.2	358.1 <sup>b</sup>	5.60	4.61 <sup>b</sup>
10000		60.7	93.0	4.1	14.1	1.9	367.6 <sup>a</sup>	5.81	4.85 <sup>a</sup>
20000		59.7	93.8	4.1	13.9	2.5	373.2 <sup>a</sup>	5.83	4.86 <sup>a</sup>
40000		60.3	93.3	4.1	13.7	2.5	368.1 <sup>a</sup>	5.79	4.63 <sup>b</sup>
	0	59.9	93.4	4.1	13.8	2.3	366.7	5.75	4.74
	2500	60.0	92.7	4.0	13.9	2.2	366.7	5.77	4.73
SEM P-Value		0.855	1.087	0.109	0.187	0.363	4.804	0.100	0.166
Glucanase	Linear	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	SN
	Quadratic	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.014	0.054	0.042
	Cubic	0.102	NS	NS	NS	0.153	NS	NS	NS
Phytase		NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	SN
Glucanse × Phytas	se	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS

			· pury wood	C 222 10	0.11V 1411 V									
Glucanase	Phytase	14:0	16:0	16:1	18:0	18:1	18:2	18:3	20:2	20:4	22:4	22:5	22:6	24:0
0	0	0.38	25.14	1.74 <sup>au</sup>	8.30	31.74	23.37	1.29	0.20	2.47	0.61	0.17"	1.29	0.16
10000	0	0.36	24.56	1.45 <sup>c</sup>	7.96	31.27	25.90	1.32	0.26	2.18	0.20	0.15 <sup>0</sup>	1.33	0.17
20000	0	55 U	21 13	1.69 <sup>ab</sup>	8.74	32.49	24.08	1.24	0.26	2.07	0.24	0.18 <sup>0</sup>	1.46	0.20
40000	0	0.39	25.06	1.72 <sup>au</sup>	8.59	32.18	23.42	1.31	0.19	2.01	0.25	0.22 <sup>au</sup>	1.38	0.20
0	2500	0.33	24.99	1.61 <sup>bc</sup>	8.52	31.39	24.69	1.37	0.24	2.26	0.18	0.19 <sup>ab</sup>	1.35	0.15
10000	2500	96 0	<b>7</b> 5 55	1.85 <sup>ª</sup>	8.32	33.46	22.07	1.42	0.25	2.26	0.18	0.26 <sup>ª</sup>	1.45	0.20
20000	2500	78.0	00.02 07 72	1.84 <sup>ª</sup>	8.33	33.52	23.18	1.19	0.28	1.82	0.23	0.18	1.54	0.18
40000	2500	0.34	24.41	1.57 <sup>bc</sup>	8.84	31.91	24.45	1.21	0.19	1.85	0.20	0.19 <sup>dD</sup>	1.48	0.11
0		0.35	25.07	1.67	8.41	31.57 <sup>b</sup>	24.03	1.33	0.22	2.37	0.40	0.18	1.32	0.16
10000		30.0	7E 0E	1.65	8.14	32.37 <sup>ab</sup>	23.98	1.37	0.25	2.22	0.19	0.20	1.39	0.19
20000		00.00	CU.CZ	1.77	8.53	33.01 <sup>a</sup>	23.63	1.22	0.27	1.94	0.24	0.18	1.50	0.19
40000		0.36	24.73 24.73	1.65	8.72	32.05 <sup>ab</sup>	23.93	1.26	0.19	1.93	0.23	0.20	1.43	0.15
	0	0.37	24.72	1.65	8.40	31.92	24.19	1.29	0.23	2.18	0.32	0.18	1.37	0.18
	2500	0.34	24.92	1.72	8.50	32.57	23.60	1.30	0.24	2.05	0.20	0.20	1.45	0.16
	SEM	0.008	0.157	0.028	0.109	0.228	0.375	0.032	0.013	0.086	0.041	0.011	0.026	0.011
Glucanase	Linear	NS	NS	SN	SN	SN	NS	NS	NS	0.066	SN	NS	SN	SN
	Quadratic	NS	NS	NS	SN	<0.05	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN	0.06	SN
	Cubic	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	SN	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Phytase		NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	SN	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.09	NS
Glucanse ×	Phytase	NS	NS	<0.001	SN	NS	0.066	NS	SN	NS	NS	<0.05	NS	NS

Table 4.5 The effect of glucanase and phytase on egg yolk fatty acid concentration as a proportion of total fatty acid content

- 108 -

Glucanase	Phytase	Cholesterol	SFA	MUFA	PUFA
0	0	7.1	34.05	28.06 <sup>b</sup>	28.97 <sup>ab</sup>
10,000	0	7.7	32.96	32.72 <sup>ab</sup>	31.31 <sup>ª</sup>
20,000	0	7.4	33.39	34.21 <sup>a</sup>	29.36 <sup>ab</sup>
40,000	0	7.5	34.20	33.92 <sup>a</sup>	28.34 <sup>b</sup>
0	2500	10.3	33.97	33.04 <sup>b</sup>	30.10 <sup>ab</sup>
10,000	2500	6.9	34.27	35.35 <sup>a</sup>	27.30 <sup>b</sup>
20,000	2500	8.3	33.44	35.40 <sup>a</sup>	28.03 <sup>b</sup>
40,000	2500	12.0	33.60	33.48 <sup>ab</sup>	29.29 <sup>ab</sup>
0		8.7	34.01	30.55 <sup>b</sup>	29.54
10,000		7.3	33.62	34.04 <sup>ab</sup>	29.31
20,000		7.9	33.42	34.80 <sup>a</sup>	28.70
40,000		9.8	33.90	33.7 <sup>ab</sup>	28.81
	0	7.4	33.65	32.23	29.50
	2500	8.2	33.82	34.32	28.68
	SEM	0.437	0.195	0.235	0.365
Glucanase	Linear	NS	NS	NS	NS
	Quadratic	0.079	NS	<0.05	NS
	Cubic	NS	NS	NS	NS
Phytase		<0.05	NS	0.09	NS
Glucanase × Phytase		0.099	NS	<0.05	<0.05

Table 4.6 The effects of glucanase and phytase on egg yolk cholesterol content and fatty acid proportions

<sup>a-b</sup> Means within columns with no common superscript differ significantly (P<0.05)

# 4.4.4 The Effect of Glucanase and Phytase Inclusion on the Concentration of Phytate-P in Laying Hen Excreta

There was a significant interaction between phytase and glucanase in relation to total phosphorus concentration in the excreta of laying hens. Within the diet without phytase, 40,000GU kg<sup>-1</sup> decreased total phosphorus concentration relative to other glucanase doses. However, in the phytase diet glucanase did not significantly affect total phosphorus concentration.

Glucanase had a significant quadratic effect on the non-phytate phosphorous concentration in the excreta of the laying hens. The inclusion levels 10,000 and 20,000 GU kg<sup>-1</sup> resulted in a significantly higher concentration of non-phytate phosphorus relative to the 0 and 40,000 GU kg<sup>-1</sup> concentrations.

Phytase significantly decreased the concentration of phytate-phosphorus from 0.75 to 0.50 g kg<sup>-1</sup> (P<0.01). There was a trend for a linear glucanase effect, with the concentration of phytate phosphorus decreasing as glucanase concentration increased.

(g kg⁻')				
Glucanase	Phytase	Total-P	Non-Phytate-P	Phytate-P
0	0	1.87ab	1.00bc	0.87
10000	0	2.39ab	1.52a	0.87
20000	0	2.34ab	1.52a	0.83
40000	0	1.1c	0.64c	0.46
0	2500	1.76abc	1.21ab	0.55
10000	2500	1.54bc	1.09ab	0.45
20000	2500	1.58bc	1.12ab	0.46
40000	2500	1.97ab	1.44a	0.53
0		1 81	1 10b	0 71
10000		1.96	1.31a	0.66
20000		1.96	1.32a	0.64
40000		1.53	1.04b	0.49
	0	1.92	1.17	0.75
	2500	1.71	1.21	0.50
SEM		0.101	0.066	0.049
P Value				
	Linear	NS	NS	0.086
Glucanase	Quadratic	0.159	<0.05	NS
	Cubic	NS	NS	NS
Phytase		NS	NS	<0.01
Glucanse × Phytase		<0.005	<0.001	NS

Table 4.7 The effect of glucanase and phytase in laying hen diets on the concentration of total, non-phytate and phytate phosphorous in excreta ( $\alpha k \alpha^{-1}$ )

## 4.5 Discussion

#### 4.5.1 Comparison to Breeders Expected Performance

The hens used in this study conformed well with the breeder expectations (Joice and Hill, 2014). The birds were 50 g heavier than expected at the start of the trial, but by the end of the trial were at their target weight. The egg weights were on target while the feed intake was slightly higher in the birds on this trial. The egg production was 5% higher than the breeder expected values.

## 4.5.2 The Effect of Glucanase and Phytase on Laying Hen Performance

In this study, the inclusion of glucanase was found to benefit bird weight gain and egg weight. Previous studies have found that glucanase can benefit performance in laying hens, broilers (Hesselman, 1983) and piglets (Owusu-Asiedu et al., 2012). However, increasing glucanase concentration started to reverse the benefits seen at 10,000GU kg<sup>-1</sup> on egg weight and weight gain. Increasing glucanase to 40,000GU kg<sup>-1</sup> returned the weight gain back to the level of the control. Similar results have been seen in broilers fed xylanase (Mendes et al., 2013). Where xylanase was included at 0, 75, 100 and 200% of the recommended inclusion level; 75% inclusion gave the best results, with decreases in performance at 100 and 200%. The authors suggested that the higher inclusion of xylanase enzyme may result in a different end product from the hydrolysis of NSP. They hypothesised that greater carbohydrase activity would affect the oligosaccharides produced, which in turn would affect their prebiotic activity and microflora fermentation. This is possible, but many within the industry have independently suggested another mode of action. To begin with, the addition of glucanase benefits performance through the hydrolysis of the soluble  $\beta$ -glucans that are naturally present during the digestion of ingredients such as barley. The soluble  $\beta$ -glucans are relatively readily available for hydrolysis. Their breakdown will improve protein and diet digestion in addition to the AMEn of the diet by decreasing digesta viscosity (Burnett, 1966, Choct and Annison, 1990, Choct and Annison, 1992, Danicke et al., 1999). As the dose of glucanase increases, the enzyme breaks through the cell wall and releases the nutrients encapsulated (Bedford, 2002). This increases the nutrient digestibility and AMEn of diets, even if the ingredients of the diet contain relatively little amounts of soluble  $\beta$ -glucans. So far this mechanism is well

- 112 -

documented with multiple studies providing evidence (Bedford, 2000). From now on the hypothesis becomes speculative with little evidence. The theory suggests that greater glucanase inclusion allows a further break down of the cell walls. This gives no more benefit as the encapsulated nutrients have already been released from the cell. However, the cell wall destruction will start to increase the amount of soluble  $\beta$ -glucans present in the lumen of the tract. This will start to increase digesta viscosity, impede digestion and decrease the AMEn of the diet. As stated above, a number of colleagues in the industry have seen similar effects in unpublished in-house trials (Broom, 2014). It is possible that even greater glucanase inclusion may start to benefit the animal again as they break down the newly solubilised  $\beta$ -glucans. With the factors described above, the prebiotic effects of glucanase and the potential release of sugars from  $\beta$ -glucans it is clear that glucanase affects the digestion of the diet in a complicated manner. This may explain the trend for a cubic response in egg weight when supplemented with glucanase observed here.

The addition of 2500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase gave a decrease in FCR which resulted from a small increase in egg numbers and a decrease in feed intake. In addition to this, phytase gave a trend for an increase in weight gained. Previous studies in laying hens have failed to show the benefits of higher than standard inclusion of phytase (Augspurger et al., 2007). In Chapter 3, the inclusion of 2,500FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> did not benefit performance, however, as stated within that Chapter the trial was too short to asses performance differences. Augspurger et al. (2007) found that 10,000 FTU kg <sup>1</sup> improved egg performance, but no more than standard inclusions. Meyer and Parsons (2011) similarly found that 15,000FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> did not benefit performance compared to standard inclusions. Both of these trials were long enough to find a performance effect, so the difference in results must be due to difference in trial design. In this trial, an improvement in FCR was seen in laying hens at the very start of their lay cycle. At this age, the birds have a large nutritional requirement to enable continued growth, an increase in egg production and an increase in egg weight. Augpurger and colleagues (2007) performed their trial on birds in their second lay cycle after a moult with average egg weights of 65g and production around 84%.

Meyer and Parsons (2011) used laying hens in mid-lay from 32 weeks of age. Although the birds used in this trial are closer in age, their production was still far from our averages with production at 85% and average egg weights of 60g. Both these trials also used smaller White Leghorn birds compared to the larger Bovan Brown used in this experiment.

The addition of higher than standard inclusion level of phytase has, however, been shown to benefit the performance of other monogastrics (Cowieson et al., 2010). In broilers, Walk and colleagues, (2014) found that increasing phytase to just 2,000FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> gave benefits to FCR that could not be explained by increasing phosphorus and calcium in the diet. It is more likely that the benefits from high phytase inclusion are related to the extraphosphoric effects: improving the digestion of protein, carbohydrates and minerals, reducing the endogenous secretions and losses and so increasing the AMEn of the diet. Phytase may also benefit performance through the release of myo-inositol. Little is known about the requirements for myoinositol, but it has been shown that myo-inositol can increase the growth rate of fish (Waagbø et al., 1998), rats (Katayama, 1997), chicks (Hegsted et al., 1941b) and broilers (Cowieson et al., 2013). It is possible that growing animals have a requirement for myo-inositol that mature animals do not. The concentration of serum inositol is known to be higher in neonates and foetuses compared to their adult counterparts (Quirk and Bleasdale, 1983). Myo-inositol is also highly concentrated in breast milk, which suggests young children have a large requirement (Bromberger and Hallman, 1986, Pereira et al., 1990). Myo-inositol did not benefit laying hens at 50 weeks of age, having a numerically negative effect on egg numbers, egg mass and FCR (Żyła et al., 2012). This could explain the difference seen between this trial, with start of lay chickens that are still growing, and the experiments with fully grown older birds.

No significant interactions were seen between phytase and glucanase, however, both enzymes did affect the weight gained by birds. Including 10,000GU kg<sup>-1</sup> in the diet increased weight gained by 42% while phytase inclusion resulted in a 15% increase. The inclusion of 10,000 GU kg<sup>-1</sup> and 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> meanwhile gave a 73% increase. This implies they had an additive effect and can both be used within laying hen diets to give nutritional benefits. If a significant interaction had been found, this effect could have been classified as synergistic which is discussed in more depth in Section 4.5.4. Previously, fibrolytic enzymes and phytase have been shown to have additive effects in relation to AMEn and amino acid digestibility (Wu et al., 2004, Selle et al., 2009a).

#### 4.5.3 The Effect of Glucanase and Phytase on Egg Quality

Phytase had no significant effect on any of the egg quality characteristic measured during this trial. In the previous trial, it was shown that the inclusion of 2,500FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> increases mineral solubility, which gave an increase in shell quality. This may be because the calcium levels in this diet were slightly higher than the previous trial. This would have made it harder for phytase to improve shell quality. It could be that the difference between these trials is due to the bird age. As birds get older their calcium requirement increases, and so increasing calcium availability is likely to have a greater effect in older birds. That said, the inclusion of glucanase did increase shell quality in this trial. Elmenawey et al. (2010) also found that an amylase, xylanase enzyme mix improved both shell weight and thickness. This is contrary to the findings of others, who found carbohydrases had no effect on shell quality (Pirgozliev et al., 2010a) or in fact a negative effect (Yaghobfar et al., 2007). Given the low concentration of calcium encapsulated within cereal grains, it is probable that any improvement in shell quality is due to glucanase reducing digesta viscosity and so improving calcium availability. A detailed look at the data shows that in diets without glucanase, phytase does give small numerically benefits to shell weight, thickness and strength. However, once glucanase is included phytase had no consistent numerical benefit. The negative effects seen by Yaghobfar and colleagues (2007) could be due to egg size. Although insignificant they show a large increase in egg weight with enzyme supplementation. As eggs increase in size the quality of egg shells decreases as the shell is spread over a larger area it is thinner. The lack of a phytase effect and presence of a glucanase effect was unexpected but of interest. It may be that the presence of phytic acid is not restricting calcium availability as much as  $\beta$ glucans within the gastrointestinal tract, or that glucanase is benefiting shell quality in another way unrelated to calcium availability.

This trial showed that 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase significantly increased the cholesterol concentration in egg yolks. Zyla et al. (2012) found that the

inclusion of 300 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> gave decreased cholesterol concentration. The difference in results is likely to be due to the dose of phytase used. Zyla and colleagues found that increasing phytase activity beyond 300 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> in the diet started to increase the cholesterol concentration. In addition to this they found that adding *myo*-inositol directly to the diet gave a large increase in cholesterol concentration. It is likely that the *myo*-inositol released from the hydrolysis of phytic acid is the cause of the effects seen in this study. *Myo*-inositol is known to affect fat metabolism, reducing incidences of fatty liver syndrome in rats (Katayama, 1997) and increasing the HDL cholesterol in women with polycystic ovaries (Gerli et al., 2007). Some earlier work showed that increasing dietary *myo*-inositol concentration increased the mobilisation of cholesterol, which eventually decreased the levels of cholesterol in the blood, heart and liver in laying hens (Herrmann, 1946). Lee et al. (2005) showed that adding 15 g kg<sup>-1</sup> phytic acid to a mouse diet reduced the hepatic total lipids and total cholesterol.

Glucanase inclusion affected the fatty acid profile of the egg yolks, increasing the proportion of 18:1 and 22:6 while decreasing 20:4. There were also a number of interactions between phytase and glucanase. Many of the glucanase dose responses seen follow this same rise and fall seen with weight gained and egg weight. It may be that glucanase is affecting the fatty acid profile through its actions on the energy and fat in the diet. As the dose is increased, the glucanase decreases the digesta viscosity with additional inclusion possibly reversing these effects, as already descibed; the diet AMEn would then follow this same pattern affecting energy intake and altering fat metabolism within the liver, which in turn would change the accumulation of certain fatty acids within the growing ova. It may also be that glucanase itself is affecting the digestion of fat. Mathlouthi et al. (2002) showed that supplementation of a diet with carbohydrases increases the intestinal concentration of bile acids, which aid the digestion and transportation of fat to the brush border membrane of the small intestines. In addition to this, Engberg and colleagues (2004) found that xylanase supplementation in broiler diets increased pancreatic lipase activity by 23%. Hanczakowska et al. (2012) showed that including fibrolytic enzymes in the diet can improve fat digestibility. Phytase has also been shown to improve

the AMEn of diets (Ravindran et al., 2006), as well as the ileal digestibility of fats (Camden et al., 2001). Zyla et al. (2012) also found that phytase inclusion could affect the proportion of fatty acids which could not be explained by the greater absorption of phosphorus or *myo*-inositol. Whether through changes in fat metabolism or improvement in digestion it is clear that the inclusion of both glucanase and phytase can affect the fatty acid profile in egg yolk. More in depth research is needed to understand these complicated relationships before theories can be conclusively accepted.

## 4.5.4 The Effect of Glucanase and Phytase on Phytate-P Concentration in the Excreta of Laying Hen

The concentration of phytate-P in the excreta can be used as an indicator of phytic acid hydrolysis. As hydrolysis increases, the concentration of phytate-P that survives the gastrointestinal tract and is excreted will decrease. The use of a higher than standard phytase inclusion increased the phytic acid hydrolysis in comparison to a positive control diet without phytase supplementation. This shows that the phytase in the diet has had the desired effect of breaking down the dietary phytic acid. However, the concentration of phytate-P in the excreta was still relatively high and shows that although the feed industry considers 2,500FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> to be a "superdose", there is still room for greater phytate destruction and a prevention of the anti-nutritional effects. Shirley and Edwards (2003) found that phytase continued to increase phytate hydrolysis up to 12,000FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> in broilers. This data suggests that 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> would release approximately 70% of the phytate-P. At standard inclusion levels, laying hens are normally fed less phytase than broilers to gain the same level of phytic acid hydrolysis, as the tract transit time is longer in layers giving the phytase longer to act. That said, it may be that to gain the higher than standard phytase benefits a greater dose is needed to overcome the greater concentration of calcium ions in the digesta. In the diet with phytase, glucanase gave no benefit to phytic acid hydrolysis. For glucanase to benefit the breakdown of phytic acid a number of requisites must be met (Woyengo and Nyachoti, 2011). Firstly, both phytic acid and phytase must be present for any hydrolysis to occur. Secondly, soluble non-starch polysaccharides must be present to reduce digesta viscosity or phytic acid must be encapsulated within  $\beta$ -glucan cell walls. Phytic acid hydrolysis must be restricted by either poor phytase activity due to the high digesta viscosity or the unavailability of phytic acid

due to its encapsulation. Next, glucanase inclusion must be able to reverse the  $\beta$ -glucan effect on digesta viscosity or break open cell wall. This would alleviate the  $\beta$ -glucan effects, improving digesta viscosity and releasing phytic acid from the cell (Woyengo and Nyachoti, 2011). Finally, for an observable increase in animal performance, the phytic acid must be limiting digestion and animal production.

In the phytase diet, glucanase did not benefit phytic acid hydrolysis and so at least one of the requirements for the synergism stated above was not met. It could be that glucanase did not increase the availability of phytic acid for hydrolysis; alternatively the phytase included may have already been hydrolysing phytic acid at its maximum capacity and greater substrate availability would not speed up the reaction. Previous studies have found a synergistic phytic acid effect with the inclusion of fibrolytic enzymes and phytase in broiler diets (Juanpere et al., 2005; Nortey et al., 2007), whereas other studies have similarly found no synergistic effect (Woyengo et al., 2008; Tiwari et al., 2010). Given the complicated nature of fibrolytic enzyme activities, it is likely that a large number of variables can affect the synergistic relationship the enzymes can have with phytase.

Woyengo and Nyachoti (2011) reviewed the interactions of glucanase and phytase and proposed that synergism is more likely if a mixture of carbohydrases are used rather than just one. This is because the cell walls of oilseeds are more complicated than those of cereals such as barley (Bedford and Partridge, 2001), and it is the oilseeds that have the greatest concentration of phytic acid (Selle and Ravindran, 2007). The destruction of their cell walls and the release of phytic acid would be greater with a cocktail of enzymes rather than just one. Synergisms are also more likely to occur if the concentrations of NSPs in the diet are high as they are more likely to restrict phytic acid hydrolysis (Adeola and Bedford, 2004). There are a larger number of other factors that can impede phytic acid hydrolysis, discussed in Section 1.4.4, such as high dietary non-phytate phosphorus or calcium. All of these are likely to have an influence on the relationship between enzymes.

In the diet without phytase, glucanase increased phytic acid hydrolysis with small increases followed by a large jump with the inclusion of 40,000GU kg<sup>-1</sup>. This may be due to a greater concentration of glucanase decreasing digesta viscosity, which allowed a greater amount of phytic acid to reach the brush border membrane where there are phytase enzymes produced by the bird. It may also be the glucanase breaking open cell walls which disturbs the cell. This would free not just the phytic acid but also some of the plant's own

phytase; allowing the two to mix would increase phytic acid hydrolysis. It is also possible that the differences seen in excreta phytate-phosphorus concentration are not due to the hydrolysis of phytic acid in the proximal gastrointesinal tract and small intestines. They could be a result of post-ileal microbial hydrolysis of phytic acid. Glucanase activity can break down  $\beta$ glucans into oligosaccharides which can act as prebiotics, increasing microbial fermentation and biomass within the large intestines (Choct et al., 2001). The microflora in the intestines are known to affect total tract phytatephosphorus hydrolysis (Wise and Gilburt, 1982), and for this reason future research should investigate the concentration of phytate-phosphorus in the ileum.

## 4.5.5 Conclusions

The addition of glucanase can benefit laying hens, increasing weight gained and egg weights presumably through aiding digestion, with 10,000GU kg<sup>-1</sup> giving the greatest benefits. This may allow a dilution of dietary nutrients or the inclusion of lower quality, cheaper ingredients into the laying hen diet without harming production. Doses greater than 10,000 GU kg<sup>-1</sup> seem to reverse the benefit of lower glucanase inclusion, which may be due to the breakdown of the cell wall creating more soluble  $\beta$ -glucans and increasing digesta viscosity once more.

The addition of an above standard inclusion dose of phytase has been shown to benefit laying hens with a decrease in FCR from 2.06 to 2.01 and an increase in weight gained from 150g to 180g. The FCR decrease was a result of a lower feed intake, slightly higher egg production and stable egg weights. The weight gained by laying hens is a sign of nutritional status, and an increase indicates the birds were fed a more nutritious diet.

It is important to note that neither glucanase or phytase appeared to hinder each other as a near additive effect was seen in weight gain. This shows that they can be used in combination within a laying hen diet without impeding each other.

In contrast to the previous trial the inclusion of phytase did not increase the shell quality which could be due to the age difference of the birds and the calcium content of the diet. However, glucanase has also been shown to improve egg shell quality, although the literature provides somewhat contrasting views which may be due to differences in egg sizes. In this trial

10,000 GU kg<sup>-1</sup> increased shell thickness from 358 to 368 $\mu$ m and shell strength from 4.61 to 4.85kgf.

Phytase addition increased total tract phytic acid hydrolysis. Glucanase did not benefit phytic acid hydrolysis in the diet with phytase, but appears to increase hydrolysis when included in a diet without phytase.

Phytase has been shown to significantly increased the cholesterol content of the egg yolk, while both enzymes affected the fatty acid profile. This suggests both enzymes can affect the metabolism and digestion of fats.

# Chapter 5 The Effect of Graded Levels of Phytase Beyond Industry Standards in Laying Hens Diets

#### 5.1 Abstract

This experiment was conducted to assess the effects of increasing phytase inclusion above the standard doses within the laying hen diets. The trial had 6 dietary treatments: positive control (PC) formulated to meet bird requirements (Digestible Ca 4%, Available P 0.320%, Digestible Na 0.175%), negative control (NC) with slightly reduced levels of calcium, phosphorus and sodium equivalent to that released by standard phytase inclusion (Digestible Ca 3.857%, Available P 0.189%, Digestible Na 0.145%); NC plus 250 (NC+250 - conventional recommended inclusion rate), 1,000 (NC+1,000), 4,000 (NC+4,000) or 16,000 (NC+16,000) FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> of microbial phytase. Mid-lay birds were group housed and fed their respective diets for 12 weeks during which their performance was recorded. In addition, egg quality measurements were analysed every three weeks. At the end of the trial, the birds were killed, dissected and the digesta from the gizzard and ileum were taken for phytate-phosphorus analysis. A peripheral blood sample was also taken and analysed for mineral content. Livers were also dissected, weighed and analysed for *myo*-inositol and mineral content.

The inclusion of phytase above the standard level was shown to increase egg weight from 62.7 to 63.7g. Together with a trend for an increase in egg numbers this gave a sustained increase in egg mass production from 58.9g/d to 60.7g/d in comparison to a positive control without an increase in feed intake. This shows that laying hens can benefit from the above standard inclusion of phytase. It was shown that the higher doses increased phytic acid hydrolysis, with reduced concentrations of ileum phytate phosphorus (1.18 g kg<sup>-1</sup>) in comparison to the PC, NC and standard inclusions (1.38, 1.44 and 1.29g kg<sup>-1</sup> respectively). The higher doses were

also shown to increase the bioavailability of *myo*-inositol, phosphorus, manganese and zinc.

## **5.2 Introduction**

The process of phytase releasing phosphorus from phytic acid limits phytase inclusion to approximately 500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> for economic reasons. Increasing phytase doses will increase the cost of the diet in a linear manner, but gives diminishing returns of phosphorus released form phytate (Simons et al., 1990a, Schöner et al., 1991, Huyghebaert et al., 1992). Therefore, the benefit of replacing inorganic phosphorus with phytase has a limit. Shirley and Edwards (2003) disagree with this and believe there have been underestimations in the amount of phosphorus released by higher doses. Following this, they showed that more phosphorus can be economically released using higher doses.

The standard inclusion of exogenous phytase is approximately 250 – 500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>. However, inclusion levels have been increasing towards 1000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> as nutritionists strive for more economic diets and lower levels of inorganic phosphates. The inclusion of above standard doses is attracting interest from nutritionists and academics alike. A phytase dose is considered to be above the standard inclusion level when the phytase activity is greater than or equal to 2500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>, although more potent phytases have been shown to produce the benefits of high doses at just 1,500FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> (dos Santos et al., 2013). Numerous studies have shown benefits of including high doses, including improvements in weight gain, FCR, AMEn, mineral digestibility and amino acid digestibility (Cowieson et al., 2011).

The majority of this work has been conducted in broilers and has shown improvements in performance and efficacy (Harper et al., 1999, Shirley and Edwards, 2003, Augspurger and Baker, 2004, Cowieson et al., 2006, Karadas et al., 2010, Walk et al., 2014). Karadas et al. (2010) showed that a phytase dose of 12,500FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> improved the FCR in comparison to a standard inclusion of 500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> (1.28 vs 1.43). In addition, 12,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> gave birds a higher concentration of antioxidants, alpha-tocophenol and co-enzyme Q<sub>10</sub> in the liver in comparison with the negative control and standard phytase inclusion. These were equal to, but not significantly higher than, the levels of antioxidants in the liver of birds fed the positive control diet.

The benefits of higher phytase doses have also been seen in turkeys (Esteve-Garcia et al., 2005, Pirgozliev et al., 2007), weaner piglets (Kies et al., 2006, Brana et al., 2006) and grower pig (Brana et al., 2006). Pirgozliev et al. (2007) showed that in both turkeys and broilers an increase from a standard dose to 2500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> gave significant increase, in weight gain, feed intake and the AMEn of the diet. There was also a non-significant improvement in FCR. Brana and colleagues (2006) found that grower pigs grew 7% faster and with 6% better efficiency when fed 10,000FTU ka<sup>-1</sup> in comparison to a positive control diet. In weaner piglets improvements were also seen, however, these were only significantly different from the negative control and the standard inclusion rates, and not the positive control diet. On the other hand, Kies et al. (2006) found that increasing phytase dose up to 15,000FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> in a weaner diet continued to deliver improvements in feed intake, weight gain, FCR, diet digestibility and mineral digestibility. In laying hens, both Augspurger et al. (2007) and Meyer and Parsons (2011) found that high phytase doses had no greater effect than standard phytase inclusion. In contrast, the previous study (Chapter 4), in this thesis found that 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> improved the FCR of laying hens in comparison with a positive control.

With an increase in phytic acid digestibility, it would be logical to assume the benefits seen in performance could arise from greater calcium and phosphorus availability. Santos et al. (2013) showed this was not the case with 1,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> improving bird FCR in an adequate phosphorus diet. The lack of effect of toe ash, calcium and phosphorus is seen as a validation that these minerals were not important in delivering the improved efficiency. Walk et al. (2014) reiterated this, showing diets that included 1,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> improved broiler FCR in comparison with a positive control, negative control, negative control, might be shown that extra calcium and phosphorus diets does

- 123 -

not benefit FCR, and so the benefits of the high dose must be extraphosphoric. In addition to this, they found there was no benefit to toe ash with the higher dose. Finally, an analysis of the phytic acid esters revealed a reduction in the concentration of IP6 and IP5 and an increase in the concentration in the *myo*-inositol in the gizzard with the inclusion of phytase. The concentration of IP6, IP5 and *myo*-inositol were correlated to weight gain and FCR, but not toe ash.

Inclusion of these higher levels is believed to benefit the animal through almost complete phytic acid hydrolysis (Cowieson et al., 2011). Once in the small intestines, phytic acid quickly binds to cation nutrients to form insoluble phytate complexes that are refractory to endogenous phytase activity. The inclusion of high levels of phytase increases hydrolysis within the foregut and prevents the higher esters of phytic acid reaching the small intestines from the gizzard (Cowieson et al., 2011). The lower esters can then flow into the duodenum as they have weaker bonds, are more soluble and so are more readily hydrolysed by the endogenous phytase (Persson et al., 1998). Greater phytase inclusion will increase the amount of phytate-phosphorus released from phytic acid and so allow further reductions in inorganic phosphorus use (Shirley and Edwards, 2003). Although phosphorus availability is increased, it is the extra-phosphoric benefits of high phytase inclusion that are seen as potential tools to improve performance, increase efficiency and possibly allow dietary dilutions (Walk et al., 2014).

It is probable that one of the main benefits of increasing phytase dose is the reversal of the anti-nutritional effects of phytic acid described in Section 1.4.5. This causes increases in the availability of dietary nutrients such as proteins, minerals and carbohydrates while reducing endogenous secretions and losses. It is also possible that the increase in *myo*-inositol availability is responsible for some of the benefits seen. *Myo*-inositol is involved with the transport of fats (Katayama, 1997) and has been shown to improve growth performance in a number of animals (Hegsted, 1941; Katayama, 1997; Waagbo et al., 1998; Cowieson et al., 2013).

*Myo*-inositol based compounds are known to have several important physiological functions. It has been shown to play an important role in the

control of cell volume and osmolality through calcium related chloride secretions (Kane et al., 1992; Shears, 1998). In addition to this, *myo*-inositol has been shown to mimic the effects of insulin (Dang et al., 2010, Yamashita et al., 2013).

The *myo*-inositol phospholipid glycosylphosphatidylinositol is a vital molecule that anchors proteins to the extracellular side of the cell membrane (Brown and Waneck, 1992). Approximately 150 different proteins have been shown to use *myo*-inositol in this way with a wide variety of functions, including enzymes, antigens and adhesive molecules (Hooper, 1997; Low, 1989; Brown and Waneck, 1992).

The *myo*-inositol phosphate esters are also of importance; IP3 and IP2 are water soluble and so can act as secondary messengers. They act by controlling the cellular calcium concentration and by stimulating specific protein phosphorylation process via protein kinase C (Berridge, 1993). This pathway is known to be involved in cell fertilisation, growth, secretions, sensory perception, signalling and proliferation (Shears, 1998).

IP6 and IP5 are the most abundant *myo*-inositol esters present in the body, but little is known about any metabolic function they may have. As with plant seeds, it is possible that they are used to store *myo*-inositol and various minerals. They could also have a role in providing protection from oxidative stress, through chelating minerals and averting the synthesis of reactive oxidative compounds (Doria et al., 2009). Finally, because of their capacity to bind to various molecules such as proteins, an as of yet unknown biological function cannot be dismissed.

The previous studies within this thesis have shown that the inclusion of high phytase doses in laying hen diets can improve mineral solubility and availability (Chapter 3), in addition to improving the FCR of laying hens and the hydrolysis of phytic acid (Chapter 5). However, it was found that the hydrolysis of phytic acid was incomplete as substantial phytate-phosphorus was still found within the excreta. Shirley and Edwards (2003) showed in broilers that supplemental phytase continued to increase phytic acid hydrolysis up to 12,000FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>. Their data suggested that the 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> used in the previous chapter would only release approximately 70% of

the phytate-P. It may be that due to the higher calcium content of the laying hen diet this value is lower in laying hens. The glucanase data also raised questions over post-ileal phytic acid hydrolysis. The concentration of phytic acid in the ileum would be a better indicator of hydrolysis that the bird can take advantage of, as microbial fermentation will undoubtedly affect the concentration of phytate-P in the excreta. Additionally, the concentration of phytate-P in the gizzard may give a better indicator still, as Walk et al. (2014) found the concentration of IP6, IP5 and *myo*-inositol in the gizzard was correlated to weight gain and FCR.

## 5.2.1 Study Objectives

The objective of this study was to investigate the effect of increasing phytase dose in comparison to a positive control diet, a negative control diet and standard phytase inclusions on the performance of the laying hen, quality of eggs and the hydrolysis of phytic acid within the gastrointestinal tract up to the ileum.

## 5.2.2 Hypotheses

Birds on the negative control diet will have reduced performance in comparison with those on the positive control diet

The addition of a standard phytase inclusion on top of the negative control diet will restore laying hen performance to the level of those fed the positive control diet.

The supplementation of phytase above standard inclusions will improve laying hen performance in comparison with birds fed the positive control, negative control and standard inclusion diets.

Supplementing diets with phytase will increase the hydrolysis of phytic acid within the gastrointestinal tract; reducing the concentration of phytate-P within the gizzard and ileum.

Supplementing diets with phytase will increase the concentration of *myo*inositol and minerals in the liver of laying hens.

Supplementing diets with phytase will increase the concentration of minerals in the blood plasma of laying hens.

## **5.3 Materials and Methods**

An experiment was conducted to assess the effect of increasing phytase above the standard inclusion on laying hen performance, egg quality and the hydrolysis of phytic acid.

## **5.3.1 Experimental Design and Treatments**

The experiment consisted of six dietary treatments including a positive control diet (PC) that met the birds' requirements in every regard and a negative control diet (NC). The negative control diet had a reduced level of phosphorus, calcium and sodium. These reductions were equivalent to the formulation matrix values normally applied to the standard Quantum Blue phytase dose of 250FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> (0.143% digestible calcium, 0.13% available phosphorus and 0.03% digestible sodium). The NC diet also had four different inclusions of phytase added on top of the formulation to give the remaining treatments; NC + 250FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>, NC + 1000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>, NC + 4000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> and NC + 16,000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>. The NC + 250FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> and NC + 1000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> and NC + 16,000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> are considered to be standard inclusions (SI) while the NC + 4000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> and NC + 16,000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> are considered to be above standard inclusions (ASI).

## 5.3.2 Animal Housing

At 35 weeks of age a total of 108 Bovan Brown laying hens were allocated to 36 cages balancing for bird weight. After one week of recording performance, the cages were allocated to treatments balancing bird weight, egg production, egg weight and feed intake giving each treatment 6 replicates of three birds within one animal house.

## 5.3.3 Feeding Regime and Performance Recording

The birds were fed their experimental diets for 12 weeks during which their performance criteria were recorded. Every three weeks one day's eggs were collected and analysed for the egg quality and component weights as described in Section 2.3.5.

#### 5.3.4 Dissections

After 12 weeks the birds were killed by cervical dislocation over three consecutive days. To begin, a peripheral blood plasma sample was taken for mineral analysis. The gut was then liberated from the bird and the proventriculus, gizzard and ileum were collected. Each section of the gastrointestinal tract was clamped and then weighed while full of digesta. The digesta was then removed from the tract and mixed before the pH was recorded from three points. The empty weight of the tract segment was then recorded. The digesta was then frozen at -20°C until it was analysed for phytate-phosphorus concentration as described in Section 2.4.4. The whole liver was also taken and frozen at -20°C until it was analysed for mineral and myo-inositol concentration. Approximatly 1g of liver was weighed and added to a sealed 15ml falcon tube with 4ml of 2% nitric acid and 1 g of acid cleaned glass beads. This tube was then vortexed for 30 seconds 3 times and then shaken for 30 minutes. This homogenised the liver sample into a solution. A 1 ml sample of this solution was then centrifuged at 13,000 x g for 10 minutes within an eppendorf and was analysed in line with the blood methodologies as described in Sections 2.4.3.2 and 2.4.3.4.

#### 5.3.5 Statistical Analysis

Univariate general linear model (GLM) analysis of variance (ANOVA) tests within the statistical programme IBM SPSS Statistic 21 were used to analyse the data. All data was tested for normality using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The homogenity of variance of data was also analysed within the model. Polynomial contrasts were used within the model to assess the negative control treatments for linear, quadratic and cubic phytase affects. Specific orthogonal contrasts were also applied to assess the difference between specific treatments: the PC vs NC, the PC vs NC+ 250 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>, NC vs NC+ 250 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> diets, PC vs ASI, NC vs ASI and finally SI vs ASI. Significance was assigned at P< 0.05.

Ingredient (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Positive Control	Negative Control
Barley	75.0	75.0
Wheat	477.9	492.4
Hipro Soya Ext	119.6	117.4
Rapeseed Ext	175.0	175.0
ABN Pullet Grower Plain	2.50	2.50
L-Lysine HCI	0.79	0.83
DL-Methionine	1.17	1.16
Novafill 20	0.125	0.125
ABN 50/20 Citran Pigment	1.50	1.50
Econase XT	0.15	0.15
Limestone Coarse	89.2	88.1
Monocalphos 22.7	8.75	2.97
Salt PDV [25kg]	2.87	2.85
Sodium Bicarb	1.64	0.56
Soya Oil GM	43.70	39.50
Nutrient Composition (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )		
Dry Matter	884.1	882.7
Crude Oil	61.0	56.9
Crude Protein	173.0	173.5
Crude Fiber	41.7	41.9
Crude Ash	129.1	122.7
Crude Starch	330.8	339.1
Crude Sugar	40.4	40.5
Calcium (Total)	40.0	38.6
Calcium (Digestible)	40.0	38.6
Phosphorus (Total)	5.9	4.6
Phosphorus (Available)	3.1	1.8
Sodium (Total)	1.75	1.45
AMEn (MJ kg <sup>-1</sup> )	11.4	11.4

 Table 5.1 Ingredients and calculated nutrient composition of experimental diets

Quantum Blue Phytase was added on top of the negative control to give the diets: NC + 250FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>, NC + 1000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>, NC + 4000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> and NC + 16,000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>.

## 5.4 Results

## 5.4.1 Diet Analysis

The diet analysis in Table 5.2 shows that the diets conformed to the formulation in Table 5.1. The crude oil was slightly high but equal across treatments with a slight drop in the 16000FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> diet. Crude protein, fibre and phytate phosphorus were all on target and consistent across the treatments. Ash and calcium were higher than the formulation required, but they were lower in the NC diet as designed. The available phosphorus was at the required level within all the diets with half the concentration in the NC diets, however, the difference is not quite as large as the formulation required.

		NC	NC	NC	NC	NC
Nutrient Composition (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	FC	NC	+250	+1000	+4000	+16000
Dry Matter	896	899	907	900	903	895
Ether Extract	65.1	65.6	64.7	63.8	65.3	61.3
Crude Protein	172	174	173	174	174	172
Crude Fibre	41	46	46	44	48	42
Ash	154	145	148	148	145	146
Calcium	56.8	43.6	40.6	42.0	42.6	41.8
Phosphorus	5.9	4.3	4.4	4.5	4.4	4.2
Av. Phosphorus	3.1	1.6	1.7	2.0	1.7	1.5
Phytate-P	2.8	2.7	2.7	2.5	2.7	2.7
Sodium	1.9	1.6	1.7	1.7	1.7	1.7

#### Table 5.2. Analysed nutrient composition of diets

# 5.4.2 The Effect of Increasing Phytase Inclusion on Laying Hen Performance

As shown in Table 5.3. The treatments had no significant effect on the feed intake of laying hens. The NC+1000 and NC+16000 diets have the numerically highest feed intakes, however, this is because both treatments included one cage of chickens that appeared to consume over 130 g a day per bird. This is a lot higher than the expected feed intake and was presumably due to feed wastage. There was a trend (P=0.089) for a linear increase in egg production with an increase in phytase inclusion, and a
significant difference between the egg production of the NC birds and those of the above standard inclusion diets.

The addition of phytase gave a significant rise in the weight of eggs with 16,000FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> giving the heaviest eggs. The ASI diets gave eggs that were heavier than those from the NC and the SI diets. Egg mass increased in a linear manner with phytase inclusion from 58.1 to  $60.75g d^{-1}$ . The egg mass of the ASI diets was significantly higher than the NC, PC and SI diets. Phytase had no effect on bird FCR, but there was a trend (P=0.072) for a quadratic increase in the adjusted FCR with a trend for a difference between the NC and ASI diets (2.01 and 1.94 respectively). There was also a trend for a quadratic increase in weight gain with a significant difference between birds on the NC and ASI diets.

No significant differences were seen between the PC, NC and the 250 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> diets.

Diotory trootmont	Eand Intolo	Droduction	Edd Maiaht		Adi Eaa Maee			Moicht Coin
				Lyy iviass	AUJ EUU IVIASS	5		
	(g)	(%)	(6)	(p/g)	(b/g)			( <u></u> )
PC	116	92.5	63.15	58.52	58.89	2.01	1.98	158.7
NC	117	93.1	62.26	58.1	58.30	2.03	2.01	134.3
NC+250	114	93.6	62.32	58.62	59.57	1.94	1.92	169.1
NC+1,000	121	95.6	63.09	60.12	61.61	1.99	1.97	193.3
NC+4,000	116	96.0	63.63	60.49	61.07	1.92	1.90	203.6
NC+16,000	119	95.4	63.92	60.75	60.44	1.98	1.97	191.9
SEM	2.550	1.420	0.450	1.010	0.520	0.042	0.016	20.37
Contrast P Values								
Linear	NS	0.089	<0.05	<0.001	<0.001	NS	SN	NS
Quadratic	NS	NS	0.084	NS	NS	NS	0.096	0.071
Cubic	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	SN	SN
PC vs NC	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	SN	SN
PC vs 250	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	SN	SN
NC vs 250	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	SN	SN
PC vs ASI	NS	NS	NS	<0.05	<0.01	NS	SN	NS
NC vs ASI	NS	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.01	NS	0.072	<0.05
SI vs ASI	NS	NS	<0.05	<0.05	<0.005	NS	NS	NS
PC = Positive Control; NC=	Negative Control, SI=	Standard Inclusions	s (NC+250 and NC	+1,000); ASI=AI	bove Standard Inclusi	ions (NC+	-4,000 and N	C+16,000)

Table 5.3 The effect of increasing phytase inclusion on laying hen performance

- 131 -

# 5.4.3 The Effect of Increasing Phytase Inclusion on Laying Hen Egg Quality

The addition of phytase had no significant effect on egg shell quality; no significant differences were found in any of the contrasts of shell strength, weight or thickness, as shown in Table 5.4.

Increasing phytase did have an effect on the blood and meat spot score of eggs. There was a significant quadratic response to the addition of phytase with the score increasing from the NC to the 4000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> diet before falling slightly in the 16000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> diet. Both the NC and the 250 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> diets gave eggs that had fewer meat and blood spots than the PC diet. The ASI diets had significantly higher blood and meat spot scores than the NC and SI diets. The PC and ASI diets were not significantly different.

The statistical model indicates that the presences of phytase in laying hen diets decreased the Haugh unit score of the egg in a linear manner (P<0.05) The contrasts showed no significant differences, however, individual treatment comparisons using post-hoc bonferroni tests, show that the Haugh unit score of 86.3 from eggs laid by birds receiving the 16,000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> diet was significantly lower than all other diets except the NC diet.

No significant effects were seen on the weight of egg yolks, but the inclusion of phytase did increase the colour of egg yolks in a linear manner (P<0.001). The colour of the eggs from the NC diet were lighter than those on the PC diet (12.3 vs 12.6, P<0.05). There was also a trend for the NC eggs to be lighter than the eggs from the 250FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> diets. The ASI eggs had significantly deeper coloured egg yolks than the eggs from the NC and SI diets.

Dietary treatment	Egg Weight	ΠH	Yolk Colour	Yolk Weight	BMS	Shell Thickness	Shell Weight	Shell Strength
	(B)			(B)		(mŋ)	(B)	(kgf)
PC	63.4	89.2	12.6	16.0	0.89	369.2	6.0	4.5
NC	62.6	86.3	12.3	16.0	0.35	377.7	6.1	4.8
NC+250	63.4	88.1	12.5	15.9	0.42	374.7	6.1	4.8
NC+1,000	64.1	89.3	12.2	16.1	0.53	379.5	6.3	4.9
NC+4,000	63.0	88.0	12.6	15.8	0.93	368.6	6.0	4.6
NC+16,000	62.9	83.6	12.8	16.4	0.55	363.2	6.0	4.9
SEM	0.362	0.760	0.049	0.115	0.058	0.003	0.049	0.064
Contrast P Values								
Linear	NS	<0.05	<0.001	NS	NS	NS	NS	SN
Quadratic	NS	NS	SN	NS	<0.001	NS	NS	NS
Cubic	NS	NS	SN	NS	SN	NS	NS	NS
PC vs NC	NS	NS	<0.05	NS	<0.01	NS	NS	SN
PC vs 250	NS	NS	SN	NS	<0.01	NS	NS	SN
NC vs 250	NS	NS	0.061	NS	NS	NS	NS	SN
PC vs ASI	NS	NS	SN	NS	SN	NS	NS	NS
NC vs ASI	NS	NS	<0.05	NS	<0.01	NS	NS	NS
SI vs ASI	NS	0.117	<0.01	NS	<0.05	NS	NS	NS
PC = Positive Control; NC= Negativ	e Control, SI= Standarc	l Inclusions (N	IC+250 and NC+1,000	i; ASI=Above Standard	Inclusions (NC	:+4,000 and NC+16,000);BMS	=Blood Spot Score; HU=H	augh Unit

Table 5.4. Effect of increasing phytase inclusion on egg quality

The treatments had no significant effect on the concentration of total or phytate phosphorus in the gizzard of laying hens as shown in Table 5.5.

Diotory tractment	Gizzard an	d Proventriculus	He	eum
Dietary treatment	Total-P	Phytate-P	Total-P	Phytate-P
PC	1.03	0.40	2.68	1.38
NC	0.99	0.37	2.56	1.44
NC+250	0.95	0.33	2.81	1.32
NC+1,000	1.02	0.39	2.57	1.26
NC+4,000	0.98	0.37	2.46	1.22
NC+16,000	0.96	0.33	2.50	1.14
SEM	0.017	0.012	0.042	0.023
Contrasts P Values				
Linear	NS	NS	NS	<0.001
Quadratic	NS	NS	NS	.084
Cubic	NS	NS	NS	NS
PC vs NC	NS	NS	NS	NS
PC vs 250	NS	NS	NS	NS
NC vs 250	NS	NS	0.087	NS
PC vs ASI	NS	NS	NS	<0.01
NC vs ASI	NS	NS	NS	<0.001
Standard vs ASI	NS	NS	<0.05	<0.05

Table 5.5. The effect of increasing phytase inclusion on the concentration of total and phytate-P in the gastrointestinal tract (g kg<sup>-1</sup>)

PC = Positive Control; NC= Negative Control, SI= Standard Inclusions (NC+250 and NC+1,000); ASI=Above Standard Inclusions (NC+4,000 and NC+16,000) The inclusion of phytase did however, affect the concentration of

phosphorus in the ileum. There was a trend for 250FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> to increase the total phosphorus concentration in the ileum in comparison to the NC diet. The concentration of phytate phosphorus in the ileum was lower when birds were fed the ASI diets in comparison to the NC diets (P<0.001). The inclusion of phytase significantly decreased the concentration of phytate-phosphorus in the ileum in a linear manner. Contrast analysis revealed that the concentration of phytate-phosphorus in the ileum digesta of the ASI fed

birds was significantly lower in comparison to that of birds fed the PC, NC and SI diets.

# 5.4.5 Effect of Increasing Phytase Inclusion on the Liver *Myo*inositol and Mineral Concentration

There was a trend for phytase to increase liver weights in a linear and quadratic manner, with significantly heavier livers in the NC and ASI birds, in comparison with the PC birds. The concentration of *myo*-inositol in the liver of laying hens increased in a linear manner with phytase dose, as shown in Table 5.6. The *myo*-inositol liver concentration was higher in birds fed the ASI diets in comparison to the NC and SI diets(P<0.05).

The dietary treatments also significantly affected the concentration of minerals in the liver. There was a quadratic decrease in sodium levels with phytase inclusion up to 4000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> before an increase with 16000FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> <sup>1</sup>. The liver sodium concentration was also higher in birds fed to NC diet in comparison with those fed the PC diet (P<0.05). Liver magnesium concentrations decreased as phytase inclusion increased (P<0.01), with livers form birds fed the NC diet being significantly lower than those from birds fed the PC and 250 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> diets. In addition to this, birds fed the ASI diets had significantly lower liver magnesium concentrations in comparison to those on the PC and SI diets. Liver phosphorus decreased as phytase inclusion increased (P<0.05), with a trend for the birds on the ASI diets to be lower than those on the PC diets. There was a significant linear and guadratic decrease in liver potassium. The concentration of potassium remained quite consistent in livers throughout the treatments before dropping suddenly in those birds fed the 16,000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> diet. This gave a difference between the ASI and PC liver potassium concentration (P<0.05). There was a trend for liver calcium concentration to increase and a significant increase in manganese concentration with increasing phytase inclusion (P<0.05). The ASI diets resulted in elevated liver manganese levels that were higher than in those from birds fed the NC diet (P<0.05). Finally, liver zinc concentration increased in a linear manner with phytase inclusion.

Table 5.6 The effect ( liver	of increasing phyta	ase inclusion o	n the cor	ocentrati	on of <i>my</i>	o-inositol	(mg g <sup>_</sup> )	and mir	nerals (n	ng kg <sup>-</sup> ')	in the
Dietary treatment	Liver weight (g)	Myo-inositol	Na	Mg	Ч	¥	Са	Mn	Fe	Cu	Zn
PC	35.7	2.61	638	362	2403	3229	195	1.08	71.7	2.59	13.8
NC	46.85	1.45	790	318	2335	3092	196	1.03	71.4	2.58	13.2
NC+250	42.04	1.79	705	377	2211	3051	224	1.14	73.6	3.24	13.3
NC+1,000	39.34	1.84	712	320	2403	3166	191	1.09	64.6	2.66	15.9
NC+4,000	38.88	2.95	610	345	2409	3261	195	1.22	63.4	2.98	19.2
NC+16,000	51.98	4.1	823	290	2032	2666	237	1.12	65.3	2.65	20.9
SEM	1.63	0.34	22.33	7.147	41.28	52.077	7.14	0.02	1.36	0.1	1.115
Contrast P Values											
Linear	0.064	<0.05	SN	<0.01	<0.05	<0.001	0.1	SN	NS	SN	<0.05
Quadratic	0.069	NS	<0.01	NS	0.088	<0.05	SN	<0.05	0.06	SN	SN
Cubic	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	SN	SN	NS	SN	SN
PC vs NC	<0.05	NS	<0.05	<0.05	SN	SN	SN	NS	NS	SN	NS
PC vs 250	NS	NS	SN	NS	SN	SN	SN	NS	NS	0.06	NS
NC vs 250	NS	NS	SN	<0.05	NS	SN	NS	SN	NS	0.06	SN
PC vs ASI	<0.05	NS	NS	<0.05	0.098	<0.05	NS	0.101	0.06	SN	<0.05
NC vs ASI	NS	<0.05	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	<0.05	0.08	SN	<0.05
SI vs ASI	SN	<0.05	NS	<0.05	SN	NS	NS	NS	SN	SN	<0.05
PC = Positive Control; NC= Negati	ve Control, SI= Standard Inclus	sions (NC+250 and NC+1	,000); ASI=Ab	ove Standard I	nclusions (NC+	+4,000 and NC+	16,000)				

- 136 -

# 5.4.6 The Effect of Increasing Phytase Inclusion on Blood Mineral Concentration

The dietary treatments had a significant effect on the concentration of minerals within blood plasma. Feeding birds diets with increasing phytase inclusion levels increased their blood plasma phosphorus (P<0.05) and manganese concentrations in a linear manner (P<0.01). Birds fed the ASI and PC diet had a blood phosphorus concentration that was higher than that of birds fed the NC diet (P<0.05). In addition to this, birds fed the NC diets also had a significantly reduced concentration of sodium (P<0.05), iron (P<0.05) and copper (P<0.05) in comparison with those fed the PC and ASI diets. The birds fed the ASI diets had a blood plasma manganese concentration that was significantly higher than that of birds fed the SI (P<0.01) and NC diets (P<0.01).

I ADIE D./ TITE ETTECT OF TITCLEASTI	y pinytase i						/ 6rl		
Dietary treatment	Na	Mg	Р	Х	Са	Mn	Fe	Cu	Zn
PC	2591	26	69.8	193	209	0.04	1.05	0.23	2.18
NC	2010	21.5	44.3	230	162	0.03	0.56	0.17	1.67
NC+250	2433	23.9	50.5	248	183	0.03	0.9	0.22	1.82
NC+1,000	2397	25.4	59.3	180	199	0.03	0.86	0.21	2.04
NC+4,000	2467	25.8	62.3	241	192	0.04	1.17	0.21	2.19
NC+16,000	2525	27.5	71	219	197	0.04	~	0.23	2.2
SEM	80.1	~	3.3	15.7	7.7	0	0.07	0.01	0.09
Contrast P Values									
Linear	SN	SN	<0.05	SN	SN	<0.01	SN	SN	NS
Quadratic	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN	0.08	<0.05	SN	NS
Cubic	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN	NS	SN	SN	NS
PC vs NC	<0.05	SN	<0.05	SN	0.1	0.13	<0.05	<0.05	0.12
PC vs 250	SN	SN	0.08	SN	SN	NS	SN	SN	NS
NC vs 250	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN	NS	SN	0.1	SN
PC vs ASI	SN	SN	SN	SN	SN	NS	SN	SN	SN
NC vs ASI	<0.05	0.09	<0.05	SN	SN	<0.01	<0.05	<0.05	0.06
SI vs ASI	NS	SN	SN	NS	SN	<0.01	NS	SN	SN
PC =Positive Control; NC=Negative Control, SI=Stand	lard Inclusions (NC	:+250 and NC+1	,000); ASI=Above	Standard Inclusi	ons (NC+4,000	and NC+16,000)			

Table 5.7 The effect of increasing phytase inclusion on blood plasma mineral concentration (up ml<sup>-1</sup>)

# 5.5 Discussion

### 5.5.1 Comparison to Breeders Expected Performance

The birds used in this trial met the breeder expectations with slightly higher production numbers (94% vs 92%) and slightly reduced egg weights (63 vs 64 g respectively) giving an egg mass on target at 59g d<sup>-1</sup>(Joice and Hill, 2014). The daily feed intake was at 117 g rather than 115 g which also increased the FCR marginally but this was probably due to the feed wastage discussed in Section 5.4.1. The bird weight at the start of the trial was on target, however, during the trial the birds gained more weight than required, making birds 100g over their expected weight by the end of the experimental period.

# 5.5.2 The Effect of Increasing Phytase Inclusion on Laying Hen Performance

The increase in egg weight seen in this diet indicates that laying hen performance can be improved by inclusions of phytase greater than standard. This effect together with the trend for an increase in egg production resulted in a higher daily egg mass. This further supports the claim that using high phytase doses can benefit laying hen performance, as the egg mass production by these birds was significantly higher than birds fed the PC (P<0.01), NC (P<0.01) and standard inclusion diets (P<0.005) without significantly increasing feed intake.

Previous trials in broilers and pigs have also seen improvements in performance with above standard inclusion levels of phytase in comparison with standard levels (Cowieson et al., 2011). However, the studies using laying hens have failed to find significant benefits when including higher phytase doses relative to standard inclusions and positive control diets (Augspurger et al., 2003; Meyer and Parsons, 2011).

In the previous experiment described in Chapter 4, above standard inclusion of phytase improved FCR relative to a positive control diet, but did not significantly improve egg mass or decrease feed intake. In this trial, an increase in egg mass did not translate into an improved FCR. As phytase breaks down the phytic acid, preventing its anti-nutritional effects, the AMEn (Miles and Nelson, 1974) and digestibility of protein (Liao et al., 2005) in the diet can be increased.

The improvement in FCR of the birds in Chapter 4 is through a small, insignificant decrease in feed intake and increase in egg numbers.Both egg numbers and feed intake are affected by adjusting energy levels, whereas egg weight is considered to be controlled by protein (Leeson, 2008). Therefore it is likely that the birds in Chapter 4 benefited from phytase increasing the AMEn of their diets.

In this trial, the egg numbers increased slightly indicating a possibly improved AMEn, but the increase in egg mass was due more to the production of heavier eggs. The weight of eggs is controlled more by protein intake rather than energy (Keshavarz and Nakajima, 1995). No effect on feed intake was visible in this trial either, which indicates the birds in this trial may have benefited more from improvements in protein digestibility rather than AMEn of the diet from phytic acid hydrolysis.

This difference between the trials may be due to difference in the birds age. It may be that younger birds adapt to higher AMEn diets more easily as they are still growing and their feed intake is increasing, albeit only slightly.

The lack of effect on egg weight in the Chapter 4, in comparison to this trial, may also be explained by age differences. The weight of eggs is influenced by the concentration of protein and amino acids in the diet with an increase in dietary protein causing an increase in egg size. However, this effect is influenced by age, Waldroup et al. (1995) showed that increasing methionine from 0.23% to 0.38% increased egg weight and that this effect was greatest in older birds. Any benefit of greater protein and amino acid availability from the addition of phytase is therefore likely to have a greater effect on egg weight in older birds. Age could also affect the utilisation of *myo*-inositol released from phytic acid. As previously mentioned, younger animals appear to have a greater need for *myo*-inositol than their mature equivalents.

## 5.5.3 The Effect of Increasing Phytase Inclusion on Egg Quality

In this trial phytase had no significant effect on egg shell quality. This is in agreement with the Chapter 4 trial, but disagrees with the results from Chapter 3. The reason for the absence of a phytase effect in this trial may be because of the unexpectedly high level of calcium found in the diet as seen

in Table 5.2. This provided the bird with ample calcium for egg shell formation and so it is unlikely that improving calcium solubility in the digesta, as shown in the first trial, would benefit shell formation. It is notable that in Chapter 3 an increase in egg shell strength was seen in combination with an increase in blood calcium concentration whereas in this experiment neither blood calcium or egg shell quality were increased by phytase supplementation.

Within this trial the addition of phytase had an effect on the average blood and meat spot score of eggs. These blood spots are caused by haemorrhage of blood that is supplying the follicle during its formation. Meat spots are blood spots that have changed colour within the egg whites due to a change in pH (Nalbandov and Card, 1944). The incidence of blood spots is thought to be related to bird stress, but was found to have a genetic element (Jeffrey and Pino, 1943). When birds had seasonal laying cycles, eggs earlier in the season had a greater number of spots (Lerner and Taylor, 1947). Nutrition has been shown to affect incidences of blood spots with the inclusion of alfalfa in the ration decreasing their incidence rate (Sauter et al., 1965). An increase in vitamin A has also been shown to reduce blood spot occurrences (Bearse et al., 1960) as has supplementation with vitamin K (Day and Woody, 1964). Sumiati and Piliang (2005) showed that supplementing laying hen diets with 400 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> increased the concentration of vitamin A in eggs by 24%. It is possible therefore that phytase may have altered the balance of vitamin availability which effected the incidences of blood spots.

Williams (1992) reviewed the factors that affect egg Haugh unit score and concluded that nutrition was not of great importance in comparison to storage and genetics. However, in this trial, phytase significantly affected albumen height. Although the analysis suggested this was a linear relationship, numerically it appears to be quadratic, increasing with the standard doses before falling in the above standard inclusions. This is probably due to the increased absorption of minerals as the formation of phytate complexes is reduced. Trace minerals were also shown to be important with selenium improving albumen height (Arnold et al., 1974). Since then, supplemental magnesium was shown to reduce the thinning of the albumen during time in storage (Monsey et al., 1977) while vanadium contamination of phosphorus was exposed to be a factor reducing albumen

height (Sell et al., 1982). Jenson and colleagues (1978) found that including brewers grains in laying hen diets increased the quality of the albumen, which they believed to be due to the presence of trace minerals. Subsequently, they found that iron, copper, zinc, manganese and selenium all improved albumen quality while vanadium, tin, nickel and molybdate had no effect. It seems likely that in this trial, the release of minerals initially benefited albumen quality restoring the Haugh units to the level of the PC diet, but as the dose rose trace elements such as vanadium become more available and had a negative effect. If the inclusion of high phytase is used commercially, the levels of some trace minerals may need to be reduced as the concentration at which they are detrimental to the bird and egg is lowered.

In this study, phytase inclusion also increased the yolk colour score indicating a deepening of colour. Kozlowski and Jeroch (2011) showed that in calcium and phosphorus deficient diets the colour score was reduced, the addition of phytase, however, reversed this effect. Similarly, Englmaierová et al. (2012) found phytase deepened the colour of egg yolks when supplemented to a diet deficient in phosphorus, but not a diet that meets the birds requirements. This experiment also showed a lightening of yolk colour in the deficient diets. It may be the phosphorus is needed for the absorption and metabolism of carotenoids which go on to be transported to the developing yolk and intensify the colour. Pirgozliev et al. (2010b) showed that 3000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase increased the bioavailability of carotenoids which increased their concentration in the liver of broilers.

# 5.5.4 The Effect of Increasing Phytase Inclusion on Phytate phosphorus hydrolysis

As described in Section 4.5.4 the concentration of phytate phosphorus in the excreta or ileum is related to the amount of phytic acid hydrolysis within the tract. In the previous experiment it was seen that the inclusion of 2,500FTu kg<sup>-1</sup> increased total tract hydrolysis of phytic acid in comparison to a positive control. In this trial the addition of phytase had no significant effect on the hydrolysis of phytic acid in digesta reaching the gizzard. Contrary to this, Walk et al. (2014) found that 1,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> significantly reduced the concentration of the higher ester of phytic acid and increased the concentration of *myo*-inositol, indicating greater phytic acid hydrolysis. There

were also good correlations between the ester concentrations in the gizzard and FCR.

It is likely that the phytase is hydrolysing phytic acid within the foregut, as it is the site of greatest phytase activity (Table 1.5). However, there was a great deal of variation between gizzard measurements from different birds which may have hidden these effects.

It was found however, that phytase did significantly affect the concentration of phytate-P in the ileum (P<0.001), indicating that higher dietary inclusion of phytase produced greater amounts of phytic acid hydrolysis within the gastrointestinal tract. Phytase continued to hydrolyse phytic acid with diminishing returns up to 16,000FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> with the above standard inclusions giving significantly greater hydrolysis than the PC (P<0.01), NC (PC<0.001) or standard inclusion diets (P<0.05). This is in line with the work of Shirley and Edwards (2003) who showed hydrolysis of phytic acid continued to increase up to the higher dose of 12,000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> with diminishing returns in broiler diets. It is clear that the continued breakdown of phytic acid seen here is responsible for the improvement seen in laying hen performance, whether through the reduction in the anti-nutritional effects of phytic acid or the release of *myo*-inositol.

# 5.5.5 The Effect of Increasing Phytase Inclusion on Liver *Myo*inositol and Mineral Concentration

This experiment found that greater hydrolysis of phytic acid in ileal digesta through the inclusion of increasing dietary phytase doses resulted in a higher concentration of *myo*-inositol in the liver of laying hens. Cowieson and colleagues (2014) found similar effects in broilers, where increasing phytase from 0 or 1,000FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> to 3000FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> increased the concentration of *myo*-inositol in blood plasma. *Myo*-inositol is known to affect the transport of fats (Katayama, 1997) from the liver (Anderson, 1914) and intestines (Chu and Geyer, 1983). *Myo*-inositol has been shown to mimic insulin by stimulating the translocation of GLUT4 to the plasma membrane (Dang et al., 2010, Yamashita et al., 2013). Although chickens do not possess GLUT4 (Tokushima et al., 2005), chickens have been shown to be sensitive to insulin (Sweazea and Braun, 2006). Cowieson et al. (2014) suggested that through the mimicry of insulin, *myo*-inositol benefits birds by affecting glucose transport, gluconeogenesis and protein deposition. *Myo*-inositol can

also control cell osmolality and is known to act as an osmoprotectant in plants (Klages et al., 1999). Osmoprotectants are important for maintaining cell water volumes and so the conformation of proteins (Biggers et al., 1993). Intestinal cells have to survive with various osmotic environments as the blood plasma is hypo-osmotic in comparison to the intestinal lumen (Mongin, 1976). Osmoprotectants have been shown to benefit intestinal health and digestion of nutrients (Remus et al., 1995; Eklund et al., 2006a). *Myo*-inositol derived compounds also play pivotal roles in cell metabolism. For example, glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchors a large variety of proteins to the extracellular side of the cell membrane (Brown and Waneck, 1992). The supplementation of diets with myo-inositol has been shown to benefit growth in fish (Waagbø et al., 1998), rats (Katayama, 1997) and chicken (Hegsted et al., 1941a). Two studies in broilers have shown myo-inositol can benefit growth and efficiency (Cowieson et al., 2013, Żyła et al., 2013), whereas one study in laying hens found myo-inositol had small nonsignificant negative effects on performance of birds fed a slightly deficient diet (Żyła et al., 2012). It is possible that supplementation of *myo*-inositol can only benefit animals when they are supplied with adequate phosphorus because it is required to synthesise a number of the *myo*-inositol derivatives utilised by the animal, for example IP<sub>3</sub>. Using higher phytase inclusions to provide the bird with myo-inositol from phytic acid would overcome this as the phosphorus released from phytic acid can be utilised to regenerate myoinositol based compounds within the bird once absorbed.

Despite a large number of significant results, the effect of phytase on the concentration of minerals in the liver was guite inconsistent. The clearest effect seen was on the concentration of zinc in the liver, through a distinct rise with phytase inclusion. The addition of 1000FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> to a weaner diet was also shown to increase liver zinc levels, but had no effect on the concentration of calcium, phosphorus, magnesium, sulphur, copper, iron and selenium (Jolliff and Mahan, 2012). The same study also found, there was a near significant trend for an increase in liver manganese concentration. Martinez et al. (2004) showed that 500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> increased phosphorus levels in liver and blood plasma but had no effect on the levels of copper. Other studies have also found that phytase increased the bioavailability of trace minerals like zinc, iron, manganese and magnesium (Czech and Grela, 2008). Zinc is an essential trace mineral that is needed for normal cell growth, development and differentiation. Zinc is integral for DNA synthesis, RNA transcription in addition being an important co-factor or component of many enzymes. Zinc has also been shown to be important in preventing liver cirrhosis (Vallee et al., 1956). Given the importance of zinc as a nutrient, it is possible that the increased availability of zinc in the diet may have benefited the birds on this trial, increasing egg weight and egg mass.

# 5.5.6 The Effect of Increasing Phytase Inclusion on Blood Mineral Concentration

The blood plasma concentration of minerals was also affected by the phytase treatment, with a trend for an increase in the levels of manganese and phosphorus. The increase in blood phosphorus indicates that the higher levels of phytase improved the availability of phosphorus which was utilised by the bird. This suggests that some of the benefit of increasing phytase inclusion may be from greater phosphorus absorption and therefore contradicts the experiment described in Chapter 3 where an increase in phosphorus solubility did not translate into higher levels of circulating phosphorus. In addition to this, dos Santos et al. (2013) found that increasing phytase within a broiler diet to 1,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> improved FCR but not toe ash, signifying the benefits were not phosphoric in nature. Walk et al. (2014) supported this, showing that supplementing a slightly deficient broiler diet with 1.500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> improved FCR in comparison to a positive control diet with additional dicalcium phosphate. This shows that the extra calcium and phosphorus does not deliver the same benefit of higher phytase inclusion. The increase in blood phosphorus seen here may be a result of the high dietary calcium content in all diets. The requirements for and digestion of calcium and phosphorus are inexorably interlinked. High levels of dietary calcium have been shown to reduce the retention of phosphorus with numerical decreases in circulating phosphorus (Keshavarz, 1986). In addition to this, increasing the ratio of calcium to phosphours has also been shown to reduce the retention of phosphorus in laying hens (Pastore et al., 2012). Tamin et al. (2004) showed that increasing dietary calcium not only reduced the utilisation of phytate phosphorus but also decreased the digestion of non-phytate phosphorus. This was a result of the formation of calcium phosphates within the lumen. While more soluble than phytate, calcium phosphates are not very soluble above pH 5 (Holt et al., 1925; Selle et al., 2009b). It is therefore possible that in this trial the high calcium concentration restricted phosphorus availability on the NC and SI diets. As a result, the birds increased their phosphorus absorption as phytase continued to release phytate-phosphorus.

## 5.5.7 Conclusions

The similarity in performance between the PC, NC and NC+250 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> diets indicate that the standard equivalence values used in the formulation of diets seem to be accurate.

The supplementation of laying hen diets with phytase doses greater that the standard inclusion levels have been shown to increase the egg weight and egg mass without increasing feed intake. It is possible that this is due to increased phosphorus or zinc availability, however, it is more likely that this is due to a reduction in the anti-nutritional effects of phytic acid and the release of *myo*-inositol.

Greater dietary phytase inclusion increased the hydrolysis of phytic acid in ileal digesta and increased the bioavailability of *myo*-inositol with increased liver concentrations.

# Chapter 6 The Effect of Including Betaine and Phytase in Laying Hens Diets

#### 6.1 Abstract

This experiment was conducted to assess the effect of supplementing a laying hen diet with a phytase dose above the standard level, and betaine alone and in combination with phytase. The trial had a 2x2 factorial design with and without phytase and betaine inclusion at 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> and 2 g kg<sup>-1</sup> <sup>1</sup> respectively on top of a basal diet that met the bird's requirements. Twenty one week old laying hens were group housed and fed their respective diets for 12 weeks during which their performance was recorded. In addition, egg quality measurements were analysed every three weeks. At the end of the trial one week's eggs were collected and analysed for egg quality over the next 4 weeks to measure how the egg quality changed over time when birds had been fed the different diets. Finally, the birds were killed, and a peripheral blood sample was taken and analysed for mineral content, plasma urea nitrogen (PUN) and myo-inositol concentrations. When supplemented alone both betaine and phytase improved FCR; from 2.11 to 1.99 and 2.03 respectively. However, when fed in combination the FCR of laying hens was not significantly different from that of the control. Phytase significantly increased the circulating concentration of *myo*-inositol, however, betaine reversed this effect. Feeding phytase was shown to increase egg shell quality while dietary betaine supplementation reduced the loss of water from eggs through evaporation. Both betaine and phytase reduced the intensity of yolk colours when fed alone, however, when fed in combination the yolk colour was restored to the level of the control. Both betaine and phytase supplementation decreased the concentration of PUN. Finally, birds which had been fed phytase had decreased circulating concentrations of magnesium, copper and zinc.

## 6.2 Introduction

The use of betaine as a supplement in animal diets has increased in recent years (Ratriyanto et al., 2009). Betaine is a stable, nontoxic, naturally

occurring derivative of the amino acid glycine (Yu et al., 2004). Sugar beets and molasses are common sources of betaine but purified forms are also available; these include anhydrous betaine, betaine monohydrate and betaine hydrochloride (Kidd et al., 1997, Eklund et al., 2005). Betaine has been shown to improve animal performance and nutrient digestibility, but these effects are inconsistent (Overland et al., 1999; Attia et al., 2005; Eklund et al., 2006a; Eklund et al., 2006b).

Betaine inclusion at 1g kg<sup>-1</sup> has been shown to improve growth rate by 13% and FCR by 8% in grower finisher pigs (Zou et al., 2002). Betaine supplementation at 1.5 g kg<sup>-1</sup> increased weight gain and decreased FCR in broilers (Virtanen and Rosi, 1995) and similar effects have been seen in ducks(Wang et al., 2004) and turkeys (Noll et al., 2002). In laying hens, betaine has been shown to benefit performance (Zou and Lou, 2002, Park et al., 2006). Zou et al. (2002) showed that the addition of 0.6g kg<sup>-1</sup> betaine significantly improved egg production by 8.7% and FCR by 9.0%, but found no difference in egg weight. Alternatively, Park et al. (2006) found that 1.2g kg<sup>-1</sup> betaine supplementation increased egg weight but not production. In contrast to these studies, Harms and Russell (2002) found that supplemental betaine gave no advantage in a choline adequate diet. Betaine is also known as a carcass modifier as it can increase the percentage of lean meat in animal products (Wang and Xu et al., 1999). For example, Zhan and colleagues (2006) found that feeding betaine in the diet increased the breast meat yield in broilers, while Cadogan et al. (1993) showed that betaine supplementation could reduce backfat thickness in gilts.

In addition to these benefits, betaine supplementation is known to be particularly advantageous when animals are under some form of stress. Ryu and colleagues (2003) showed that betaine improved egg production and shell quality of laying hens when experiencing heat stress. Betaine has also been shown to benefit animals undergoing microbial immune challenges (Augustine et al., 1997). Finally, during water salinity stress betaine supplementation improved the growth and FCR of broilers (Honarbakhsh et al., 2007).

Betaine has a number of metabolic roles through which it can benefit animal nutrition and performance; for example, as a trimethylated glycine compound betaine can act as a methyl donor (Kidd et al., 1997). Methionine, choline and betaine are the most important methyl carriers in livestock, and so increasing dietary betaine may allow a reduction in an animal's requirement of methionine and choline (Siljander-Rasi et al., 2003). Methylation is vital for

normal cell functions including protein and energy metabolism, and through these actions betaine can benefit lean growth. As a methyl donor, betaine allows increased utilisation of amino acids for protein synthesis; as a result fewer amino acids go for deamination and the synthesis of adipose tissue (Wallis, 1999). Betaine has also been shown to decrease the activity of lipogenic enzymes (Huang et al., 2006) and increase lipase activity (Zhan et al., 2006, Zou et al., 1998). Methyl groups can also be donated to form lecithin which is involved with the transport of fats (Saunderson and Mackinlay, 1990). Betaine sparing choline will increase choline availability for other metabolic functions (Dilger et al., 2007), for example the formation of very low density lipoproteins (VLDL) and phosphatidylcholine. Zou et al. (1998) showed an increase in the concentration of VLDL when betaine was supplemented in a layer diet. VLDL prevent the deposition of fats in the liver and increase the rate of their removal (Yao and Vance, 1989). Phosphatidylcholine is required for the formation of cell membranes and so it is essential for cell secretions and therefore normal cellular function. Choline sparing also allows greater formation of acetylcholine, which is a neurotransmitter involved in the nervous system (Dilger et al., 2007). Betaine has also been shown to affect fat metabolism through increasing the concentration of methylated compounds, such as carnitine and creatine, within the liver (Xu and Zhan, 1998, Zhan et al., 2006). Carnitine is involved with the transport of long chain fatty acids for oxidation.

Betaine also has an important role as an osmoprotectant in bacteria (Pichereau et al., 1999), plants (Xing and Rajashekar, 2001), fish (Clarke et al., 1994), mammals (Law and Burg, 1991), and birds (Lien et al., 1993). Osmoregulation is defined as the cell's capacity to maintain its structure and metabolic functions though controlling the flow of water in and out of itself (Kidd et al., 1997). Changes in cell water volumes will adjust the intracellular ionic environment which can lead to changes in protein conformation (Biggers et al., 1993). Changes in water volume can therefore alter cell function and lead cells into more anabolic or catabolic states (Häussinger, 1998). Water homeostasis is vital for cells that experience differing osmotic conditions (Klasing et al., 2002), such as those in the kidney (Bagnasco et al., 1987), liver (Weik et al., 1998) and small intestines (Mongin, 1976) Osmoprotectants are a class of organic molecules that are highly soluble (Chambers and Kunin, 1985). These can reach high concentrations within cells or organelles that are exposed to an osmotic or ionic stress and thereby prevent the accumulations of inorganic ions (Petronini et al., 1992). High concentrations of ions will be detrimental to enzyme activities and cell

membranes, whereas osmoprotectants can become concentrated without disturbing cellular functions. They can also help cells maximise water retention against osmotic gradients in times of cellular dehydration (Klasing et al., 2002).

Cells involved in nutrient digestion and absorption require osmolytic protection mechanisms as they transport water, ions and nutrients from the lumen of the small intestines to the blood plasma. The luminal digesta of the intestines is hyperosmotic in comparison to blood plasma (Mongin, 1976). It is through the protection of the intestinal cells that betaine can benefit nutrient digestibility (Eklund et al., 2006). Increases in dietary betaine have been shown to increase the accumulation of betaine in the small intestines and in particular the duodenum (Klasing et al., 2002). Betaine supplementation has been shown to improve the integrity of the gastrointestinal tract (Kettunen et al., 2001).

In the chicken, betaine, myo-inositol and taurine are the most important osmolytes used for osmotic regulation (Lien et al., 1993). This is of interest as the previous chapter indicated that phytase supplementation increased the bioavailability of myo-inostiol when phytase was included at high doses. Given the trend for greater use of both betaine and high phytase doses in the poultry industry, it is of interest to see how the two supplements interact with each other. A number of other parallels exist between betaine and myoinositol regarding their effects on metabolism. Phytase has been shown to affect the transport of fat soluble compounds (Pirgozliev et al., 2010b). Similarly, betaine has been shown to affect the transport of fats (Ratriyanto et al., 2009). Betaine is the oxidised form of choline, therefore it is of interest that both myo-inostiol and choline have been shown to reduce fatty liver disease (Wolford and Murphy, 1972). The cellular uptake of both osmolytes has also been shown to overlap somewhat. Skate erythrocytes increased the uptake of both betaine and myo-inositol when subjected to hypertonic stress (Goldstein and Davis, 1994). This study continued to look at the osmolyte transporters and found that they were both activated by the water volume of the cell and were both suppressed by the same inhibitors indicating overlap in their control. Similarly, when canine MDCK kidney cells were exposed in vitro to a hypertonic medium and found that sodium coupled transporters increased the uptake of both betaine and myo-inositol fivefold (Handler and Kwon, 1996). The authors found that although they utilised different transporters the control of omsolyte uptake was similar. The hypotonic medium stimulated the transcription of the transporter genes,

while post-translational regulation of the transporters was inhibited by phosphorylation in both cases.

To date, only one other published study has looked at the effects of adding betaine and phytase to an animal's diet in combination. Debicki-Garnier and Hruby (2003) supplemented diet with and without betaine in addition to 0, 500 or 1000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase. They found that both betaine and phytase improved the feed intake, end body weight and body weight gain of broilers, but there was no significant effect on the FCR. There were no significant interactions with the exception of one: the ash excreted was lower when broilers were fed betaine and phytase together in comparison with phytase alone. This suggests that betaine increased the retention of phosphorus and calcium following phytic acid hydrolysis, presumably through an improved gastrointestinal tract integrity and greater nutrient absorption.

# 6.2.1 Objectives

The objective of this study was to investigate the effects of supplementing a laying hen diet with a higher than standard phytase dose and betaine, paying particular attention to the performance of laying hens in addition to egg quality. Finally, the concentration of *myo*-inositol and minerals in the blood was analysed to assess the effect of phytase and betaine on *myo*-inositol and mineral bioavailability.

# 6.2.2 Hypotheses

Betaine and phytase supplementation will improve laying hen performance Phytase inclusion will increase the concentration of circulating *myo*-inositol

An interaction between betaine and phytase supplementation will be seen in laying hen performance due to the overlap in betaine and *myo*-inositol function.

# 6.3 Materials and Methods

An experiment was conducted to assess the effect of including betaine and phytase on laying hen performance, egg quality and the concentration of *myo*-inositol and minerals in the blood

#### 6.3.1 Experimental Design and Treatments

The experiment was a  $2\times 2$  factorial design, with or without the inclusion of betaine at 2g kg<sup>-1</sup> and the addition of 0 or 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> Quantum Blue<sup>TM</sup> phytase on top of a nutritionally adequate base diet giving four dietary treatments described in Table 6.1.

## 6.3.2 Animal Housing

At 21 weeks of age 240 Bovan Brown laying hens were allocated to 60 cages balancing for bird weight within each replicate. Each cage within a replicate was then randomly allocated a treatment diet.

## 6.3.3 Feeding Regime and Performance Recording

The birds were fed their experimental diets for 12 weeks during which their performance criteria was recorded. Every three weeks one day's eggs were collected and analysed for the egg quality as described in Section 2.3.5.

# 6.3.4 Egg Keeping Quality

During the last week of the experiment all eggs were collected every day from Monday to Friday, weighed and labelled. One fifth of the eggs were analysed as above on the day of collection and the remainder stored in cardboard trays at room temperature (21°C) for 7, 14, 21 or 28 days. The relative humidity ranged from 65 to 76%. On each consecutive collection day, a different fifth of the eggs were analysed so that by the end of the week all replicates had had a collection day analysis of their eggs. Likewise in the subsequent weeks, on each particular day within the week a different fifth of the eggs were analysed, so that by the end of the eggs from each replicate of each treatment had been analysed on each sampling day. The egg analysis was similar to that carried out throughout the experiment detailed in Section 2.3.5, however, the Haugh unit micrometer broke on some days and so there are some gaps within this data set.

Ingredient (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Control	Betaine	Phytase	Betaine & Phytase
Wheat	606.3	604.3	605.8	603.8
Rapeseed Solv Ext	30	30	30	30
Soybean meal 48	205.1	205.1	205.1	205.1
Wheat Bran	4.9	4.9	4.9	4.9
Soya oil	40	40	40	40
Salt	2.9	0.29	0.29	0.29
DL Methionine	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.2
Limestone	82.7	82.7	82.7	82.7
Dicalcium Phos	16.1	16.1	16.1	16.1
Choline chloride	5.8	5.8	5.8	5.8
Vitamin premix	4.9	4.9	4.9	4.9
Phytase	0	0	0.5	0.5
Betaine	0	2	0	2
Nutrient Composition (g kg <sup>-1</sup>	)			
Crude Oil	52.6	52.6	52.6	52.6
Crude Protein	175.0	175.0	175.0	175.0
Crude Fiber	25.7	25.7	25.7	25.7
Calcium (Total)	37.5	37.5	37.5	37.5
Calcium (Digestible)	37.5	37.5	37.5	37.5
Phosphorus (Total)	07.1	07.1	07.1	07.1
Phosphorus (Available)	04.5	04.5	04.5	04.5
Sodium (Total)	01.5	01.5	01.5	01.5
AMENn (MJ kg <sup>-1</sup> )	2800	2800	2800	2800

Table 6.1.	Ingredients and calculated nutrient composition of experimenta
diets	

#### 6.3.5 Feather Score

Throughout the duration of the trial it was noticed that the birds within some cages were feather pecking more than others. To investigate this further, the feather scores of all the birds were recorded in the final week of the trial using the methods of Bilcik and Keeling (1999). Briefly, the body was split into different regions: head, neck, back, rump, belly, breast, legs, tail, wing primary feathers and wing covert feathers. Each section was inspected and given a score from 0 to 5: 0=Intact feathers, 1= up to three feathers missing, some scruffy, 2= greater than three feathers missing, 3= a bald patch smaller than 50% area, 4= bald patch greater than 50% area.

#### 6.3.6 Dissections

After 12 weeks the birds were killed by cervical dislocation. A peripheral blood plasma sample was taken for analysis. This sample was analysed for plasma urea nitrogen, *myo*-inositol and mineral analysis.

#### 6.3.7 Statistical Analysis

Two factor univariate general linear model (GLM) analysis of variance (ANOVA) tests within the statistical programme IBM SPSS Statistic 21 were used to analyse the data; when statistically significant, replicate was included in the model. All data was tested for normality using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The homogenity of variance of data was also analysed within the model. For the egg keeping quality analysis the data were analysed as a 2 x 2 x 5 factorial with betaine inclusion, phytase inclusion and age of egg (0, 7, 14, 21 or 28 days of age) used in the model and individual egg as the unit of replication. When significant post-hoc bonferroni tests were performed for multiple comparisons. Significance was assigned at P< 0.05.

#### 6.4 Results

#### 6.4.1 Diet Analysis

The diet analysis is shown in Table 6.2. The protein, fibre, calcium and phosphorus content of the diets were in line with the calculated composition in Table 6.1. The only notable deviation was a slightly elevated level of fat.

Nutrient Composition (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Control	Betaine	Phytase	Betaine & Phytase
Dry Matter	897.	900	900	904.
Ether Extract (OIL A)	61.4	60.1	61.4	58.0
Crude Protein	175	175	177	178
Crude Fibre	26	27	27	27
Ash	124	117	119	120
Calcium	38.0	37.4	35.8	36.8
Phosphorus	6.4	6.4	6.2	6.1
Available Phosphorus	4.5	4.6	4.4	4.4
Phytate-P	1.9	1.8	1.8	1.7
Sodium	1.5	1.5	1.2	1.3

#### Table 6.2. Analysed nutrient composition of the diets

# 6.4.2 The Effect of Betaine and Phytase on Laying Hen Performance

The effect of the dietary treatments on the performance of the birds over the whole trial are shown in Table 6.3. There was a trend for phytase addition to increase feed intake, in addition to a trend for betaine supplementation to decrease feed intake. There were no significant effects on egg production. There was no significant effect on egg mass, however, a trend for an interaction between dietary treatments was seen in adjusted egg mass.

The trends seen on egg mass and feed intake resulted in a trend for an interaction in FCR and a significant interaction in the adjusted FCR. Supplementation of both betaine and phytase alone gave significant improvements in FCR to 1.99 and 2.03 respectively in comparison to the FCR of birds on the control diet (2.11; Table 6.3). However, when supplemented together there was no significant benefit with an FCR of 2.07. The FCR of birds fed both supplements was not significantly different from either the control or the supplements fed alone; however, there was a trend for a difference between the addition of betaine without phytase and betaine with phytase. The addition of 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> to the laying hen diet significantly increased the weight gained by laying hens from 159 to 201 g while betaine had no effect.

e S
Ĕ
ű
ž
Ĕ
be
Ē
Je
9
2
ay
ō
se
ta
2
d
р
aı
ne
aii
ē
j d
õ
ភ្ល
£
e
ےّ
Γ.
<u>.</u> 3
e e
ā
Та

Betaine	Phytase	Ē	Egg Production	Egg Weight	Egg Mass	Adj Egg Mass	FCR	Adj FCR	Weight Gained
(g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	(FTU kg <sup>-1</sup> )	(g)	(%)	(ĝ)	(ĝ)	(g)			(6)
0	0	110	87.7	59.9	52.5	52.6	2.11	2.11 <sup>a</sup>	181
0	2500	113	92	60.4	55.3	55.6	2.04	2.03 <sup>b</sup>	192
7	0	108	06	60.5	54.1	54.4	2.01	1.99 <sup>b</sup>	136
2	2500	110	89	60.4	53.7	53.8	2.07	2.07 <sup>a</sup>	209
0		112	89.85	60.2	53.9	54.1	2.08	2.07	187
2		109	89.5	60.4	53.9	54.1	2.04	2.03	173
	0	109	88.9	60.2	53.3	53.5	2.062	2.05	159
	2500	112	90.5	60.4	54.5	54.7	2.055	2.05	201
SEM		1.0	1.7	0.43	1.20	1.05	0.04	0.03	20
P-Value									
Betaine		0.081	NS	NS	SN	NS	SN	SN	NS
Phytase		0.075	NS	SN	SN	NS	SN	NS	<0.05
Betaine ×	Phytase	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.089	0.067	<0.05	NS
<sup>a-b</sup> Means witł	nin columns with nc	o common	superscript differ signific	antly (P<0.05)					

## 6.4.3 The Effect of Betaine and Phytase on Egg Quality

The effect of the dietary treatments on egg quality across the whole trial are presented in Table 6.4. The treatments did not affect the shell quality, BMS score or albumen quality. There was however, a significant interaction effect on the yolk colour. The addition of phytase and betaine alone reduced the yolk colour score from 12.27 to 11.68 and 11.81 respectively but had no effect when included within the diet together. There was also a trend for phytase to increase the yolk weight.

# 6.4.4 The Effect of Betaine and Phytase on Egg Quality during Storage

The effects of storing eggs for up to 4 weeks at room temperature on their percent weight loss are presented in Table 6.5. There were no differences in egg weight between any of the treatments at the start of this experiment. The loss of egg weight was slowed by the inclusion of betaine in the laying hen diet. By day 14 of storage, eggs from birds fed the betaiine supplemented diets had lost only 1.6% of their start weight in comparison to the 1.8% weight loss of eggs from birds fed the diets without betaine (P<0.05). This significant difference remained so for the remainder of their storage.

Table 6.6. shows the effect of the diets on egg quality over the 4 weeks of storage. The egg weight, Haugh unit and yolk colour all decreased over time while the yolk weight increased from 15.1 to 16.7 g. The storage time also significantly affected shell thickness, increasing between day 0 and day 7 from 345  $\mu$ m to 354  $\mu$ m followed by a decrease to 346  $\mu$ m by day 28. Phytase significantly decreased the Haugh units of the egg albumen from 52.8 to 50.5. In addition this, phytase increased yolk weight (16.2 vs 16.39 g, P=0.051), shell weight (6.05 vs 6.14 g, P<0.01) and shell strength (4.02 vs 4.20 kgf, P<0.05). There was also a trend for an increase in shell thickness and egg weight.

quality
n egg
phytase o
and
betaine
of
effects
4 The
<u>.</u>
Table

Betaine	Phytase	Haugh Unit	Yolk colour	Yolk weight	BMS score	Shell thickness	Shell weight	Shell Strength
( g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	(FTU kg <sup>-1</sup> )			(g)		(mu)	(g)	(kgf)
0	0	85.2	12.27 <sup>a</sup>	14.32	1.44	0.36	5.91	4.18
0	2500	84.2	11.68 <sup>b</sup>	14.72	1.56	0.36	5.9	4.28
7	0	86.7	11.81 <sup>b</sup>	14.31	1.78	0.36	5.89	4.17
7	2500	85.1	12.18 <sup>a</sup>	14.38	1.98	0.36	5.9	4.16
0		84.7	11.975	14.52	1.5	0.36	5.905	4.23
2		85.9	11.995	14.345	1.88	0.36	5.895	4.165
	0	85.9	12.04	14.315	1.61	0.36	5.9	4.175
	2500	84.7	11.93	14.55	1.77	0.36	5.9	4.22
SEM		1.05	0.122	0.13	0.288	0.003	0.04	0.079
P-Value								
Betaine		NS	SN	SN	SN	NS	SN	NS
Phytase		SN	SN	0.078	SN	NS	SN	NS
Betaine × Phy	/tase	NS	<0.001	SN	NS	NS	SN	NS
<sup>a-b</sup> Means within	columns with no com	nmon superscript dif	fer significantly (P<	:0.05)				

- 159 -

Betaine	Phytase	Start Egg	Percent weight	weight loss	relative to	start
(g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	(FTU kg <sup>-1)</sup>	weight (g)	Day 7	Day 14	Day 21	Day 28
0	0	62.16	0.825	1.820	3.057	3.967
0	2500	62.68	0.854	1.755	2.835	3.730
2	0	62.84	0.820	1.569	2.596	3.399
2	2500	63.06	0.795	1.634	2.661	3.503
0		62.42	0.839	1.787	2.946	3.848
2		62.95	0.808	1.602	2.629	3.451
	0	62.5	0.822	1.695	2.827	3.683
	2500	62.87	0.825	1.694	2.748	3.616
SEM P-Value		0.55	0.028	0.08	0.146	0.182
Betaine		NS	NS	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Phytase		NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Betaine >	< Phytase	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS

Table 6.5 The effect of betaine and phytase on weight loss during storage

				6					
Day	Betaine	Phytase	Egg weight	Haugh units	Yolk Colour	Yolk Weight	Shell thickness	Shell weight	Shell Strength
	(g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	(FTU kg <sup>-1</sup> )	(b)			(6)	шц	(g)	kgf
0			62.57	86.08	11.7	15.13	345	6.05	4.191
7			62.52	58.26	11.9	16.58	354	6.08	4.022
14			61.86	42.47	11.2	16.38	347	6.08	4.175
21			61.27	33.07	11	16.69	347	6.16	4.136
28			60.4	38.4	11.3	16.67	346	6.1	4.022
	0	0	61.14	51.85	11.7 <sup>a</sup>	16.22	347	6.02	3.986
	0	2500	61.72	50.26	11.1 <sup>b</sup>	16.39	349	6.13	4.244
	2	0	61.88	53.79	11.1 <sup>b</sup>	16.17	346	6.09	4.045
	2	2500	62.16	50.73	11.8 <sup>a</sup>	16.38	349	6.15	4.162
	0		61.43	51.06	11.4	16.31	348	6.075	4.115
	2		62.02	52.26	11.45	16.28	348	6.12	4.104
		0	61.51	52.82	11.4	16.2	347	6.055	4.016
		2500	61.94	50.5	11.45	16.39	349	6.14	4.203
SEM			0.264	0.989	0.136	0.097	1.6	0.03	0.084
P-Value									
Time			<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.005	NS	Ns
Betaine			<0.05	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Phytase			0.105	<0.05	NS	0.051	0.061	<0.01	<0.05
Betaine × Phyta	Ise		NS	NS	<0.001	NS	NS	NS	NS
<sup>a-b</sup> Means within	i columns with i	no common supersc	sript differ significant	y (P<0.05)					

Table 6.6. The effect of betaine, phytase and storage time on egg quality

- 161 -

# 6.4.5 The Effect of Betaine and Phytase on Laying Hen Feather Score

Examination of the feather cover showed that there was a significant interaction between the betaine and phytase inclusion in relation to back feather score (P<0.05, Shown in Fig 6.1.) There was a tendency for birds that received dietary betaine supplementation alone to have a poorer feather score on their backs in comparison to birds fed the control diet (P<0.094). Bird fed phytase and betaine in combination had a lower feather score indicating better feather cover in comparison to those fed betaine alone (P<0.05). Similar patterns to those shown in Fig 6.1 were also seen in the feather score of the neck and head of chickens with trends for dietary interactions. The diets had no significant effects on the feather score of the flight feathers, the belly or legs of hens.



Figure 6.1 The effect of betaine and phytase on the mean feather score of the back of laying hens with standard error bars. <sup>a-b</sup> Means within columns with no common superscript differ significantly (P<0.05)

# 6.4.6 The Effects of Betaine and Phytase on Blood Plasma Parameters

The addition of phytase and betaine either alone or together had a significant effect on some of the blood measurements, as shown in Table 6.7. There was a significant interaction between the dietary treatments and the concentration of PUN in laying hens. The PUN was significantly decreased by phytase with a significant for an interaction. The addition of both phytase alone reduced PUN relative to the control from 4.81 to 3.28 mg dl<sup>-1</sup>, whereas, betaine supplementation alone reduce PUN to 3.50 mg dl<sup>-1</sup>. The addition of the supplements in combination also reduced PUN to 3.49 mg dl<sup>-1</sup>; this effect however, was not additive and not significantly lower than the PUN level of the supplements fed alone.

The addition of phytase to the control diet significantly increased the concentration of *myo*-inositol within the blood of laying hens from 24.1 to 25 mg  $\Gamma^1$ , while the addition of betaine reduced the concentration of *myo*-inositol from 25.0 to 24.0 mg  $\Gamma^1$ . A significant interaction was also seen whereby phytase alone increased *myo*-inositol concentration relative to the control while betaine alone had no effect. The supplementation of the diet with phytase and betaine in combination reduced the *myo*-inositol concentration relative to the birds fed phytase alone.

The haematocrit of blood was not significantly affected by the supplements, but there was a trend for an interaction. The addition of both supplements gave a numerical increase in the haematocrit when each was fed alone but in combination they gave a small reduction in the haematocrit value of the blood.

The mineral analysis generally showed that numerically both betaine and phytase reduced the concentration of minerals. Betaine significantly reduced the concentration of phosphorus and magnesium in the blood while phytase reduced the concentration of magnesium and copper. There was a significant interaction regarding the concentration of iron. The addition of both supplements fed alone significantly increased the concentration of iron in the blood plasma, but when supplemented in combination the effect was not large numerically and insignificant.

	ILC CILCCI OI DCIAILIC	alla pily to										
Betaine	Phytase	PUN	<i>Myo</i> -inositol	Hematocrit	¥	Ca	٩	Mg	Zn	Fe	Cu	Mn
(g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	(FTU kg <sup>_1</sup> )	(mg dl <sup>-1</sup> )	(mg l <sup>-1</sup> )		u bri)	1 <sup>-1</sup> )						
0	0	4.81 <sup>a</sup>	24.0 <sup>b</sup>	21.7	270	193	70.8	30.8	2.13	1.02	0.23	0.036
0	2,500	3.28 <sup>5</sup>	26.0 <sup>a</sup>	22.3	310	157	57.9	25.0	1.60	1.64	0.20	0.043
2	0	3.50 <sup>b</sup>	24.1 <sup>b</sup>	23.2	360	154	52.5	23.1	1.91	1.56	0.24	0.038
N	2,500	3.49 <sup>b</sup>	24.0 <sup>b</sup>	21.3	371	130	43.1	17.3	1.55	1.34	0.17	0.023
0		4.05	25.0	22.0	290	175	64.4	27.9	1.86	1.33	0.22	0.039
N		3.39	24.0	22.3	365	142	47.8	20.2	1.73	1.45	0.20	0.031
	0	4.16	24.1	22.4	315	174	61.7	26.9	2.02	1.29	0.23	0.037
	2,500	3.38	25.0	21.8	340	143	50.5	21.2	1.57	1.49	0.19	0.033
SEM		0.21	0.26	0.37	31	10	3.5	1.5	0.11	0.11	0.01	0.003
P-Value												
Betaine		SN	<0.05	NS	SN	SN	<0.05	<0.01	SN	SN	SN	NS
Phytase		<0.05	<0.05	NS	SN	SN	0.105	<0.05	<0.05	SN	<0.05	NS
Betaine x P	hytase	<0.05	<0.05	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	<0.05	NS	NS
<sup>a-b</sup> Means withir	1 columns with no common :	superscript diff	er significantly (P<0.05)									

Table 6.7 The effect of hetaine and nhvtase on the blood nlasma narameters

## 6.5 Discussion

#### 6.5.1 Comparison with Breeder Expectations

The birds used in this trial were 100 grams overweight at the start and end of the trial in relation to the breeders expectations (Joice and Hill, 2014). The egg production of the birds on this trial was lower than the breeder expectations (91.6 vs 89.7%), while the eggs were 2 grams heavier. This gave an egg mass production that was on target which, with a reduced daily feed intake (113 vs 110g), gave a slightly reduced FCR (2.15 vs 2.05)

# 6.5.2 The Effect of Betaine and Phytase on Laying Hen Performance

In this trial, the weight gained by laying hens was higher when birds were fed a phytase diet. Similar effects have been seen in all of the trials in this thesis. This suggests that including greater levels of phytase in the diet does benefit the nutrition of the laying hens, allowing it to invest more energy and protein in maintenance and growth.

Throughout this experiment, the addition of phytase without betaine to a start of lay hen gave numerical benefits in egg production, egg weight and egg mass which gave an improved FCR in spite of a trend for an increase in feed intake. Similar effects were seen in the previous trials. In Chapter 4, including phytase at above standard levels in start of lay trials has given improvements in FCR through a small increase in egg production, decrease in feed intake and a steady egg weight. It may be that younger birds utilise the extra phosphoric benefits of phytase more readily than older birds. In Chapter 5, the addition of above standard phytase inclusions to a mid-lay diet gave significant benefits to performance, but the effect on FCR was weak and variable. As discussed in Chapter 5, Meyer and Parsons (2011) did not find any benefit of including an above standard phytase dose in birds from 32 weeks of age. Similarly, Augspurger and colleagues (2007) failed to show any significant benefits of including a high phytase diet relative to standard doses to birds in their second lay cycle after a moult. It is possible that this is because the improvement in performance was related to the release of myo-inositol from phytic acid, and younger growing animals have a greater requirement of myo-inositol. The addition of higher than standard inclusion levels of phytase has, however, been shown to benefit the
performance of other growing monogastrics (Cowieson et al., 2010). Walk et al. (2014) showed that including phytase at 2,000FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> gave benefits to FCR that could not be explained by increasing phosphorus and calcium in the diet. These benefits are referred to as the extra-phosphoric effects: these include improving the digestion of protein, carbohydrates and minerals, reducing endogenous secretions and losses, increasing the AMEn of the diet and finally releasing *myo*-inositol.

The supplementation of a diet with betaine numerically decreased egg production, but increased egg weight, which resulted in no change in egg mass production. This, in combination with a trend for a reduced feed intake significantly improved FCR. Zou and Lu (2002) have previously shown that 0.6 g kg<sup>-1</sup> of betaine improved egg production by 8.7% and FCR by 9.0% without affecting feed intake or egg weight. Park et al. (2006) found that betaine supplementation increased egg weight but had no effect on egg production. Gudev et al. (2011) found that including betaine at 0.7 or 1.5 g kg<sup>-1</sup> increased egg numbers and egg mass but decreased egg weight; this is similar to the results of Ryu et al. (2003). When hens under heat stress were fed a diet supplemented with betaine egg production and FCR were improved. Contrary to these studies, Harms and Russell (2002) found that 0.166% betaine inclusion had no benefit on egg production, egg weight, egg mass, feed intake, FCR or weight gain.

An interesting interaction was seen regarding FCR, with both phytase and betaine improving FCR significantly when supplemented alone but in combination having a smaller and insignificant effect. Contrary to this, Debicki-Garnier and Hruby (2003) found that supplementation of a broiler diet with betaine and phytase improved the feed intake, end body weight and body weight gain of broilers, but there was no significant effect on the FCR. The differences seen here are likely to be due to the differences between broilers and laying hens. The antagonism seen in this trial between phytase and betaine suggests they should not be used together in industry. It is of interest to understand the mechanisms behind this antagonistic effect so the benefits of both supplements can be utilised commercially. It is possible that this opposition is due to their actions within the gastrointestinal tract. However, it is unlikely that betaine could significantly decrease phytic acid hydrolysis from exogenous phytase or prevent the absorption of nutrients released from phytate, as betaine is known to improve nutrient digestibility and uptake. Debicki-Garnier and Hruby (2003) showed that the addition of

betaine to a diet supplemented with phytase further reduced ash excreted, suggesting greater phytic acid hydrolysis. Phytase hydrolysing phytic acid will release cations from phytate complexes. It is possible that the release of these charged ions will affect the osmotic environment across the wall of the tract and so affect betaine uptake from the lumen of the intestines, but again this is unlikely because betaine can be moved against the osmotic gradient.

It is more likely that the antagonistic effects of betaine and phytase are due to interactions between betaine and *myo*-inositol. As discussed in the introduction, *myo*-inositol is released from phytic acid hydrolysis, and although it is chemically different from betaine in structure, they have similar metabolic niches with considerable overlap. Betaine, *myo*-inositol and taurine are the main osmoprotectants within the chicken. It is plausible that this overlap in functions reduces the uptake of both *myo*-inositol and betaine from small intestines, when their availability is increased. The mechanisms of controlling uptake of different osmolytes into cells is very similar (Goldstein and Davis, 1993, Handler and Kwon, 1996). Although, Goldstein and Davis (1993) did not find that increasing the concentration of one osmolyte reduced the uptake of another in erythrocytes.

The analysis of the *myo*-inositol in blood plasma supports this apparent antagonism, showing that the addition of phytase to the control diet increases the circulating concentration of myo-inositol. The supplementation of betaine in combination with phytase reversed this and brought the concentration of myo-inositol back to the level of the control and betaine alone. Firstly, this indicates that myo-inositol bioavailability may be increased by high dose phytase supplementation. This is in agreement with the phytase dose response trial (Chapter 5), which showed an increase in liver myo-inositol concentration with higher phytase inclusion. Similarly, Cowieson et al. (2014) found that high phytase inclusion increased the concentration of blood myo-inositol. The effect of the treatments on the blood myo-inositol also supports the theory that the increase in myo-inositol is important in relation to the benefits delivered by high phytase dose. This is because the addition of betaine with phytase not only reversed the increase in blood myoinositol concentration, but also FCR. It is thought that myo-inositol may be an important contributor regarding the improvement in animal performance seen with high phytase doses (Cowieson et al., 2011). Myo-inositol has been shown to improve the growth of fish (Waagbo et al., 1998), rats (Katayama, 1997) and the chicken (Hegsted, 1941). Two studies in broilers have shown

*myo*-inositol can benefit growth and efficiency (Cowieson et al., 2013, Żyła et al., 2013).

It is noteworthy that antagonistic effects have been seen between myoinositol and choline. Choline is readily oxidised to betaine within animal tissues and utilised for methylation in addition to protecting cells from osmotic stresses. Interestingly, one of the benefits of myo-insoitol and choline/beatine is their ability to transport fat and reduce incidences of fatty liver disease. The administration of inositol and choline alone prevented the formation of fatty livers more than when given in combination (Forbes, 1943). Tylor and McKibbin (1952) showed that the growth of myo-inositol deficient yeast was suppressed by choline. In rats fed a choline deficient diet, renal necrosis was aggravated by myo-inositol supplementation (Handler, 1946). Similarly, slipped tendons (perosis) caused by choline deficiency in turkeys (Jukes, 1941) and chickens (Agranoff and Spivey-Fox, 1959) was exasperated by myo-inositol supplementation, increasing in appearance and severity. It seems logical that because the uptake of betaine and myo-inositol are controlled in the same way, an increase in the concentration of one would inhibit the uptake of the other and exacerbate deficiencies and their symptoms. It could be hypothesised that greater availability of both betaine and myo-inositol could reduce the uptake of both osmolytes, still provide the osmoprotection needed by cells but reduce the other metabolic benefits that these compounds bring, that have been discussed at length in the introduction.

#### 6.5.3 The Effect of Betaine and Phytase on Egg Quality

The analysis of egg quality across the duration of the trial revealed one significant effect. An interaction between treatments, while both phytase and betaine supplemented alone made the yolks paler, together they restored the yolk colour to equal the control diet. In Chapter 5, it was found that phytase inclusion could increase the intensity of colour in egg yolks. Which is in contrast to the findings here. The difference between these two studies is the inclusion level of phytase. In the previous trial, 250 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> numerically increased the colour score of the NC diet restoring it to the level of the PC. The inclusion of 1000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> actually gave a numerical decrease in yolk colour relative to the PC and 250 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> diet. Finally, the deepening of yolk colour relative to the PC was not seen until phytase was included at 4000 and 16000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>. In this experiment, 2,500 FTU <sup>-1</sup> was used as the phytase dose. Other experiments have shown that standard

inclusion levels of phytase can restore yolk colour to phosphorus deficient diets (Kozłowski and Jeroch, 2011, Englmaierová et al., 2012). It is possible that two mechanisms are in place here; initially phytase frees phosphorus and so reverse a deficiency allowing a restoration of yolk colour but not intensifying it greater than the control. As phytase dose is increased to 1000 to 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>, some of the *myo*-inositol is released from the near complete hydrolysis of phytic acid and seems to negatively affect yolk colour. Myo-inositol can affect the transport of fats and fat soluble compounds such as carotenoids (Pirgozliev et al., 2010b), as can betaine (Matthews and Southern, 2000). Further supplementation of phytase increases the myo-inositol released from phytic acid, and this increases the level of carotenoids transported to the egg yolk. Pirgozliev et al. (2010) showed that 3000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase increased carotenoid concentration in the liver of broilers. Matthews and Southern (2000) showed that betaine could increase and decrease the concentration of circulating carotenoids in broilers depending upon an immune challenge from Eimeria acervulina. It is interesting that both a further increase in phytase and betaine on top of phytase appears to reverse some of the negative effects of 1000-2500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup>. Whether through changes in carotenoid metabolism or digestion, it is clear that there are complex relationships between myo-inositol, betaine and carotenoids which can effect egg pigmentation when fed in a commercial situation.

Weight loss that occurs during storage was found to be reduced by betaine. From the time of laying, the egg loses weight as water evaporates through the pores of the shell (Williams, 1992). Although unpublished, Dr Cadogan discussed the results from a pilot trial as part of Dansico Sub-project 2.1.1., stating that including 1g kg<sup>-1</sup> dietary betaine could increase the content of betaine in eggs almost threefold (PoultryCRC, 2011). This is interesting because betaine has previously been shown to maximise water retention against osmotic gradients and evaporation in intestinal cells (Kettunen et al., 2001) and plant leaves (Lai et al., 2014). It is likely that in this trial, dietary betaine supplementation has increased the concentration of betaine within the egg and so reduced the evaporation of water from the egg. Time also significantly decreased the Haugh unit score as expected; this was due to a loss of carbon dioxide and an increase in the alkalinity of the albumen, which starts albumen liquefaction (Li-Chan and Nakai, 1989, Williams, 1992). Similarly, as anticipated, the weight of the egg yolk increased as water and amino acids moved across the vitelline membrane from the albumen (Heath, 1977).

Although the dietary treatments did not affect the changes in quality over time, differences in egg quality were seen that were not observed throughout the rest of the trial. This is probably because the differences are more pronounced towards the end of the trial, and because a greater total number of eggs were analysed in order to assess the effect of time.

Both betaine and phytase significantly increased egg weight, which supports the numerical patterns seen throughout the 12 weeks of the trial that failed to reach significance, shown in Table 6.3. Phytase also increased the egg yolk weight in line with egg weight. Phytase could benefit egg and yolk weight through the extra-phosphoric benefits, increasing nutrient digestibility or the release of *myo*-inositol. Betaine could benefit egg weight through an increase in nutrient digestibility through its affects as an osmoprotectant in the intestine, through a sparing effect of methionine or choline as a methyl donor, or through the direct effects of methyl donation(Ratriyanto et al., 2009). Finally, an increase in egg betaine content may increase the uptake of water into the egg during its formation in the oviduct which would increase egg weight. This may explain why unlike phytase, there was not an increase in yolk weight and a significant reduction in relative yolk weight was seen.

Phytase also decreased the Haugh unit score of eggs, indicating poorer albumen quality. Similar significant results were seen in Chapter 5, while in Chapter 4 a non-significant decrease in Haugh units was seen. As discussed in Chapter 5, phytase will increase phytic acid hydrolysis, preventing the formation of phytate. The release in trace minerals will increase their availability; highly available trace minerals have previously been shown to reduce albumen quality (Sell et al., 1982).

Finally, phytase was shown to benefit egg shell quality. This is in agreement with Chapter 3 but in contrast to Chapters 4 and 5. The differences are likely to be due to the birds' calcium store status and dietary calcium levels.

Higher phytase inclusions increase the hydrolysis of phytic acid, reducing the formation of phytate complexes, and so improve calcium availability. Greater calcium availability will replenish calcium stores within the chicken and allow more calcium to be deposited on the shell membrane during shell formation (Clunies et al., 1992). The phytase benefit had a stronger effect on shell strength and weight in comparison to shell thickness because phytase also increased the egg size, and so the calcium had to be spread more thinly (Roland, 1979).

# 6.5.4 The Effect of Betaine and Phytase on Laying Hen Feather Score

The supplementation of a diet with betaine and phytase gave numerical increases in the feather scores on the back of laying hens. The biggest effect seen was phytase decreased feather score, indicating less pecking when supplemented to the betaine diet, but not the control. Nutrition has been shown to play an important role in the establishment of feather pecking behaviours (Van Krimpen et al., 2005). Increasing protein in a diet has been shown to decrease feather pecking (Schaible et al., 1947), while increasing energy content of a diet increases feather pecking (Elwinger, 1981). Minerals are also important, most notably, reducing sodium levels increases feather pecking (Hughes and Whitehead, 1979) while increasing magnesium has been shown to decrease feather pecking (Schaible et al., 1947). The effect of the treatment was small, even when significant, but should be noted and may justify further investigation to understand underlying mechanisms involved which are undoubtedly complicated.

### 6.5.5 The Effect of Betaine and Phytase on Blood Plasma Parameters

The effect of phytase and betaine on the concentration of *myo*-inositol have already been discussed in Section 6.5.2, but other dietary effects were seen on the blood plasma. There was a significant interaction with both phytase and betaine decreasing PUN by 32 and 27% respectively, but together they had no greater effect. An elevated PUN concentration can result from increased protein intake, protein catabolism or impaired kidney function; one possible caused of impaired kidney function kidney dehydration. Both *myo*-inositol and betaine are osmoprotectants that benefit kidney function and so reduce protein catabolism and PUN levels. Similarly, decreases in blood urea nitrogen (BUN) with phytase addition have been seen in pigs (Liu et al., 2010) and broilers (Jiang et al., 2013). In contrast to this, Baidoo and Walker (2003) failed to find any effect while Johnston and colleagues (2004) found that phytase increased BUN in pigs. Hagar and Al Malki (2014) showed that betaine could reduce and restore BUN levels after rats had renal injuries induced by cadmium intoxication.

The effect of the treatments on blood mineral concentration is interesting. In previous experiments significant increases have been seen in multiple minerals with phytase addition, whereas in this trial phytase significantly

decreased the concentrations of magnesium, copper and zinc. The reason of this contrast may be due to the age of the birds and the duration of the trial. Increasing the availability of minerals at an early age may increase the minerals stored within the body and reduce their requirements, and therefore the absorption and circulation of minerals after 12 weeks. This however, is just one possibility and further research is needed to investigate the dichotomy seen between the trials.

#### 6.5.6 Conclusions

The inclusion of a high phytase dose or betaine alone benefited laying hen efficiency. In birds which received phytase this was achieved by increasing egg production and weight, while for birds which received betaine there were smaller increases in egg production and weight; but the decrease in feed intake also gave an improved FCR.

When supplemented within a diet together the benefits to FCR were reduced. This may be due to an antagonist relationship between myoinositol and betaine which has been documented previously. Indeed, phytase supplementation increased the concentration of circulating myoinositol while betaine supplementation on top of phytase reversed this effect. Phytase was once again shown to benefit shell quality, presumably by increasing calcium availability, while betaine reduced the weight lost by eggs over time in storage. This may be due to increased betaine within the egg reducing the loss of water through evaporation. The supplements had an interesting effect on yolk colour, reducing the intensity of colours when fed alone however, in combination the colour was restored to the level of the control. PUN was reduced by both betaine and phytase supplementation, which could be due to the osmolytes myo-inositol and betaine improving kidney function and reducing protein catabolism. Finally, in contrast to previous experiment phytase supplementation did not increase the concentration of circulating minerals but actually decreased the levels of magnesium, copper and zinc. This may be due to excessive mineral availability earlier in the trial but needs further investigation.

# Chapter 7 General Discussion

# 7.1 The Effect of High Phytase Inclusion on Laying Hen Performance

The aim of this thesis was to discover if using higher than standard phytase inclusion levels could benefit laying hens. In Chapter 3, the above standard inclusion of phytase failed to significantly benefit laying hen performance; however, this is likely due to the short length of the trial. The three other experiments in this thesis, all indicated improvements in performance with high phytase doses. The experiments described in Chapters 4 and 6 showed improvements in FCR.

In Chapter 4, the FCR of laying hens was improved from 2.06 to 2.02 by 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> in comparison to a positive control diet. This was caused by small non-significant increases in egg production (96.1 vs 96.8%) and a trend for a reduced daily feed intake (116.2 vs 114.2g). Chapter 4, also showed that phytase and glucanase did not inhibit each other, and were additive in terms of the benefits in bird weight gain.

In Chapter 6, FCR was improved by 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase from 2.11 to 2.03 in comparison to a control diet. This was a result of an insiginicant increase in egg production and egg weight from 88 to 92%, and 59.9 to 60.4g respectively. Betaine was shown to have an antagonistic relationship with phytase. When fed alone, betaine also reduced the FCR of laying hens from 2.11 to 1.99. However, the FCR of laying hens fed both supplements in comination (2.07), was not reduced in comparison to those fed the control diet and was significantly different from that of the hens fed the supplements alone. This may be due to the overlap in metabolic function of *myo*-inositol and betaine.

In Chapter 5, high phytase inclusions clearly demonstrated benefits in comparison with a positive control, negative control and standard inclusion levels. In particular an increase in egg mass production was quite pronounced. Birds fed the above standard inclusion levels of phytase produced 60.8g d<sup>-1</sup> egg mass. This was significantly higher than birds fed the positive control, negative control and standard inclusion diets (58.9, 58.3 and

60.5g d<sup>-1</sup> of egg mass respectively). This is in contrast with the studies of Augspurger et al. (2007) and Meyer et al. (2011); neither study found benefits from including higher phytase doses. As discussed in Chapter 4, both of these trials used white egg breeds and birds with very low egg production, whereas the production of the chickens on all the trials in this thesis were high. Augspurger et al. (2007) also used older birds that had been moulted and were in their second cycle. Trials by other authors have shown that higher phytase doses can benefit piglet and broiler performance (Pirgozlier et al., 2007, Walk et al., 2014). It is thought that these benefits are due to improvements in protein digestion, diet AMEn, reductions in endogenous losses and the greater availability of *myo*-inositol (Cowieson et al., 2011).

It can be concluded from this thesis that the inclusion of high levels of phytase, sometimes denoted as "superdoses," can benefit laying hen performance. However, research from other authors has indicated that these benefits are not always reliable. In addition to this, the benefits seen throughout this thesis have varied between improvements in egg weight, egg mass and efficiency. Other dietary factors, such as betaine inclusion, can also inhibit these improvements. Future experiments need to investigate how the performance improvements seen in this thesis can be manipulated to provide an economic benefit to nutritionists and farmers, improve laying hen efficiencies and reduce the environmental impact of poultry farming.

#### 7.2 The Effect of High Phytase Inclusion on Myo-Inositol

The inclusion of phytase in laying hen diets increased the concentration of *myo*-inositol in the liver and blood in Chapters 5 and 6 respectively. In Chapter 5, the hepatic *myo*-inositol concentration continued to rise with each increase in phytase inclusion from 1.45mg g<sup>-1</sup> in birds fed the negative control diet to 4.1mg g<sup>-1</sup> in birds fed the 16,000 FTU<sup>-1</sup> diet. In Chapter 6, 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> increased the concentration of blood plasma from 24.0 to 26.0mg l<sup>-1</sup>. However, when supplemented to a diet with 2g kg<sup>-1</sup> betaine, phytase had no effect on the blood plasma concentration of myo-inositol. Cowieson et al. (2014) has similarly shown that blood plasma *myo*-inositol concentration continued to increase with phytase inclusion in broilers diets. This suggests the highest inclusion levels of supplemental phytase continue to increase the absorption of *myo*-inositol. Future work needs to asses if improvements in performance and increases in *myo*-inositol absorbtion are

due to a previously unappreciated requirement for *myo*-inositol. The link between an increased blood plasma *myo*-inositol concentration and an improved FCR, as seen in Chapter 6, suggest this may be the case.

As discussed previously, myo-inositol and its derivatives have a large array of metabolic functions including: fat transport, (Katayama, 1997), insulin mimicry (Dang et al., 2010, Yamashita, 2013), protection form osmotic stresses (Lien et al., 1993), anchoring proteins to cell membranes (Brown and Waneck, 1992), secondary messengers (Berridge, 1993), and possibly protecting cells form oxidative stress (Doria et al., 2009). The supplementation of diets with myo-inositol has been shown to benefit growth in fish (Waagbo et al., 1998), rats (Katayama, 1997) and chickens (Hegsted, 1941). Two studies in broilers have shown myo-inositol can benefit growth and efficiency (Cowieson et al., 2013 and Zyla et al., 2004), whereas one study in laying hens found myo-inositol had small non-significant negative effects on performance of birds fed a slightly deficient diet (Zyla et al., 2012). Myo-inositol may not be able to deliver benefits to the animal if phosphorus is deficient, as many of the metabolic functions of myo-inositol require it to be phosphorylated once within the animal. Future experiments should be conducted to investigate the laying hen's requirement of myo-inositol when fed a phosphorus adequate diet. Experiments should also be conducted to explore what other factors influence myo-inositol digestibility and retention. The antagonistic relationship between myo-inositol and betaine is particularly interesting given the increase in use of both phytase and betaine in commercial diets. An experiment should be conducted to assess if betaine inhibits the uptake of myo-inositol from the gastrointestinal tract or impeds its metabolic functions once within the animal.

#### 7.3 The Effect of High Phytase Inclusion on Minerals

The effect of high phytase inclusion on mineral bioavailability varied between the different experiments. Chapter 3 showed the clearest mineral effects, with 2,500FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase increasing the solubility of minerals within the gastrointestinal tract and the concentration of multiple minerals within the blood plasma. For example, the solubility of calcium was increased in the from 5.1 to 7.9% soluble in the gizzard, 4.0 to 12.3% soluble in the duodenum and 0.5 to 1.3% soluble in the ileum. The results from the other studies were less consistent in relation to minerals. In Chapter 5, the dose response of phytase only gave one clear mineral result; increasing phytase

up to 16000 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> continued to increase the blood plasma zinc concentration from 1.67 to 2.2  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>. In Chapter 6, 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase supplementation decreased some blood plasma mineral concentrations, including magnesium (from 26.9 to 21.2  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>), zinc (from 2.02 to 1.57  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>) and copper (from 0.23 to 0.19  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>). It is possible that the benefits are clearer in Chapter 3 because this trial did not last as long and so the birds had less time to respond to higher availabilities of minerals. Differences in dietary mineral concentrations may also have had an effect. It is known that an excess of one mineral can reduce the availability of another (Pontoppidan et al.,2007a). The greater availability of multiple minerals may be responsible for some of the benefits seen from increased phytase inclusion. However, for this to be accepted as true, the mineral requirements of birds fed diets with and without a high phytase inclusion needs to be assessed in future trials.

#### 7.4 The Effect of High Phytase Inclusion on Egg Quality

The inclusion of higher phytase doses has been shown to affect egg quality. Firstly, in Chapters 3 and 6 phytase was shown to benefit shell quality, whereas in Chapter 4 and 5 phytase failed to have an effect. In chapter 3, egg shell strength was increased from 3.49 to 3.93kgf. In Chapter 6, 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase increased shell weight and shell strength from 6.07 to 6.12g and from 4.01 to 4.20kgf respectively. The lack of effect seen in Chapters 4 and 5 could be explained by the elevated calcium levels in the diets. In Chapters 4 and 5 the dietary calcium concentrations of the control diets were greater than 50g kg<sup>-1</sup>, whereas in Chapters 3 and 6 the concentrations were less than 50 and 40 g kg<sup>-1</sup> respectively. From these trials therefore, it can be concluded that the use of high phytase inclusion levels may allow a further reduction in dietary calcium concentrations while maintaining shell strength. This should be tested in future experiments to determine the calcium requirement of laying hens fed a high phytase diet.

Across all of the trials, the Haugh unit score was depressed by phytase inclusion. Although only a small effect was recorded, and this decrease was only significant in Chapters 5 and 6, it is noteworthy as this may reflect a greater risk. In Chapter 6, the Haugh unit score was reduced to 50.5 from 52.82 with phytase supplementation. The reduction in Haugh units is likely due to the release of trace minerals from phytate; some minerals such as vanadium have previously been shown to inhibit albumen quality. Chapter 3

has shown that 2,500 FTU kg<sup>-1</sup> phytase inclusion increases the solubility of minerals and their bioavailability. In addition to the benefits this may bring, it may also cause some problems as birds may overdose on some minerals that are only required in small quantities. If the high doses of phytase used in these experiments become the commercial standard, the laying hen requirements for all minerals will need to be investigated further. In addition to this, the toxicity levels of some minerals will also need to be analysed; for example, the acceptable levels of fluorine and vanadium contamination in phosphorus sources may need to be reduced. However, this may not be a problem as greater phytase inclusion is likely to result in a reduced inclusion of inorganic phosphorus.

Phytase has also been shown to affect egg yolk colour in an interesting, but inconsistent manner, which is probably due to *myo*-inositol affecting the transport of fat soluble carotenoids. Although this effect is probably not large enough to affect consumer preferences, it is interesting that *myo*-inositol may affect the transport of many fat soluble molecules and vitamins. Future research should focus on how the products of phytic acid hydrolysis, such as *myo*-inositol, can affect the digestion and metabolism of essential nutrients like the fat soluble vitamins.

## 7.5 Final Conclusions

The inclusion of dietary phytase at levels considered to be above standard has shown benefits to laying hens fed these diets in relation to birds fed positive controls, negative controls and standard phytase inclusions. Notably, the phytase has given increases in bird weight, egg weight and egg mass. While these results are encouraging and suggest greater nutrient availability from phytase inclusion, they are not in themselves always desirable. Laying hen nutritionists and farmers want to control both bird weight and egg weight rather than increase them indefinitely. This is because an increase in egg weight will result in a fall in egg numbers towards the end of the lay. Instead of using this data to predict the commercial benefits of high phytase inclusion, it should be used to show that phytase can benefit the nutritional status of the laying hen. The next step in this area of research is to investigate if the inclusion of a high phytase dose can allow a ration dilution; reducing the protein, energy and minerals levels of a laying hen diet without detrimentally affecting performance. This work should ideally be confirmed with longer trials that investigate the effects of phytase throughout the whole life cycle of the laying hen, from hatch to end

of lay. This research may allow a cheaper diet to be formulated utilising lowpriced, less nutrient dense ingredients. This research would enable cost benefit analysis to be done and recommendations to be made to laying hen nutritionists and farmers. Given that the cost of phytase is reducing, while the cost of protein, energy and phosphorus are increasing, it is likely that higher phytase inclusion levels will be more economical.

Increasingly, improved *myo*-inositol uptake is seen as a potential benefit from higher phytic acid hydrolysis and greater phytase inclusion levels. A lot more research is needed in this area as there is very little and much of it is outdated. In particular, it would be interesting to assess the impact of *myo*inositol inclusion in a nutritionally adequate laying hen diet. It would be fascinating to explore the *myo*-inositol requirement of hens at a variety of ages to see if the hypothesis about younger birds having a greater need is correct.

The use of higher phytase inclusion levels in this thesis has been shown to benefit laying hens. Future research should investigate the mechanisms behind these improvements, paying particular attention to the increased *myo*-inositol availability.

#### List of References

- 956/2008, C. R. E. of 29 September 2008. amending Annex IV to Regulation (EC) No 999/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council laying down rules for the prevention, control and eradication of certain transmissible spongiform encephalopathies.
- Aaman, P. & Graham, H. 1987. Analysis of total and insoluble mixed-linked  $(1\rightarrow 3),(1\rightarrow 4)$ -beta-D-glucans in barley and oats. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 35, 704-709.
- Abdallah, A. G., Harms, R. & El-Husseiny, O. 1993. Various methods of measuring shell quality in relation to percentage of cracked eggs. *Poultry Science*, 72, 2038-2043.
- Adeola, O. & Bedford, M. R. 2004. Exogenous dietary xylanase ameliorates viscosity-induced anti-nutritional effects in wheat-based diets for White Pekin ducks (Anas platyrinchos domesticus). *British Journal of Nutrition*, 92, 87-94.
- Agbede, J., Kluth, H. & Rodehutscord, M. 2009a. Amino acid digestibility and energy metabolisability as affected by dietary calcium and supplemented phytase in caecectomised laying hens. *Archiv fur Geflugelkunde*, 73, 73-79.
- Agbede, J. O., Kluth, H. & Rodehutscord, M. 2009b. Studies on the effects of microbial phytase on amino acid digestibility and energy metabolisability in caecectomised laying hens and the interaction with the dietary phosphorus level. *British Poultry Science*, 50, 583-591.
- Agranoff, B. & Spivey- Fox, M. 1959. Antagonism of choline and inositol.
- Ahmadi, A., Tabatabaei, M.M., Aliarabi, H., Saki, A.A., Hosseini Siyar, S.A. 2008. Performance and Egg Quality of Laying Hens Affected by Different sources of phytase. *Pakistan Journal of Biological Science* 11 (18), 2286-2288.
- Alltech 2013. Global Feed Summary. [Online]. [Accessed on 9 June 2014]. Available from http://www.alltech.com/sites/default/files/2013-feedtonnage-report.pdf
- Almirall, M. & Esteve-Garcia, E. 1995. *In vitro* stability of a β-glucanase preparation from *Trichoderma longibrachiatum* and its effect in a barley based diet fed to broiler chicks. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 54, 149-158.
- Amer, A. M. 2014. Effect of phytase enzyme supplementation in deficient phosphate diet on broiler performance and some blood traits. *International Journal of Science & Nature*, 5.
- Andersen, D. & Holub, B. 1980. *Myo*-inositol-responsive liver lipid accumulation in the rat. *The Journal of nutrition*, 110, 488-495.
- Anderson, R. J. 1914. A contribution to the chemistry of phytin. I. Composition of barium phytate and phytic acid. II. A study of the properties of phytic acid and its decomposition products. Eighth paper on phytin. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 17, 171-190.
- Angel, R. & Applegate, T. (2002). Phytase use what do we know? Proceedings of the 62nd Minnesota Nutrition Conference, 1-15.
- Angkanaporn, K., Choct, M., Bryden, W. L., Annison, E. F. & Annison, G. 1994. Effects of wheat pentosans on endogenous amino-acid losses

in chickens. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture,* 66, 399-404.

Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986. (c.14) London: Home Office

- Applegate, T. J., Angel, R. & Classen, H. L. 2003. Effect of dietary calcium, 25-hydroxycholecalciferol, or bird strain on small intestinal phytase activity in broiler chickens. *Poultry Science*, 82, 1140-1148.
- Arnold, R., Olson, O. & Carlson, C. 1974. Tissue selenium content and serum tocopherols as influenced by dietary type, selenium and vitamin E. *Poultry Science*, 53, 2185-2192.
- Attia, Y., Hassan, R., Shehatta, M. & Abd-El-Hady, S. B. 2005. Growth, carcass quality and serum constituents of slow growing chicks as affected by betaine addition to diets containing 2. Different levels of methionine. *International Journal of Poultry Science*, 4, 856-865.
- Augspurger, N., Webel, D., Lei, X. & Baker, D. 2003. Efficacy of an *E. coli* phytase expressed in yeast for releasing phytate-bound phosphorus in young chicks and pigs. *Journal of Animal Science*, 81, 474-483.
- Augspurger, N. R. & Baker, D. H. 2004. High dietary phytase levels maximize phytate-phosphorus utilization but do not affect protein utilization in chicks fed phosphorus or amino acid-deficient diets. *Journal of Animal Science*, 82, 1100-1107.
- Augspurger, N. R., Spencer, J. D., Webel, D. M. & Baker, D. H. 2004. Pharmacological zinc levels reduce the phosphorus-releasing efficacy of phytase in young pigs and chickens. *Journal of Animal Science*, 82, 1732-1739.
- Augspurger, N. R., Webel, D. M. & Baker, D. H. 2007. An *Escherichia coli* phytase expressed in yeast effectively replaces inorganic phosphorus for finishing pigs and laying hens. *Journal of Animal Science*, 85, 1192-1198.
- Augustine, P., Mcnaughton, J., Virtanen, E. & Rosi, L. 1997. Effect of betaine on the growth performance of chicks inoculated with mixed cultures of avian *Eimeria* species and on invasion and development of *Eimeria tenella* and *Eimeria acervulina in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Poultry Science*, 76, 802-809.
- Bagnasco, S. M., Uchida, S., Balaban, R. S., Kador, P. F. & Burg, M. B. 1987. Induction of aldose reductase and sorbitol in renal inner medullary cells by elevated extracellular NaCl. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 84, 1718-1720.
- Baidoo, S., Yang, Q. & Walker, R. 2003. Effects of phytase on apparent digestibility of organic phosphorus and nutrients in maize–soya bean meal based diets for sows. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 104, 133-141.
- Banks, K. M., Thompson, K. L., Jaynes, P. & Applegate, T. J. 2004a. The effects of copper on the efficacy of phytase, growth, and phosphorus retention in broiler chicks. *Poultry Science*, 83, 1335-1341.
- Banks, K. M., Thompson, K. L., Rush, J. K. & Applegate, T. J. 2004b. Effects of copper source on phosphorus retention in broiler chicks and laying hens. *Poultry Science*, 83, 990-996.
- Bauman, V. K. 1983. Vitamin D calcium binding protein and calcium absorption in the intestine. *Prikladnaya Biokhimiya i Mikrobiologiya*, 19, 11-19.

- Bearse, G., Mcclary, C. & Saxena, H. 1960. Blood spot incidence in chicken eggs and vitamin A level of the diet. *Poultry Science*, 39, 860-865.
- Bedford, M. & Morgan, A. Year. The use of enzymes in poultry diets. *In:* Presented at the WPSA UK Branch Symposium at Scarborough, 1995. Cambridge Univ Press.
- Bedford, M. R. 2000. Exogenous enzymes in monogastric nutrition their current value and future benefits. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 86, 1-13.
- Bedford, M. R. 2002. The role of carbohydrases in feedstuff digestion. *In: Poultry Feedstuffs: Supply, composition and nutritive value.* CABI Publishing.
- Bedford, M. R. & Partridge, G. G. 2001. *Enzymes in farm animal nutrition*, CABI.
- Bell, J. M. 1984. Nutrients and toxicants in rapeseed meal a review. *Journal of Animal Science*, 58, 996-1010.
- Berridge, M. J. 1993. Inositol trisphosphate and calcium signaling. *Nature*, 361, 315-325.
- Bhat, M. & Hazlewood, G. 2001. Enzymology and other characteristics of cellulases and xylanases. *Enzymes in Farm Animal Nutrition*, 7, 11-13.
- Bielecki, S. & Galas, E. 1991. Microbial β-glucanases different from cellulases. *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology*, 10, 275-304.
- Bilcik, B. & Keeling, L. J. 1999. Changes in feather condition in relation to feather pecking and aggressive behaviour in laying hens. British Poultry Science, 40, 444-45.
- Biggers, J., Lawitts, J. & Lechene, C. 1993. The protective action of betaine on the deleterious effects of NaCl on preimplantation mouse embryos *in vitro*. *Molecular Reproduction and Development*, 34, 380-390.
- Birge, S. J. & Avioli, R. C. 1981. Intestinal phosphate transport and alkaline phosphatase activity in the chick. *American Journal Physiology*, 240, E384-E390.
- Bitar, K. & Reinhold, J. G. 1972. Phytase and alkaline phosphatase activities in intestinal mucosae of rat, chicken, calf, and man. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Enzymology*, 268, 442-452.
- Bohnert, H. J., Nelson, D. E. & Jensen, R. G. 1995. Adaptations to environmental stresses. *Plant Cell*, **7**, 1099-1111.
- Boling-Frankenbach, S. D., Peter, C. M., Douglas, M. W., Snow, J. L., Parsons, C. M. & Baker, D. H. 2001. Efficacy of phytase for increasing protein efficiency ratio values of feed ingredients. *Poultry Science*, 80, 1578-1584.
- Brana, D., Ellis, M., Castaneda, E., Sands, J. & Baker, D. 2006. Effect of a novel phytase on growth performance, bone ash, and mineral digestibility in nursery and grower-finisher pigs. *Journal of Animal Science*, 84, 1839-1849.
- Brenes, A., Guenter, W., Marquardt, R. & Rotter, B. 1993. Effect of βglucanase/pentosanase enzyme supplementation on the performance of chickens and laying hens fed wheat, barley, naked oats and rye diets. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 73, 941-951.
- Bressman, R. B., Miles, R. D., Comer, C. W., Wilson, H. R. & Butcher, G. D. 2002. Effect of dietary supplementation of vanadium in commercial egg-type laying hens. *Journal of Applied Poultry Research*, 11, 46-53.

- Bromberger, P. & Hallman, M. 1986. *Myo*inositol in small preterm infants: relationship between intake and serum concentration. *Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition*, 5, 455-458.
- Broom, L. 2014. *RE: Problems with high glucanase inclusion.* Emailed to Pace, S. C, 6 September
- Brown, D. & Waneck, G. L. 1992. Glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol-anchored membrane proteins. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 3, 895-906.
- Burnett, G. 1966. Studies of viscosity as the probable factor involved in the improvement of certain barleys for chickens by enzyme supplementation. *British Poultry Science*, 7, 55-75.
- Cabahug, S., Ravindran, V., Selle, P. H. & Bryden, W. L. 1999. Response of broiler chickens to microbial phytase supplementation as influenced by dietary phytic acid and non-phytate phosphorus contents. I. Effects on bird performance and toe ash. *British Poultry Science*, 40, 660-666.
- Cadogan, D. J., Campbell, R. G., D. Harrison, D. & Edwards, A. C. 1993.
   The effects of betaine on the growth performance and carcass characteristics of female pigs. *Manipulating Pig Production IV*.
   Victoria, Australia: E. S. Batterham Australasian Pig Science Association.
- Camden, B. J., Morel, P. C. H., Thomas, D. V., Ravindran, V. & Bedford, M. R. 2001. Effectiveness of exogenous microbial phytase in improving the bioavailabilities of phosphorus and other nutrients in maize-soyabean meal diets for broilers. *Animal Science*, 73, 289-297.
- Campbell, G. & Bedford, M. 1992. Enzyme applications for monogastric feeds: A review. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 72, 449-466.
- Carlos, A. B. & Edwards, H. M. 1998. The effects of 1,25dihydroxycholecalciferol and phytase on the natural phytate phosphorus utilization by laying hens. *Poultry Science*, 77, 850-858.
- Casartelli, E. M., Junqueira, O. M., Da Silva Filardi, R., De Laurentiz, A. C., Assuena, V., Pileggi, J. & De Carvalho, L. P. D. C. 2007. Utilização do farelo de canola em rações para poedeiras comerciais formuladas com base em aminoácidos totais e digestíveis. *Ciência Animal Brasileira*, 8, 95-104.
- Ceylan, N., Scheideler, S. E. & Stilborn, H. L. 2003. High available phosphorus corn and phytase in layer diets. *Poultry Science*, 82, 789-795.
- Chambers, S. & Kunin, C. M. 1985. The osmoprotective properties of urine for bacteria: the protective effect of betaine and human urine against low pH and high concentrations of electrolytes, sugars, and urea. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 152, 1308-1316.
- Champagne, E. T. & Fisher, M. S. 1990. Binding differences of Zn(ii) and Cu(ii) ions with phytate. *Journal of Inorganic Biochemistry*, 38, 217-223.
- Champagne, E. T., Fisher, M. S. & Hinojosa, O. 1990. NMR and ESR studies of interactions among divalent-cations, phytic acid, and nacetyl-amino acids. *Journal of Inorganic Biochemistry*, 38, 199-215.
- Champagne, E. T. & Hinojosa, O. 1987. Independent and mutual interactions of copper(ii) and zinc(ii) ions with phytic acid. *Journal of Inorganic Biochemistry*, 30, 15-33.

- Chatterjee, S., Sankaranarayanan, R. & Sonti, R. V. 2003. PhyA, a secreted protein of *Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae*, is required for optimum virulence and growth on phytic acid as a sole phosphate source. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 16, 973-982.
- Cheng, C. & Lim, B. L. 2006. Beta-propeller phytases in the aquatic environment. *Archives of Microbiology*, 185, 1-13.
- Cheng, T. K. & Coon, C. N. 1990. Effect of calcium source, particle size, limestone solubility *in vitro*, and calcium intake level on layer bone status and performance. *Poultry Science*, 69, 2214-2219.
- Cheryan, M. 1980. Phytic acid interactions in food systems. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition,* 13, 297-335.
- Chesson, A. 1993. Feed enzymes. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 45, 65-79.
- Choct, M. 1997. Feed non-starch polysaccharides: Chemical structures and nutritional significance. *Feed Milling International*, 191, 13-26.
- Choct, M. 2006. Enzymes for the feed industry: past, present and future. World's Poultry Science Journal, 62, 5-16.
- Choct, M. & Annison, G. 1990. Anti-nutritive activity of wheat pentosans in broiler diets. *British Poultry Science*, 31, 811-821.
- Choct, M. & Annison, G. 1992. Anti-nutritive effect of wheat pentosans in broiler chickens: Roles of viscosity and gut microflora. *British Poultry Science*, 33, 821-834.
- Choct, M., Cadogan, D. & Cranwell, P. 2001 How effective are supplemental enzymes in pig diets? *In:* Manipulating pig production VIII. Proceedings of the Eighth Biennial Conference of the Australasian Pig Science Association (APSA), Adelaide, Australia, Australasian Pig Science Association, 240-247.
- Chu, S. & Geyer, R. P. 1983. Tissue content and metabolism of *myo*-inositol in normal and lipodystrophic gerbils. *The Journal of nutrition*, 113, 293-303.
- Clarke, W. C., Virtanen, E., Blackburn, J. & Higgs, D. A. 1994. Effects of a dietary betaine/amino acid additive on growth and seawater adaptation in yearling chinook salmon. *Aquaculture*, 121, 137-145.
- Clunies, M., Parks, D. & Leeson, S. 1992. Calcium and phosphorus metabolism and eggshell formation of hens fed different amounts of calcium. *Poultry Science*, 71, 482-489.
- Coelho, C. M. M., Santos, J. C. P., Tsai, S. M. & Vitorello, V. A. 2002. Seed phytate content and phosphorus uptake and distribution in dry bean genotypes. *Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 14, 51-58.
- Coon, C. N., Obi, I. & Hamre, M. L. 1988. Use of barley in laying hen diets. *Poultry Science*, 67, 1306-1313.
- Cordell, D., Drangert, J. O. & White, S. 2009. The story of phosphorus: Global food security and food for thought. *Global Environmental Change-Human and Policy Dimensions*, 19, 292-305.
- Corell 2002. Letter dated 29 January 2002 from the Under-Secretary-General for Legal Affairs, the Legal Counsel, United Nations addressed to the President of the Security Council, United Nations.

Correll, D. L. 1999. Phosphorus: A rate limiting nutrient in surface waters. *Poultry Science*, 78, 674-682.

Cosgrove, D. J. 1966. Chemistry and biochemistry of inositol polyphosphates. *Reviews of Pure and Applied Chemistry*, 16, 209.

- Cosgrove, D. J. 1980. The determination of *myo*-inositol hexakisphosphate (phytate). *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 31, 1253-1256.
- Costello, A. J. R., Glonek, T. & Myers, T. C. 1976. P-31 Nuclear Magnetic resonance-pH titrations of *myo*inositol hexaphosphate. *Carbohydrate Research*, 46, 159-171.
- Cowieson, A. & Adeola, O. 2005. Carbohydrases, protease, and phytase have an additive beneficial effect in nutritionally marginal diets for broiler chicks. *Poultry Science*, 84, 1860-1867.
- Cowieson, A., Aureli, R., Guggenbuhl, P. & Fru-Nji, F. 2014. Possible involvement of *myo*-inositol in the physiological response of broilers to high doses of microbial phytase. *Animal Production Science*.
- Cowieson, A., Ptak, A., Maćkowiak, P., Sassek, M., Pruszyńska-Oszmałek, E., Żyła, K., Świątkiewicz, S., Kaczmarek, S. & Jozefiak, D. 2013. The effect of microbial phytase and *myo*-inositol on performance and blood biochemistry of broiler chickens fed wheat/corn-based diets. *Poultry Science*, 92, 2124-2134.
- Cowieson, A. & Ravindran, V. 2007. Effect of phytic acid and microbial phytase on the flow and amino acid composition of endogenous protein at the terminal ileum of growing broiler chickens. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 98, 745-752.
- Cowieson, A. J., Acamovic, T. & Bedford, M. R. 2004. The effects of phytase and phytic acid on the loss of endogenous amino acids and minerals from broiler chickens. *British Poultry Science*, 45, 101-108.
- Cowieson, A. J., Acamovic, T. & Bedford, M. R. 2006. Phytic acid and phytase: Implications for protein utilization by poultry. *Poultry Science*, 85, 878-885.
- Cowieson, A. J., Bedford, M. R., Selle, P. H. & Ravindran, V. 2009. Phytate and microbial phytase: implications for endogenous nitrogen losses and nutrient availability. *Worlds Poultry Science Journal*, 65, 401-417.
- Cowieson, A. J., Ravindran, V. & Selle, P. H. 2008. Influence of Dietary Phytic Acid and Source of Microbial Phytase on Ileal Endogenous Amino Acid Flows in Broiler Chickens. *Poultry Science*, 87, 2287-2299.
- Cowieson, A. J., Wilcock, P. & Bedford, M. R. 2011. Super-dosing effects of phytase in poultry and other monogastrics. *Worlds Poultry Science Journal*, 67, 225-235.
- Czech, A. & Grela, E. 2008. Some physicochemical bone parameters of sows fed microbial phytase-supplemented diet. *Polish Journal of Veterinary Sciences*, 12, 531-537.
- Dang, N. T., Mukai, R., Yoshida, K.-I. & Ashida, H. 2010. D-pinitol and myoinositol stimulate translocation of glucose transporter 4 in skeletal muscle of C57BL/6 mice. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 74, 1062-1067.
- Danicke, S., Vahjen, W., Simon, O. & Jeroch, H. 1999. Effects of dietary fat type and xylanase supplementation to rye-based broiler diets on selected bacterial groups adhering to the intestinal epithelium. on transit time of feed, and on nutrient digestibility. *Poultry Science*, 78, 1292-1299.

- Davies, M. I., Ritcey, G. M. & Motzok, I. 1970. Intestinal phytase and alkaline phosphatase of chicks influence of dietary calcium, inorganic and phytate phosphorus and vitamin-D3. *Poultry Science*, 49, 1280-&.
- Day, E. J. & Woody, R. C. 1964. The relationship of vitamin K to the incidence of blood spots in eggs and blood prothrombin time of layers. *Poultry Science*, 43, 794-796.
- De Boland, A. R., Garner, G. B. & O'Dell, B. L. 1975. Identification and properties of "phytate" in cereal grains and oilseed products. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 23, 1186-9.
- Debicki-Garnier, A. M. & Hruby, M. 2003. The effect of phytase and betaine on broiler performance and excreta characteristics. . *In:* Proc. 14th European Symposium Poultry Nutrition Lillehammer, Norway. 14-15.
- DeLuca, H. F. 1988. The vitamin-D system in the regulation of calcium and phosphorus-metabolism. Agriculture Biology & Environmental Sciences, 18-18.
- Denbow, D. M., Ravindran, V., Kornegay, E. T., Yi, Z. & Hulet, R. M. 1995. Improving phosphorus availability in soybean-meal for broilers by supplemental phytase. *Poultry Science*, 74, 1831-1842.
- Dias, R. S., Lopez, S., Moreira, J. A., Schulin-Zeuthen, M., Vitti, D., Kebreab, E. & France, J. 2010. Application of a kinetic model to describe phosphorus metabolism in pigs fed a diet with a microbial phytase. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, 148, 277-286.
- Dilger, R. N., Garrow, T. A. & Baker, D. H. 2007. Betaine can partially spare choline in chicks but only when added to diets containing a minimal level of choline. *J Nutr*, 137, 2224-8.
- Directive, C. 1999. 99/74/EC.(1999). Laying down minimum standards for the protection of laying hens. *Official Journal L203*, 3.
- Doria, E., Galleschi, L., Calucci, L., Pinzino, C., Pilu, R., Cassani, E. & Nielsen, E. 2009. Phytic acid prevents oxidative stress in seeds: evidence from a maize (*Zea mays L.*) low phytic acid mutant. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, ern345.
- dos Santos, T., Srinongkote, S., Bedford, M. & Walk, C. 2013. Effect of high phytase inclusion rates on performance of broilers fed diets not severely limited in available phosphorus. *Asian-Australasian Journal* of Animal Sciences, 26, 227-232.
- Edwards, H. M. 1983. Phosphorus .1. Effect of breed and strain on utilization of suboptimal levels of phosphorus in the ration. *Poultry Science*, 62, 77-84.
- Edwards, H. M. 1993. Dietary 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol supplementation increases natural phytate phosphorus utilization in chickens. *Journal of Nutrition*, 123, 567-577.
- Eeckhout, W. & Depaepe, M. 1994. Total phosphorus, phytate-phosphorus and phytase activity in plant feedstuffs. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 47, 19-29.
- Eklund, M., Bauer, E., Wamatu, J. & Mosenthin, R. 2005. Potential nutritional and physiological functions of betaine in livestock. *Nutrition Research Reviews*, 18, 31-48.
- Eklund, M., Mosenthin, R. & Piepho, H. 2006a. Effects of betaine and condensed molasses solubles on ileal and total tract nutrient digestibilities in piglets. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A, 56, 83-90.

- Eklund, M., Mosenthin, R., Tafaj, M. & Wamatu, J. 2006b. Effects of betaine and condensed molasses solubles on nitrogen balance and nutrient digestibility in piglets fed diets deficient in methionine and low in compatible osmolytes. *Archives of Animal Nutrition,* 60, 289-300.
- Elmenawey, M., Ali, A., Galal, M. & Stino, F. 2010. Influence of enzyme supplementation in the diet on egg production, egg quality and some blood constituents of matrouh hens. *Egyptian Poultry Science Journal*, 30, 661-678.
- Elwinger, K. 1981. Different energy levels and restricted feeding to three strains of SCWL hybrids. *Swedish journal of agricultural research*, 149.
- Engberg, R. M., Hedemann, M. S., Steenfeldt, S. & Jensen, B. B. 2004. Influence of whole wheat and xylanase on broiler performance and microbial composition and activity in the digestive tract. *Poultry Science*, 83, 925-938.
- Engelen, A. J., Vanderheeft, F. C., Randsdorp, P. H. G. & Smit, E. L. C. 1994. Simple and rapid-determination of phytase activity. *Journal of Aoac International*, 77, 760-764.
- Englmaierová, M., Dlouhá, G., Marounek, M. & Skřivan, M. 2012. Efficacy of contrast levels of non-phytate phosphorus and *Aspergillus niger* phytase in hens fed wheat-maize-based diets. *Czech Journal of Animal Science*, 57, 499-505.
- Erdman, J. W. 1979. Oilseed phytates nutritional implications. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society*, 56, 736-741.
- Esteve-Garcia, E., Perez-Vendrell, A. M. & Broz, J. 2005. Phosphorus equivalence of a Consensus phytase produced by *Hansenula polymorpha* in diets for young turkeys. *Archives of Animal Nutrition*, 59, 53-59.
- Forbes, J. 1943. Lipotropic Action of Inositol. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 54, 89-90.
- Fordtran, J. S. 1975. Stimulation of active and passive sodium absorption by sugars in the human jejunum. *Journal of clinical investigation*, 55, 728.
- Fordtran, J. S., Rector Jr, F. C. & Carter, N. W. 1968. The mechanisms of sodium absorption in the human small intestine. *Journal of clinical investigation*, 47, 884.
- Francesch, M., Perez-Verdrell, A.-M., Esteve-Garcia, E. & Brufau, J. 1995. Enzyme supplementation of a barley and sunflower-based diet on laying hen performance. *The Journal of Applied Poultry Research*, 4, 32-40.
- Garrett, J. B., Kretz, K. A., O'donoghue, E., Kerovuo, J., Kim, W., Barton, N. R., Hazlewood, G. P., Short, J. M., Robertson, D. E. & Gray, K. A. 2004. Enhancing the thermal tolerance and gastric performance of a microbial phytase for use as a phosphate-mobilizing monogastricfeed supplement. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 70, 3041-3046.
- Gerli, S., Papaleo, E., Ferrari, A. & Di Renzo, G. 2007. Randomized, double blind placebo-controlled trial: effects of *myo*-inositol on ovarian function and metabolic factors in women with PCOS. *European Review for Medical Pharmacological Sciences*, 11, 347-354.

- Gheisari, A. A., Ghayor, P., Egbal-Saeid, S., Toghyani, M. & Najafi, A. A.
   2011. Effect of Different Dietary Levels of Rapeseed Meal on Reproductive Performance of Iranian Indigenous Breeder Hens.
   Asian Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances, 6, 62-70.
- Godoy, S., Chicco, C., Meschy, F. & Requena, F. 2005. Phytic phosphorus and phytase activity of animal feed ingredients. *Interciencia*, 30, 24.
- Goldstein, L. & Davis, E. M. 1994. Taurine, betaine, and inositol share a volume-sensitive transporter in skate erythrocyte cell membrane. *American Journal of Physiology*, 267, R426-R426.
- Gordon, R. W. & Roland, D. A. 1998. Influence of supplemental phytase on calcium and phosphorus utilization in laying hens. *Poultry Science*, 77, 290-294.
- Gosselin, R. E. & Coghlan, E. R. 1953. The stability of complexes between calcium and orthophosphate, polymeric phosphate, and phytate. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 45, 301-311.
- Greiner, R. 2007. Phytate-degrading enzymes: regulation of synthesis in microorganisms and plants. *Inositol Phosphates. Linking Agriculture and the Environment. CAB International, Wallingford, UK,* 288, 78-96.
- Greiner, R., Konietzny, U. & Jany, K. D. 1993. Purification and characterization of 2 phytases from escherichia-coli. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 303, 107-113.
- Gudev, D., Popova-Ralcheva, S., Yanchev, I., Moneva, P., Petkov, E. & Ignatova, M. 2011. Effect of betaine on egg performance and some blood constituents in laying hens reared indoor under natural summer temperatures and varying levels of air ammonia. *Bulgarian Journal of Agricultural Science*, 17, 859-860.
- Guinotte, F., Gautron, J., Nys, Y. & Soumarmon, A. 1995. Calcium solubilization and retention in the gastrointestinal tract in chicks (*Gallus domesticus*) as a function of gastric acid secretion inhibition and of calcium carbonate particle size. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 73, 125-139.
- Hagar, H. & Al Malki, W. 2014. Betaine supplementation protects against renal injury induced by cadmium intoxication in rats: Role of oxidative stress and caspase-3. *Environmental toxicology and pharmacology*, 37, 803-811.
- Hahn, J. D. & Baker, D. H. 1993. Growth and plasma zinc responses of young-pigs fed pharmacological levels of zinc. *Journal of Animal Science*, 71, 3020-3024.
- Hanczakowska, E., Świątkiewicz, M. & Kühn, I. 2012. Efficiency and dose response of xylanase in diets for fattening pigs. *Annals of Animal Science*, 12, 539-548.
- Handler, J. S. & Kwon, H. M. 1996. Regulation of the *myo*-inositol and betaine cotransporters by tonicity. *Kidney international*, 49, 1682-1683.
- Handler, P. 1946. Factors affecting the occurrence of hemorrhagic kidneys due to choline deficiency. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 31, 621-633.
- Harms, R. & Russell, G. 2002. Betaine does not improve performance of laying hens when the diet contains adequate choline. *Poultry Science*, 81, 99-101.

- Harms, R. H., Ammerman, C. B., Waldroup, P. W. & Shirley, R. L. 1962. Availability of phytic acid phosphorus for chick. *Poultry Science*, 41, 1189-&.
- Harper, A. F., Kornegay, E. T. & Schell, T. C. 1997. Phytase supplementation of low-phosphorus growing-finishing pig diets improves performance, phosphorus digestibility, and bone mineralization and reduces phosphorus excretion. *Journal of Animal Science*, 75, 3174-3186.
- Harper, A. F., Skaggs, J. H., Veit, H. P. & Kornegay, E. T. 1999. Efficacy and safety of Novo SP938 microbial phytase supplementation of a cornsoybean meal diet fed to growing pigs. *Journal of Animal Science.*, 77, 174-175.
- Harrison, H. E. & Harrison, H. C. 1961. Intestinal transport of phosphate action of vitamin d, calcium, and potassium. *American Journal of Physiology*, 201, 1007-&.
- Hartig, T. 1855. Über das klebermehl. Botanische Zeitung, 13, 881-885.
- Haugh, R. R. 1937. The Haugh unit for measuring egg quality. US Egg Poulty Magazine, 43, 522-555.
- Häussinger, D. 1998. Osmoregulation of liver cell function: signalling, osmolytes and cell heterogeneity. *Cell Volume Regulation.*, 123, 185-204
- Heath, J. 1977. Chemical and related osmotic changes in egg albumen during storage. *Poultry Science*, 56, 822-828.
- Hedemann, M. S., Jensen, B. B. & Poulsen, H. D. 2006. Influence of dietary zinc and copper on digestive enzyme activity and intestinal morphology in weaned pigs. *Journal of Animal Science*, 84, 3310-3320.
- Hegeman, C. E. & Grabau, E. A. 2001. A novel phytase with sequence similarity to purple acid phosphatases is expressed in cotyledons of germinating soybean seedlings. *Plant Physiology*, 126, 1598-1608.
- Hegsted, D. M., Briggs, G., Mills, R., Elvehjem, C. & Hart, E. 1941a. Inositol in chick nutrition. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 47, 376-377.
- Hegsted, D. M., Briggs, G. M., Mills, R. C., Elvehjem, C. A. & Hart, E. B. 1941b. Inositol in chick nutrition. *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 47, 376-377.
- Henry, R. J. 1985. A comparison of the non-starch carbohydrates in cereal grains. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture,* 36, 1243-1253.
- Herrmann, G. R. 1946. Inositol decholesterization in old hens. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 63, 436-438.
- Hesselman, K. 1983. Effects of β-glucanase supplementation to barleybased diets for broiler chicken. *Report 112* Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Animal Husbandry, Uppsala Sweden
- Heuser, G. F. 1945. The rate of passage of feed from the crop of the hen. *Poultry Science*, 24, 20-24.
- Hill, R. & Tyler, C. 1954. The influence of time, temperature, pH and calcium carbonate on the activity of the phytase of certain cereals. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, 44, 306-310.
- Højberg, O., Canibe, N., Poulsen, H. D., Hedemann, M. S. & Jensen, B. B. 2005. Influence of dietary zinc oxide and copper sulfate on the

gastrointestinal ecosystem in newly weaned piglets. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71, 2267-2277.

- Holt, L. E., La Mer, V. K. & Chown, H. B. 1925. Studies in calcification. I. The solubility product of secondary and tertiary calcium phosphate under various conditions. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 64, 509-565.
- Home Office 2014. Guidance on the operation of Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986
- Honarbakhsh, S., Zaghari, M. & Shivazad, M. 2007. Can exogenous betaine be an effective osmolyte in broiler chicks under water salinity stress? *Asian Australasian Journal Of Animal Sciences*, 20, 1729.
- Honkatukia, M., Reese, K., Preisinger, R., Tuiskula-Haavisto, M., Weigend, S., Roito, J., Mäki-Tanila, A. & Vilkki, J. 2005. Fishy taint in chicken eggs is associated with a substitution within a conserved motif of the *FMO3* gene. *Genomics*, 86, 225-232.
- Hooper, N. M. 1997. Glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol anchored membrane enzymes. *Clinica chimica acta*, 266, 3-12.
- Hu, H., Wise, A. & Henderson, C. 1996. Hydrolysis of phytate and inositol tri-, tetra-, and penta-phosphates by the intestinal mucosa of the pig. *Nutrition Research*, 16, 781-787.
- Huang, Q.-C., Xu, Z.-R., Han, X.-Y. & Li, W.-F. 2006. Changes in hormones, growth factor and lipid metabolism in finishing pigs fed betaine. *Livestock Science*, 105, 78-85.
- Hughes, A. L., Dahiya, J. P., Wyatt, C. L. & Classen, H. L. 2009. Effect of Quantum phytase on nutrient digestibility and bone ash in White Leghorn laying hens fed corn-soybean meal-based diets. *Poultry Science*, 88, 1191-1198.
- Hughes, B. & Whitehead, C. 1979. Behavioural changes associated with the feeding of low-sodium diets to laying hens. *Applied Animal Ethology*, 5, 255-266.
- Huyghebaert, G., De Groote, G. & Geerse, C. 1992. Effect of microbial phytase on the utilization of phosphorus by broiler chickens. 1. Effect on the availability of phosphorus and calcium. Landbouwtijdschrift-Revue de L'Agriculture, 45, 217-228.
- ICIS. 2012. ICIS Pricing [Online]. Available: http://www.icis.com/fertilizers/ [Accessed 19/9/2014].
- IFA 2006. Production and International Trade Statistics, International Fertilizer Industry Association Paris, available: http://www.fertilizer.org/ifa/statistics/pit\_public/pit\_public\_statistics.asp (accessed 19/09/2014).
- Igbasan, F. A., Manner, K., Miksch, G., Borriss, R., Farouk, A. & Simon, O. 2000. Comparative studies on the *in vitro* properties of phytases from various microbial origins. *Archives of Animal Nutrition-Archiv Fur Tierernahrung*, 53, 353-373.
- Iwai, T., Takahashi, M., Oda, K., Terada, Y. & Yoshida, K. T. 2012. Dynamic Changes in the Distribution of Minerals in Relation to Phytic Acid Accumulation during Rice Seed Development. *Plant Physiology*, 160, 2007-2014.
- Jalal, M. A. & Scheideler, S. E. 2001. Effect of supplementation of two different sources of phytase on egg production parameters in laying hens and nutrient digestiblity. *Poultry Science*, 80, 1463-1471.

- Jasinski, S. M. 2008. Phosphate Rock, Mineral Commodity Summaries, U.S. Geological Survey.
- Jeffrey, F. & Pino, J. 1943. The effects of heredity and of certain environmental factors on the incidence of blood spots in chicken eggs. *Poultry Science*, 22, 230-234.
- Jensen, L., Chang, C. & Wilson, S. 1978. Interior egg quality: Improvement by distillers feeds and trace elements. *Poultry Science*, 57, 648-654.
- Jeroch, H., Brettschneider, J. G., Danicke, S., Jankowski, J., Kozlowski, K. & Schone, F. 2009. The effect of chemically and hydrothermally treated rapeseed on the performance and thyroid parameters of layers. *Polish Journal of Veterinary Sciences*, 12, 439-448.
- Jiang, X. R., Luo, F. H., Qu, M. R., Bontempo, V., Wu, S. G., Zhang, H. J., Yue, H. Y. & Qi, G. H. 2013. Effect of non-phytate phosphorus levels and phytase sources on the growth performance, serum biochemical and tibial parameters of broiler chickens. *Italian Journal of Animal Science*, 12, e60.
- Jiménez-Moreno, E., González-Alvarado, J., De Coca-Sinova, A., Lázaro, R. & Mateos, G. 2009. Effects of source of fibre on the development and pH of the gastrointestinal tract of broilers. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 154, 93-101.
- Johnston, S., Williams, S., Southern, L., Bidner, T., Bunting, L., Matthews, J. & Olcott, B. 2004. Effect of phytase addition and dietary calcium and phosphorus levels on plasma metabolites and ileal and total-tract nutrient digestibility in pigs. *Journal of Animal Science*, 82, 705-714.
- Joice and Hill 2014. Bovans Brown Managment Guide. Peterbough, UK.
- Jolliff, J. & Mahan, D. 2012. Effect of dietary inulin and phytase on mineral digestibility and tissue retention in weanling and growing swine. *Journal of Animal Science.*
- Jongbloed, A. W. & Kemme, P. A. 1990. Effect of pelleting mixed feeds on phytase activity and the apparent absorbability of phosphorus and calcium in pigs. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 28, 233-242.
- Juanpere, J., Perez-Vendrell, A., Angulo, E. & Brufau, J. 2005. Assessment of potential interactions between phytase and glycosidase enzyme supplementation on nutrient digestibility in broilers. *Poultry Science*, 84, 571-580.
- Jubarah, S., Davis, R. & Dodds, P. 2006. Effect of phytate on laying hen performance, carbonic anhydrase activity and total cholesterol level. *In:* EPC 2006-12th European Poultry Conference, Verona, Italy, 10-14 September, World's Poultry Science Association (WPSA).
- Jukes, T. H. 1941. Studies of Perosis in Turkeys I. Experiments related to choline. *Poultry Science*, 20, 251-254.
- Kaminska, B. 2003. Substitution of soyabean meal with 00 rapeseed meal or its high-protein fraction in the nutrition of hens laying brown-shelled eggs. *Journal of Animal and Feed Sciences*, 12, 111-119.
- Kane, M., Norris, M. & Harrison, R. 1992. Uptake and incorporation of inositol by preimplantation mouse embryos. *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility*, 96, 617-625.
- Karadas, F., Pirgozliev, V., Pappas, A., Acamovic, T. & Bedford, M. 2010. Effects of different dietary phytase activities on the concentration of antioxidants in the liver of growing broilers. *Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition*, 94, 519-526.

- Kasim, A. B. & Edwards, H. M. 2000. Effect of sources of maize and maize particle sizes on the utilization of phytate phosphorus in broiler chicks. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 86, 15-26.
- Katayama, T. 1997. Effects of dietary *myo*-inositol or phytic acid on hepatic concentrations of lipids and hepatic activities of lipogenic enzymes in rats fed on corn starch or sucrose. *Nutrition Research*, 17, 721-728.
- Kerovuo, J., Lauraeus, M., Nurminen, P., Kalkkinen, N. & Apajalahti, J. 1998. Isolation, characterization, molecular gene cloning, and sequencing of a novel phytase from Bacillus subtilis. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 64, 2079-2085.
- Kerr, B. J., Weber, T. E., Miller, P. S. & Southern, L. L. 2010. Effect of phytase on apparent total tract digestibility of phosphorus in cornsoybean meal diets fed to finishing pigs. *Journal of Animal Science*, 88, 238-247.
- Keshavarz, K. 1986. The effect of dietary levels of calcium and phosphorus on performance and retention of these nutrients by laying hens. *Poultry Science*, 65, 114-121.
- Keshavarz, K. & Nakajima, S. 1995. The effect of dietary manipulations of energy, protein, and fat during the growing and laying periods on early egg weight and egg components. *Poultry Science*, 74, 50-61.
- Kettunen, H., Tiihonen, K., Peuranen, S., Saarinen, M. & Remus, J. 2001. Dietary betaine accumulates in the liver and intestinal tissue and stabilizes the intestinal epithelial structure in healthy and coccidiainfected broiler chicks. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology*, 130, 759-769.
- Kiarie, E., Owusu-Asiedu, A., Simmins, P. & Nyachoti, C. 2010. Influence of phytase and carbohydrase enzymes on apparent ileal nutrient and standardized ileal amino acid digestibility in growing pigs fed wheat and barley-based diets. *Livestock Science*, 134, 85-87.
- Kick, C. H. B., R. M. And Record P. R. 1933. Effect of fluorine in the nutrition of the chick. *Poultry Science*, 12, 382-387.
- Kidd, M., Ferket, P. & Garlich, J. 1997. Nutritional and osmoregulatory functions of betaine. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, 53, 125-139.
- Kies, A., Kemme, P., Šebek, L., Van Diepen, J. T. M. & Jongbloed, A. 2006. Effect of graded doses and a high dose of microbial phytase on the digestibility of various minerals in weaner pigs. *Journal of Animal Science*, 84, 1169-1175.
- Kim, J., Paik, H. Y., Joung, H., Woodhouse, L. R., Li, S. & King, J. C. 2007. Effect of dietary phytate on zinc homeostasis in young and elderly Korean women. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition,* 26, 1-9.
- Kirby, L. K. & Nelson, T. S. 1988. Total and phytate phosphorus-content of some feed ingredients derived from grains. *Nutrition Reports International*, 37, 277-280.
- Klages, K., Boldingh, H. & Smith, G. 1999. Accumulation of *myo*-inositol in *Actinidia* seedlings subjected to salt stress. *Annals of Botany*, 84, 521-527.
- Klasing, K., Adler, K., Remus, J. & Calvert, C. 2002. Dietary betaine increases intraepithelial lymphocytes in the duodenum of coccidiainfected chicks and increases functional properties of phagocytes. *The Journal of nutrition,* 132, 2274-2282.

- Knuckles, B., Kuzmicky, D. & Betschart, A. 1985. Effect of phytate and partially hydrolyzed phytate on *in vitro* protein digestibility. *Journal of Food Science*, 50, 1080-1082.
- Knuckles, B., Kuzmicky, D., Gumbmann, M. & Betschart, A. 1989. Effect of *myo*inositol phosphate esters on *in vitro* and *in vivo* digestion of protein. *Journal of Food Science*, 54, 1348-1350.
- Konietzny, U. & Greiner, R. 2002a. Molecular and catalytic properties of phytate-degrading enzymes (phytases). *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 37, 791-812.
- Konietzny, U. & Greiner, R. 2002b. Molecular and catalytic properties of phytate-degrading enzymes (phytases). *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, 37, 791-812.
- Kostrewa, D., Wyss, M., D'arcy, A. & Van Loon, A. P. 1999. Crystal structure of *Aspergillus niger* pH 2.5 acid phosphatase at 2.4 Å resolution. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 288, 965-974.
- Kozłowski, K. & Jeroch, H. 2011. Efficacy of different levels of Escherichia coli phytase in hens fed maize-soyabean meal based diets with a decreased non-phytate phosphorus content. *Journal of Animal and Feed Sciences*, 516, 49.
- Lai, S.-J., Lai, M.-C., Lee, R.-J., Chen, Y.-H. & Yen, H. E. 2014. Transgenic Arabidopsis expressing osmolyte glycine betaine synthesizing enzymes from halophilic methanogen promote tolerance to drought and salt stress. *Plant molecular biology*, 1-13.
- Law, R. & Burg, M. 1991. The role of organic osmolytes in the regulation of mammalian cell volume. *Advances in Comparative and Environmental physiology.* Springer.
- Lawlor, P. G., Lynch, P. B., Caffrey, P. J., O'Reilly, J. J. & O'Connell, M. K. 2005. Measurements of the acid-binding capacity of ingredients used in pig diets. *Irish Veterinary Journal*, 58, 447-452.
- Lee, S.-H., Park, H.-J., Cho, S.-Y., Jung, H.-J., Cho, S.-M., Cho, Y.-S. & Lillehoj, H. S. 2005. Effects of dietary phytic acid on serum and hepatic lipid levels in diabetic KK mice. *Nutrition Research*, 25, 869-876.
- Lee, S.-H., Park, H.-J., Chun, H.-K., Cho, S.-Y., Cho, S.-M. & Lillehoj, H. S. 2006. Dietary phytic acid lowers the blood glucose level in diabetic KK mice. *Nutrition Research*, 26, 474-479.
- Lee, S.-H., Park, H.-J., Chun, H.-K., Cho, S.-Y., Jung, H.-J., Cho, S.-M., Kim, D.-Y., Kang, M.-S. & Lillehoj, H. S. 2007. Dietary phytic acid improves serum and hepatic lipid levels in aged ICR mice fed a highcholesterol diet. *Nutrition Research*, 27, 505-510.
- Leeson, S., Atteh, J. & Summers, J. 1987. The replacement value of canola meal for soybean meal in poultry diets. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 67, 151-158.
- Leeson, S., Summers, J. D. & Grandhi, R. 1976. CARCASS Characteristics and performance of laying birds fed rapeseed meal. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 56, 551-558.
- Leeson, S., Summers, J. D. 2008. *Commercial Poultry Nutrition,* Nottingham, Nottingham University Press.
- Lei, X. G., Ku, P. K., Miller, E. R., Yokoyama, M. T. & Ullrey, D. E. 1994. Calcium level affects the efficacy of supplemental microbial phytase in

corn-soybean meal diets of weanling pigs. *Journal of Animal Science*, 72, 139-143.

- Lei, X. G. & Stahl, C. H. 2000. Nutritional benefits of phytase and dietary determinants of its efficacy. *Journal of Applied Animal Research*, 17, 97-112.
- Lerner, I. M. & Taylor, L. W. 1947. Seasonal and daily fluctuations in the incidence of blood spots. *Poultry Science*, 26, 662-667.
- Leske, K. L. & Coon, C. N. 1999. A bioassay to determine the effect of phytase on phytate phosphorus hydrolysis and total phosphorus retention of feed ingredients as determined with broilers and laying hens. *Poultry Science*, 78, 1151-1157.
- Leslie, M., Moran, E. & Bedford, M. 2007. The effect of phytase and glucanase on the ileal digestible energy of corn and soybean meal fed to broilers. *Poultry Science*, 86, 2350-2357.
- Leytem, A. B., Widyaratne, G. P. & Thacker, P. A. 2008. Phosphorus utilization and characterization of ileal digesta and excreta from broiler chickens fed diets varying in cereal grain, phosphorus level, and phytase addition. *Poultry Science*, 87, 2466-2476.
- Li-Chan, E. & Nakai, S. 1989. Biochemical basis for the properties of egg white. *Critical Reviews in Poultry Biology (USA)*.
- Liao, S., Kies, A., Sauer, W., Zhang, Y., Cervantes, M. & He, J. 2005. Effect of phytase supplementation to a low-and a high-phytate diet for growing pigs on the digestibilities of crude protein, amino acids, and energy. *Journal of Animal Science*, 83, 2130-2136.
- Liebert, F., Htoo, J. K. & Sunder, A. 2005. Performance and nutrient utilization of laying hens fed low-phosphorus corn-soybean and wheat-soybean diets supplemented with microbial phytase. *Poultry Science*, 84, 1576-1583.
- Lien, Y., Pacelli, M. M. & Braun, E. J. 1993. Characterization of organic osmolytes in avian renal medulla: a nonurea osmotic gradient system. *American Journal of Physiology*, 264, R1045-R1049.
- Lima, M. R. D., Costa, F. G. P., Givisiez, P. E. N., Silva, J. H. V. D., Sakomura, N. K. & Lima, D. F. F. 2010. Reduction of the nutritional values of diets for hens through supplementation with phytase. *Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia*, 39, 2207-2213.
- Lipmann, F. 1941. Metabolic generation and utilization of phosphate bond energy. *Advances in Enzymology and Related Subjects of Biochemistry*, 1, 99-162.
- Liu, N., Liu, G. H., Li, F. D., Sands, J. S., Zheng, A. J. & Ru, Y. J. 2007. Efficacy of phytases on egg production and nutrient digestibility in layers fed reduced phosphorus diets. *Poultry Science*, 86, 2337-2342.
- Liu, N. & Ru, Y. J. 2010. Effect of phytate and phytase on the ileal flows of endogenous minerals and amino acids for growing broiler chickens fed purified diets. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 156, 126-130.
- Liu, N., Ru, Y. J., Cowieson, A. J., Li, F. D. & Cheng, X. C. 2008a. Effects of phytate and phytase on the performance and immune function of broilers fed nutritionally marginal diets. *Poultry Science*, 87, 1105-1111.

- Liu, N., Ru, Y. J. & Li, F. D. 2010. Effect of dietary phytate and phytase on metabolic change of blood and intestinal mucosa in chickens. *Journal* of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition, 94, 368-374.
- Liu, N., Ru, Y. J., Li, F. D. & Cowieson, A. J. 2008b. Effect of diet containing phytate and phytase on the activity and messenger ribonucleic acid expression of carbohydrase and transporter in chickens. *Journal of Animal Science*, 86, 3432-3439.
- Liu, N., Ru, Y. J., Li, F. D., Wang, J.-P. & Lei, X.-Q. 2009. Effect of dietary phytate and phytase on proteolytic digestion and growth regulation of broilers. *Archives of Animal Nutrition*, 63, 292-303.
- Loewus, F. A. & Murthy, P. P. N. 2000. *myo*-inositol metabolism in plants. *Plant Science*, 150, 1-19.
- Lopez, H. W., Vallery, F., Levrat-Verny, M.-A., Coudray, C., Demigné, C. & Rémésy, C. 2000. Dietary phytic acid and wheat bran enhance mucosal phytase activity in rat small intestine. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 130, 2020-2025.
- Lott, J. N. A. & Ockenden, I. 1986. Energy dispersive X-ray analysis and chemical analysis in the study of mineral storage deposits in seeds. *Cereal Foods World*, 31, 606-606.
- Lott, J. N. A., Randall, P. J., Goodchild, D. J. & Craig, S. 1985. Occurrence of globoid crystals in cotyledonary protein bodies of Pisum-sativum as influenced by experimentally induced changes in Mg, Ca and K contents of seeds. Australian Journal of Plant Physiology, 12, 341-353.
- Low, M. G. 1989. The glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol anchor of membrane proteins. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Reviews on Biomembranes*, 988, 427-454.
- Lu, H., Adedokun, S., Preynat, A., Legrand-Defretin, V., Geraert, P., Adeola, O. & Ajuwon, K. 2013. Impact of exogenous carbohydrases and phytase on growth performance and nutrient digestibility in broilers. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 93, 243-249.
- Maenz, D. D. & Classen, H. L. 1998. Phytase activity in the small intestinal brush border membrane of the chicken. *Poultry Science*, 77, 557-563.
- Maenz, D. D., Engele-Schaan, C. M., Newkirk, R. W. & Classen, H. L. 1999. The effect of minerals and mineral chelators on the formation of phytase-resistant and phytase-susceptible forms of phytic acid in solution and in a slurry of canola meal. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 81, 177-192.
- Malmstro.Bg & Neilands, J. B. 1964. Metalloproteins. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 33, 331.
- Manangi, M. K. & Coon, C. N. 2006. Evaluation of phytase enzyme with chicks fed basal diets containing different soybean meal samples. *Journal of Applied Poultry Research*, 15, 292-306.
- March, B. & Macmillan, C. 1979. Trimethylamine production in the caeca and small intestine as a cause of fishy taints in eggs. *Poultry Science*, 58, 93-98.
- Marini, M. A., Evans, W. J. & Morris, N. M. 1985. Calorimetric and potentiometric studies on the binding of calcium by phytic-acid. *Journal of Applied Biochemistry*, 7, 180-191.
- Martínez, M. M., Hill, G. M., Link, J. E., Raney, N. E., Tempelman, R. J. & Ernst, C. W. 2004. Pharmacological zinc and phytase

supplementation enhance metallothionein mRNA abundance and protein concentration in newly weaned pigs. *The Journal of nutrition*, 134, 538-544.

- Mathlouthi, N., Lalles, J., Lepercq, P., Juste, C. & Larbier, M. 2002. Xylanase and β-glucanase supplementation improve conjugated bile acid fraction in intestinal contents and increase villus size of small intestine wall in broiler chickens fed a rye-based diet. *Journal of Animal Science*, 80, 2773-2779.
- Mathlouthi, N., Mohamed, M. & Larbier, M. 2003. Effect of enzyme preparation containing xylanase and ß-glucanase on performance of laying hens fed wheat/barley-or maize/soybean meal-based diets. *British Poultry Science*, 44, 60-66.
- Matthews, J. & Southern, L. 2000. The effect of dietary betaine in *Eimeria acervulina* infected chicks. *Poultry Science*, 79, 60-65.
- Matyka, S., Korol, W. & Bogusz, G. 1990. The retention of phytin phosphorus from diets with fat supplements in broiler chicks. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 31, 223-230.
- Mawson, R., Heaney, R., Piskula, M. & Kozlowska, H. 1993. Rapeseed meal-glucosinolates and their antinutritional effects Part 1. Rapeseed production and chemistry of glucosinolates. *Food/Nahrung*, 37, 131-140.
- Mccance, R. A. & Widdowson, E. M. 1935. Phytin in human nutrition. *The Biochemical journal*, 29, 2694-9.
- Mendes, A. R., Ribeiro, T., Correia, B. A., Bule, P., Macas, B., Falcao, L., Freire, J. P. B., Ferreira, L. M. A., Fontes, C. M. G. A. & Lordelo, M. M. 2013. Low doses of exogenous xylanase improve the nutritive value of triticale based diets for broilers. *Journal of Applied Poultry Research*, 22, 92-99.
- Meyer, E. & Parsons, C. 2011. The efficacy of a phytase enzyme fed to Hy-Line W-36 laying hens from 32 to 62 weeks of age. *The Journal of Applied Poultry Research*, 20, 136-142.
- Miles, R. D. & Nelson, T. S. 1974. Effect of enzymatic-hydrolysis of phytate on available energy content of feed ingredients for chicks and rats. *Poultry Science*, 53, 1714-1717.
- Mitchell, R. D. & Edwards, H. M. 1996. Additive effects of 1,25dihydroxycholecalciferol and phytase on phytate phosphorus utilization and related parameters in broiler chickens. *Poultry Science*, 75, 111-119.
- Mitjavil. S., Saintbla. Gd. & Derache, R. 1973. Effect of tannic acid on gastric-secretion in stomach of rat. *Nutrition and Metabolism*, 15, 163-170.
- Mohammed, A., Gibney, M. J. & Taylor, T. G. 1991. The effects of dietary levels of inorganic phosphorus, calcium and cholecalciferol on the digestibility of phytate-p by the chick. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 66, 251-259.
- Mongin, P. 1976. Ionic constituents and osmolality of the small intestinal fluids of the laying hen. *British Poultry Science*, 17, 383-392.
- Monsey, J., Robinson, D., Miller, W. & Ellis, M. 1977. The effect of feeding magnesium-enriched diets on the quality of the albumen of stored eggs. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 37, 35-44.

- Morgan, N. K., Walk, C. L., Bedford, M. R. & Burton, E. J. 2014. *In vitro* versus in situ evaluation of the effect of phytase supplementation on calcium and phosphorus solubility in soya bean and rapeseed meal broiler diets. *British Poultry Science*, 55, 238-245.
- Mullaney, E. J., Daly, C. B. & Ullah, A. H. 2000. Advances in phytase research. *Advances in Applied Microbiology*, 47, 157-199.
- Mullaney, E. J. & Ullah, A. H. 2003. The term phytase comprises several different classes of enzymes. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 312, 179-184.
- Najib, H. & Al-Khateeb, S. A. 2004. The effect of incorporating different levels of locally produced canola seeds (*Brassica napus, L.*) in the diet of laying hen. *International Journal of Poultry Science*, 3, 490-496.
- Nalbandov, A. & Card, L. 1944. The problem of blood clots and meat spots in chicken eggs. *Poultry Science*, 23, 170-180.
- Nash, K. L., Jensen, M. P. & Schmidt, M. A. 1998. Actinide immobilization in the subsurface environment by in-situ treatment with a hydrolytically unstable organophosphorus complexant: Uranyl uptake by calcium phytate. *Journal of Alloys and Compounds*, 271, 257-261.
- Nelson, T. 1967. The utilization of phytate phosphorus by poultry—A review. *Poultry Science*, 46, 862-871.
- Nelson, T. Year. Available calcium for poultry. *In:* Proceedings of the Florida Nutrition Conference for Feed Manufacturers, Orlando, Florida, 1984. 1-6.
- Nelson, T. S. 1976. Hydrolysis of phytate phosphorus by chicks and laying hens. *Poultry Science*, 55, 2262-2264.
- Nelson, T. S., Ferrara, L. W. & Storer, N. L. 1968. Phytate phosphorus content of feed ingredients derived from plants. *Poultry Science*, 47, 1372.
- Nelson, T. S., Shieh, T. R. & Wodzinsk.Rj 1971. Effect of supplemental phytase on utilization of phytate phosphorus by chicks. *Journal of Nutrition*, 101, 1289.
- Neuman, W. F. & Neuman, M. W. 1953. The nature of the mineral phase of bone. *Chemical Reviews*, 53, 1-45.
- Newkirk, R. W. & Classen, H. L. 2001. The non-mineral nutritional impact of phytate in canola meal fed to broiler chicks. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 91, 115-128.
- Newman, R. & Newman, C. 1987. Beta-glucanase effect on the performance of broiler chicks fed covered and hulless barley isotypes having normal and waxy starch. *Nutrition Reports International*, 36, 693-699.
- Nir, I., Hillel, R., Shefet, G. & Nitsan, Z. 1994. Effect of grain particle-size on performance .2. grain texture interactions. *Poultry Science*, 73, 781-791.
- Nolan, K. B., Duffin, P. A. & Mcweeny, D. J. 1987. Effects of phytate on mineral bioavailability. *in vitro* studies on Mg<sup>2+</sup>, Ca<sup>2+</sup>, Fe<sup>2+</sup>, Cu<sup>2+</sup> and Zn<sup>2+</sup> (also Cd<sup>2+</sup>) solubilities in the presence of phytate. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 40, 79-85.
- Noll, S., Stangeland, V., Speers, G., Brannon, J. & Kalbfleisch, J. 2002. Betaine and breast meat yield in turkeys. *In:* Proc. Multistate Poultry Nutrition and Feeding Conf., Indianapolis, IN. Universities of Kentucky, Illinois, Michigan State, Purdue and Ohio State

Cooperating.(http://ag. ansc. purdue. edu/poultry/multistate/publication. htm).

- Nortey, T., Patience, J., Simmins, P., Trottier, N. & Zijlstra, R. 2007. Effects of individual or combined xylanase and phytase supplementation on energy, amino acid, and phosphorus digestibility and growth performance of grower pigs fed wheat-based diets containing wheat millrun. *Journal of Animal Science*, 85, 1432-1443.
- O'Dell, B. L. 1962. Mineral availability and metal binding constituents of the diet. *Proceedings Cornell Nutrition Conference*, 77.
- Ockenden, I., Dorsch, J. A., Reid, M. M., Lin, L., Grant, L. K., Raboy, V. & Lott, J. N. A. 2004. Characterization of the storage of phosphorus, inositol phosphate and cations in grain tissues of four barley (*Hordeum vulgare L.*) low phytic acid genotypes. *Plant Science*, 167, 1131-1142.
- O'Dell, B. L., Deboland, A. R. & Koirtyoh.Sr 1972. Distribution of phytate and nutritionally important elements among morphological components of cereal grains. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 20, 718-&.
- Ogawa, M., Tanaka, K. & Kasai, Z. 1975. Isolation of high phytin containing particles from rice grains using an aqueous polymer 2-phase system. *Agricultural and Biological Chemistry*, 39, 695-700.
- Oh, B.-C., Chang, B. S., Park, K.-H., Ha, N.-C., Kim, H.-K., Oh, B.-H. & Oh, T.-K. 2001. Calcium-dependent catalytic activity of a novel phytase from Bacillus amyloliquefaciens DS11. *Biochemistry*, 40, 9669-9676.
- Oh, B.-C., Choi, W.-C., Park, S., Kim, Y.-O. & Oh, T.-K. 2004. Biochemical properties and substrate specificities of alkaline and histidine acid phytases. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 63, 362-372.
- Onyango, E. M. & Adeola, O. 2009. Dietary phytate (inositol hexaphosphate) regulates the activity of intestinal mucosa phytase. *Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition*, 93, 639-646.
- Onyango, E. M., Asem, E. K. & Adeola, O. 2008. Phytates reduce uptake of leucine and glutamate but not lysine and glucose from the intestinal lumen of chickens: Short communication. *Acta Veterinaria Hungarica*, 56, 511-514.
- Onyango, E. M., Asem, E. K. & Adeola, O. 2009. Phytic acid increases mucin and endogenous amino acid losses from the gastrointestinal tract of chickens. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 101, 836-842.
- Onyango, E. M., Bedford, M. R. & Adeola, O. 2005a. Efficacy of an evolved Escherichia coli phytase in diets of broiler chicks. *Poultry Science*, 84, 248-255.
- Onyango, E. M., Bedford, M. R. & Adeola, O. 2005b. Phytase activity along the digestive tract of the broiler chick: A comparative study of an Escherichia coli-derived and Peniophora lycii phytase. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 85, 61-68.
- Oryschak, M., Simmins, P. & Zijlstra, R. 2002. Effect of dietary particle size and carbohydrase and/or phytase supplementation on nitrogen and phosphorus excretion of grower pigs. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 82, 533-540.
- Oshima, M., Taylor, T. & Williams, A. 1964. Variations in the concentration of phytic acid in the blood of the domestic fowl. *Biochemical Journal*, 92, 42.

- Ouhida, I., Galobart, J., Perez, J. F. & Gasa, J. 2001. Cell wall polysaccharidase and proteolytic enzyme combinations may enhance the *in vitro* carbohydrate and protein hydrolysis from toasted and untoasted soybean meal. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 84, 406-406.
- Overland, M., Rørvik, K. & Skrede, A. 1999. Effect of trimethylamine oxide and betaine in swine diets on growth performance, carcass characteristics, nutrient digestibility, and sensory quality of pork. *Journal of Animal Science*, 77, 2143-2153.
- Owusu-Asiedu, A., Kiarie, E., Péron, A., Woyengo, T., Simmins, P. & Nyachoti, C. 2012. Growth performance and nutrient digestibilities in nursery pigs receiving varying doses of xylanase and β-glucanase blend in pelleted wheat-and barley-based diets. *Journal of Animal Science*, 90, 92-94.
- Pacheco, W., Stark, C., Ferket, P. & Brake, J. 2013. Evaluation of soybean meal source and particle size on broiler performance, nutrient digestibility, and gizzard development. *Poultry Science*, 92, 2914-2922.
- Pang, Y. & Applegate, T. 2007. Effects of dietary copper supplementation and copper source on digesta pH, calcium, zinc, and copper complex size in the gastrointestinal tract of the broiler chicken. *Poultry Science*, 86, 531-537.
- Park, J., Kang, C. & Ryu, K. 2006. Effects of feeding betaine on performance and blood hormone in laying hens. *Hangukga Poultry Science*, 33, 323-328.
- Park, P. & Goins, R. 1994. In situ preparation of fatty acid methyl esters for analysis of fatty acid composition in foods. *Journal of Food Science*, 59, 1262-1266.
- Parsons, C. M., Castanon, F. & Han, Y. 1997. Protein and amino acid quality of meat and bone meal. *Poultry Science*, 76, 361-368.
- Pastore, S. M., Gomes, P. C., Rostagno, H. S., Albino, L. F. T., Calderano, A. A., Vellasco, C. R., Viana, G. D. S. & Almeida, R. L. D. 2012.
  Calcium levels and calcium: available phosphorus ratios in diets for white egg layers from 42 to 58 weeks of age. *Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia*, 41, 2424-2432.
- Pearce, J. 1975. The effects of choline and inositol on hepatic lipid metabolism and the incidence of the fatty liver and kidney syndrome in broilers. *British Poultry Science*, 16, 565-570.
- Pearson, A. W., Greenwood, N. M., Butler, E. J., Curl, C. L. & Fenwick, G. R. 1983. Fish meal and egg taint. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 34, 277-285.
- Peeler, H. T. 1972. Biological availability of nutrients in feeds availability of major mineral ions. *Journal of Animal Science*, 35, 695-&.
- Pereira, G. R., Baker, L., Egler, J., Corcoran, L. & Chiavacci, R. 1990. Serum *myo*inositol concentrations in premature infants fed human milk, formula for infants, and parenteral nutrition. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 51, 589-593.
- Persson, H., Turk, M., Nyman, M. & Sandberg, A. S. 1998. Binding of Cu<sup>2+</sup>, Zn<sup>2+</sup> and Cd<sup>2+</sup> to inositol tri-, tetra-, penta, and hexaphosphates. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 46, 3194-3200.

- Petronini, P. G., De Angelis, E., Borghetti, P., Borghetti, A. & Wheeler, K. P. 1992. Modulation by betaine of cellular responses to osmotic stress. *Biochemical. Journal*, 282, 69-73.
- Pichereau, V., Bourot, S., Flahaut, S., Blanco, C., Auffray, Y. & Bernard, T. 1999. The osmoprotectant glycine betaine inhibits salt-induced crosstolerance towards lethal treatment in *Enterococcus faecalis*. *Microbiology*, 145, 427-435.
- Pileggi, V. J., Deluca, H. F. & Steenbock, H. 1955. The role of vitamin-D and intestinal phytase in the prevention of rickets in rats on cereal diets. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 58, 194-204.
- Pirgozliev, V., Bedford, M. & Acamovic, T. 2010a. Effect of dietary xylanase on energy, amino acid and mineral metabolism, and egg production and quality in laying hens. *British Poultry Science*, 51, 639-647.
- Pirgozliev, V., Karadas, F., Pappas, A., Acamovic, T. & Bedford, M. 2010b. The effect on performance, energy metabolism and hepatic carotenoid content when phytase supplemented diets were fed to broiler chickens. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 89, 203-205.
- Pirgozliev, V., Oduguwa, O., Acamovic, T. & Bedford, M. 2007. Diets containing Escherichia coli-derived phytase on young chickens and turkeys: Effects on performance, metabolizable energy, endogenous secretions, and intestinal morphology. *Poultry Science*, 86, 705-713.
- Plumstead, P. W., Leytem, A. B., Maguire, R. O., Spears, J. W., Kwanyuen, P. & Brake, J. 2008. Interaction of calcium and phytate in broiler diets.
  1. Effects on apparent prececal digestibility and retention of phosphorus. *Poultry Science*, 87, 449-458.
- Pontoppidan, K., Pettersson, D. & Sandberg, A. S. 2007a. Interaction of phytate with protein and minerals in a soybean-maize meal blend depends on pH and calcium addition. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 87, 1886-1892.
- Pontoppidan, K., Pettersson, D. & Sandberg, A. S. 2007b. *Peniophora lycii* phytase is stabile and degrades phytate and solubilises minerals *in vitro* during simulation of gastrointestinal digestion in the pig. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 87, 2700-2708.
- PoultryCRC. 2011. Manipulating betaine content in eggs Dansico Subproject 2.1.1. [Online]. http://www.poultryhub.org/2011/06/manipulating-betaine-content-in
  - eggs/. [Accessed 19/9/2014].
- Premier Nutrition. 2010. Premier Atlas 2010.
- Quirk, J. G. & Bleasdale, J. E. 1983. *Myo*-inositol homeostasis in the human fetus. *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, 62, 41-44.
- Ramesh, K. R., Devegowda, G. & Khosravinia, H. 2006. Effects of enzyme addition to broiler diets containing varying levels of double zero rapeseed meal. *Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences*, 19, 1354-1360.
- Ratriyanto, A., Mosenthin, R., Bauer, E. & Eklund, M. 2009. Metabolic, osmoregulatory and nutritional functions of betaine in monogastric animals. *Asian-Austral J Animal Sci*, 22, 1461-1476.
- Ravidran, V. 1995. Phytases in Poultry Nutrition. An Overview. *Proceedings Australian Poultry Science Symposium*, 7, 135-139.

- Ravindran, V., Cabahug, S., Ravindran, G. & Bryden, W. L. 1999a. Influence of microbial phytase on apparent ileal amino acid digestibility of feedstuffs for broilers. *Poultry Science*, 78, 699-706.
- Ravindran, V., Cabahug, S., Ravindran, G., Selle, P. & Bryden, W. 2000a.
  Response of broiler chickens to microbial phytase supplementation as influenced by dietary phytic acid and non-phytate phosphorous levels.
  II. Effects on apparent metabolisable energy, nutrient digestibility and nutrient retention. *British Poultry Science*, 41, 193-200.
- Ravindran, V., Cabahug, S., Ravindran, G., Selle, P. H. & Bryden, W. L.
  2000b. Response of broiler chickens to microbial phytase
  supplementation as influenced by dietary phytic acid and non-phytate
  phosphorous levels. II. Effects on apparent metabolisable energy,
  nutrient digestibility and nutrient retention. *British Poultry Science*, 41, 193-200.
- Ravindran, V., Morel, P. C. H., Partridge, G. G., Hruby, M. & Sands, J. S. 2006. Influence of an *Escherichia coli*-derived phytase on nutrient utilization in broiler starters fed diets containing varying concentrations of phytic acid. *Poultry Science*, 85, 82-89.
- Ravindran, V., Ravindran, G. & Sivalogan, S. 1994. Total and phytate phosphorus contents of various foods and feedstuffs of plant-origin. *Food Chemistry*, 50, 133-136.
- Ravindran, V., Selle, P. H. & Bryden, W. L. 1999b. Effects of phytase supplementation, individually and in combination, with glycanase, an the nutritive value of wheat and barley. *Poultry Science*, 78, 1588-1595.
- Reddy, N. R., Sathe, S. K. & Salunkhe, D. K. 1982. Phytates in legumes and cereals. *Advances in Food Research*, 28, 1-92.
- Remus, J., Virtanen, E., Rosi, L. & Mcnaughton, J. 1995. Effect of betaine on nutrient utilisation of 21-day-old broilers during coccidiosis.
   Proceedings of the 10th European Symposium on Poultry Nutrition.
   World's Poultry Science Assciation, Turkish Branch, 371-371.
- Riyazi, S., Ebrahimnezhad, Y., Nazerad, K., Maheri-Sis, N., Salamatdust, R.
  & Vahdatpour, T. 2008a. The Effects of Replacing Soybean Meal with Different Levels of Rapeseed Meal on Egg Quality Characteristics of Commercial Laying Hens. *Asian Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances*, 4, 337-341.
- Riyazi, S. R., Ebrahim-Nezhad, Y., Nazer-Adl, K., Maheri-Sis, N., Vahdatpour, T. & Fouladi, P. 2008b. The Effects of Replacing Soybean Meal with Different Levels of Rapeseed Meal on Performance of Commercial Laying Hens. *Asian Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances*, 3, 448-452.
- Robertson, J. D. 1959. The ultrastructure of cell membranes and their derivatives. *Biochemical Society symposium*, 16, 3-43.
- Roland, D. A. 1979. Factors influencing shell quality of aging hens. *Poultry Science*, 58, 774-777.
- Romoser, G. L., Loveless, L., Machlin, L. J. & Dudley, W. A. 1961. Toxicity of vanadium and chromium for growing chick. *Poultry Science*, 40, 1171-&.
- Rutherfurd, S. M., Chung, T. K., Morel, P. C. H. & Moughan, P. J. 2004. Effect of microbial phytase on ileal digestibility of phytate phosphorus,

total phosphorus, and amino acids in a low-phosphorus diet for broilers. *Poultry Science*, 83, 61-68.

Rutherfurd, S. M., Edwards, A. C. E. & Selle, P. H. 1997. Effect of phytase on lysine-rice pollard complexes. *In:* Cranwell, P. (ed.) *Manipulating Pig Production* 

Werribee, VIC: Australasian Pig Science Association.

- Ryu, M., Park, J., Shin, K. & Ryu, K. 2003. Effects of dietary supplementation of betaine on performance, lipid metabolic parameters, and blood and ileal osmolality in laying hens. *Korean Journal of Poultry Science*, 30, 259-267.
- Sasyte, V., Gruzauskas, R., Raceviciute-Stupeliene, A. & Semaskaite, A. 2007. Nutritive value of rapeseed and effect of *Pheniophor Lycii* phytase on nutrients utilization in broiler chickens fed diets with different amounts of rapeseed. *Veterinarija Ir Zootechnika*, 39, 75-80.
- Saunderson, C. L. & Mackinlay, J. 1990. Changes in body-weight, composition and hepatic enzyme activities in response to dietary methionine, betaine and choline levels in growing chicks. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 63, 339-49.
- Sauter, E., Petersen, C., Lampman, C. & Wiese, A. 1965. A study of the influence of dehydrated alfalfa meal on the production of blood spots in eggs. *Poultry Science*, 44, 52-62.
- Schaible, P. J., Davidson, J. A. & Bandemer, S. L. 1947. Cannibalism and feather picking in chicks as influenced by certain changes in a specific ration. *Poultry Science*, 26, 651-656.
- Scheideler, S. E. & Sell, J. L. 1987. Utilization of phytate phosphorus in laying hens as influenced by dietary phosphorus and calcium. *Nutrition Reports International,* 35, 1073-1081.
- Scheuermann, S., Lantzsch, H. J. & Menke, K. 1988. *In vitro* und *in vivo* untersuchungen zur hydrolyse von phytat III. gastrointestinale hydrolyse von phytat aus weizen und mais bei wachsenden ratten. *Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition*, 60, 76-85.
- Schneider, W. C. 1945. Phosphorus compounds in animal tissues .1. extraction and estimation of desoxypentose nucleic acid and of pentose nucleic acid. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 161, 293-303.
- Schöner, F., Hoppe, P. & Schwarz, G. 1991. Vergleich der Effekte von mikrobieller Phytase und anorganischem Phosphat auf die Leistungen und die Retention von Phosphor, Calcium und Rohasche bei Masthühnerküken in der Anfangsmast. Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition, 66, 248-255.
- Scott, T. A., Kampen, R. & Silversides, F. G. 2001. The effect of adding exogenous phytase to nutrient-reduced corn- and wheat-based diets on performance and egg quality of two strains of laying hens. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 81, 393-401.
- Sell, J. L., Arthur, J. A. & Wiliiams, I. L. 1982. Adverse effect of dietary vanadium, contributed by dicalcium phosphate, on albumen quality. *Poultry Science*, 61, 2112-2116.
- Selle, P., Cadogan, D. & Bryden, W. 2003a. Effects of phytase supplementation of phosphorus-adequate, lysine-deficient, wheatbased diets on growth performance of weaner pigs. *Crop and Pasture Science*, 54, 323-330.
- Selle, P., Ravindran, V. & Partridge, G. 2009a. Beneficial effects of xylanase and/or phytase inclusions on ileal amino acid digestibility, energy utilisation, mineral retention and growth performance in wheat-based broiler diets. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 153, 303-313.
- Selle, P., Ravindran, V., Pittolo, P. & Bryden, W. 1999. An evaluation of microbial phytase in sorghum-based broiler diets. *In:* Procedure. Australian Poultry Science Symposium. 97-100.
- Selle, P. H., Cowieson, A. J. & Ravindran, V. 2009b. Consequences of calcium interactions with phytate and phytase for poultry and pigs. *Livestock Science*, 124, 126-141.
- Selle, P. H., Cowieson, A. J. & Ravindran, V. 2009c. Consequences of calcium interactions with phytate and phytase for poultry and pigs. *Livestock Science*, 124, 126-141.
- Selle, P. H., Ravidran, V., Ravidran, G. & Bryden, W. L. 2005. Amino Acid Digestibility and Growth Performance Interactions to Phytase and Lysine Suppletation of Lysine-Deficent Broiler Diets. *Australian Poultry Science Symposium*, 17.
- Selle, P. H. & Ravindran, V. 2007. Microbial phytase in poultry nutrition. Animal Feed Science and Technology, 135, 1-41.
- Selle, P. H., Ravindran, V., Caldwell, R. A. & Bryden, W. L. 2000. Phytate and phytase: consequences for protein utilisation. *Nutrition Research Reviews*, 13, 255-278.
- Selle, P. H., Walker, A. R. & Bryden, W. L. 2003b. Total and phytatephosphorus contents and phytase activity of Australian-sourced feed ingredients for pigs and poultry. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, 43, 475-479.
- Selvendran, R. R. & Verne, A. V. F. 1990. The chemistry and properties of plant cell walls and dietary fiber. *Dietary Fiber.* Springer.
- Shafey, T. M., Mcdonald, M. W. & Dingle, J. G. 1991. Effects of dietary calcium and available phosphorus concentration on digesta pH and on the availability of calcium, iron, magnesium and zinc from the intestinal contents of meat chickens. *British Poultry Science*, 32, 185-194.
- Shan, A. S. & Davis, R. H. 1994. Effect of dietary phytate on growth and selenium status of chicks fed selenite or selenomethionine. *British Poultry Science*, 35, 725-741.
- Shastak, Y. and Rodehutscord, M. 2013. Determination and estimation of phosphorus availability in growing poultry and their historical development. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, 69, 569-586.
- Shears, S. B. 1998. The versatility of inositol phosphates as cellular signals. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids, 1436, 49-67.
- Shen, H., Summers, J. & Leeson, S. 1983. The influence of steam pelleting and grinding on the nutritive value of canola rapeseed for poultry. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 8, 303-311.
- Shin, S., Ha, N.-C., Oh, B.-C., Oh, T.-K. & Oh, B.-H. 2001. Enzyme mechanism and catalytic property of β propeller phytase. *Structure*, 9, 851-858.
- Shirley, R. & Edwards, H. 2003. Graded levels of phytase past industry standards improves broiler performance. *Poultry Science*, 82, 671-680.

- Siljander-Rasi, H., Peuranen, S., Tiihonen, K., Virtanen, E., Kettunen, H., Alaviuhkola, T. & Simmins. P.H. 2003. Effect of equi-molar dietary betaine and choline addition on performance, carcass quality and physiological parameters of pigs. *Animal Science*, 76, 55-62.
- Silva, H. O., Fialho, E. T., Freitas, R. T. F. D., Lima, J. A. D. F., Logato, P. R. V. & Schoulten, N. A. 2004. Phytase in rations of growing pigs: performance, blood parameters and bone mineral content. *Ciência e Agrotecnologia*, 28, 1428-1436.
- Simon, O. & Igbasan, F. 2002. *In vitro* properties of phytases from various microbial origins. *International journal of food science & technology*, 37, 813-822.
- Simons, P., Versteegh, H., Jongbloed, A. W., Kemme, P., Slump, P., Bos, K., Wolters, M., Beudeker, R. & Verschoor, G. 1990a. Improvement of phosphorus availability by microbial phytase in broilers and pigs. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 64, 525-540.
- Simons, P. C. M., Versteegh, H. a. J., Jongbloed, A. W., Kemme, P. A., Slump, P., Bos, K. D., Wolters, M. G. E., Beudeker, R. F. & Verschoor, G. J. 1990b. Improvement of phosphorus availability by microbial phytase in broilers and pigs. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 64, 525-540.
- Singh, P. K. 2008. Significance of phytic acid and supplemental phytase in chicken nutrition: a review. *Worlds Poultry Science Journal*, 64, 553-580.
- Siriwan, P., Bryden, W. L. & Annison, E. F. 1994. Use of guanidinated dietary-protein to measure losses of endogenous amino-acids in poultry. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 71, 515-529.
- Smulikowska, S., Czerwinski, J. & Mieczkowska, A. 2010. Effect of an organic acid blend and phytase added to a rapeseed cake-containing diet on performance, intestinal morphology, caecal microflora activity and thyroid status of broiler chickens. *Journal of Animal Physiology* and Animal Nutrition, 94, 15-23.
- Smulikowska, S., Mieczkowska, A., Czerwinski, J., Weremko, D. & Nguyen, C. 2006. Effects of exogenous phytase in chickens fed diets with differently processed rapeseed expeller cakes. *Journal of Animal and Feed Sciences*, 15, 237.
- Snow, J. L., Douglas, M. W. & Parsons, C. M. 2003. Phytase effects on amino acid digestibility in molted laying hens. *Poultry Science*, 82, 474-477.
- Steiner, T., Mosenthin, R., Zimmermann, B., Greiner, R. & Roth, S. 2007. Distribution of phytase activity, total phosphorus and phytate phosphorus in legume seeds, cereals and cereal by-products as influenced by harvest year and cultivar. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 133, 320-334.
- Suzuki, U., Yoshimura, K. & Takaishi, M. 1907. Ueber ein enzym phytase das anhydro-oxy-methilen diphosphorusäure spaltet. . *Bulletin of the College of Agriculture, Tokyo ImperialUniversity,* 7, 503-512.
- Sumiati & Piliang, W. G. 2005. Increasing laying performances and egg vitamin A content through zinc oxide and phytase enzyme supplementation. *Meida Peternakan Journal of Animal Science and Technology*, 28,130-135

- Sweazea, K. L. & Braun, E. J. 2006. Glucose transporter expression in English sparrows Passer domesticus. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, 144, 263-270.
- Swiatkiewicz, S., Koreleski, J. & Arczewska-Wlosek, A. 2010. Egg performance, egg quality, and nutrient utilization in laying hens fed diets with different levels of rapeseed expeller cake. *Agricultural and Food Science*, 19, 233-239.
- Takemasa, M. & Hijikuro, S. 1991. Effect of autoclaving of defatted rice bran on the phosphorus utilization for chicks. *Japanese Poultry Science*, 28, 284-293.
- Tamim, N., Angel, R. & Christman, M. 2004a. Influence of dietary calcium and phytase on phytate phosphorus hydrolysis in broiler chickens. *Poultry Science*, 83, 1358-1367.
- Tamim, N. M., Angel, R. & Christman, M. 2004b. Influence of dietary calcium and phytase on phytate phosphorus hydrolysis in broiler chickens. *Poultry Science*, 83, 1358-1367.
- Tanaka, Y. & Deluca, H. F. 1974. Role of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin d3 in maintaining serum phosphorus and curing rickets. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 71, 1040-1044.
- Taylor, R. 2002. Hindgut function in laying hens. A report for the Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation. RIRDC Publication No UNC-12A.
- Taylor, T. G. 1965. Availability of calcium and phosphorus of plant materials for animals. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 24, 105-&.
- Taylor, W. E. & Mckibbin, J. 1952. Effect of choline on yeast bioassay of inositol. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 79, 95-96.
- Temperton, H. & Cassidy, J. 1964. Phosphorus requirements of poultry: I. The utilisation of phytin phosphorus by the chick as indicated by balance experiments. *British Poultry Science*, 5, 75-80.
- Thammarutwasik, P., Hongpattarakere, T., Chantachum, S., Kijroongrojana, K., Itharat, A., Reanmongkol, W., Tewtrakul, S. & Ooraikul, B. 2009. Prebiotics–a review. *Sonklanakarin Journal of Science and Technology*, 31, 401.
- The Welfare of Farmed Animals (England) Regulation (2007) No. 2078
- Thompson, L. U. 1986. Phytic acid: a factor influencing starch digestibility and blood glucose response. *In:* GRAF, E. (ed.) *Phytic Acid: Chemistry and Applications.* Minneapolis: Pilatus Press.
- Thompson, L. U., Button, C. L. & Jenkins, D. 1987. Phytic acid and calcium affect the *in vitro* rate of navy bean starch digestion and blood glucose response in humans. *The American journal of clinical Nutrition,* 46, 467-473.
- Tiwari, S. P., Gendley, M. K., Pathak, A. K. & Gupta, R. 2010. Influence of an enzyme cocktail and phytase individually or in combination in Ven Cobb broiler chickens. *British Poultry Science*, 51, 92-100.
- Tokushima, Y., Takahashi, K., Sato, K. & Akiba, Y. 2005. Glucose uptake *in vivo* in skeletal muscles of insulin-injected chicks. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 141, 43-48.

- Um, J. S. & Paik, I. K. 1999. Effects of microbial phytase supplementation on egg production, eggshell quality, and mineral retention of laying hens fed different levels of phosphorus. *Poultry Science*, 78, 75-79.
- Usmani, N. & Jafri, A. K. 2002. Influence of dietary phytic acid on the growth, conversion efficiency, and carcass composition of mrigal Cirrhinus mrigala (Hamilton) fry. *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society*, 33, 199-204.
- Vallee, B. L., Wacker, W. E., Bartholomay, A. F. & Robin, E. D. 1956. Zinc Metabolism in Hepatic Dysfunction: Serum Zinc Concentrations in Laënnec's Cirrhosis and Their Validation by Sequential Analysis. New England Journal of Medicine, 255, 403-408.
- Van Der Klis, J. D. & Versteegh, H. a. J. 1991. The ileal absorption of phosphorus in light, white laying hens when using microbial phytase and various calcium contents in layer feed. *Spelderholt Publication No. 5*63.
- Van Der Klis, J. D., Versteegh, H. a. J., Simons, P. C. M. & Kies, A. K. 1997. The efficacy of phytase in corn-soybean meal-based diets for laying hens. *Poultry Science*, 76, 1535-1542.
- Van Der Klis, J. D. V., H. A. J. 1996. Phosphorus nutrition of poultry.
- Van Krimpen, M., Kwakkel, R., Reuvekamp, B., Van Der Peet-Schwering, C., Den Hartog, L. & Verstegen, M. 2005. Impact of feeding management on feather pecking in laying hens. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, 61, 663-686.
- Virtanen, E. & Rosi, L. Year. Effects of betaine on methionine requirement of broilers under various environmental conditions. *In:* Proceedings of the Australian Poultry Science Symposium, 1995. 88-92.
- Viveros, A., Centeno, C., Brenes, A., Canales, R. & Lozano, A. 2000. Phytase and acid phosphatase activities in plant feedstuffs. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 48, 4009-4013.
- Waagbø, R., Sandnes, K., Lie, O. & Roem, A. 1998. Effects of inositol supplementation on growth, chemical composition and blood chemistry in Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., fry. *Aquaculture Nutrition*, 4, 53-60.
- Waldroup, P. & Hellwig, H. 1995. Methionine and total sulfur amino acid requirements influenced by stage of production. *The Journal of Applied Poultry Research*, 4, 283-292.
- Walk, C. L., Bedford, M. R. & Mcelroy, A. P. 2012a. *In vitro* evaluation of limestone, dicalcium phosphate, and phytase on calcium and phosphorus solubility of corn and soybean meal. *Poultry Science*, 91, 674-682.
- Walk, C. L., Bedford, M. R. & Mcelroy, A. P. 2012b. Influence of diet, phytase, and incubation time on calcium and phosphorus solubility in the gastric and small intestinal phase of an *in vitro* digestion assay. *Journal of Animal Science*, 90, 3120-3125.
- Walk, C. L., Santos, T. T. & Bedford, M. R. 2014. Influence of superdoses of a novel microbial phytase on growth performance, tibia ash, and gizzard phytate and inositol in young broilers. *Poultry Science*, 93, 1172-1177.
- Wallis, I. 1999. Dietary supplements of methionine increase breast meat yield and decrease abdominal fat in growing broiler chickens. *Animal Production Science*, 39, 131-141.

- Wang, Y., Xu, Z. & Feng, J. 2004. The effect of betaine and DL-methionine on growth performance and carcass characteristics in meat ducks. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 116, 151-159.
- Wang, Z., Qiao, S., Lu, W. & Li, D. 2005. Effects of enzyme supplementation on performance, nutrient digestibility, gastrointestinal morphology, and volatile fatty acid profiles in the hindgut of broilers fed wheatbased diets. *Poultry Science*, 84, 875-881.
- Weik, C., Warskulat, U., Bode, J., Peters-Regehr, T. & Häussinger, D. 1998. Compatible organic osmolytes in rat liver sinusoidal endothelial cells. *Hepatology*, 27, 569-575.
- Williams, K. 1992. Some factors affecting albumen quality with particular reference to Haugh unit score. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, 48, 5-16.
- Wise, A. 1983. Dietary factors determining the biological activities of phytate. *Nutrition Abstracts and Reviews*, 53, 791-806.
- Wise, A. & Gilburt, D. J. 1981. Binding of cadmium and lead to the calciumphytate complex invitro. *Toxicology Letters*, 9, 45-50.
- Wise, A. & Gilburt, D. J. 1982. Phytate hydrolysis by germ-free and conventional rats. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 43, 753-756.
- Wodzinski, R. J. & Ullah, A. 1996a. Phytase. *Advances in applied microbiology*, 42, 263-302.
- Wodzinski, R. J. & Ullah, A. H. J. 1996b. Phytase. *In:* Neidleman, S. L. & Laskin, A. I. (eds.) *Advances in Applied Microbiology, Vol 42.* San Diego: Elsevier Academic Press Inc.
- Wolford, J. & Murphy, D. 1972. Effect of diet on fatty liver-hemorrhagic syndrome incidence in laying chickens. *Poultry Science*, 51, 2087-2094.
- Woyengo, T., Sands, J., Guenter, W. & Nyachoti, C. 2008. Nutrient digestibility and performance responses of growing pigs fed phytaseand xylanase-supplemented wheat-based diets. *Journal of Animal Science*, 86, 848-857.
- Woyengo, T., Slominski, B. & Jones, R. 2010a. Growth performance and nutrient utilization of broiler chickens fed diets supplemented with phytase alone or in combination with citric acid and multicarbohydrase. *Poultry Science*, 89, 2221-2229.
- Woyengo, T. A. 2011. *Gut secretions and nutrient absorption responses to dietary phytic acid and phytase in piglets.* University of Manitoba.
- Woyengo, T. A., Adeola, O., Udenigwe, C. C. & Nyachoti, C. M. 2010b. Gastro-intestinal digesta pH, pepsin activity and soluble mineral concentration responses to supplemental phytic acid and phytase in piglets. *Livestock Science*, 134, 91-93.
- Woyengo, T. A., Cowieson, A. J., Adeola, O. & Nyachoti, C. M. 2009. Ileal digestibility and endogenous flow of minerals and amino acids: responses to dietary phytic acid in piglets. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 102, 428-433.
- Woyengo, T. A. & Nyachoti, C. M. 2011. Review: Supplementation of phytase and carbohydrases to diets for poultry. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 91, 177-192.
- Woyengo, T. A. & Nyachoti, C. M. 2013. Review: Anti-nutritional effects of phytic acid in diets for pigs and poultry current knowledge and

directions for future research. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 93, 9-21.

- Woyengo, T. A., Weihrauch, D. & Nyachoti, C. M. 2012. Effect of dietary phytic acid on performance and nutrient uptake in the small intestine of piglets. *Journal of Animal Science*, 90, 543-549.
- WSRW 2007. The Phosphate Exports Western Sahara Resource Watch.
- Wu, Y., Ravindran, V., Thomas, D., Birtles, M. & Hendriks, W. 2004.
  Influence of phytase and xylanase, individually or in combination, on performance, apparent metabolisable energy, digestive tract measurements and gut morphology in broilers fed wheat-based diets containing adequate level of phosphorus. *British Poultry Science*, 45, 76-84.
- Wyatt, C. L. & Goodman, T. 1993. Utilization of feed enzymes in laying hen rations. *The Journal of Applied Poultry Research*, 2, 68-74.
- Wyss, M., Brugger, R., Kronenberger, A., Rémy, R., Fimbel, R., Oesterhelt, G., Lehmann, M. & Van Loon, A. P. 1999. Biochemical characterization of fungal phytases (*myo*-inositol hexakisphosphate phosphohydrolases): catalytic properties. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 65, 367-373.
- Xing, W. & Rajashekar, C. 2001. Glycine betaine involvement in freezing tolerance and water stress in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 46, 21-28.
- Xu, Z. & Zhan, X. 1998. Effects of betaine on methionine and adipose metabolism in broiler chicks. *Chinese Journal Of Animal And Veterinary Sciences*, 3.
- Yaghobfar, A., Boldaji, F. & Shrifi, S. D. 2007. Effects of enzyme supplement on nutrient digestibility, metabolizable energy, egg production, egg quality and intestinal morphology of the broiler chicks and layer hens fed hull-less barley based diets. *Pakistan Journal of Biological Science*, 10, 2257-66.
- Yamashita, Y., Yamaoka, M., Hasunuma, Rashida, H. & Yoshida, K. I. 2013. Detection of orally administered inositol stereoisomers in mouse blood plasma and their effects on translocation of glucose transporter 4 in skeletal muscle cells. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 61, 4850-4854.
- Yanke, L., Selinger, L. & Cheng, K. J. 1999. Phytase activity of Selenomonas ruminantium: a preliminary characterization. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 29, 20-25.
- Yano, H., Matsui, H. & Kawashima, R. 1979. Effects of dietary calcium levels on concentration and solubility of macro minerals in the digestive tract of sheep. *Journal of Animal Science*, 48, 954-960.
- Yao, Z. M. & Vance, D. E. 1989. Head group specificity in the requirement of phosphatidylcholine biosynthesis for very low density lipoprotein secretion from cultured hepatocytes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 264, 11373-80.
- Yi, Z., Kornegay, E., Ravindran, V. & Denbow, D. 1996. Improving phytate phosphorus availability in corn and soybean meal for broilers using microbial phytase and calculation of phosphorus equivalency values for phytase. *Poultry Science*, 75, 240-249.

- Yoon, J. H., Thompson, L. U. & Jenkins, D. 1983. The effect of phytic acid on *in vitro* rate of starch digestibility and blood glucose response. *The American journal of clinical nutrition,* 38, 835-842.
- Yu, D., Xu, Z. & Li, W. 2004. Effects of betaine on growth performance and carcass characteristics in growing pigs. *Asian Australasian Journal Of Animal Sciences*, 17, 1700-1704.
- Zebrowska, T., Low, A. G. & Zebrowska, H. 1983. Studies on gastric digestion of protein and carbohydrate, gastric-secretion and exocrine pancreatic-secretion in the growing-pig. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 49, 401-410.
- Zhan, X., Li, J., Xu, Z. & Zhao, R. 2006. Effects of methionine and betaine supplementation on growth performance, carcase composition and metabolism of lipids in male broilers. *British Poultry Science*, 47, 576-580.
- Zhang, B. & Coon, C. N. 1997. The relationship of calcium intake, source, size, solubility *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and gizzard limestone retention in laying hens. *Poultry Science*, 76, 1702-1706.
- Zimmermann, B., Lantzsch, H. J., Mosenthin, R., Schoner, F. J., Biesalski, H. K. & Drochner, W. 2002. Comparative evaluation of the efficacy of cereal and microbial phytases in growing pigs fed diets with marginal phosphorus supply. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 82, 1298-1304.
- Zou, X., Ma, Y. & Xu, Z. 1998. Effects of betaine and thyroprotein on laying performance and approach to mechanism of the effects in hens. *Acta Agriculturae Zhejiangensis,* 10, 144-149.
- Zou, X. T., Xu, Z. R. & Wang, Y. Z. 2002. Effects of methylamino acids on growth performance of swine in different stages. *Journal of Zhejiang University. (Agriculture & Life Science.)* 28, 551-555.
- Zou, X. T. & Lu, J. J. 2002. Effects of betaine on the regulation of lipid metabolism in laying hen. Agricultural Sciences in China 1, 1043-1049.
- Żyła, K., Duliński, R., Pierzchalska, M., Grabacka, M., Józefiak, D. & Świątkiewicz, S. 2013. Phytases and *myo*-inositol modulate performance, bone mineralization and alter lipid fractions in the serum of broilers. *Journal of Animal and Feed Sciences*, 487, 47.
- Żyła, K., Mika, M., Duliński, R., Świątkiewicz, S., Koreleski, J., Pustkowiak, H. & Piironen, J. 2012. Effects of inositol, inositol-generating phytase B applied alone, and in combination with 6-phytase A to phosphorusdeficient diets on laying performance, eggshell quality, yolk cholesterol, and fatty acid deposition in laying hens. *Poultry Science*, 91, 1915-1927.

## List of Abbreviations

Adj Egg Mass	-	Adjusted Egg Mass
Adj FCR	-	Adjusted Feed Conversion Ratio
AID	-	Apparent Ileal Digestibility
AMEn	-	Apparent metabolisable energy
ASI	-	Above Standard Inclusion
BMS	-	Blood and Meat Spots
BSE	-	Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy
BWG	-	Body Weight Gain
BUN	-	Blood Urea Nitrogen
Duo	-	Duodenum
FCR	-	Feed Conversion Ratio
FI	-	Feed Intake
FTU	-	Phytase Units
Giz	-	Gizzard and Proventriculus
GU	-	Glucanase Units
HDEP	-	Hen Day Egg Production
HU	-	Haugh Units
Jej	-	Jejunum
MBM	-	Meat and Bone Meal
NC	-	Negative Control
NSP	-	Non-Starch Polysaccharides
PC	-	Positive Control
Phytate-P	-	Phytate Phosphorus
PUN	-	Plasma Urea Nitrogen
SI	-	Standard Inclusion
Total-P	-	Total Phosphorus
XU	-	Xylanase Units